
For the best experience, open this PDF portfolio in
 
Acrobat X or Adobe Reader X, or later.
 

Get Adobe Reader Now! 

http://www.adobe.com/go/reader












\\sto-fs1\global-public-files\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2023 PACKETS\07-25-2023\Minutes\02 Plan Com Minutes  061223.docx 


Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 
Monday, June 12, 2023 at 6:00 pm 
Hybrid Meeting 
 
Members Present:  Mayor Swadley, Chair; Brett Schumacher; Phil Caravello, Vice-Chair;  Tom 
Majewski; Dorann Bradford and Al Farrow 
Members Absent: Tom Robinson 
Staff:  Director of Planning and Development, Rodney Scheel; Zoning Administrator, Michael 
Stacey 
Guests: Bruce Hollar; Justin Hanson; Dustin Oler; Dan Hanson and Dean Slaby. 
 
1. Call to Order.  Mayor Swadley called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm. 


 
2. Roll call and verification of quorum.  Mayor Swadley verified a quorum is present. 


 
3. Certification and compliance with open meetings law.  Mayor Swadley certified 


compliance with open meetings law. 
 


4. Plan Commission meeting minutes of May 8, 2023.   
Motion by Caravello to approve the minutes as presented, 2nd by Majewski.  Motion carried 
unanimously.  
 


5. Council Representative Report. 
Caravello stated the Common Council approved resolutions 81, 82, and 83 of 2023. 
 


6. Status of Current Developments.   
Scheel introduced the status of developments as outlined in the packet of materials including 
the recent urban service area amendment public hearing for Stone Crest and that the paper 
work has been filed for the urban service area amendment for the Stoughton Trailers 
development area.   
 


7. Specific Implementation Plan for Lot 1 at 51 West Subdivision. 
Scheel gave an overview of the specific implementation plan and noted the developer has 
applied for preliminary plat approval to create twin home lots at lots 1, 3 and 4. 
 
Motion by Schumacher to approve the specific implementation plan as presented, 2nd by 
Bradford.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 


8. Planned Development Concept Plan for 211 Water Street. 
Scheel gave an overview of the concept plan. 
 
Dustin Oler explained the intent of the request is to create some affordable housing 
downtown which appears to be the best use for the property. 
 







Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 
6/12/23 
Page 2 of 2 
 


\\sto-fs1\global-public-files\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2023 PACKETS\07-25-2023\Minutes\02 Plan Com Minutes  061223.docx 


 


Caravello questioned what is meant by affordable housing.  Dustin Oler stated the apartments 
would be market rate with studio apartment rents at $850-$950; 1 bedroom at $1000 and 3 
bedroom at $1700. 
 
Majewski questioned if sustainability measures such as solar have been considered.  Dustin 
Oler stated they are looking into costs. 
 
Majewski questioned what the plan is for parking as this will need to be figured out in order 
to gain approval.  Dustin Oler would like to work with the City to find surface parking 
options. 
 
Farrow stated the north public parking lot may have some available capacity for parking.   
 
Scheel stated the public parking is available for anyone to use as do other downtown 
apartment tenants. 
 
Farrow stated the south public parking lot appears to be underutilized. 
 
The Commission discussed what would normally be the parking requirement for apartments.  
 
Dustin Oler stated they have been keeping a log of the number of available parking stalls in 
the north public parking lot throughout the day and found that there has been an average of 
39 open stalls. 
 
Farrow questioned if a log has been kept for the south public parking lot.  Dustin Oler stated 
they have not kept a log for that lot but it appears there are always many stalls available 
there. 
 
The Commission discussed the limitations of the north lot with 48 hour and 3 hour parking 
requirements in place. 
 
Scheel stated a survey will be necessary to verify there is enough area on the subject property 
to accommodate the proposed exit ramp on the north side of the property. 


  
9. Future agenda items. 


STI preliminary plat and rezoning. 
Preliminary plat for Lots 1, 3 and 4 at 51 West Subdivision. 
Preliminary condominium plat for Lot 6 at 51 West Subdivision. 
Preliminary condominium plat for 839-981 N. Page Street. 
 


10. Adjournment. 
Motion by Majewski to adjourn at 6:30 pm, 2nd by Caravello.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted,  Michael Stacey 







 1 


COMMISSION ON AGING MEETING MINUTES 
Tuesday, June 6, 2023 


Stoughton Area Senior Center 
 


Present:  Roz Gausman, Lou Havlik, Barb Manson, Bob McGeever, Lisa Reeves, Jeanne Schwass-
Long, David Sharpe, David Thomas, Sue Wollin 
Staff Present: Cindy McGlynn, Hollee Camacho  
Absent & Excused: Faith Schuck, Sue Springman 
 
Call to order: L. Havlik called the meeting to order at 11:01 AM.   
May Minutes: Moved by B. McGeever, seconded by R. Gausman to approve with discussed edits; 
passed unanimously.   
 
Director Comments: C. McGlynn 
 Thanks to Jim Ottney, our neighbor, who has planted flowers in our flower boxes and along the 


river/park. We are looking for a volunteer(s) to water the flowers on a regular basis. 
 We earned over $2000 at the Brat Fest. We received 120 brats from the Brat Fest organization 


and purchased more to cook and sell 420 brats. 
 We are halfway in reaching our fundraising need of $29,500 to go towards Center operations. 
 We have two summer fundraisers planned: Summer Concert at Nordic Ridge Park on July 11 


and Coney Dog and dessert sales at Gazebo Musikk on August 10. Both are evening events. 
 We are working on moving to a new database.  
 Cindy sent around the current listing of COA committee assignments and asked members to 


review and change committees if they choose. There are still some open spots for the Program 
Committee. 


 
Construction Update:  
 Construction is complete next door. Some fitness groups are beginning to use the space. WiFi 


and A/V equipment have been set up and tables were just delivered. Chairs will arrive in July. 
We will have an open house once all is in order. 


 Wood shop expansion is complete. This makes the Yahara Room five feet shorter. Some groups 
are showing interest in moving to larger spaces. 


 The Loan Closet remodel is complete too. We are pleased with the wall removal and 
reorganization. 


 
Staff Updates: C. McGlynn 
 We have an accepted offer for the Office Assistant position! The person will be announced once 


background checks and physical is completed. Thanks to Lou and Faith for sitting in on the 
interviews.  
 


Accreditation Update: 
 Cindy is putting together a committee for the re-accreditation process; she is still in need of a 


handful of members. She currently has a nice mix of townships, businesses, school and city 
officials. Please send Cindy an email if you’re interested or know someone who might want to 







 2 


participate. 
 The first full committee meeting will be held in June. From there, members will be divided into 


sub-committees to review our organization and determine areas for improvement. There are 
nine standards, so some members may be assigned more than one sub-committee. 


 Sub-committees will work separately and come back to review as a whole group. The goal is to 
finish the process in six months, with 6-7 meetings that are no more than one hour. 


 
Committee Reports: no news 
 
Legislative Update: no news 
 
Meeting Adjourned: Moved by D. Sharpe, seconded by B. McGeever to adjourn the meeting. Carried 
unanimously.  Meeting adjourned at 11:17 AM by L. Havilk. 
 
Next Meeting:  Tuesday, July 11, 2023 at 11:00 AM -Note date change due to holiday 







\\sto-fs1\global-public-files\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2023 PACKETS\07-25-2023\Minutes\04 Landmarks Minutes 060823.docx 


Landmarks Commission Meeting Minutes 
Thursday June 8, 2023 – 6:30 pm 
Hybrid 
 
Members Present:  Todd Hubing, Chair; Kimberly Cook, Secretary; Alan Hedstrom; Lisa 
Reeves; Peggy Veregin and Greg Pigarelli, Vice-Chair.  
Staff:  Michael Stacey, Zoning Administrator 
Absent: David Udstuen 
Guests: None 
  
1. Call to order.  Hubing called the meeting to order at 6:30 pm.   


 
2. Roll Call and Verification of Quorum. 


Hubing verified a quorum is present. 
 


3. Certification and Compliance with Open Meetings Law. 
Hubing stated the meeting was noticed and is open to the public. 
 


4. Elect Chair. 
Reeves nominated Hubing as Chair, 2nd by Hedstrom. 
 
Hubing nominated Cook as Chair, 2nd by Hedstrom.  Cook declined. 
 
Hubing requested additional nominations 3 times before closing the nominations.  There 
were no other nominations.   
 
The nomination for Hubing as Chair was unanimously approved. 
 


5. Elect Vice-Chair. 
Hedstrom nominated Pigarelli as Vice-Chair, 2nd by Reeves. 
 
Hubing requested additional nominations 3 times before closing the nominations.  There 
were no other nominations.   
 
The nomination was unanimously approved. 
 


6. Elect Secretary. 
Reeves nominated Cook as Secretary, 2nd by Hedstrom. 
 
Hubing requested additional nominations 3 times before closing the nominations.  There 
were no other nominations.   
 
The nomination was unanimously approved. 
   


7. Consider approval of the Landmarks Commission meeting minutes of April 13, 2023 
and May 31, 2023.  
Hedstrom stated item #12 on the April minutes has a typo.  Stacey will correct.  







Landmarks Commission Meeting Minutes 
6/8/23 
Page 2 of 3 
 


\\sto-fs1\global-public-files\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2023 PACKETS\07-25-2023\Minutes\04 Landmarks Minutes 060823.docx  


Motion by Reeves to approve the minutes as corrected, 2nd by Hedstrom.   Motion carried 
unanimously 


 
8. COA request for 620 S. Prairie Street. 


The Commission discussed the COA request. The project is already completed. 
 
Motion by Veregin to approve of the COA as presented, 2nd by Pigarelli.  Motion carried 
unanimously. 
 


9. Approve mini-grant finished project for 620 S. Prairie Street. 
The Commission discussed the mini-grant completed project.  
 
Motion by Veregin to approve of the mini-grant completed project as presented, 2nd by 
Hedstrom.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 


10. COA request for brick repair at 324 S. Page Street. 
The Commission discussed the COA request including the following: 


• Type “N” mortar should be used to match the existing mortar; 
• Grinding should be done at only the width of the mortar as to not damage the bricks. 


 
The Commission discussed possible reasons for the wall leaking. 
 
Motion by Veregin to approve of the COA with the conditions discussed, 2nd by Pigarelli.  
Motion carried unanimously. 


 
11. Approve mini-grant finished project for 126 E. Washington Street. 


The Commission discussed the mini-grant completed project.  The cost came in at $1,950 
and the mini-grant will pay up to half of the cost. 
 
Motion by Hedstrom to approve of the completed project as presented and pay out $975 for 
the mini-grant, 2nd by Cook.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 


12. Local District Plaques. 
Stacey provided mock-ups for the 7 proposed Local Landmark plaques.  Veregin will proof 
the mock-ups. 
 


13. Historic Downtown Local District. 
Veregin suggested the Commission should have an informational meeting now that the 
district has been approved.  Consensus is that September would be a good month for a 
meeting. 
 
Stacey stated the Commission should seek proactive exterior inspections that could tie into 
the mini-grants. 
 







Landmarks Commission Meeting Minutes 
6/8/23 
Page 3 of 3 
 


\\sto-fs1\global-public-files\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2023 PACKETS\07-25-2023\Minutes\04 Landmarks Minutes 060823.docx  


The Commission discussed whether painting of brick should be allowed.  The consensus was 
that existing painted brick could be retained in the same color but no changes in color should 
be allowed.  Paint causes moisture problems for the brick joints. 
 
Veregin stated there is a product called Peel Away to remove paint from brick. 
 
Hedstrom provided receipts from Local District work he had done. 
  


14. Community Engagement.   
The Commission plan to have an informational meeting in September and send notices to all 
property owners in the new local district. 
 


15. Commemorative Signage for the Riverfront Redevelopment. 
Hubing and Hedstrom were both at the last meeting as the committees from signage and for 
the old school campus were combined. 
 
Hubing stated the signage size and location have been decided. 
 
Hedstrom stated the sign with a QR code for the old school campus will be at the corner of 
Forrest and North. 
 


16. Commission Reports/Calendar. 
Nothing discussed. 
 


17. Future agenda items.   
Mini-grant extension and COA for 130 E. Main Street. 
 


18. Adjournment.  
Motion by Hedstrom to adjourn the meeting at 7:45 pm, 2nd by Cook.  Motion carried 
unanimously. 
 
 
 


Respectfully Submitted,  
 
Michael P. Stacey 







 
PARKS AND RECREATION COMMITTEE OF THE CITY OF STOUGHTON  
Tuesday, April 18, 2023  
This meeting was done hybrid  


In-Person Option: Stoughton Council Chambers (321 S. Fourth Street)  
Virtual Option: Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89754288561?pwd=SEd0M1RKV3hXZEloUnU3eXZrMzl ydz09 Meeting ID: 897 5428 
8561 Passcode: 230955  
One tap mobile +13126266799,,89754288561#,,,,*230955# US (Chicago) 
+16469313860,,89754288561#,,,,*230955# US 


 


 
Present: Alderpersons: Phil Caravello, Regina Hirsch, Joyce Tikalsky, Ethan Scheiwe, Mayor Tim Swadley and Parks & Recreation 
Director Dan Glynn  
 
Absent: Jim Brandt, Frank Raff 
Guest: None 
 
Call to Order: chairperson Tikalsky called the meeting to order at 5:15 pm 
 
Approval of Minutes from February 21, 2023   
Motion to approve the Minutes from February 21, 2023 by Caravello, seconded by Scheiwe  
 
Motion carried unanimously 
 
Communication-Thank you to Alder Tikalsky 
  
Directors Report-No questions or comments  
 
Virgin Lake Trail Alignment Roby Rd-51  
 
Motion to recommend moving forward with Option 1 of the Virgin Lake Trail Alignment Roby Rd., contingent on offering the Condo 
Association the opportunity to accept an offer from the city to purchase easement rights by Hirsch, seconded by Caravello 
 
Motion carried unanimously 
 
Authorizing the Director of Parks & Recreation to submit a grant application for Mandt Park Improvements  
 
Motion to authorizing the Director of Parks & Recreation to submit a grant application for Mandt Park Improvements  
by Hirsch, seconded by Caravello 
 
Motion carried unanimously 
 
Youth Center Passenger Van Lease 
 


Motion to recommend Youth Center Passenger Van Lease by Caravello, seconded by Hirsch 


Motion carried unanimously 
 
Future Agenda Items 
 
Cell Tower Lease  
STI Development 
Virgin Lake Trail Easement update 
 
Motion to adjourn by Caravello seconded by Hirsch 
Motion carried unanimously at 5:43 pm 







 
PARKS AND RECREATION COMMITTEE OF THE CITY OF STOUGHTON  
Tuesday, May 16, 2023  
This meeting was done hybrid  


In-Person Option: Stoughton Council Chambers (321 S. Fourth Street)  
Virtual Option: Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89543757905?pwd=QmxWUklMeGx6clZwQ2Z3a3JncG 8wZz09  
Meeting ID: 895 4375 7905 Passcode: 145356 


 


 
Present: Alderpersons: Phil Caravello, Regina Hirsch, DJ Payton, Jim Brandt, Mayor Tim Swadley and Parks & Recreation Director 
Dan Glynn  
 
Absent: Frank Raff, Ethan Scheiwe 
Guest: Emily Barr, Tyler Denig 
 
Call to Order: Mayor Swadley called the meeting to order at 6:04 pm 
 
Election of a Chair  
Motion to nominate Caravello as Chair by Hirsch 
 
Motion carried unanimously 
 
Election of a Vice Chair  
Motion to nominate Payton as Vice Chair by Caravello 
 
Motion carried unanimously 
 
Approval of Minutes from April 18, 2023   
Motion to approve the Minutes from April 18, 2023 by Payton, seconded by Hirsch  
 
Motion carried unanimously 
 
Communication-None 
Member Communications-None 
 
Directors Report-Director Glynn reviewed Director Report, highlighted Riverfront trail and projects, Virgin Lake Trail  
 
Trail Naming Policy-Discussion included modifications, no action taken, will come back at future meeting 
 
2464 County Highway A Acquisition 
 
Motion to go closed session per State Statute 19.85(1)(e) for the purposes of deliberating or negotiating the purchase of public 
properties, the investing of public funds, or conducting other specified public business, whenever competitive or bargaining reasons 
deem a closed session necessary by Caravello, seconded by Hirsch. The City Council may reconvene in an open session to discuss and 
take action on the subject matter discussed in the closed session 
 
Future Agenda Items 
 
Trail Naming Policy 
STI Development 
 
Motion to adjourn by Hirsch seconded by Payton 
Motion carried unanimously at 7:28pm 







River and Trails Task Force Minutes 
May 1, 2023 
City Hall Conference Room 
 
Present:  Jon Lewis, Jim Wilcox, Sandra Black, Nancy Hagen, Joni Dean, Larry Liebmann, Jim 
Killian, Dan Glynn.   
 
CALL TO ORDER 


1.  Call to order:  The meeting was called to order at 1738. 
2. Approval of March 6, 2023 Minutes:  With an amendment to Old Business, #4, Nancy’s 


name was amended to Sandra.   
3. Communications:  The Scouts will be installing new interpretive signs this weekend.  


Project Updates: 
a) Riverfront:  Dan shared a slide of the potential Mandt Park Site Plan.  He still needs 


three permits for the water park.  He submitted a grant application for this plan last 
week. 


b) Cell Tower:  No update regarding Dan’s communication regarding asking for $30,000 
and whether that amount will increase each year with inflation.   It is planned the 
money will be used for trail funds. 


c) Feasibility Study:  Preliminary results reveal a community recreation center including 
a sports complex and soccer fields at the Stoughton Trailers site.   


d) North Trail Easements:  Dan is working on connecting easements for this trail. 
e) Eggleson’s Woods Park Development:  Dan shared the Master Plan for discussion. 
f) Tee Nasak Park (KPW) Master Plan:  This is close to 20 acres and Dan shared a 


summary of the stakeholder meetings. 
g) Virgin Lake Trail:  The revised trail alignment was shared.   


 
OLD BUSINESS 


4.   Trail Naming:  The naming of trails has been delegated from the Community Affairs 
Committee to the River and Trails Task Force. 


5. Earth Day Trail Cleanup:  It was a cool day but approximately 40 folks attended to clean-
up including the Scouts.   


6. Election of a Chair:  Nomination by Nancy with a second by Joni to approve Jim Killian as 
the continued Chair. 


7. Election of a Vice Chair:  This will be postponed until the next meeting. 
8. Future Agenda items:  None. 


 
ADJOURNMENT 
The meeting was adjourned at 1857.   
 
Respectfully submitted,  
Joni Dean 







Public Works Committee  
Thursday, June 15th, 2023 
(Hybrid Meeting) 
 
Members Present: Tom Majewski, Kay Rashka, Lisa Reeves, Mayor Tim Swadley & Rachel 
Venegas  


Absent/Excused: Jeffrey Bartzen, Ben Helli & Planning Director Rodney Scheel  


Staff:  Public Works Director Brett Hebert 
 
Guests:  
 
Call to Order:  Hebert called the meeting to order at 6:02 PM 


 


1) Communications:    


• Director Hebert stated that Jeffrey Bartzen has moved and will no longer be on the 
Committee so we will need to find a replacement. 


• Director Hebert advised that work has started at the Skate Park at Mandt Park. Right now 
improvements are being made that will hold up until 2031.  


• Director Hebert advised that brush collection begins on June 26th.  
 


2)    Approve May 18th, 2023 Meeting Minutes:  Motion by Reeves to approve the minutes and 
seconded by Rashka. Motion carried 5-0.    


 


New Business:  


3) Review of the Asphalt Zipper Pulverization Machine: 
 
Director Hebert advised that he has been looking at way to supplement construction to use capital 
dollars to purchase a pulverization machine that goes on a front loader. He also stated that they are 
spending $133,000 in pulverization costs alone this year so purchasing a machine would help cut 
those costs down. He then presented a video of how the machine works and a demo is scheduled to 
be done here in Stoughton on August 1st  
 
4) Review and Possible Approval of Ordinance Language Restricting Fishing in Stormwater 
Ponds with Mechanical Water Treatment: 
 
Director Hebert advised that it was recently found that an aerator in one of the ponds failed due to 
fishing line getting caught up in the aerator; which now needs to be replaced. To prevent this from 
continuing to happen, he suggested that perhaps an ordinance be in place. Discussion was then had 
to restrict fishing all together for safety reasons but only for stormwater ponds with mechanical 
water treatments. There are two ponds in Stoughton that have this device; Eastwood and Rotary 
Park ponds.  
 
Motion by Reeves, to recommend to approve to council for no fishing in stormwater ponds 
with mechanical water treatments, seconded by Rashka. Motion carried 5-0 
 







5) 2023 Street Construction Project Update: 
 
Director Hebert gave an update on Construction progress for all street projects going on this season.  
  
6) Future Agenda Items: 
 


a) Discuss the Rental of City Property for Lease for Agricultural Planting and Harvesting 
b) Pedestrian Hill Surface Remediation 


 
9) Adjourn: Motion by Venegas to adjourn, seconded by Reeves to adjourn the meeting at 
6:50pm.  
 
Respectfully submitted by Jen Wagner 6/16/2023 







STOUGHTON PUBLIC LIBRARY 


BOARD OF TRUSTEES MEETING 


WEDNESDAY, JUNE 21, 2023, @ 6:30 P.M. 


HYBRID MEETING IN CARNEGIE ROOM  


& VIA ZOOM 


PRESENT: Ken Axe; Amy Ketterer (virtual); Jean Ligocki, Vice-President/City Council 


Representative; Sharon Meilahn Bartlett; Erin Meinholz; Kristin Rosenberg, Stoughton Area 


School District Representative; Dayna Verstegen (virtual); Siri Vienneau, Student Trustee 


(virtual) 


ABSENT: Teri LeSage, President 


ALSO PRESENT: Jim Ramsey, Library Director (virtual); Amanda Bosky, Adult Services 


Librarian; Sarah Monette, Administrative Assistant 


 


I. CALL TO ORDER. 6:31 p.m. by Vice-President Jean Ligocki 


II. REVIEW OF AGENDA & CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH OPEN 


MEETINGS LAW. 


III. CONSENT AGENDA. Motion to approve: Meinholz. Second: Meilahn Bartlett. 


Vote: 6-0 


IV. RECOGNITION OPPORTUNITIES. Ligocki praised the Library’s Pride event, 


especially the work done by Mary Ostrander, Cynthia Schlegel, and the Friends of the 


Library. 


V. PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD. None. 


VI. REVIEW/DISCUSSION OF CORRESPONDENCE. Ramsey shared emails he 


received about the Pride event. 


 


[Axe arrived 6:34 P.M.] 


 


VII. EDUCATION UPDATES. Meilahn Bartlett reported that the library in Rockton, 


Illinois, is doing a Pride event and has responded to pushback by asking people who 


support the event to attend an upcoming Board meeting. Meilahn Bartlett also 


reported that Illinois has passed a law banning book bans. Ketterer described her visit 


to the library in Oak Park, Illinois. 


VIII. BOARD IN-SERVICE. THE STATE OF AMERICA’S LIBRARIES 2023, A 


REPORT FROM THE AMERICAN LIBRARY ASSOCIATION. Ramsey presented. 


Discussion ensued regarding the nationwide increase in challenges to library 


materials. 


IX. DIRECTOR’S REPORT. In addition to his written report, Ramsey provided an 


update on the 216 E. Jefferson project and thanked the Board for supporting the 


Library’s Pride event. Meilahn Bartlett thanked Ramsey and Ostrander for their work 


at the Juneteenth event. 


X. COMMITTEE REPORTS 


A. Finance: did not meet. 


B. Personnel: Ramsey reported that the committee received an update on the creation of 


two part-time positions from Jane Groshan’s full-time position and the Library’s 


personnel requests for 2024 (ten more hours for the Circulation Director, another pat-


time position in Adult Services). 







C. Planning: did not meet. 


D. Policies: Meinholz reported that the committee reviewed the three policies up for 


approval under New Business. 


XI. OLD BUSINESS. None. 


XII. NEW BUSINESS. 


A. ASSIGNMENT OF COMMITTEES. Ligocki tabled this item until the July meeting. 


B. APPOINTMENT OF AD HOC TRUSTEE RECRUITMENT COMMITTEE TO 


FILL BOARD VACANCY. Verstegen, Ketterer, and Rosenberg volunteered to be on 


the committee. 


C. DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION REGARDING PROPOSAL TO CREATE 


TWO PART-TIME POSITIONS OUT OF AN EXISTING FULL-TIME POSITION. 


Ramsey explained that there would be one 20 hr/week position in Circulation and one 


20 hr/week position in Children’s (hopefully going up to 22 hrs/week). Motion to 


approve: Axe. Second: Meilahn Bartlett. Vote: 7-0. 


D. DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION REGARDING PROPOSED CHANGES 


TO APPROPRIATE LIBRARY BEHAVIOR POLICY. Motion to approve: 


Meinholz. Second: Meilahn Bartlett. 


Motion to include approval of the Carnegie Room Use Policy and the Second 


Floor Meeting Rooms Policy on this vote: Meilahn Bartlett. Second: Verstegen. 


Vote: 7-0. 


       Vote: 7-0. 


XIII. PENDING AGENDA ITEMS. Future designation of Library Gift Fund (217) Fund 


Balance 


XIV. ADJOURNMENT. Motion to adjourn at 7:29 P.M.: Meilahn Bartlett. Second: 


Rosenberg. Vote: 7-0. 


  


Minutes taken by Sarah Monette 





		01 Finance Committee minutes (signed) 06-27-2023

		02 Plan Com Minutes  061223

		Plan Commission Meeting Minutes Monday, June 12, 2023 at 6:00 pm Hybrid Meeting



		03 COA June 2023

		04 Landmarks Minutes 060823

		Landmarks Commission Meeting Minutes



		05 Park  Rec minutes 4-18-23

		06 Park  Rec minutes 5-16-23

		07 River and Trails Task Force Minutes May 2023

		08 PW Min June 15, 2023

		09 2023 06 21 June Library Board minutes






WHEREAS the City Clerk’s office has received application for a Outdoor Consumption Permit for 
the period of July 1, 2023, to June 30, 2024, for the business: 


Amovi Ventures, Wendy Brigham, Agent, dba Banushi’s Bar & Grill, 800 Nygaard Street


Adopted Failed 
Vote 


Council Action: 


Mayoral Action: Accept Veto 


Tim Swadley, Mayor Date 


Council Action:  Override Vote 


WHEREAS, your Public Safety Committee met on June 28, 2023 to consider the terms of the 
Outdoor Consumption Permit application and, upon advisement from the Police 
Chief, recommends approval; now therefore 
BE IT RESOLVED by the Common 


 
Council of the City of Stoughton that the proper city 


official(s) be hereby authorized and directed to issue the Outdoor Consumption Permits to the 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


Authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) to approve the Outdoor Consumption Permits for 
the period of July 1, 2023, to June 30, 2024 


Committee Action: Public Safety Committee recommended approval 5-0 on 6/28/23
Fiscal Impact: None 


File Number: R-117-2023 Date Introduced: July 25, 2023













		05c  R-117-2023  Outdoor Consumption 2023-2024

		05dc Banushi's Outdoor Consumption Application_Redacted










 
 


 
RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


 
Authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) to appoint Puree Hill as the agent for KPW 
Hospitality, d/b/a Tru by Hilton, located at 2500 Jackson St.  
 


  


  
 
File Number:  R-118-2023 


 
Date Introduced:   July 25, 2023 


 
WHEREAS the City Clerk’s office has received a Schedule for Successor of Agent and Schedule 
for Appointment of Agent for KPW Hospitality, and 
 
WHEREAS, the application was forwarded to the Police Chief for review, now therefore  
 
BE IT RESOLVED the Common Council of the City of Stoughton that the proper city 
official(s) be hereby directed and authorized to appoint Puree Hill the agent for KPW 
Hospitality.  
 
 
Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote     
 
 
Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  
 
 
                                             
Tim Swadley, Mayor    Date 


 
 


 
 
Council Action:           Override  Vote     
 
 





















		05e R-118-2023 Agent Change - KPW TRU by Hilton

		05e KPW TRU By Hilton Agent Change Puree Hill redacted










DRAFT STOUGHTON UTILITIES COMMITTEE REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Monday, July 17, 2023 – 5:30 p.m. 
Stoughton, WI  
Page No.  1 


Location: Meeting Room, Stoughton Utilities Wastewater Treatment Facility 


700 Mandt Parkway, Stoughton, Wisconsin 


Optional Virtual Participation: GoToMeeting ID 427-337-965 


Members Present: Citizen Member David Erdman (Chair), Alderperson Greg Jensen, Alderperson 


Daniel Payton, Mayor Tim Swadley, Citizen Member Dustin Thoren (Vice-Chair) 


Excused: Citizen Member Carl Chenoweth, Alderperson Regina Hirsch 


Absent: None 


Others Present: Stoughton Utilities Finance Manager Shannon Statz, Stoughton Utilities Director 


Jill Weiss 


Call to Order:  Chairperson Erdman called the regular Stoughton Utilities Committee Meeting to order at 5:30 


p.m.  Erdman, Payton, Swadley, and Thoren were present in person.  Jensen attended virtually. 


Erdman thanked Stoughton Utilities Wastewater System Supervisor Brian Erickson and Stoughton Utilities staff 


for hosting a tour of the Stoughton Utilities Wastewater Treatment Facility prior to the meeting.  Erdman, Payton, 


Swadley, and Thoren of the Stoughton Utilities Committee attended the tour, along with Erickson, Statz, Weiss, 


and Stoughton Utilities Education & Outreach Coordinator Brandi Yungen. 


Verification of Quorum:  The chair verified that a quorum of the committee membership was present. 


Certification of Compliance with Open Meetings Law:  Weiss certified that the meeting had been properly 


noticed in compliance with open meetings law. 


Public Comments:  Erdman recognized Stoughton Utilities Wastewater System Supervisor and thanked him 


for his service to the Stoughton community.  Erickson will be retiring at the end of July after 30 years of 


employment at Stoughton Utilities.   


Utilities Committee Consent Agenda:  Stoughton Utilities staff presented and discussed the Stoughton Utilities 


Committee consent agenda items, highlighting the upcoming WPPI Energy annual meeting.    


Motion by Thoren, the motion seconded by Payton, to approve the following consent agenda items as presented:  


a. Draft Minutes of the June 19, 2023 Regular Utilities Committee Meeting 


b. Stoughton Utilities Payments Due List Report 


c. Stoughton Utilities Financial Summary 


d. Stoughton Utilities Statistical Report 


e. Stoughton Utilities Activities Report 


f. Communications 


The motion carried unanimously 5 to 0. 


  



bhoops

Highlight







STOUGHTON UTILITIES COMMITTEE REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Monday, May 15, 2023 – 5:30 p.m. 
Stoughton, WI  
Page No.  1 


Location: Edmund T. Malinowski Board Room, Stoughton Utilities Administration Office 


600 South Fourth Street, Stoughton, Wisconsin 


Optional Virtual Participation: GoToMeeting ID 706-672-805 


Members Present: Citizen Member Carl Chenoweth, Citizen Member David Erdman (Chair), 


Alderperson Regina Hirsch, Alderperson Greg Jensen, Alderperson Daniel Payton 


Excused: Mayor Tim Swadley, Citizen Member Dustin Thoren (Vice-Chair) 


Absent: None 


Others Present: Megan Cahill of Baker Tilly US, LLP, Stoughton Utilities Assistant Director Brian 


Hoops, Stoughton Utilities & WPPI Energy Service Manager Darren Jacobson 


(virtual), Stoughton Utilities Finance Manager Shannon Statz, Stoughton Utilities 


Director Jill Weiss 


Call to Order:  Director Weiss called the regular Stoughton Utilities Committee Meeting to order at 5:30 p.m.  


Chenoweth, Erdman, Hirsch, Jensen, and Payton were present in person.  No members attended virtually. 


Verification of Quorum:  The chair verified that a quorum of the committee membership was present. 


Certification of Compliance with Open Meetings Law:  Hoops certified that the meeting had been properly 


noticed in compliance with open meetings law. 


Public Comments:  There were no public comments. 


Election of the Utilities Committee Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson:  Motion by Hirsch to nominate 


Erdman to the position of Stoughton Utilities Committee Chairperson.  Discussion followed.   


Motion by Erdman to nominate Thoren to the position of Stoughton Utilities Committee Vice-Chairperson.  


Discussion followed.   


The nominations carried unanimously 5 to 0.   


Election of the Utilities Committee Liaison and Alternate Liaison to the Stoughton Common Council:  


Motion by Hirsch to nominate Payton to the position of Utilities Committee Liaison to the Stoughton Common 


Council.  Discussion followed. 


Motion by Hirsch to nominate Jenson to the position of Alternate Liaison to the Stoughton Common Council.  


Discussion followed.   


The nominations carried unanimously 5 to 0. 


Swadley joined the meeting by webinar at 5:38 p.m. 


Selection of the Utilities Committee Date and Time:  Motion by Erdman, seconded by Hirsch, to designate 


the monthly meeting date to remain the third Monday of the month, and the meeting time to be set as 5:30 p.m.  


Discussion followed.  The motion carried unanimously 6 to 0. 







STOUGHTON UTILITIES COMMITTEE REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Monday, May 15, 2023 – 5:30 p.m. 
Stoughton, WI  
Page No.  2 


Utilities Committee Consent Agenda:  Stoughton Utilities staff presented and discussed the Stoughton Utilities 


Committee consent agenda items.   


Staff highlighted that Erdman had received the Charlie Bradburn Pillars of Public Power awards at the recent 


MEUW Awards Ceremony, recognizing his 16 years on the committee.  The committee congratulated Erdman 


and thanked him for his service. 


Motion by Jenson, the motion seconded by Payton, to approve the following consent agenda items as presented:  


a. Draft Minutes of the April 17, 2023 Regular Utilities Committee Meeting 


b. Stoughton Utilities Payments Due List Report 


c. Stoughton Utilities Financial Summary 


d. Stoughton Utilities Statistical Report 


e. Stoughton Utilities Activities Report 


f. Communications 


The motion carried unanimously 6 to 0. 


Status of the Utilities Committee recommendation(s) to the Stoughton Common Council:  Stoughton 


Utilities staff presented and discussed the following items from the Stoughton Utilities Committee that were 


recently approved and/or placed on file by the Stoughton Common Council: 


Consent Agenda:  


1. Minutes of the March 20, 2023 Regular Utilities Committee Meeting 


2. Stoughton Utilities Payments Due List Report 


3. Stoughton Utilities Financial Summary – December 2022, January 2023, and February 2023 


4. Stoughton Utilities Statistical Report 


Business: 


None 


Discussion followed.   


Swadley left the meeting at 4:45 p.m. 


Status of the PSCW Electric Rate Application Filing:  Staff provided the committee with an update on the 


electric rate application that was filed with the Public Service Commission of Wisconsin (PSCW) in February 


2023.  Background information on the rate filing and the review process was provided.  Staff informed the 


committee that this agenda item will be a standing item through the review process.  Discussion followed. 


Stoughton Utilities 2022 Audit Reports and Management Letter:  Erdman informed the committee that he 


would abstain from any discussion and vote, and left the meeting at 5:55 p.m.  Staff introduced Ms. Megan Cahill 


from Baker Tilly US, LLP, who presented the Stoughton Utilities 2022 Audit Reports and Management Letter.  


Discussion followed.  Erdman returned to the meeting at 6:09. 


Motion by Chenoweth, seconded by Jenson, to acknowledge receipt of the Stoughton Utilities 2022 audit reports 


and management letter and recommend the Stoughton Common Council accept receipt of the audit reports and 


management letter, and adopt the accompanying resolution.  The motion carried 4 to 0, with Erdman abstaining. 







STOUGHTON UTILITIES COMMITTEE REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Monday, May 15, 2023 – 5:30 p.m. 
Stoughton, WI  
Page No.  3 


Stoughton Electric Utility Annual Report filed with the Public Service Commission of Wisconsin:  


Stoughton Utilities staff presented and discussed the Stoughton Electric Utility Annual Report filed with the Public 


Service Commission of Wisconsin.  Discussion followed. 


Stoughton Water Utility Annual Report filed with the Public Service Commission of Wisconsin:  Stoughton 


Utilities staff presented and discussed the Stoughton Water Utility Annual Report filed with the Public Service 


Commission of Wisconsin.  Discussion followed. 


Authorizing the Partial Release of a Platted Public Utility Easement on Lot 141 of John Nygaard’s Virgin 


Lake Estates (2108 Wood View Dr), recorded as Document No. 5618013, Dane County Registry:  


Stoughton Utilities staff discussed a customer request for a partial release of a platted public utility easement.  


Staff informed the committee that Stoughton Utilities does not have any existing utility infrastructure located in 


the easement and that there were no plans to utilize the easement in the future.  Staff noted that the Dane County 


Registration Document No. 5592538 included on the meeting notice was incorrect and should be Document No. 


5618013.  Staff also noted that following attorney review it was recommended that an illustration of the easement 


to be released should be included in the documentation prior to approval by the Common Council.  Discussion 


followed.   


Motion by Chenoweth, seconded by Hirsch, to authorize the partial release of a platted public utility easement 


on Lot 141 of John Nygaard’s Virgin Lake Estates (2108 Wood View Dr), recorded as Document No. 5618013, 


Dane County Registry, and recommend approval of the partial easement release following the addition of an 


illustration of the easement to be released to the Stoughton Common Council.  The motion carried unanimously 


5 to 0.   


Wastewater 2022 Compliance Maintenance Annual Report (CMAR):  Stoughton Utilities staff presented and 


discussed the 2022 CMAR.  Staff informed the committee that annual submittal of an electronic CMAR form 


(eCMAR) is required to be completed no later than June 30.  Staff further informed the committee that there were 


no concerns noted in the CMAR.  Discussion followed.  


Motion by Payton, seconded by Jenson, to approve the 2022 Compliance Maintenance Annual Report and 


recommend the approval and adoption of the corresponding resolution to the Stoughton Common Council at 


their May 23, 2023 meeting.  The motion carried unanimously 5 to 0. 


Revisions to the City of Stoughton Investment Policy:  Stoughton Utilities staff presented and discussed a 


proposed policy that was drafted by City of Stoughton staff with input and review from Stoughton Utilities staff.  


Staff explained the proposed policy would replace procedures currently specified in the Stoughton code of 


ordinances and how the proposed policy would impact future new investments as well as the information that 


would be presented to the Utilities Committee at upcoming meetings.  Discussion followed.   


Motion by Jenson, seconded by Payton, to approve the revised City of Stoughton Investment Policy and 


recommend approval to the Stoughton Finance Committee and Stoughton Common Council.  The motion carried 


4 to 1 with Chenoweth voting No. 


Utilities Committee Future Agenda Items:  Stoughton Utilities staff informed the committee that the annual 


water Consumer Confidence Report (CCR) will be presented at the June meeting.  Committee members 


requested that a comparison of Stoughton Utilities electric rates with the rates of neighboring investor-owned 


utilities be provided at an upcoming meeting, and that a tour of the wastewater treatment facility be offered prior 







STOUGHTON UTILITIES COMMITTEE REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Monday, May 15, 2023 – 5:30 p.m. 
Stoughton, WI  
Page No.  4 


to the start of a future meeting.  Tour details were discussed, as well as possible tours of water wells and elevated 


storage towers, and an electric substation.    


Adjournment:  Being no further business before the committee, motion by Jenson, seconded by Hirsch, to 


adjourn the meeting at 6:49 p.m.  The motion carried unanimously 5 to 0. 


Respectfully submitted, 


Brian R. Hoops 


Stoughton Utilities Assistant Director 







STOUGHTON UTILITIES COMMITTEE REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Monday, June 19, 2023 – 5:30 p.m. 
Stoughton, WI  
Page No.  1 


 


Location: Edmund T. Malinowski Board Room, Stoughton Utilities Administration Office 


600 South Fourth Street, Stoughton, Wisconsin 


Optional Virtual Participation: GoToMeeting ID 286-749-405 


Members Present: Citizen Member Carl Chenoweth, Citizen Member David Erdman (Chair), 


Alderperson Regina Hirsch, Alderperson Greg Jensen, Alderperson Daniel 


Payton, Mayor Tim Swadley, Citizen Member Dustin Thoren (Vice-Chair) 


Excused: None 


Absent: None 


Others Present: Stoughton Utilities Assistant Director Brian Hoops (Virtual), Stoughton Utilities 


Director Jill Weiss 


Call to Order:  Chairperson Erdman called the regular Stoughton Utilities Committee Meeting to order at 5:30 


p.m.  Chenoweth, Erdman, Hirsch, Jensen, Payton, and Thoren were present in person.  No members attended 


virtually. 


Verification of Quorum:  The chair verified that a quorum of the committee membership was present. 


Certification of Compliance with Open Meetings Law:  Weiss certified that the meeting had been properly 


noticed in compliance with open meetings law. 


Public Comments:  There were no public comments. 


Utilities Committee Consent Agenda:  Stoughton Utilities staff presented and discussed the Stoughton Utilities 


Committee consent agenda items.    


Weiss added that a new employee started at Stoughton Utilities today and there will be an upcoming retirement 


at the end of the next month.  Also discussed were recent electrical outages that occurred on June 11, 2023 and 


the recent installation of sampling wells in the parking lot of the Stoughton Utilities Administration Building to 


monitor possible pollution from a neighboring industrial facility. 


Motion by Chenoweth, the motion seconded by Thoren, to approve the following consent agenda items as 


presented:  


a. Draft Minutes of the May 15, 2023 Regular Utilities Committee Meeting 


b. Stoughton Utilities Payments Due List Report 


c. Stoughton Utilities Financial Summary 


d. Stoughton Utilities Statistical Report 


e. Stoughton Utilities Activities Report 


f. Communications 


The motion carried unanimously 6 to 0. 







STOUGHTON UTILITIES COMMITTEE REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Monday, June 19, 2023 – 5:30 p.m. 
Stoughton, WI  
Page No.  2 


 


  







STOUGHTON UTILITIES COMMITTEE REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Monday, June 19, 2023 – 5:30 p.m. 
Stoughton, WI  
Page No.  3 


 


Status of the Utilities Committee recommendation(s) to the Stoughton Common Council:  Stoughton 


Utilities staff presented and discussed the following items from the Stoughton Utilities Committee that were 


recently approved and/or placed on file by the Stoughton Common Council: 


Consent Agenda:  


1. Minutes of the April 17, 2023 Regular Utilities Committee Meeting 


2. Stoughton Utilities Payments Due List Report 


3. Stoughton Utilities Financial Summary 


4. Stoughton Utilities Statistical Report 


Business: 


1. Stoughton Utilities 2022 Audit Reports and Management Letter 


2. Wastewater 2022 Compliance Maintenance Annual Report (CMAR) 


3. Revisions to the City of Stoughton Investment Policy 


Discussion followed.   


Status of the PSCW Electric Rate Application Filing:  Staff provided the committee with an update on the 


electric rate application that was filed with the Public Service Commission of Wisconsin (PSCW) in February 


2023.  The PSCW continues to review the application and staff has responded to several follow-up questions 


from the commission.  Discussion followed. 


Stoughton Utilities 2022 Annual Water Consumer Confidence Report:  Staff presented and discussed the 


annual Consumer Confidence Report (CCR).  The CCR provides information about Stoughton’s drinking water 


quality and any detected contaminants during the previous monitoring year.  Staff discussed the report format, 


crediting Brandi Yungen, education & outreach coordinator, for her creativity in its development.  This report will 


be distributed to customers during the month of June and distributed to and posted in various public locations.  


Discussion followed. 


Swadley joined the meeting at 5:37 p.m. 


Stoughton Utilities Typical Bill Rate Comparison Summary:  Stoughton Utilities staff presented and 


discussed report comparing the utility’s current electric rates to comparable rates of the investor-owned utilities 


for standard usage of residential, commercial, and large power/industrial customers.  Discussion followed. 


Presentation: Stoughton Water Quality: 2022-2023 Lead and Copper Sampling Results:  Staff presented 


and discussed the results of the 2022 and 2023 water sampling conducted in accordance with the regulations 


set by the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (WDNR) and the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 


(EPA) Lead and Copper Rule.  Staff informed the committee that 60 homes were sampled in 2022 and again in 


2023, and the sampling and water quality monitoring did not find elevated levels of lead or copper in any of the 


homes sampled.   


Staff highlighted the 2023 sampling results and informed the committee that of the 60 homes sampled, eight had 


no detect, 48 had lead levels between 0 and 5 parts per billion (ppb) or 0.000 - 0.005 mg/L, three had lead levels 


between 5 and 10-ppb or 0.005 - 0.010 mg/L, zero had lead levels between 10-ppb and 15-ppb or 0.010 - 0.015 


mg/L, and one had lead levels above the 15-ppb or 0.015 mg/L 2019 exceedance level.  Staff further informed 







STOUGHTON UTILITIES COMMITTEE REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Monday, June 19, 2023 – 5:30 p.m. 
Stoughton, WI  
Page No.  4 


 


the committee that the 90th percentile level was 4.2-ppb, well below the 15-ppb regulatory limit.  Discussion 


followed. 


Stoughton Utilities Wastewater Treatment Facility Tour Schedule:  Stoughton Utilities staff informed the 


committee that a tour of the Stoughton Utilities Wastewater Treatment Facility is scheduled to take place prior to 


the July 17, 2023 meeting of the Stoughton Utilities Committee.  Members of the Stoughton Utilities Committee 


are invited to attend.  Following the tour, the regular committee meeting will be held at the Wastewater Treatment 


Facility at the usual 5:30 p.m. scheduled time.  Discussion followed. 


Utilities Committee Future Agenda Items:  Stoughton Utilities staff informed the committee that the award of 


funds from the Stoughton Utilities Project RoundUP program will be on the agenda for the July meeting.  A 


presentation from WPPI Energy staff will occur at the August meeting. 


Adjournment:  Being no further business before the committee, motion by Chenoweth, seconded by Jenson, to 


adjourn the meeting at 06:14 p.m.  The motion carried unanimously 7 to 0. 


Respectfully submitted, 


Brian R. Hoops 


Stoughton Utilities Assistant Director 







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


08:05AM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


1 of 7


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 6/2/2023


Friday, June 02, 2023


Description


7430Company:


VO for check batch: 311439EP002625 516 WELLS FARGO BANK5/10/2023  32,858.05


WPPI-Renewable Energy/WPPI-Buy Back Solar 


Credit/WPPI-Excess Gen 8-8 Cr/WPPI-Large 


Power/WPPI-Support Services/WPPI-Support 


Services/WPPI-Support Services/WPPI-Support 


Services


HC002626 009 WPPI5/12/2023  672,570.21


Alliant Energy - May Ach/Alliant Energy - May 


Ach/Alliant Energy - May Ach/Alliant Energy - May 


Ach/Alliant Energy - May Ach/Alliant Energy - May 


Ach/Alliant Energy - May Ach


HC002627 003 Alliant Energy - Ach5/30/2023  2,315.10


Federal Taxes-May Ach/Federal Taxes-May 


Ach/Federal Taxes-May Ach/Federal Taxes-May 


Ach


HC002628 025 Payroll Federal Taxes- Ach5/30/2023  42,608.92


Assoc Bank-May Ach/Assoc Bank-May Ach/Assoc 


Bank-May Ach/Assoc Bank-May Ach


HC002629 015 Associated Bank-Ach5/30/2023  12,283.21


Client Analysis-May Ach/Client Analysis-May 


Ach/Client Analysis-May Ach/Client Analysis-May 


Ach


HC002630 020 Wells Fargo Bank-Ach5/30/2023  75.27


Delta Dental - May Ach/Delta Dental - May 


Ach/Delta Dental - May Ach


HC002631 001 Delta Dental - Ach5/30/2023  1,604.86


State Taxes - May Ach/State Taxes - May AchHC002632 008 Payroll  State Taxes - Ach5/30/2023  7,380.11


Dept of Rev-Gross Lic FeesHC002633 010 WI Dept. of Revenue Taxpayment-Ach5/30/2023  35,068.67


EBC - May Ach/EBC - May Ach/EBC - May 


Ach/EBC - May Ach/EBC - May Ach


HC002634 002 Employee Benefits Corp - Ach5/30/2023  752.62


First Data-May Ach/First Data-May Ach/First 


Data-May Ach/First Data-May Ach


HC002635 421 FIRST DATA CHARGES5/30/2023  30.52


Dept of Rev-May Ach/Dept of Rev-May AchHC002636 010 WI Dept. of Revenue Taxpayment-Ach5/30/2023  16,581.17


Gordon Flesch-May Ach/Gordon Flesch-May 


Ach/Gordon Flesch-May Ach/Gordon Flesch-May 


Ach


HC002637 856 GORDON FLESCH COMPANY, INC.5/30/2023  138.38


LV Labs-May AchHC002638 499 LV LABS WW, LLC5/30/2023  1,345.00







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


08:05AM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


2 of 7


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 6/2/2023


Friday, June 02, 2023


Description


Pitney Bowes-May Ach/Pitney Bowes-May 


Ach/Pitney Bowes-May Ach/Pitney Bowes-May 


Ach/Pitney Bowes-May Ach/Pitney Bowes-May 


Ach/Pitney Bowes-May Ach


HC002639 318 PITNEY-BOWES INC-PURCHASE POWER5/30/2023  8,139.96


Us Cellular - May Ach/Us Cellular - May Ach/Us 


Cellular - May Ach


HC002640 004 Us Cellular - Ach5/30/2023  1,029.32


TDS Metrocom - May Ach/TDS Metrocom - May 


Ach/TDS Metrocom - May Ach/TDS Metrocom - 


May Ach


HC002641 007 TDS Metrocom - Ach5/30/2023  914.29


Spectrum-May Ach/Spectrum-May 


Ach/Spectrum-May Ach


HC002642 547 Spectrum-Ach5/30/2023  434.06


AT&T - May Ach/AT&T - May AchHC002643 952 AT&T5/30/2023  346.19


LOT 89 1309 NORDLAND DR/LOT 92 1225 


NORDLAND DR/LOT 74 1224 NORDLAND 


DR/LOT 144 2233 OTTESON DR/LOT 153 2301 


ODEGARD DR


CK028807 084 HARVEST FARMS, LLC5/3/2023  2,750.00


CHOOSE RENEW MATERIALSCK028808 166 INKWORKS, INC.5/3/2023  557.72


PRORATE ANNUAL FEE-FINALCK028809 171 ASSOCIATED TRUST CO5/3/2023  79.17


LEGAL SERVICES/LEGAL SERVICES/LEGAL 


SERVICES


CK028810 186 STAFFORD ROSENBAUM LLP5/3/2023  592.60


LOT 22 3031 VELKOMMEN WAY/LOT 22A 3033 


VELKOMMEN WAY/LOT 23 1403 NYGAARD ST


CK028811 190 FIFTY-ONE WEST, LLC5/3/2023  1,650.00


FLOAT SWITCH-VENEVOLL 


LSTA/RADIO/ANTENNA-NR LIFT STATION


CK028812 207 SJE5/3/2023  2,458.40


ELECTRIC INVENTORY-RESCO/OH 


MAINTENANCE TOOL/OH RECONSTRUCT 


TOOLS/SUPPLY/8FT RATCHET CUTTER/8FT 


RATCHET CUTTER/ELECTRIC 


INVENTORY-RESCO/OH MAINTENANCE 


TOOL/OH RECONSTRUCT TOOLS/SUPPLY/8FT 


RATCHET CUTTER/8FT RATCHET CUTTER


VC028813 400 RESCO5/3/2023  0.00


APR 23 FUEL/APR 23 FUEL/APR 23 FUEL/APR 


23 FUEL/APR 23 FUEL/APR 23 FUEL


CK028814 451 INSIGHT FS5/3/2023  2,232.33







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


08:05AM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


3 of 7


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 6/2/2023


Friday, June 02, 2023


Description


CHEMICALSCK028815 487 MARTELLE WATER TREATMENT5/3/2023  1,143.20


FY23 Q3 PUBLIC BENEFITSCK028816 539 DEPT OF ADMIN-WISMART VENDOR #396028867 E5/3/2023  16,595.65


KURTZWEIL-SCHOOL/KURTZWEIL-SCHOOLCK028817 776 NORTHEAST WI TECHNICAL COLLEGE5/3/2023  2,122.50


BLK 0 LOT 3 716 NARVIK CIR/BLK 1 LOT 2 2824 


TELEMARK TRL/BLK 1 LOT 4 2808 TELEMARK 


TRL


CK028818 870 FORWARD DEVELOPMENT GROUP, LLC5/3/2023  1,650.00


LEAK REPAIRS-GARFIELD/LEAK 


REPAIRS-MONROE ST/LEAK REPAIRS-TAFT


CK028819 959 G. FOX & SON, INC.5/3/2023  5,800.00


APR 23 PEST CONTROL/APR 23 PEST 


CONTROL/APR 23 PEST CONTROL


CK028820 997 PETERSON PEST MANAGEMENT5/3/2023  90.00


LOT 2 325 ISHAM ST/LOT 2A 333 ISHAM STCK028821 A01 ROB REAL ESTATE BROKERAGE & BUILDERS, LLC5/3/2023  1,100.00


WATER METER MAINTENANCECK028822 A02 ALL AMERICAN GASKET5/3/2023  524.30


ELECTRIC INVENTORY-RESCO/OH 


TOOLS/SUPPLIES/ELECTRIC 


INVENTORY/RESCO/RESCO/8FT RATCHET 


CUTTER/RESCO/OH MAINTENANCE TOOL/OH 


MAINTENANCE TOOL/OH RECONSTRUCT 


TOOLS/SUPPLY/RESCO/CREDIT MEMO/CREDIT 


MEMO/RESCO/8FT RATCHET CUTTER


CK028823 400 RESCO5/3/2023  5,132.50


City Stoton-May A Def CompCK028824 131 CITY OF STOUGHTON5/15/2023  1,056.58


WI SCTF-May A SupportCK028825 133 WISCONSIN SCTF5/15/2023  1,287.67


SJE-RepairsCK028826 207 SJE5/15/2023  691.04


Resco-SuppliesCK028827 400 RESCO5/15/2023  1,947.60


Baker Tilly-Audit/Baker Tilly-Audit/Baker Tilly-AuditCK028828 648 BAKER TILLY VIRCHOW KRAUSE, LLP5/15/2023  1,000.00


Hydro-InspectionsCK028829 967 HYDRO CORP5/15/2023  855.00


Crescent-InventoryCK028830 134 CRESCENT ELEC. SUPPLY CO.5/17/2023  3,169.44


Odyssey-ClothingCK028831 264 ODYSSEY DESIGN5/17/2023  86.45







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


08:05AM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


4 of 7


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 6/2/2023


Friday, June 02, 2023


Description


Stuart-InventoryCK028832 355 STUART C IRBY CO.5/17/2023  4,600.00


A Peterson-Customer RefundCK028833 394 ALEXIYAH PETERSON BOYD5/17/2023  17.44


Resco-Supplies/Resco-Inventory/Resco-Supplies/R


esco-Supplies/Resco-Inventory/Resco-Inventory/Re


sco-Inventory/Resco-Inventory


CK028834 400 RESCO5/17/2023  21,084.94


PSC-Elec AssessmentsCK028835 491 PUBLIC SVC. COMM. OF WI.5/17/2023  2,011.05


J Solari-Customer RefundCK028836 497 JONATHAN SOLARI5/17/2023  146.38


SDS Bldg-Construction RefundCK028837 554 SDS BUILDERS, LLC5/17/2023  245.97


E Pogodzinski-Customer RefCK028838 664 ERIC POGODZINSKI5/17/2023  52.09


Posh Beauty-Customer RefundCK028839 719 POSH BEAUTY BAR DBS ALLURE ARTISTRY5/17/2023  9.62


S Wright-Customer RefundCK028840 750 SONDA WRIGHT5/17/2023  125.24


B Hillary-Customer RefundCK028841 797 BENJAMIN HILLARY5/17/2023  52.55


Env Con-testingCK028842 907 ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTING & TESTING5/17/2023  1,800.00


Coverall-Cleaning/Coverall-Cleaning/Coverall-Clean


ing/Coverall-Cleaning/Coverall-Cleaning/Coverall-Cl


eaning


CK028843 915 COVERALL NORTH AMERICA, INC.5/17/2023  580.00


G Glass-Customer RefundCK028844 949 GEORGE GLASS5/17/2023  23.13


R Mikkelnich-Customer RefCK028845 029 ROSE MIKKELNICH MINI DOUGHNUTS, LLC5/24/2023  40.00


City Stoton-May B Def Comp/City 


Stoton-Stormwater/City Stoton-May Retirement/City 


Stoton-May Retirement/City Stoton-May Retirement


CK028846 131 CITY OF STOUGHTON5/24/2023  85,900.64


WI SCTF-May B SupportCK028847 133 WISCONSIN SCTF5/24/2023  1,287.67


Stafford-Professional ServicesCK028848 186 STAFFORD ROSENBAUM LLP5/24/2023  95.00


SJE-SuppliesCK028849 207 SJE5/24/2023  1,978.82


Dinges-Supplies/Dinges-SuppliesCK028850 261 DINGES FIRE COMPANY MOTO5/24/2023  190.00







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


08:05AM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


5 of 7


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 6/2/2023


Friday, June 02, 2023


Description


Martelle-Bulk SuppliesCK028851 487 MARTELLE WATER TREATMENT5/24/2023  1,864.40


Dorner-SuppliesCK028852 527 DORNER COMPANY5/24/2023  3,491.00


WI DNR - Env-FeesCK028853 651 WISCONSIN DNR - ENVIRONMENTAL FEES5/24/2023  6,458.31


Dunkirk-Dunkirk DamCK028854 781 DUNKIRK WATER POWER CO LLC5/24/2023  3,109.15


WS US Sales-SuppliesCK028855 927 WS US SALES COMPANY5/24/2023  546.00


City Stoton-April Life Ins/City Stoton-May Aflac/City 


Stoton-May Delta Vision/City Stoton-April Life 


Ins/City Stoton-April Life Ins/City Stoton-May 


Quartz/City Stoton-May Quartz/City Stoton-April Life 


Ins/City Stoton-April Quartz/City Stoton-May 


Quartz+


CK028856 131 CITY OF STOUGHTON5/31/2023  63,799.29


Stuart-Inventory/Stuart-InventoryCK028857 355 STUART C IRBY CO.5/31/2023  88,500.00


Resco-Padmount/Resco-Inventory/Resco-Inventory/


Resco-Inventory


CK028858 400 RESCO5/31/2023  65,434.40


Rosenbaum-Fill & Sand/Rosenbaum-Fill & 


Sand/Rosenbaum-Fill & Sand/Rosenbaum-Fill & 


Sand


CK028859 405 ROSENBAUM CRUSHING & EXCAV.5/31/2023  1,198.63


WI Media-Public NoticesCK028860 433 WISCONSIN MEDIA GROUP5/31/2023  143.30


Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insight-FuelCK028861 451 INSIGHT FS5/31/2023  1,490.66


S Reeves-Customer RefundCK028862 558 SHARON REEVES5/31/2023  135.03


Lavelle-RepairsCK028863 560 LAVELLE CONCRETE SERVICES LLC5/31/2023  2,436.00


Kyle Ent-Inventory/Kyle Ent-InventoryCK028864 787 KYLE ENTERPRISES, LLC DBA MILLENNIUM5/31/2023  6,737.91


Loctors-Supplies/Loctors-SuppliesCK028865 838 LOCATORS & SUPPLIES, INC.5/31/2023  802.05


B & B Trans-TransformersCK028866 944 B & B TRANSFORMER, INC.5/31/2023  7,167.00


C & M Hyd-SuppliesCK028867 983 C & M HYDRAULIC TOOL SUPPLY5/31/2023  370.26


MILEAGE-HOOPS-WPPI BODIRCK102341 181 BRIAN HOOPS5/3/2023  36.68







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


08:05AM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


6 of 7


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 6/2/2023


Friday, June 02, 2023


Description


TRENCHING/TRENCHING/TRENCHING/TRENCHI


NG/TRENCHING/TRENCHING/TRENCHING


CK102342 290 MID-WEST TREE & EXCAVATION, INC5/3/2023  4,423.39


ELECTRIC INVENTORY/ELECTRIC 


INVENTORY-BSTATES/FUSE LINKS


CK102343 327 BORDER STATES ELECTRIC SUPPLY5/3/2023  5,663.08


ELECTRIC INVENTORY/ELECTRIC 


INVENTORY/ELECTRIC INVENTORY/ELECTRIC 


INVENTORY


CK102344 787 KYLE ENTERPRISES, LLC DBA MILLENNIUM5/3/2023  4,276.32


Forster-Professional services/Forster-Professional 


services/Forster-Professional 


services/Forster-Professional 


services/Forster-Professional services


CK102345 157 FORSTER ELEC. ENG.,INC.5/15/2023  3,661.45


Strand-General EngineeringCK102346 448 STRAND ASSOCIATES INC.5/15/2023  189.86


GLS Utility-April Locates/GLS Utility-April 


Locates/GLS Utility-April Locates


CK102347 727 GLS UTILITY LLC5/15/2023  10,579.90


N Shore Bk-May A Def CompCK102348 731 NORTH SHORE BANK FSB-DEFERRED COMP.5/15/2023  450.00


Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-TrenchingVC102349 290 MID-WEST TREE & EXCAVATION, INC5/17/2023  0.00


Border States-Inventory/Border States-InventoryVC102350 327 BORDER STATES ELECTRIC SUPPLY5/17/2023  0.00


Strand-Professional Services/Strand-Professional 


Services


VC102351 448 STRAND ASSOCIATES INC.5/17/2023  0.00


United Liquid-Sludge/United Liquid-SludgeVC102352 593 UNITED LIQUID WASTE RECYCLING, INC5/17/2023  0.00


SEERA-CTC Funds/SEERA-CTC FundsVC102353 603 SEERA-WIPFLI LLP5/17/2023  0.00


Kyle-Inventory/Kyle 


Ent-Inventory/Kyle-Inventory/Kyle Ent-Inventory


VC102354 787 KYLE ENTERPRISES, LLC DBA MILLENNIUM5/17/2023  0.00


Infosend-Billing & Mailing/Infosend-Billing & 


Mailing/Infosend-Billing & Mailing/Infosend-Billing & 


Mailing/Infosend-Billing & Mailing/Infosend-Billing & 


Mailing/Infosend-Billing & Mailing/Infosend-Billing & 


Mailing/Infosend-Billing & Mailing/More...


VC102355 852 INFOSEND, INC5/17/2023  0.00


Midwest-TrenchingCK102356 290 MID-WEST TREE & EXCAVATION, INC5/17/2023  9,378.72


Border States-InventoryCK102357 327 BORDER STATES ELECTRIC SUPPLY5/17/2023  4,033.50







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


08:05AM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


7 of 7


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 6/2/2023


Friday, June 02, 2023


Description


Strand-Professional ServicesCK102358 448 STRAND ASSOCIATES INC.5/17/2023  225.05


United Liquid-SludgeCK102359 593 UNITED LIQUID WASTE RECYCLING, INC5/17/2023  22,446.50


SEERA-CTC FundsCK102360 603 SEERA-WIPFLI LLP5/17/2023  5,465.72


Kyle-Inventory/Kyle Ent-InventoryCK102361 787 KYLE ENTERPRISES, LLC DBA MILLENNIUM5/17/2023  1,660.04


Infosend-Billing & Mailing/Infosend-Billing & 


Mailing/Infosend-Billing & Mailing/Infosend-Billing & 


Mailing/Infosend-Billing & Mailing


CK102362 852 INFOSEND, INC5/17/2023  3,644.65


Border States-InventoryCK102363 327 BORDER STATES ELECTRIC SUPPLY5/31/2023  3,130.96


N Shore Bk-May B Def CompCK102364 731 NORTH SHORE BANK FSB-DEFERRED COMP.5/31/2023  450.00


Company Total  1,344,687.81







Date:


Time:


User:


Wednesday, May 10, 2023


01:17PM


SGUNSOLUS


Stoughton Utilities


Posting Preview Report


{PSSPurchCard.RefNbr} =  '0000000155'Select By:


Account Sub Amount ProjecMerchantVendor ID Post Date Emp IDCompany Description


Import ID: 009010 Import # : 0000000155


 142.40921 000000  - ADOBE   ID CREATIVE CL096 04/07/2023SaaS - Adobe Cloud for Teams Apps 52507430


 51.78921 000000  - ADOBE   ID CREATIVE CL096 04/07/2023SaaS - Adobe Cloud for Teams Apps 52507450


 64.73851 000000  - ADOBE   ID CREATIVE CL096 04/07/2023SaaS - Adobe Cloud for Teams Apps 52507460


 86.72833 000000  - ALLIED ELECTRONICS INC351 04/18/2023ELECTRIC PARTS-PRIMARY CLARIFIER 82007460


 54.99921 000000  - AMAZON.COM HY6LG2AD2 AMZN422 04/03/2023Kitchen and conference room supplies 36807430


 19.99921 000000  - AMAZON.COM HY6LG2AD2 AMZN422 04/03/2023Kitchen and conference room supplies 36807450


 25.01851 000000  - AMAZON.COM HY6LG2AD2 AMZN422 04/03/2023Kitchen and conference room supplies 36807460


 74.67833 000000  - AMZN MKTP US HJ0DS8K51422 04/17/2023ELECTRICAL SUPPLIES-PRIMARY GEAR DRIVES 82007460


 32.26833 000000  - AMZN MKTP US HJ3DA1YE1422 04/17/2023ELECTRICAL SUPPLIES-PRIMARY GEAR DRIVES 82007460


 246.54834 000000  - AMZN MKTP US HV03S2TY0422 04/17/2023LED LIGHT BULBS/LAMP HOLDERS 82007460


 0.99921 000000  - APPLE.COM/BILL810 04/10/2023STaaS - Apple - Employee Mobile Device - KThompson 52507450


 88.95107.17 000000 230070XX - 1ASLESONS TRUE VALUE HARDW108 04/20/2023SUPPLIES 68807430


 12.08833 000000  - ASLESONS TRUE VALUE HARDW108 04/11/2023CLEANING SUPPLIES-DISINFECT EQUIP 87107460


 27.38831 000000  - ASLESONS TRUE VALUE HARDW108 04/05/2023TRANSMITTER CASE-CAMERA SYSTEM 82007460


 835.80854 000000  - BATTERIES PLUS #0583526 04/21/2023BATTERIES 82007460


 17.39926 000000  - BAY FAMILY RESTAURANT894 04/20/2023MEAL-JEFFERSON-SCHOOL 68407430


 26.41926 000000  - BUFFALO WILD WINGS 0082894 04/12/2023MEAL-JEFFERSON-SCHOOL 68407430


 26.41926 000000  - BUFFALO WILD WINGS 0082894 04/04/2023MEAL-JEFFERSON-SCHOOL 68407430


 21.22926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 04/05/2023BUILDING SUPPLIES/UNIFORMS 10257430


 31.84926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 04/05/2023UNIFORMS 10257450


 25.72854 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 04/05/2023UNIFORMS 10257460


 15.71926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 04/05/2023BUILDING SUPPLIES/UNIFORMS 10257430


 29.84926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 04/05/2023UNIFORMS 10257450


 23.22854 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 04/05/2023UNIFORMS 10257460


 29.44926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 04/10/2023BUILDING SUPPLIES/UNIFORMS 10257430


 34.82926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 04/10/2023UNIFORMS 10257450


 29.46854 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 04/10/2023UNIFORMS 10257460


 21.22926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 04/24/2023BUILDING SUPPLIES/UNIFORMS 10257430


 31.84926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 04/24/2023UNIFORMS 10257450


 25.72854 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 04/24/2023UNIFORMS 10257460


 15.71926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 04/26/2023BUILDING SUPPLIES/UNIFORMS 10257430


 29.84926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 04/26/2023UNIFORMS 10257450


 23.22854 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 04/26/2023UNIFORMS 10257460


 13.75921 000000  - CLOUDFLARE177 04/03/2023Server DNS Failover - Subscription and Origins - Monthly 52507430


 5.00921 000000  - CLOUDFLARE177 04/03/2023Server DNS Failover - Subscription and Origins - Monthly 52507450


 6.25851 000000  - CLOUDFLARE177 04/03/2023Server DNS Failover - Subscription and Origins - Monthly 52507460


 90.00854 000000  - CSWEA411 04/27/2023COLLECT SEMINAR-DEVOE/ZWEEP 82007460


 20.23926 000000  - DENNY'S #8090894 04/21/2023MEAL-JEFFERSON-SCHOOL 68407430


 648.47833 000000  - EBAY O 26-09897-74228513 04/05/2023MICRO SWITCHES-PRIMARY CLARIFIER DRIVES 82007460


 363.83831 000000  - ENVIROTECH EQUIPMENT COMP946 04/13/2023CAMERA PARTS-TELEVISING 82007460


 8,191.53921 000000  - ESRI373 04/21/2023GIS - System support and maintenance, online user licensing - Annual 52507430


 2,978.74921 000000  - ESRI373 04/21/2023GIS - System support and maintenance, online user licensing - Annual 52507450







Date:


Time:


User:


Wednesday, May 10, 2023


01:17PM


SGUNSOLUS


Stoughton Utilities


Posting Preview Report


{PSSPurchCard.RefNbr} =  '0000000155'Select By:


Account Sub Amount ProjecMerchantVendor ID Post Date Emp IDCompany Description


 3,723.43921 000000  - ESRI373 04/21/2023GIS - System support and maintenance, online user licensing - Annual 52507460


 0.82143 000003  - FACEBK LEXHUPB9Q2740 04/03/2023Outreach - Facebook - 2023 Incentives and Scholarship - WPPI Reimbursed 36807430


 9.78833 000000  - FASTENAL COMPANY 01WISTG148 04/25/2023CHOP SAW BLADES 82007460


 102.23677 000000  - FASTENAL COMPANY 01WISTG148 04/14/2023HYDRANT MAINT SUPPLIES 87007450


 48.57678 000000  - FASTENAL COMPANY 01WISTG148 04/20/2023MISC SUPPLIES 87007450


 93.32833 000000  - GALCO- MOTO682 04/12/2023RELAY SWITCH-WASTE GAS BURNER 82007460


 16.67926 000000  - IHOP # 5428894 04/19/2023MEAL-JEFFERSON-SCHOOL 68407430


 417.11593 000000  - J HARLEN CO INC994 04/05/2023TOOLS 68507430


 10.01933 000000  - KWIK TRIP  15200015214894 04/27/2023FUEL-TRK #13 53007430


 4.80926 000000  - LAJAVA ROASTING HOUSE894 04/07/2023MEAL-KURTZWEIL-SCHOOL 68207430


 390.35678 000000  - LINCOLN CONTRACTORS SUPPL818 04/17/2023SHOE REPAIR KIT-JJ COMPACTOR 74007450


 16.77926 000000  - MARGARITAS894 04/06/2023MEAL-KURTZWEIL-SCHOOL 68207430


 9.06926 000000  - MCDONALD'S F10796894 04/06/2023MEAL-KURTZWEIL-SCHOOL 68207430


 5.25926 000000  - MCDONALD'S F4060894 04/04/2023MEAL-KURTZWEIL-SCHOOL 68207430


 70.79921 000000  - MICROSOFT#G021497544836 04/11/2023STaaS - Azure - Cold Backup Storage 52507430


 25.74921 000000  - MICROSOFT#G021497544836 04/11/2023STaaS - Azure - Cold Backup Storage 52507450


 32.19851 000000  - MICROSOFT#G021497544836 04/11/2023STaaS - Azure - Cold Backup Storage 52507460


 2,054.00834 000000  - MONONA PLUMBING AND FIRE331 04/21/2023REPAIR BACKFLOW PREVENTOR 82007460


 33.00921 000000  - MSFT   E0400MO5EL836 04/03/2023SaaS - o365 - Project Desktop Tier 3 52507430


 12.00921 000000  - MSFT   E0400MO5EL836 04/03/2023SaaS - o365 - Project Desktop Tier 3 52507450


 15.00851 000000  - MSFT   E0400MO5EL836 04/03/2023SaaS - o365 - Project Desktop Tier 3 52507460


 33.00921 000000  - MSFT   E0400MO8L8836 04/03/2023SaaS - o365 - Visio Desktop Tier 2 52507430


 12.00921 000000  - MSFT   E0400MO8L8836 04/03/2023SaaS - o365 - Visio Desktop Tier 2 52507450


 15.00851 000000  - MSFT   E0400MO8L8836 04/03/2023SaaS - o365 - Visio Desktop Tier 2 52507460


 18.15921 000000  - MSFT   E0400MOXK7836 04/05/2023SaaS - o365 - Microsoft 365 Apps for Business - Deprecated 52507430


 6.60921 000000  - MSFT   E0400MOXK7836 04/05/2023SaaS - o365 - Microsoft 365 Apps for Business - Deprecated 52507450


 8.25851 000000  - MSFT   E0400MOXK7836 04/05/2023SaaS - o365 - Microsoft 365 Apps for Business - Deprecated 52507460


 11.00921 000000  - MSFT   E0400MP5I2836 04/04/2023SaaS - o365 - Project Online Tier 1 52507430


 4.00921 000000  - MSFT   E0400MP5I2836 04/04/2023SaaS - o365 - Project Online Tier 1 52507450


 5.00851 000000  - MSFT   E0400MP5I2836 04/04/2023SaaS - o365 - Project Online Tier 1 52507460


 186.03921 000000  - MYQ SUBSCRIPTION607 04/07/2023Chamberlain MyQ Subscription - Annual - 2x Gateways 52507430


 67.64921 000000  - MYQ SUBSCRIPTION607 04/07/2023Chamberlain MyQ Subscription - Annual - 2x Gateways 52507450


 84.57851 000000  - MYQ SUBSCRIPTION607 04/07/2023Chamberlain MyQ Subscription - Annual - 2x Gateways 52507460


 95.39833 000000  - NCL OF WISCONSIN INC830 04/20/2023BROTH W/O ROSOLIC 87107460


 23.49926 000000  - NOODLES & CO 212894 04/04/2023MEAL-KURTZWEIL-SCHOOL 68207430


 21.36926 000000  - PARKER JOHNS BBQ & PIZZA894 04/06/2023MEAL-KURTZWEIL-SCHOOL 68207430


 24.64926 000000  - PARKER JOHNS BBQ & PIZZA894 04/06/2023MEAL-JEFFERSON-SCHOOL 68407430


 108.67903 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 04/04/2023Credit card processing - MyAccount Online 52507430


 15.52903 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 04/04/2023Credit card processing - MyAccount Online 52507450


 23.28840 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 04/04/2023Credit card processing - MyAccount Online 52507460


 7.78233 001099  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 04/04/2023Credit card processing - MyAccount Online 52507430


 114.90903 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 04/04/2023Credit card processing - Desktop and Recurring 52507430


 16.41903 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 04/04/2023Credit card processing - Desktop and Recurring 52507450


 24.62840 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 04/04/2023Credit card processing - Desktop and Recurring 52507460







Date:


Time:


User:


Wednesday, May 10, 2023


01:17PM


SGUNSOLUS


Stoughton Utilities


Posting Preview Report


{PSSPurchCard.RefNbr} =  '0000000155'Select By:


Account Sub Amount ProjecMerchantVendor ID Post Date Emp IDCompany Description


 8.22233 001099  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 04/04/2023Credit card processing - Desktop and Recurring 52507430


 121.90833 000000  - PAYPAL  ELECSURPLUS969 04/14/2023ELECTRICAL SUPPLIES-PRIMARY GEAR DRIVES 82007460


 113.45930 000000  - PAYPAL  PRESTIGEPAP969 04/10/2023Plaque - APPA Reliability 52507430


 30.60833 000000  - PAYPAL  ZORO.COM969 04/12/2023ELECTRICAL SUPPLIES-PRIMARY GEAR DRIVES 82007460


 85.78930 000000  - PIZZA PIT STOUGHTON894 04/19/2023Employee appreciation luncheon - Lineman Appreciation Day 36807430


 31.19930 000000  - PIZZA PIT STOUGHTON894 04/19/2023Employee appreciation luncheon - Lineman Appreciation Day 36807450


 39.00850 000000  - PIZZA PIT STOUGHTON894 04/19/2023Employee appreciation luncheon - Lineman Appreciation Day 36807460


 388.41677 000000  - SHEBOYGAN PAINT COMPANY W254 04/03/2023RED HYDRANT PAINT 74007450


 300.00925 000000  - SHOE BOX578 04/10/2023WORK BOOTS-HUDSON 87007450


-79.72926 000000  - SPRINGHILL SUITES GREE894 04/03/2023LODGING-JEFFERSON-SCHOOL-CREDIT 68407430


 469.11926 000000  - SPRINGHILL SUITES GREE894 04/24/2023LODGING-JEFFERSON-SCHOOL 68407430


 531.48926 000000  - SPRINGHILL SUITES GREE894 04/10/2023LODGING-JEFFERSON-SCHOOL 68407430


 584.78926 000000  - SPRINGHILL SUITES GREE894 04/18/2023LODGING-JEFFERSON-SCHOOL 68407430


 678.25926 000000  - SPRINGHILL SUITES GREE894 04/03/2023LODGING-JEFFERSON-SCHOOL 68407430


 11.61926 000000  - SPRINGHILL SUITES GREE894 04/10/2023LODGING-KURTZWEIL-SCHOOL 68207430


 13.00921 000000  - SQ  FOSDAL HOME BAKERY601 04/19/2023CTY HWY N-ALLIANT JOINT PROJECT-MEETING 53007430


 12.92921 000000  - STAPLS7607753244000001352 04/10/2023General office supplies 36807430


 4.65921 000000  - STAPLS7607753244000001352 04/10/2023General office supplies 36807450


 6.20851 000000  - STAPLS7607753244000001352 04/10/2023General office supplies 36807460


 2.08233 001099  - STAPLS7607753244000001352 04/10/2023General office supplies 36807430


 34.99921 000000  - STAPLS7607753244000002352 04/12/2023General office supplies 36807430


 12.59921 000000  - STAPLS7607753244000002352 04/12/2023General office supplies 36807450


 16.79851 000000  - STAPLS7607753244000002352 04/12/2023General office supplies 36807460


 5.62233 001099  - STAPLS7607753244000002352 04/12/2023General office supplies 36807430


 109.00921 000000  - STAPLS7607753701000001352 04/10/2023Kitchen and conference room supplies 36807430


 39.63921 000000  - STAPLS7607753701000001352 04/10/2023Kitchen and conference room supplies 36807450


 49.56851 000000  - STAPLS7607753701000001352 04/10/2023Kitchen and conference room supplies 36807460


 7.01926 000000  - STARBUCKS STORE 67889894 04/05/2023MEAL-KURTZWEIL-SCHOOL 68207430


 5.95107.14 000000 230070XX - 1STOUGHTON LUMBER CO436 04/28/2023CONCRETE MIX 69307430


 29.99593 000000  - STOUGHTON LUMBER CO436 04/18/2023DRILL BITS-TRK #12 68807430


 4.19107.14 000000 230070XX - 1STOUGHTON LUMBER CO436 04/28/2023CONCRETE MIX 68607430


 4.19107.14 000000 230070XX - 1STOUGHTON LUMBER CO436 04/28/2023CONCRETE MIX 68607430


 58.00593 000000  - STUART C IRBY355 04/04/2023SERV ENTRANCE COMPR SLEEVE 41007430


 3,955.00232 001099  - STUART C IRBY355 04/04/2023ELECTRIC INVENTORY-IRBY 41007430


 892.50232 001099  - STUART C IRBY355 04/26/2023ELECTRIC INVENTORY-IRBY 41007430


 18.27926 000000  - THE PANCAKE PLACE894 04/05/2023MEAL-KURTZWEIL-SCHOOL 68207430


 338.26593 000000  - THE UPS STORE 3617164 04/05/2023RETURN PIPE CUTTERS 68807430


 24.01827 000000  - THE UPS STORE 3617164 04/21/2023SHIPPING-SAMPLES 87107460


 20.23827 000000  - THE UPS STORE 3617164 04/19/2023SHIPPING-MERCURY SAMPLES 87107460


 27.60593 000000  - TRACTOR SUPPLY #2236994 04/07/2023PROPANE 69307430


 49.99834 000000  - TRACTOR SUPPLY #2236994 04/28/2023BOTTLE JACK 82007460


 18.77926 000000  - TST  ALS HAMBURGER894 04/24/2023MEAL-JEFFERSON-SCHOOL 68407430


 41.04930 000000  - TST  FAMOUS YETI'S PIZZA894 04/21/2023Employee appreciation luncheon - Lineman Appreciation Day 36807430


 17.35926 000000  - TST  NARROW BRIDGE BREWHO894 04/07/2023MEAL-JEFFERSON-SCHOOL 68407430







Date:


Time:


User:


Wednesday, May 10, 2023


01:17PM


SGUNSOLUS


Stoughton Utilities


Posting Preview Report


{PSSPurchCard.RefNbr} =  '0000000155'Select By:


Account Sub Amount ProjecMerchantVendor ID Post Date Emp IDCompany Description


 24.98926 000000  - TST  NARROW BRIDGE BREWHO894 04/07/2023MEAL-KURTZWEIL-SCHOOL 68207430


 19.75926 000000  - TST  STADIUM VIEW894 04/06/2023MEAL-KURTZWEIL-SCHOOL 68207430


 21.93926 000000  - TST  STADIUM VIEW894 04/05/2023MEAL-KURTZWEIL-SCHOOL 68207430


 20.54926 000000  - TST  STADIUM VIEW894 04/05/2023MEAL-JEFFERSON-SCHOOL 68407430


 13.16926 000000  - TST  THE BAR - GREEN BAY894 04/13/2023MEAL-JEFFERSON-SCHOOL 68407430


 235.71833 000000  - TTI INCORPORATED130 04/14/2023ELECTRIC PARTS-PRIMARY CLARIFIER 82007460


 263.90926 000000  - TYNDALE COMPANY INC701 04/20/2023FR CLOTHING-KURTZWEIL 10257430


 74.90921 000000  - ULINE   SHIP SUPPLIES994 04/21/2023Meter technician materials transport carts 52507430


 299.61921 000000  - ULINE   SHIP SUPPLIES994 04/21/2023Meter technician materials transport carts 52507450


 13.39642 000000  - UPS 1Z17Y6230391286848824 04/06/2023SHIPPING-WATER SAMPLES 74007450


 13.39642 000000  - UPS 1Z17Y6230399346447824 04/20/2023SHIPPING-WATER SAMPLES 74007450


 17.62642 000000  - UPS 1Z83TZ7Z0316465037824 04/07/2023SHIPPING-WATER SAMPLES 74007450


 12.54642 000000  - UPS 1Z83TZ7Z0339795834824 04/14/2023SHIPPING-WATER SAMPLES 74007450


 40.72921 000000  - WAL-MART #1176507 04/26/2023SODA/VINEGAR 74007450


 5.24593 000000  - WAL-MART #1176507 04/11/2023HAND SHOVEL-TRK #12 68807430


 17.66921 000000  - WAL-MART #1176507 04/26/2023CLIPBOARD 68807430


 13.15921 000000  - WAL-MART #1176507 04/13/2023Presentation display easel 36807430


 4.78921 000000  - WAL-MART #1176507 04/13/2023Presentation display easel 36807450


 5.99851 000000  - WAL-MART #1176507 04/13/2023Presentation display easel 36807460


 28.00642 000000  - WI STATE HYGIENE LAB675 04/05/2023FLUORIDE ANALYSIS 74007450


 18.34926 000000  - WINGSTOP 1128894 04/13/2023MEAL-JEFFERSON-SCHOOL 68407430


 32,858.05Total:







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


02:47PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


1 of 6


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 7/5/2023


Wednesday, July 05, 2023


Description


7430Company:


VO for check batch: 311468EP002644 516 WELLS FARGO BANK6/7/2023  47,787.57


Wppi-Renewable Energy/Wppi-Buy Back Solar 


Credit/Wppi-Excess Gen 8-8 Cr/Wppi-Large 


Power/Wppi-Support Services/Wppi-Support 


Services/Wppi-Support Services/Wppi-Support 


Services


HC002645 009 WPPI6/7/2023  849,584.65


LV Labs-June AchHC002646 499 LV LABS WW, LLC6/30/2023  1,563.00


AT&T-June Ach/AT&T-June AchHC002647 952 AT&T6/30/2023  346.33


Us Cellular - June Ach/Us Cellular - June Ach/Us 


Cellular - June Ach


HC002648 004 Us Cellular - Ach6/30/2023  2,016.38


TDS Metrocom - June Ach/TDS Metrocom - June 


Ach/TDS Metrocom - June Ach/TDS Metrocom - 


June Ach


HC002649 007 TDS Metrocom - Ach6/30/2023  925.69


State Taxes-June Ach/State Taxes-June AchHC002650 008 Payroll  State Taxes - Ach6/30/2023  7,455.80


First Data-June Ach/First Data-June Ach/First 


Data-June Ach/First Data-June Ach


HC002651 421 FIRST DATA CHARGES6/30/2023  30.52


Spectrum-June Ach/Spectrum-June 


Ach/Spectrum-June Ach


HC002652 547 Spectrum-Ach6/30/2023  434.06


Delta Dental - June Ach/Delta Dental - June 


Ach/Delta Dental - June Ach


HC002653 001 Delta Dental - Ach6/30/2023  603.16


EBC - June Ach/EBC - June Ach/EBC - June 


Ach/EBC - June Ach


HC002654 002 Employee Benefits Corp - Ach6/30/2023  521.64


Dept of Rev-June Ach/Dept of Rev-June AchHC002655 010 WI Dept. of Revenue Taxpayment-Ach6/30/2023  42,539.68


Pitney Bowes-June Ach/Pitney Bowes-June 


Ach/Pitney Bowes-June Ach


HC002656 318 PITNEY-BOWES INC-PURCHASE POWER6/30/2023  9,215.67


Gordon Flesch-June Ach/Gordon Flesch-June 


Ach/Gordon Flesch-June Ach/Gordon Flesch-June 


Ach


HC002657 856 GORDON FLESCH COMPANY, INC.6/30/2023  140.29







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


02:47PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


2 of 6


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 7/5/2023


Wednesday, July 05, 2023


Description


Alliant Energy - June Ach/Alliant Energy - June 


Ach/Alliant Energy - June Ach/Alliant Energy - June 


Ach/Alliant Energy - June Ach/Alliant Energy - June 


Ach/Alliant Energy - June Ach


HC002658 003 Alliant Energy - Ach6/30/2023  799.71


Client Analysis-June Ach/Client Analysis-June 


Ach/Client Analysis-June Ach/Client Analysis-June 


Ach


HC002659 020 Wells Fargo Bank-Ach6/30/2023  353.24


Federal Taxes-June Ach/Federal Taxes-June 


Ach/Federal Taxes-June Ach/Federal Taxes-June 


Ach


HC002660 025 Payroll Federal Taxes- Ach6/30/2023  43,439.06


Assoc Bank-June Ach/Assoc Bank-June Ach/Assoc 


Bank-June Ach/Assoc Bank-June Ach


HC002661 015 Associated Bank-Ach6/30/2023  10,997.76


Wells Panini-June Ach/Wells Panini-June 


Ach/Wells Panini-June Ach/Wells Panini-June Ach


HC002662 020 Wells Fargo Bank-Ach6/30/2023  1,038.32


City Stoton-June A Def CompCK028868 131 CITY OF STOUGHTON6/7/2023  1,088.03


WI SCTF-SupportCK028869 133 WISCONSIN SCTF6/7/2023  1,287.67


Inkworks-Office Supplies/Inkworks-Office 


supplies/Inkworks-Inserts/Inkworks-Office 


supplies/Inkworks-Office Supplies/Inkworks-Office 


Supplies/Inkworks-Office supplies/Inkworks-Office 


Supplies


CK028870 166 INKWORKS, INC.6/7/2023  2,184.56


SJE-Rhombus-SuppleisCK028871 207 SJE-RHOMBUS6/7/2023  1,460.00


Odyssey-Hats/Odyssey-Hats/Odyssey-HatsCK028872 264 ODYSSEY DESIGN6/7/2023  156.46


Monona Plumb-Bldg Maint.CK028873 331 MONONA PLUMB. & FIRE PROT. INC6/7/2023  425.00


Stuart Irby-Supplies/Stuart Irby-Inventory/Stuart 


Irby-Supplies


CK028874 355 STUART C IRBY CO.6/7/2023  16,437.50


Resco-InventoryCK028875 400 RESCO6/7/2023  5,183.41


J Nielsen-ScholarshipCK028876 522 JEFF NIELSEN6/7/2023  1,000.00


WI DNR-Regulatory FeesCK028877 747 WISCONSIN DNR6/7/2023  125.00


Kyle-Inventory/Kyle-Inventory/Kyle-Inventory/Kyle-In


ventory/Kyle-Inventory/Kyle-Inventory


VC028878 787 MILLENNIUM6/12/2023  0.00







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


02:47PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


3 of 6


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 7/5/2023


Wednesday, July 05, 2023


Description


Core & Main-Supplies/Core & Main-SuppliesCK028879 816 CORE & MAIN LP6/7/2023  794.73


Altec-Supplies/Altec-SuppliesCK028880 878 ALTEC INDUSTRIES, INC6/7/2023  165.16


Coverall-Bldg Maint.CK028881 915 COVERALL NORTH AMERICA, INC.6/7/2023  580.00


Wincan-Maint.CK028882 942 WINCAN LLC6/7/2023  2,500.00


Peterson-Pest Maint.CK028883 997 PETERSON PEST MANAGEMENT6/7/2023  90.00


City Stoton-18 Streets/City Stoton-Retainage/City 


Stoton-Retainage/City Stoton-Retainage/City 


Stoton-2019-1 Retainage/City Stoton-2019-1 


Retainage/City Stoton-18 Streets/City 


Stoton-Retainage/City Stoton-Retainage/City 


Stoton-18 Streets/More...


VC028884 131 CITY OF STOUGHTON6/12/2023  0.00


City Stoton-StormwaterCK028886 131 CITY OF STOUGHTON6/13/2023  62,638.85


Utility-Qtr Twr #2CK028887 362 UTILITY SERVICE CO., INC6/13/2023  6,142.64


Resco-InventoryCK028888 400 RESCO6/13/2023  16,200.00


Rosenbaum-Limestone/Rosenbaum-Limestone/Ros


enbaum-Limestone


CK028889 405 ROSENBAUM CRUSHING & EXCAV.6/13/2023  2,177.68


Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/In


sight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel


CK028890 451 INSIGHT FS6/13/2023  2,174.44


Martelle-Bulk SuppliesCK028891 487 MARTELLE WATER TREATMENT6/13/2023  1,051.20


C Eddy-Customer RefundCK028892 635 CHRIS EDDY6/13/2023  87.84


Baker Tilly-Prof Services/Baker Tilly-Prof 


Services/Baker Tilly-Prof Services


CK028893 648 BAKER TILLY VIRCHOW KRAUSE, LLP6/13/2023  1,042.81


Dunkirk Dam-Customer RefundCK028894 781 DUNKIRK WATER POWER CO LLC6/13/2023  2,550.28


Kyle-Inventory/Kyle-Inventory/Kyle-InventoryCK028895 787 MILLENNIUM6/13/2023  1,322.95


Hydrocorp-Insp & ReportsCK028896 967 HYDRO CORP6/13/2023  855.00


City Stoton-Lennar HomesCK028898 131 CITY OF STOUGHTON6/21/2023  203.27







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


02:47PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


4 of 6


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 7/5/2023


Wednesday, July 05, 2023


Description


Crescent-InventoryCK028899 134 CRESCENT ELEC. SUPPLY CO.6/21/2023  3,961.80


Stoton Elec-Bulk WaterCK028900 146 STOUGHTON ELECTRIC UTIL.6/21/2023  140.94


Assoc-Water Rev Bonds/Assoc-Elec Rev BondsCK028901 171 ASSOCIATED TRUST CO6/21/2023  950.00


Waterloo-Water ErtsCK028902 226 WATERLOO UTILITIES6/21/2023  2,890.00


Stuart-Inventory/Stuart-Inventory/Stuart-Supplies/St


uart-Supplies/Stuart-Inventory/Stuart-Inventory


CK028903 355 STUART C IRBY CO.6/21/2023  12,163.48


J & R - Labor-RentalCK028904 726 J & R UNDERGROUND6/21/2023  8,472.50


Locators-SuppliesCK028905 838 LOCATORS & SUPPLIES, INC.6/21/2023  141.63


City Stoton-June Retirement/City Stoton-June B Def 


Comp/City Stoton-June Retirement/City 


Stoton-June Retirement


CK028906 131 CITY OF STOUGHTON6/22/2023  23,650.18


WI SCTF-June B SupportCK028907 133 WISCONSIN SCTF6/22/2023  1,287.67


Resco-InventoryCK028908 400 RESCO6/22/2023  2,842.50


Stafford-Legal ServicesCK028909 186 STAFFORD ROSENBAUM LLP6/28/2023  171.00


Macqueen-SuppliesCK028910 429 MACQUEEN EQUIPMENT6/28/2023  1,355.99


Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/In


sight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel


CK028911 451 INSIGHT FS6/28/2023  3,086.61


Martelle-Bulk SuppliesCK028912 487 MARTELLE WATER TREATMENT6/28/2023  953.40


PSC - AssessmentsCK028913 491 PUBLIC SVC. COMM. OF WI.6/28/2023  1,411.21


Lavelle-Curb RepairsCK028914 560 LAVELLE CONCRETE SERVICES LLC6/28/2023  2,100.00


Zorn-SuppliesCK028915 632 ZORN COMPRESSOR & EQUIPMENT6/28/2023  68.09


K Weeden-Customer RefundCK028916 A04 KAY WEEDEN6/28/2023  212.51


Eldon Homes-Customer RefundCK028917 A05 ELDON HOMES, LLC6/28/2023  108.98


M Barber-Customer RefundCK028918 A06 MATTHEW BARBER6/28/2023  34.80







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


02:47PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


5 of 6


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 7/5/2023


Wednesday, July 05, 2023


Description


G Conway-Customer RefundCK028919 A07 GERALD CONWAY6/28/2023  62.13


C Noyce-Customer RefundCK028920 A08 CHUCK NOYCE6/28/2023  26.78


D Stronach-Customer RefundCK028921 A16 DAWN STRONACH6/28/2023  232.68


R Strack-Customer Refund/R Strack-Customer 


Refund/R Strack-Customer Refund


CK028922 A09 RICHARD STRACK6/28/2023  229.83


B Vitense Vale-Cust RefundCK028923 A10 BRANDEN VITENSE VALE6/28/2023  303.30


BEJS Inv-Customer RefundCK028924 A11 BEJS INVESTMENTS LLC6/28/2023  69.24


T Seamonson-Customer RefundCK028925 A12 TERESA SEAMONSON6/28/2023  74.18


A Jacob-Customer RefundCK028926 A13 AARON JACOB6/28/2023  80.74


M Quade-Customer RefundCK028927 A14 MARY QUADE6/28/2023  107.76


B Topp-Customer RefundCK028928 A17 BRIAN TOPP6/28/2023  412.24


Laz Bistro-Customer Refund/Laz Bistro-Customer 


Refund


CK028929 A18 LAZ BISTRO6/28/2023  1,755.21


G Dickman-Customer RefundCK028930 A19 GLORIA DICKMAN6/28/2023  138.12


Forster-Professional servicesCK102365 157 FORSTER ELEC. ENG.,INC.6/7/2023  290.00


Midwest-TrenchingCK102366 290 MID-WEST TREE & EXCAVATION, INC6/7/2023  7,205.18


Border States-Supplies/Border States-SuppliesCK102367 327 BORDER STATES ELECTRIC SUPPLY6/7/2023  2,975.00


S Adler- ReimbCK102368 371 SCOTT ADLER6/7/2023  71.15


N Shore Bk-June A Def CompCK102369 731 NORTH SHORE BANK FSB-DEFERRED COMP.6/7/2023  450.00


J Post-Solar Credit RefundCK102370 158 JAMES POST6/14/2023  120.38


Itron-Software Maint.-Software/Itron-Software Maint.


-Software/Itron-Software Maint.-Software


CK102371 259 ITRON, INC.6/14/2023  2,057.73


Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-TrenchingCK102372 290 MID-WEST TREE & EXCAVATION, INC6/14/2023  20,078.95







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


02:47PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


6 of 6


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 7/5/2023


Wednesday, July 05, 2023


Description


Border States-Inventory/Border 


States-Supplies/Border States-Inventory


CK102373 327 BORDER STATES ELECTRIC SUPPLY6/14/2023  5,351.36


B & H -West Sub Mowing/B & H - Wa Twr 


Mowing/B & H -Academy St Mowing/B & H - South 


Sub mowing/B & H -Taylor Ln Mowing/B & H - Sub 


Station B Mowing/B & H - Admin Mowing/B & H - 


South St Mowing/B & H -Van Buren Mowing/B & H 


-WW Lift Mowing/More...


CK102374 519 B & H LAWN CARE6/14/2023  2,260.00


Seera-CTC FundsCK102375 603 SEERA-WIPFLI LLP6/14/2023  5,594.52


GLS Utility-May Loctes/GLS Utility-May Loctes/GLS 


Utility-May Loctes


CK102376 727 GLS UTILITY LLC6/14/2023  12,304.25


N Shore Bk-June B Def CompCK102377 731 NORTH SHORE BANK FSB-DEFERRED COMP.6/22/2023  450.00


Company Total  1,278,421.03



































Stoughton Utilities 
Financial Summary 


April 2023 YTD 
 
Overall Summary: 
April YTD 2023 operating income was $488,727, down $1,384,317 from 2022. Electric, 
water and wastewater saw decreases of $166,844, $815,040 and $402,433, 
respectively. The decreases are due to contributed plant received in January of 2022. 
 
Electric Summary: 
April 2023 YTD operating revenues were down $57,292 from the same time last year. 
Kilowatt-hour sales were down 2.8% from April 2022 YTD, and down 11.0% from March 
2023.  
 
Purchase power costs decreased by $25,451, or 0.8%, from the same time last year. 
Non-power operating expenses were down $27,137. This reduction is largely due to the 
closing of a 2021 tree trimming work order in 2022, which is offset by other rising 
operational costs. 
 
The April 2023 rate of return was 1.28%, compared to 1.35% for April YTD 2022. 
Unrestricted cash balances are $4.3 million (3.8 months of sales).  
 
Water Summary: 
April 2023 YTD operating revenues were up $18,627, or 2.3%, from 2022. Total gallons 
sold were down 3.0% from April 2022 YTD, and down 1.4% from March 2023.  
 
Operating expenses were up $24,677, or 4.0%, compared to the same time last year. 
The increase is due to higher operation costs from YTD 2022. 
 
The April 2023 rate of return was 1.41%, compared to 1.66% for YTD 2022. 
Unrestricted cash balances are $1.2 million (6.0 months of sales). 


 
Wastewater Summary: 
April 2023 YTD operating revenues were up $37,860, or 5.7%, from the same time in 
2022. Total gallons sold were down 1.8% from April 2022 YTD, and down 6.4% from 
March 2023.  
 
Operating expenses were up $26,823, or 4.3%, from 2022. This increase is due to 
higher operation costs from YTD 2022.  
 
Unrestricted cash balances were $1.2 million (7.0 months of sales).  
 
Submitted by: 
Shannon Statz 







Electric Water Wastewater Combined


Assets


Cash & Investments 5,927,870$         2,247,624$         2,550,611$         10,726,105$       


Customer A/R 1,271,726           259,941              226,474              1,758,141           


Other A/R 186,998              -                      -                      186,998              


Other Assets 2,149,456           253,963              194,121              2,597,540           


Plant in Service 32,717,352         19,103,977         33,722,897         85,544,226         


Accumulated Depreciation (17,130,271)        (6,547,571)          (14,678,308)        (38,356,150)        


Plant in Service - CIAC 6,449,489           9,485,000           -                      15,934,489         


Accumulated Depreciation-CIAC (2,338,797)          (2,775,232)          -                      (5,114,029)          


Construction Work in Progress 738,204              267,101              654,484              1,659,789           


GASB 68 Deferred Outflow 995,776              368,319              394,412              1,758,507           


Total Assets 30,967,803$       22,663,122$       23,064,691$       76,695,616$       


Liabilities + Net Assets


Accounts Payable (51,777)$             64,868$              44,865$              57,956$              


Payable to City of Stoughton 220,777              150,443              -                      371,220              


Interest Accrued 3,042                   (1,974)                 (2,215)                 (1,147)                 


Other Liabilities 1,219,388           126,543              101,123              1,447,054           


Long-Term Debt 1,746,671           3,799,150           2,502,239           8,048,060           


Net Assets 26,709,865         17,933,526         19,873,339         64,516,730         


GASB 68 Deferred Inflow 1,119,837           590,566              545,340              2,255,743           


Total Liabilities + Net Assets 30,967,803$       22,663,122$       23,064,691$       76,695,616$       


STOUGHTON UTILITIES


Balance Sheets


 As of April 30, 2023







 Electric  Water  Wastewater  Total 


Operating Revenue:


Sales 4,567,605$              796,685$                 696,901$                 6,061,191$              


Other 92,147                      27,488                      10,908                      130,543                    


   Total Operating Revenue: 4,659,752$              824,173$                 707,809$                 6,191,734$              


Operating Expense:


Purchased Power 3,278,486                -                             -                             3,278,486                


Expenses (Including Taxes) 672,047                    371,686                    339,024                    1,382,757                


PILOT 158,332                    150,000                    -                             308,332                    


Depreciation 352,420                    124,804                    309,984                    787,208                    


   Total Operating Expense: 4,461,285$              646,490$                 649,008$                 5,756,783$              


     Operating Income 198,467$                 177,683$                 58,801$                    434,951$                 


Non-Operating Income 94,701                      16,494                      24,692                      135,887                    


Non-Operating Expense (26,841)                     (31,938)                     (23,332)                     (82,111)                     


      Net Income 266,327$                 162,239$                 60,161$                    488,727$                 


 Electric  Water  Wastewater  Total 


Operating Revenue:


Sales 4,640,404$              778,824$                 657,553$                 6,076,781$              


Other 76,640                      26,722                      12,396                      115,758                    


   Total Operating Revenue: 4,717,044$              805,546$                 669,949$                 6,192,539$              


Operating Expense:


Purchased Power 3,303,937                -                             -                             3,303,937                


Expenses (Including Taxes) 646,936                    310,233                    322,185                    1,279,354                


PILOT 153,332                    143,332                    -                             296,664                    


Depreciation 409,668                    168,248                    300,000                    877,916                    


   Total Operating Expense: 4,513,873$              621,813$                 622,185$                 5,757,871$              


     Operating Income 203,171$                 183,733$                 47,764$                    434,668$                 


Non-Operating Income 261,647                    824,450                    441,498                    1,527,595                


Non-Operating Expense (31,647)                     (30,904)                     (26,668)                     (89,219)                     


      Net Income 433,171$                 977,279$                 462,594$                 1,873,044$              


April 30, 2022


STOUGHTON UTILITIES


Year-to-Date Combined Income Statement


April 30, 2023


STOUGHTON UTILITIES


Year-to-Date Combined Income Statement







Electric Apr-23


Unrestricted (3.8 months sales) 4,350,122$           


Bond Reserve 460,722$              


Redemption Fund (P&I) 67,714$                


Depreciation 25,000$                


Designated 1,024,312$           


Total 5,927,870$           


Water Apr-23


Unrestricted (6.0 months sales) 1,204,687$           


Bond Reserve 340,710$              


Redemption Fund (P&I) 413,281$              


Depreciation 25,000$                


Construction 4$                         


Designated 263,942$              


Total 2,247,624$           


Wastewater Apr-23


Unrestricted (7.0 months sales) 1,223,420             


DNR Replacement 1,190,655             


Redemption Fund (P&I) 2,129                    


Depreciation 33,283                  


Designated 101,123                


Total 2,550,610             


STOUGHTON UTILITIES


Cash and Investments Summary


 As of April 30, 2023


$4,350,122 , 73%
$460,722 , 8%


$67,714 , 1%


$25,000 , 1%
$1,024,312 , 17%


Electric Cash - April 2023 


Unrestricted (3.8 months sales) Bond Reserve Redemption Fund (P&I) Depreciation Designated


$1,204,687 , 54%


$340,710 , 15%


$413,281 , 18%


$25,000 , 1%
$4 , 0%


$263,942 , 12%


Water Cash - April 2023


Unrestricted (6.0 months sales) Bond Reserve Redemption Fund (P&I) Depreciation Construction Designated


1,223,420 , 48%


1,190,655 , 47%


2,129 , 0%


33,283 , 1%


101,123 , 4%


Wastewater Cash - April 2023


Unrestricted (7.0 months sales) DNR Replacement
Redemption Fund (P&I) Depreciation
Designated







 


Electric Water


Operating Income (Regulatory) 198,467$            177,683$            


Average Utility Plant in Service 32,234,584         19,038,755         


Average Accumulated Depreciation (16,848,896)        (6,457,054)          


Average Materials and Supplies 1,031,232           58,749                


Average Regulatory Liability (22,164)               (34,232)               


Average Customer Advances (917,003)             -                      


Average Net Rate Base 15,477,753$       12,606,218$       


April 2023 Rate of Return 1.28% 1.41%


December 2022 Rate of Return 5.71% 4.46%


April 2022 Rate of Return 1.35% 1.66%


Authorized Rate of Return 4.90% 5.00%


STOUGHTON UTILITIES


Rate of Return


Year-to-Date April 30, 2023







Stoughton Utilities 
Financial Summary 


May 2023 YTD 
 
Overall Summary: 
May YTD 2023 operating income was $526,341, down $1,452,616 from 2022. Electric, 
water and wastewater saw decreases of $204,061, $827,968 and $420,587, 
respectively. The decreases are due to contributed plant received in January of 2022. 
 
Electric Summary: 
May 2023 YTD operating revenues were down $257,332 from the same time last year. 
Kilowatt-hour sales were down 7.7% from May 2022 YTD, and up 5.9% from April 2023.  
 
Purchase power costs decreased by $201,694, or -4.7%, from the same time last year. 
Non-power operating expenses were down $9,440 due to a decrease in depreciation. 
 
The May 2023 rate of return was 1.16%, compared to 1.50% for May YTD 2022. 
Unrestricted cash balances are $4.2 million (3.7 months of sales).  
 
Water Summary: 
May 2023 YTD operating revenues were up $24,949, or 2.4%, from 2022. Total gallons 
sold were up 4.0% from May 2022 YTD, and up 14.6% from April 2023.  
 
Operating expenses were up $42,510, or 5.5%, compared to the same time last year. 
The increase is due to higher maintenance costs. In addition, there is one more month 
of health insurance costs compared to the prior YTD. 
 
The May 2023 rate of return was 1.85%, compared to 2.28% for YTD 2022. Unrestricted 
cash balances are $1.2 million (6.3 months of sales). 


 
Wastewater Summary: 
May 2023 YTD operating revenues were up $53,900, or 6.3%, from the same time in 
2022. Total gallons sold were up 4.8% from May 2022 YTD, and up 17.2% from April 
2023.  
 
Operating expenses were up $66,594, or 8.5%, from 2022. The increase is due to 
paying for sludge hauling in May, rather than June, and having one more month of 
health insurance costs compared to the prior YTD. 
 
Unrestricted cash balances were $1.2 million (7.1 months of sales).  
 
Submitted by: 
Shannon Statz 







Electric Water Wastewater Combined


Assets


Cash & Investments 5,786,151$         2,389,188$         2,626,986$         10,802,325$       


Customer A/R 1,372,951           261,148              225,113              1,859,212           


Other A/R 190,306              -                      -                      190,306              


Other Assets 2,186,480           252,350              194,121              2,632,951           


Plant in Service 32,710,427         19,328,101         34,351,410         86,389,938         


Accumulated Depreciation (17,223,576)        (6,579,172)          (14,748,092)        (38,550,840)        


Plant in Service - CIAC 6,498,763           9,485,000           -                      15,983,763         


Accumulated Depreciation-CIAC (2,338,797)          (2,775,232)          -                      (5,114,029)          


Construction Work in Progress 920,950              32,585                 19,402                 972,937              


GASB 68 Deferred Outflow 995,776              368,319              394,412              1,758,507           


Total Assets 31,099,431$       22,762,287$       23,063,352$       76,925,070$       


Liabilities + Net Assets


Accounts Payable (25,381)$             64,867$              44,865$              84,351$              


Payable to City of Stoughton 260,554              187,500              -                      448,054              


Interest Accrued 7,625                   5,943                   3,618                   17,186                 


Other Liabilities 1,289,802           126,406              101,123              1,517,331           


Long-Term Debt 1,746,671           3,799,150           2,502,239           8,048,060           


Net Assets 26,700,323         17,987,855         19,866,167         64,554,345         


GASB 68 Deferred Inflow 1,119,837           590,566              545,340              2,255,743           


Total Liabilities + Net Assets 31,099,431$       22,762,287$       23,063,352$       76,925,070$       


STOUGHTON UTILITIES


Balance Sheets


 As of May 31, 2023







 Electric  Water  Wastewater  Total 


Operating Revenue:


Sales 5,732,315$              1,013,249$              891,262$                 7,636,826$              


Other 93,608                      35,173                      13,450                      142,231                    


   Total Operating Revenue: 5,825,923$              1,048,422$              904,712$                 7,779,057$              


Operating Expense:


Purchased Power 4,124,728                -                             -                             4,124,728                


Expenses (Including Taxes) 883,397                    469,395                    464,901                    1,817,693                


PILOT 197,915                    187,500                    -                             385,415                    


Depreciation 440,525                    156,005                    387,480                    984,010                    


   Total Operating Expense: 5,646,565$              812,900$                 852,381$                 7,311,846$              


     Operating Income 179,358$                 235,522$                 52,331$                    467,211$                 


Non-Operating Income 109,121                    20,904                      29,823                      159,848                    


Non-Operating Expense (31,695)                     (39,858)                     (29,165)                     (100,718)                  


      Net Income 256,784$                 216,568$                 52,989$                    526,341$                 


 Electric  Water  Wastewater  Total 


Operating Revenue:


Sales 6,008,296$              989,512$                 833,395$                 7,831,203$              


Other 74,959                      33,961                      17,417                      126,337                    


   Total Operating Revenue: 6,083,255$              1,023,473$              850,812$                 7,957,540$              


Operating Expense:


Purchased Power 4,326,422                -                             -                             4,326,422                


Expenses (Including Taxes) 827,527                    380,915                    410,787                    1,619,229                


PILOT 191,665                    179,165                    -                             370,830                    


Depreciation 512,085                    210,310                    375,000                    1,097,395                


   Total Operating Expense: 5,857,699$              770,390$                 785,787$                 7,413,876$              


     Operating Income 225,556$                 253,083$                 65,025$                    543,664$                 


Non-Operating Income 274,352                    830,385                    441,886                    1,546,623                


Non-Operating Expense (39,063)                     (38,932)                     (33,335)                     (111,330)                  


      Net Income 460,845$                 1,044,536$              473,576$                 1,978,957$              


May 31, 2022


STOUGHTON UTILITIES


Year-to-Date Combined Income Statement


May 31, 2023


STOUGHTON UTILITIES


Year-to-Date Combined Income Statement







Electric May-23


Unrestricted (3.7 months sales) 4,234,591$           


Bond Reserve 460,722$              


Redemption Fund (P&I) 93,106$                


Depreciation 25,000$                


Designated 972,735$              


Total 5,786,154$           


Water May-23


Unrestricted (6.3 months sales) 1,270,001$           


Bond Reserve 340,710$              


Redemption Fund (P&I) 453,698$              


Depreciation 25,000$                


Construction 4$                         


Designated 299,775$              


Total 2,389,188$           


Wastewater May-23


Unrestricted (7.1 months sales) 1,267,066             


DNR Replacement 1,194,256             


Redemption Fund (P&I) 31,258                  


Depreciation 33,283                  


Designated 101,123                


Total 2,626,986             


STOUGHTON UTILITIES


Cash and Investments Summary


 As of May 31, 2023


$4,234,591 , 73%


$460,722 , 8%


$93,106 , 2%


$25,000 , 0%


$972,735 , 17%


Electric Cash - May 2023 


Unrestricted (3.7 months sales) Bond Reserve Redemption Fund (P&I) Depreciation Designated


$1,270,001 , 53%


$340,710 , 14%


$453,698 , 19%


$25,000 , 1%
$4 , 0%


$299,775 , 13%


Water Cash - May 2023


Unrestricted (6.3 months sales) Bond Reserve Redemption Fund (P&I) Depreciation Construction Designated


1,267,066 , 48%


1,194,256 , 46%


31,258 , 1%
33,283 , 


1%


101,123 , 4%


Wastewater Cash - May 2023


Unrestricted (7.1 months sales) DNR Replacement
Redemption Fund (P&I) Depreciation
Designated







 


Electric Water


Operating Income (Regulatory) 179,358$            235,522$            


Average Utility Plant in Service 32,231,121         19,150,817         


Average Accumulated Depreciation (16,895,549)        (6,472,855)          


Average Materials and Supplies 1,131,634           60,427                


Average Regulatory Liability (22,164)               (34,232)               


Average Customer Advances (948,027)             (5,000)                 


Average Net Rate Base 15,497,016$       12,699,157$       


May 2023 Rate of Return 1.16% 1.85%


December 2022 Rate of Return 5.71% 4.46%


May 2022 Rate of Return 1.50% 2.28%


Authorized Rate of Return 4.90% 5.00%


STOUGHTON UTILITIES


Rate of Return


Year-to-Date May 31, 2023







Total Sales Total Purchased Peak Demand Total Sales Total Purchased Peak Demand


2022 kWh 2022 kWh 2022 KW 2023 kWh 2023 kWh 2023 KW


January 12,604,215                13,090,652                22,855                       11,238,094                12,022,050                21,321                        


February 11,111,183                11,372,253                21,873                       10,247,629                10,704,714                21,105                        


March 11,073,665                11,342,879                19,841                       10,791,760                11,293,484                19,080                        


April 9,878,316                  10,132,838                18,585                       9,606,173                  10,017,696                17,892                        


May 11,014,588                11,338,060                30,514                       10,170,304                849,585                     26,802                        


June - -                             -                             -                              


July - -                             -                             -                              


August - -                             -                             -                              


September - -                             -                             -                              


October - -                             -                             -                              


November - -                             -                             -                              


December - -                             -                             -                              


TOTAL 55,681,967            57,276,682            30,514                   52,053,960            44,887,529            26,802                    


Total Sales Total Pumped Max Daily High Total Sales Total Pumped Max Daily Highs


2022 Gallons 2022 Gallons 2022 2023 Gallons 2023 Gallons 2023


January 31,078,000                36,158,000                1,457,000                  29,263,000                31,785,000                1,406,000                   


February 32,481,000                32,026,000                1,411,000                  27,056,000                29,287,000                1,398,000                   


March 33,586,000                36,224,000                1,435,000                  31,515,000                33,828,000                1,359,000                   


April 32,025,000                34,207,000                1,449,000                  31,060,000                33,632,000                1,335,000                   


May 34,215,000                39,016,000                1,812,000                  35,588,000                40,167,000                1,923,000                   


June - -                             -                             -                              


July - -                             -                             -                              


August - -                             -                             -                              


September - -                             -                             -                              


October - -                             -                             -                              


November - -                             -                             -                              


December - -                             -                             -                              


TOTAL 163,385,000          177,631,000          1,812,000              154,482,000          168,699,000          1,923,000               


Total Sales Total Treated Precipitation Total Sales Total Treated Precipitation


2022 Gallons 2022 Gallons 2022 2023 Gallons 2023 Gallons 2023


January 24,073,000                29,328,000                0.51                           23,144,000                33,444,000                2.09"


February 22,180,000                26,210,000                0.58                           22,238,000                30,340,000                3.63"


March 24,271,000                31,729,000                3.48                           24,719,000                36,209,000                2.19"


April 23,557,000                32,799,000                3.60                           23,129,000                34,847,000                2.34"


May 25,867,000                34,525,000                4.25                           27,113,000                33,065,000                1.48"


June -                             -                             -                              


July -                             -                             -                              


August -                             -                             -                              


September -                             -                             -                              


October -                             -                             -                              


November -                             -                             -                              


December -                             -                             -                              


TOTAL 119,948,000          154,591,000          12.42                     120,343,000          167,905,000          -                          


2023 Statistical Worksheet


STOUGHTON  UTILITIES


Electic


Water


Wastewater







Total Sales Total Purchased Peak Demand Total Sales Total Purchased Peak Demand


2022 kWh 2022 kWh 2022 KW 2023 kWh 2023 kWh 2023 KW


January 12,604,215                13,090,652                22,855                       11,238,094                12,022,050                21,321                        


February 11,111,183                11,372,253                21,873                       10,247,629                10,704,714                21,105                        


March 11,073,665                11,342,879                19,841                       10,791,760                11,293,484                19,080                        


April 9,878,316                  10,132,838                18,585                       9,606,173                  10,017,696                17,892                        


May 11,014,588                11,338,060                30,514                       10,170,304                849,585                     26,802                        


June 12,332,328                12,641,974                34,081                       12,065,536                12,519,710                27,928                        


July - -                             -                             -                              


August - -                             -                             -                              


September - -                             -                             -                              


October - -                             -                             -                              


November - -                             -                             -                              


December - -                             -                             -                              


TOTAL 68,014,295            69,918,656            34,081                   64,119,496            57,407,239            27,928                    


Total Sales Total Pumped Max Daily High Total Sales Total Pumped Max Daily Highs


2022 Gallons 2022 Gallons 2022 2023 Gallons 2023 Gallons 2023


January 31,078,000                36,158,000                1,457,000                  29,263,000                31,785,000                1,406,000                   


February 32,481,000                32,026,000                1,411,000                  27,056,000                29,287,000                1,398,000                   


March 33,586,000                36,224,000                1,435,000                  31,515,000                33,828,000                1,359,000                   


April 32,025,000                34,207,000                1,449,000                  31,060,000                33,632,000                1,335,000                   


May 34,215,000                39,016,000                1,812,000                  35,588,000                40,167,000                1,923,000                   


June 35,507,000                40,482,000                1,766,000                  41,180,000                45,139,000                1,827,000                   


July - -                             -                             -                              


August - -                             -                             -                              


September - -                             -                             -                              


October - -                             -                             -                              


November - -                             -                             -                              


December - -                             -                             -                              


TOTAL 198,892,000          218,113,000          1,812,000              195,662,000          213,838,000          1,923,000               


Total Sales Total Treated Precipitation Total Sales Total Treated Precipitation


2022 Gallons 2022 Gallons 2022 2023 Gallons 2023 Gallons 2023


January 24,073,000                29,328,000                0.51                           23,144,000                33,444,000                2.09"


February 22,180,000                26,210,000                0.58                           22,238,000                30,340,000                3.63"


March 24,271,000                31,729,000                3.48                           24,719,000                36,209,000                2.19"


April 23,557,000                32,799,000                3.60                           23,129,000                34,847,000                2.34"


May 25,867,000                34,525,000                4.25                           27,113,000                33,065,000                1.48"


June 25,615,000                33,563,000                3.14                           30,550,000                30,321,000                0.68"


July -                             -                             -                              


August -                             -                             -                              


September -                             -                             -                              


October -                             -                             -                              


November -                             -                             -                              


December -                             -                             -                              


TOTAL 145,563,000          188,154,000          15.56                     150,893,000          198,226,000          -                          


2023 Statistical Worksheet


STOUGHTON  UTILITIES


Electic


Water


Wastewater





		CA-3 Financials.pdf

		2023.04 Financial Summary

		April 2023 Financial Statements Version



		CA-3 Financials.pdf

		2023.05 Financial Summary

		May 2023 Financial Statements Version
















} 


        Declaration of Candidacy 
 (See instructions for preparation on back) 


Is this an amendment? 


 Yes (if you have already filed a DOC for this election) No (if this is the first DOC you have filed for this election)


I, ______________________________________________________________, being duly sworn, state that 
Candidate's name 


I am a candidate for the office of ________________________________________________________________ 
Official name of office - Include district, branch or seat number 


representing ________________________________________________________________________________ 
  If partisan election, name of political party or statement of principle - five words or less (Candidates for nonpartisan office may leave blank.)


and I meet or will meet at the time I assume office the applicable age, citizenship, residency and voting qualification 
requirements, if any, prescribed by the constitutions and laws of the United States and the State of Wisconsin, and that 
I will otherwise qualify for office, if nominated and elected. 


I have not been convicted of a felony in any court within the United States for which I have not been pardoned.1  


My present address, including my municipality of residence for voting purposes is: 


Town of     
Village of   
City of        


  House or fire no. Street Name     Mailing Municipality and State   Zip code  Municipality of Residence for Voting 


My name as I wish it to appear on the official ballot is as follows: 


______________________________________________________________________________________________ 
  (Any combination of first name, middle name or initials with surname.  A nickname may replace a legal name.) 


 (Signature of candidate) 
STATE OF WISCONSIN  


 
County of  


   (County where oath administered) 


Subscribed and sworn to before me this ______day of ___________________, ________. 


_________________________________________________________________ 
 (Signature of person authorized to administer oaths) 


 Notary Public or   other official ___________________________________________
   (Official title, if not a notary) 


If Notary Public:  My commission expires  or  is permanent.


__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 


The information on this form is required by Wis. Stat. § 8.21, Art. XIII, Sec. 3, Wis. Const., and must be filed with the filing officer in 
order to have a candidate's name placed on the ballot.  Wis. Stats. §§ 8.05 (1)(j), 8.10 (5), 8.15 (4)(b), 8.20 (6), 120.06 (6)(b), 887.01. 


EL-162 | Rev. 2019-08 | Wisconsin Elections Commission, P.O. Box 7984, Madison, WI 53707-7984 
608-266-8005 | web: elections.wi.gov | email: elections@wi.gov


1 A 1996 constitutional amendment bars any candidate convicted of a misdemeanor which violates the public trust from running for or
holding a public office.  However, the legislature has not defined which misdemeanors violate the public trust.  A candidate convicted of any 
misdemeanor is not barred from running for or holding a public office until the legislature defines which misdemeanors apply.


FOR OFFICE USE ONLY 


NOTARY SEAL 
REQUIRED, IF OATH 
ADMINISTERED BY 
NOTARY PUBLIC  


ss. 







 


Instructions for Completing the Declaration of Candidacy 
 


All candidates seeking ballot status for election to any office in the State of Wisconsin must properly complete and 
file a Declaration of Candidacy.  This form must be ON FILE with the proper filing officer no later than the deadline 
for filing nomination papers or the candidate's name will not appear on the ballot.  A facsimile will be accepted if the 
FAX copy is received by the filing officer no later than the filing deadline and the signed original declaration is 
received by the filing officer with a postmark no later than the filing deadline. 


Information to be provided by the candidate: 
 Type or print your name on the first line. 
 The title of the office and any district, branch, or seat number for which you are seeking election must be 


inserted on the second line.  For legislative offices insert the title and district number, for district attorneys 
insert the title and the county, for circuit court offices insert the title, county and branch number, and for 
municipal and school board offices insert the title and any district or seat number. 


 Type or print the political party affiliation or principle supported by you in five words or less on the third line.  
 Nonpartisan candidates may leave this line blank. 


 Felony convictions:  Your name cannot appear on the ballot if you have been convicted of a felony 
in any court in the United States for which you have not been pardoned.  Please see footnote on page 
1 for further information with respect to convictions for misdemeanors involving a violation of public 
trust.  These restrictions only apply to candidates for state and local office. 


 Your current address, including your municipality of residence for voting purposes, must be inserted on the 
fourth line.  This must include your entire mailing address (street and number, municipality where you 
receive mail) and the name of the municipality in which you reside and vote (town, village, or city of __). 
If your address changes before the election, an amended Declaration of Candidacy must be filed with the filing 
officer. Wis. Stat. § 8.21.  Federal candidates are not required to provide this information, however an address 
for contact purposes is helpful. 


 Type or print your name on the fifth line as you want it to be printed on the official ballot.  You may use your 
full legal name, former legal surname, or any combination of first name, middle name, and initials, surname 
or nickname with last name. 


Note: The Wisconsin Elections Commission has determined that, absent any evidence of an 
attempt to manipulate the electoral process, candidates are permitted to choose any form 
of their name, including nicknames, by which they want to appear on the ballot. 
No titles are permitted.  In addition, names such as “Red” or “Skip” are permitted, but 
names which have an apparent electoral purpose or benefit, such as “Lower taxes,” 
“None of the above” or “Lower Spending” are not permitted.  It is also not permissible 
to add nicknames in quotes or parentheses.  For example, John “Jack” Jones or John 
(Jack) Jones are not acceptable, but John Jones, Jack Jones or John Jack Jones are 
acceptable. 


This form must be sworn to and signed in the presence of a notary public or other person authorized to 
administer oaths, such as a county or municipal clerk.  Wis. Stat. §§ 8.21(2), 887.01(1). 


Information to be provided by the person administering the oath: 
 The county where the oath was administered. 
 The date the Declaration of Candidacy was signed and the oath administered. 
 The signature and title of the person administering the oath.  If signed by a notary public, the notary seal is 


required and the date the notary’s commission expires must be listed.  


All candidates for offices using the nomination paper process must file this form (and all school district 
candidates must file the EL-162sd) with the appropriate filing officer no later than the deadline for filing 
nomination papers.  Wis. Stats. §§ 8.10 (5), 8.15 (4)(b), 8.20 (6), 8.21, 8.50 (3)(a), 120.06 (6)(b).  Candidates 
nominated for local office at a caucus must file this form with their municipal clerk within 5 days of receiving 
notice of nomination.  Wis. Stat. § 8.05 (l)(j). 





		06a Christina Scanlon District 1 Redacted_Redacted

		EL-162 Declaration of Candidacy (Rev. 2019-08)_Fillable

		For Office Use Only





		Yes if you have already filed a DOC for this election: Off

		No if this is the first DOC you have filed for this election: On

		Candidates name: Christina S Wozniak Scanlon

		Official name of office Include district branch or seat number: Alder District 1

		If partisan election name of political party or statement of principle five words or less Candidates for nonpartisan office may leave blank: 

		House #: 318

		Strret Name: Greig Trail

		Mailing Address: Stoughton, WI

		Zipcode: 53589

		Town of: Off

		Village of: Off

		City of: On

		Town of Village of City of: Stoughton

		Any combination of first name middle name or initials with surname A nickname may replace a legal name: Christina Wozniak Scanlon

		County where oath administered: Dane

		day of: 19

		undefined: July 

		undefined_2: 

		Notary Public or: Off

		other official: Off

		Official title if not a notary: 

		or: 

		If Notary Public My commission expires: 

		is permanent: Off








CITY OF STOUGHTON ALDERMANIC APPOINTMENT QUESTIONNAIRE  


District 4 - Vacant Seat 


 


Name:  Patrick Butler Occupation: Branch Operations Systems Manager, UW Credit Union 


Street Address:  Stoughton WI 53589 E-mail Address:  


Home Phone #:      Cell Phone #:  


 


1) Tell us about your occupation, training and education. Describe the characteristics, qualifications 


and experiences you have that will enable you to do a good job as an Alderperson. 


I am a graduate of UW-Madison with degrees in Political Science and International Relations 


(Finished in 1994).  These degrees were driven by my passion for civic discussion and love of history.  


But they aren’t the best paths for a stable financial career, and so in 1995 I got a job at UW Credit 


Union.  I have worked there ever since.  In my varying roles (I started as a teller and now manage all 


aspects of financial systems for all 31 of our branches state-wide), I have had the opportunity to 


grow in financial and banking expertise, and also have had great opportunity to participate in formal 


leadership training have helped me build people leadership skills.  I helped start and build my 


current department within the credit union from a three-person Branch Help Desk to a 10-person 


Operations department in charge of operations, financial systems and financial hardware for all of 


the credit union branches and locations.  I manage a team of high performing individuals ,and utilize 


knowledge of communication styles, strengths and crucial conversation skills to understand needs of 


my team and our internal customers and membership to build consensus and collaborate for win-


win solutions. 


 


All that said, I am a firm believer that who we are is not dictated solely by where we work or what 


our job entails.  I am a proud Wisconsinite, having been born in La Crosse, lived in Madison during 


and after college, and now live in Stoughton.  I met my wonderful wife Laurie at work, and we 


married in Madison in 2003.  We moved to Stoughton in 2004, in part because I was nostalgic for a 


home life similar to what I experienced, in a suburb (Onalaska is where I grew up), in a nice home 


with a normal-sized yard.  We still live in that home, and watching the neighborhood grow up has 


instilled a love for Stoughton and a desire to see it thrive.  We have an incredible son, Colin, who is 


16 and has only ever known Stoughton as his home.  We’ve participated as parents in all of his youth 


sports (I tried coaching soccer once – total disaster) and have watched him grown as a young man in 


our school system and city.  Colin is a Scout, having started at St Ann’s in Cubs.  I have been an Adult 


Leader in Scouts since then, which has helped teach me patience, and that as difficult as it is to 


wrangle a bunch of kids, sometimes wrangling adults is more challenging.  I am a consensus-builder 


and troubleshooter, and those strengths have helped me in roles as an Adult Leader, including most 


recently as Troop 167 Committee Chair (2018-2022). 


 


These life skills which I have accumulated will assist me in understanding the needs of my district, 


the city, and in building consensus to move Stoughton forward. 







 


 


2) In your opinion, what issues are facing Stoughton today? Please pick one of the issues and tell us 


how you would lead a committee to probable solutions. 


There are several very interesting issues that face the city today from my perspective.   


• Infrastructure, especially the state of our roads, is obvious to anyone that drives in the city.  I 


don’t think that’s unique to Stoughton but is going to be an issue that will need attention 


and significant resourcing. 


• Stoughton is a beautiful city to walk in (Laurie and I walk around town daily), but I would 


love to see some expended networks outside of the streets network. 


• The dam project and revitalizing the downtown will continue to be a point of discussion and 


potential contention.  On the dam I am honestly torn.  As an outdoors enthusiast I see the 


draw of a whitewater park, and I also have a son who is an avid fisherman, and he doesn’t 


support removing the dam for that reason. 


• The biggest issue I see however is how to grow Stoughton.  One of the more upsetting bits of 


news we’ve heard recently is that the School District has had to part with 11 staff members, 


including teachers/assistants.  This is an obvious and sadly predictable offshoot of shrinking 


enrollment.  Schools exist for the purpose of teaching kids, and if there are fewer kids year-


over-year, these types of events are inevitable.  But that is itself an outcome of stagnation in 


Stoughton’s growth.  Stoughton hasn’t grown much if at all in the time I’ve lived here.  I’m 


not being judgmental in that I don’t believe this can be attributed to any deliberate or 


mistaken decisions.  We can’t as a city simply be a bedroom community for Madison, we’re 


too far out and risk losing our unique identity if we try to be Madison’s southern community.  


And though I love our Norwegian heritage (1/8 Norwegian and proud of it!), that can’t 


sustain us either.  If given the opportunity to lead, I believe this is the area to focus on.  I 


believe the solution to organic growth for Stoughton lies in the following: 


o A strong jobs market within the city itself. We’re doing a good job of that with 


Stoughton Trailers and the new cheese maker, and we need to continue to work with 


existing employers to learn how to sell Stoughton to potential suitors. 


o Make Stoughton a destination for young families, especially with children.  Part of 


that requires a strong starter home market.  One of the reasons we chose Stoughton 


was because we didn’t want to live in apartments or townhouses, we wanted a 


house with a yard but anywhere that was affordable to us near to Madison would be 


in a more dangerous neighborhood.  Stoughton fit the bill, even though it created a 


serious commute for us.  Unfortunately, I don’t see that market in Stoughton now.  If 


you can afford a 400k+ home, we have plenty.  And we have low-end affordable 


housing.  But middle-market housing is hard to come by.  We need to continue to 


work with developers to fill that market. 


o Continue to ensure that Stoughton remains safe.  I am the son of a firefighter, and 


public safety is a passion of mine.  If given an opportunity to serve on a committee 


that covers Police and Fire, it would be a dream come true.   







o Make sure that Stoughton has amenities that draw people in.  This is part of what 


excites me about the proposed development of the former Linnerud parcel by 


Stoughton Trailers.  Stoughton Trailers has done some of the legwork in finding out 


from their employees why they aren’t choosing Stoughton to live.  We as a City need 


to collaborate with them and other employers to understand opportunities. 


 


 


3) If there was an issue on the table that you agreed with but a majority of your constituents 


disagreed with, how would you vote and why? 


My perception is that many of the most contentious issues that Stoughton has faced in recent 


history have been resolved, and the tempers that flew during some of the big box discussions have 


cooled.  I feel that the council has focused on city issues as opposed to using the “soapbox” to 


advocate for unrelated other hot button issues.  From my perspective this is good, as I am the 


product of a time when people were able to disagree amicably.  Consensus building is very important 


to me.  I am a center-right person who comes from a labor union left family, went to a university that 


is far to my left in a County that is far to my left.  I feel confident in my ability to build consensus.   


As an alder, my role would be to represent both my constituents and also make decisions that affect 


the city as a whole, regardless of affiliations or viewpoints. While it's important to take into account 


the opinions of my constituents, there may be times when my duty extends beyond following the 


majority opinion. In those situations, I would carefully weigh several factors before making a 


decision. My nature is to thoroughly research and analyze the issue, seeking input from subject 


matter experts and stakeholders. This would help me gain a comprehensive understanding of the 


potential benefits, drawbacks, and long-term implications of the decision. 


Additionally, I would actively engage in open and honest dialogue and encouraging direct 


communication through various channels. I would make every effort to explain the reasoning behind 


my position, listening attentively to their concerns, and being receptive to alternative viewpoints. 


Ultimately, my decision would be based on a thoughtful evaluation of the available information, the 


potential impact on the city as a whole, and the principles and values that guide my representation. 


While it might not always align with the majority opinion, I would strive to make a well-informed 


decision that I genuinely believe is in the best interest of our city's long-term prosperity, even if it 


requires making difficult choices. 


 


4) Council meetings are the 2nd and 4th Tuesdays of each month. In addition, there are at least two 


standing committees you will be assigned to, as well as other meetings, correspondence and 


information needing your attention. Do you anticipate a problem in attending evening meetings or 


fulfilling other time commitments typical to the Alderperson's role. 


In general, I don’t feel this will be a problem, as my job is generally 9-5, and I do have the flexibility 


to work from home on occasion.  I do have an annual conference in October that takes me out of 


town.  My only concern is that I still desire to be active in Scouting, especially while my son is still 







active, and Troop meetings are on Thursday nights.  But I suspect that the Troop and my son will be 


amenable to me missing some to attend to city business.  My son also plays football, so in the fall 


there may be some games that may interfere, depending on how much he plays on Thursday nights 


(Varsity Reserve) vs, Friday nights.  I will have to take a look at that as the schedule becomes clearer 


but doubt it should pose a significant issue. 












As suggested by Attorney Manthe: 


 


Pursuant to Wisconsin Statute 17.23, the Common Council of the City of Stoughton hereby 
appoints__________________ to fill the vacant position of alderperson for District ___ for the 
remainder of the unexpired term. 


 








 


 


CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S FORREST ST, STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN 
 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


Accept Financial Statements and Management Letter reports dated December 31, 2022 


 
Committee 
Action: 


 
Finance Committee recommended approval ____ on 07/25/2023 
                                                               TIME SENSITIVE ITEM 


 
Fiscal Impact:   Zero 


 
File Number: 


 
R-116-2023 


 
Date: 07/25/23  


 
The City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, Common Council does proclaim as follows: 
 


RECITALS: 


 WHEREAS, Baker Tilly US, LLP has prepared the City of Stoughton Financial 
Statements and Supplementary Information report dated December 31, 2022 on behalf of the City 
of Stoughton; and, 


 WHEREAS, Baker Tilly US, LLP has prepared the Reporting and Insights from 2022 
Audit report, commonly referred to as the Management Letter, dated December 31, 202 on behalf 
of the City of Stoughton; and, 


 WHEREAS, Baker Tilly US, LLP gave an overview of both documents to the Finance 
Committee on July 25, 2023; and, 


 WHEREAS, Baker Tilly US, LLP gave a similar overview of both documents to the 
Common Council on July 25, 2023;  


 NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the City of Stoughton Financial 
Statements and Supplementary Information report 2022 and Reporting and Insights from 2022 
Audit report are both received and placed on file. 


 
Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote       
  
 
Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  
  
                                             
Mayor Tim Swadley    Date 


 
Council Action:           Override  Vote       







City of Stoughton


Financial Statements and
Supplementary Information


December 31, 2022


 


 







City of Stoughton
Table of Contents
December 31, 2022


Page


Independent Auditors' Report i


Required Supplementary Information


Management's Discussion and Analysis iv


Basic Financial Statements


Government-Wide Financial Statements


Statement of Net Position 1


Statement of Activities 3


Fund Financial Statements


Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds 4


Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Net Position 6


Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds 7


Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances of
Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities 9


Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Funds 10


Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position - Proprietary Funds 14


Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds 16


Statement of Fiduciary Net Position - Fiduciary Funds 20


Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position - Fiduciary Funds 21


Index to Notes to Financial Statements 22


Notes to Financial Statements 23







City of Stoughton
Table of Contents
December 31, 2022


Page


Required Supplementary Information


Detailed Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and
Actual - General Fund 72


Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) - Wisconsin Retirement
System 75


Schedule of Employer Contributions - Wisconsin Retirement System 75


Schedule of Changes in the Total Pension Liability - Firemen's Pension Plan 76


Schedule of Covered Payroll - Firemen's Pension Plan 76


Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability - Local Retiree Life Insurance Fund 77


Schedule of Employer Contributions - Local Retiree Life Insurance Fund 77


Schedule of Changes in Employer's Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios - Health Insurance 78


Notes to Required Supplementary Information 79


Supplementary Information


Combining Balance Sheet - Nonmajor Governmental Funds 81


Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Nonmajor
Governmental Funds 87


Combining Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position - Custodial Funds 93







Independent Auditors' Report


To the City Council of
City of Stoughton


Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements


Opinions


We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
(the City), as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the related notes to the financial statements,
which collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.


In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund and the
aggregate remaining fund information of the City as of December 31, 2022 and the respective changes in
financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.


Basis for Opinions


We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (GAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.
We are required to be independent of City and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the
relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.


Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements


Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; and for the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.


In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City's ability to continue as a going
concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that
may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.


i


Baker Tilly US, LLP, trading as Baker Tilly, is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Ltd., the members of which 
are separate and independent legal entities. © 2020-2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP







Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements


Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error and to issue an auditors' report that includes our
opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and GAS will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a
reasonable user based on the financial statements.


In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and GAS, we:


 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.


 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to


fraud or error and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures


include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial


statements.


 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures


that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the


effectiveness of the City's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.


 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant


accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the


financial statements.


 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that


raise substantial doubt about the City's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period


of time.


We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings and certain internal control-related matters that
we identified during the audit.


Required Supplementary Information


Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the required
supplementary information, as listed in the table of contents be presented to supplement the basic financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential
part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic or
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of
inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for
consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements and other knowledge
we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to
express an opinion or provide any assurance.


ii







Supplementary Information


Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the City's basic financial statements. The supplementary information as listed in the table of contents 
is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.
Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial
statements themselves and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the supplementary information is fairly stated in all
material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.


Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards


In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated July 18, 2023 on our
consideration of the City's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report
is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control over
financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the City's internal control over financial reporting and
compliance.


Madison, Wisconsin
July 18, 2023


iii







iv 


 
CITY OF STOUGHTON 


 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS 


(Unaudited) 


As of and For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 
 
 
 


 
Management of the City of Stoughton offers readers of the City of Stoughton's (“City”) financial statements 
this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City of Stoughton for the calendar year 
ended December 31, 2022. We encourage readers to consider the information presented here in 
conjunction with the City's financial statements. 


 


FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 


A successful city seeks out growth opportunities and prudently allocates its limited resources to provide the 
best goods and services to its residents. Prudent management of financial assets seeks to both maximize 
the value of current goods and services and future needs, wants and opportunities. Management presents 
this analysis with a view to the current period and the future. 
 


 Net position increased by $8.1 million (8.0%) as compared to the prior year.  Of this increase, $3.1 
million (8.7%) was for governmental activities and $5.0 million (7.6%) was for business-type 
activities. 


 Net investment in capital assets increased by $5.5 million, or 7.3% as compared to the prior year. 
Major 2022 capital projects include street reconstruction, storm water improvements, sidewalk 
improvements and utility infrastructure improvements.  


 Long term debt, which is a component of the net investment in capital assets, increased by $1.6 
million (3.5%) as compared to the prior year.  Of this increase, $0.7 million (1.9%) was for 
governmental activities and $0.9 million (8.9%) was for business-type activities.   


 The City’s governmental funds reported combined fund balances of $16.1 million at year-end, which 
was a decrease of $0.3 million from the prior year.  Of this total, $3.3 million of the fund balance was 
unassigned and able to fund future city expenditures. The remainder of the fund balance was 
nonspendable, restricted, committed or assigned for various purposes.  


 The unassigned general fund balance at year-end was $4,419,784.  This amount was 40.6% of the 
adopted budget for General Fund expenditures for budget year 2022. This exceeds the city’s policy 
of 20% to 25% of general fund annual budgeted expenditures. 


 


OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 


This discussion and analysis document is intended to serve as an introduction to the City's basic financial 
statements. These financial statements consist of two parts: Management's Discussion and Analysis (this 
section) and the basic financial statements. The basic financial statements include two kinds of statements 
that present different views of the City: 
 


 The first two statements are government-wide financial statements that provide both long-term and 
short-term information about the city's overall financial status. 


 
  







CITY OF STOUGHTON 
 


MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS 
(Unaudited) 


As of and For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 
 


v 


 The majority of the remaining statements are fund financial statements that focus on individual parts 
of city government, reporting the city's operations in more detail than the government-wide 
statements. 


 The City has three fiduciary funds for (a) property taxes collected on behalf of other taxing units 
within Dane County, (b) municipal court collections on behalf of the State of Wisconsin and 
surrounding towns and (c) license plate application fees on behalf of the State of Wisconsin. 


 
These financial statements also include notes that explain some of the information in the financial 
statements and provide more detailed data. The statements are followed by a section of required 
supplementary information that further explains and supports the information in the financial statements. 
 
The government-wide statements report information about the city as a whole using accounting methods 
similar to those used by private-sector companies. The Statement of Net Position includes all of the 
government’s assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and net 
position. All of the current year’s revenues and expenses are accounted for in the Statement of Activities 
regardless of when cash is received or paid. 
 
The two government-wide statements report the City’s net position and how they have changed. Net 
position – the City’s assets plus deferred outflows of resources less liabilities and deferred inflows of 
resources – is one way to measure the City’s financial health, or position. Over time, increases or decreases 
in the City’s net position are an indicator of whether its financial health is improving or deteriorating. To 
assess the overall health of the City you need to consider additional non-financial factors such as changes 
in the City’s property tax base, changes in the local, state and national economies, and the condition of the 
City’s roads and other infrastructure. 
 
The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the government’s net position changed 
during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event 
giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of the cash flows. Thus, revenue and expenses 
reported in this statement for some items will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods. 
 
A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been 
segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City, like other state and local governments, uses fund 
accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds 
of the City can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds. 
 
Governmental Funds – Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported 
as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-
wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows 
of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal 
year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term financing requirements. 
 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information 
presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers 
may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing decisions. Both the 
governmental fund Balance Sheet and the governmental fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and 
Changes in Fund Balance provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds 
and governmental activities. 
 
 
 







CITY OF STOUGHTON 
 


MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS 
(Unaudited) 


As of and For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 
 


vi 


The City maintains 38 individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the Balance 
Sheet and Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances for the following major 
funds:  General Fund, Debt Service Fund, and Construction Fund. Data from the other governmental funds 
are combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of these non-major 
governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report. 
 
The City adopts an annual appropriated budget for its General Fund. A budgetary comparison statement 
has been provided for the General Fund to demonstrate compliance with this budget. 
 
Proprietary Funds – The City maintains six different proprietary funds, five of which are enterprise funds. 
Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the 
government-wide financial statements. Proprietary fund financial statements present the same type of 
information as the government-wide financial statements, only in more detail. 
 
Internal Service Fund – The internal service fund, which is a type of proprietary fund, is used to account for 
and report the financing of goods or services provided by one department or agency to other departments 
or agencies of the city, on a cost-reimbursement basis. 
 
Fiduciary Funds – Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside 
the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the 
resources of those funds are not available to support the city’s own programs.  
 
Notes to the Financial Statements – The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. 
 
Other Information – In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, required 
supplementary information presents a detailed budgetary comparison schedule for the General Fund to 
demonstrate compliance with the budget, followed by the City’s pension and Other Post-Employment 
Benefits (OPEBs) related information. The combining statements referred to earlier in connection with non-
major governmental funds are presented immediately following the required supplementary information. 


 


FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE 
 


An analysis of the City’s financial position begins with a review of the Statement of Net Position and the 
Statement of Activities. These two statements report the City’s net position and changes therein. It should 
be noted that the financial position could also be affected by non-financial factors, including economic 
conditions, population growth and new regulations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







CITY OF STOUGHTON 
 


MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS 
(Unaudited) 


As of and For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 
 


vii 


2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021


Current and other assets 33,877,797$     31,678,478$     18,344,567$     16,226,505$     52,222,364$       47,904,983$       


Restricted net pension asset 3,099,455         2,421,947         918,464            736,333            4,017,919           3,158,280           


Capital assets 57,695,087       55,172,317       66,935,119       63,920,204       124,630,206       119,092,521       


Total assets 94,672,339       89,272,742       86,198,150       80,883,042       180,870,489       170,155,784       


Pension & OPEB related amounts 6,499,321         4,464,550         1,879,523         1,348,104         8,378,844           5,812,654           


Total deferred outflows of resources 6,499,321         4,464,550         1,879,523         1,348,104         8,378,844           5,812,654           


Other liabilities 3,418,886         2,402,779         1,576,720         2,443,413         4,995,606           4,846,192           


Liabilities payable from restricted assets -                       -                       1,611,250         1,509,534         1,611,250           1,509,534           


Long term liabilities 36,229,192       35,561,262       11,310,893       10,386,274       47,540,085         45,947,536         


Pension and OPEB liabilities 2,619,731         2,753,995         457,654            286,702            3,077,385           3,040,697           


Total liabilities 42,267,809       40,718,036       14,956,517       14,625,923       57,224,326         55,343,959         


Unearned revenues 12,755,960       12,015,966       -                       -                       12,755,960         12,015,966         


Pension and OPEB related amounts 7,752,934         5,677,725         2,219,314         1,708,413         9,972,248           7,386,138           


Total deferred inflows of resources 20,508,894       17,693,691       2,219,314         1,708,413         22,728,208         19,402,104         


Net investment in capital assets 25,961,955       23,468,349       55,785,137       52,745,233       81,627,552         76,213,582         


Restricted net position 7,580,747         5,986,289         4,198,369         3,815,868         11,779,116         9,802,157           


Unrestricted net position 4,852,255         5,870,927         10,918,336       9,335,709         15,890,131         15,206,636         


Total net position 38,394,957$     35,325,565$     70,901,842$     65,896,810$     109,296,799$     101,222,375$     


Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total


Table One
Condensed Satement of Net Position


 
Selected highlights of changes are listed below: 


 Governmental Activities 
o Cash and investments – There was a modest increase of $0.36 million or 2.2% in cash and 


investments.  The General Fund decreased by $0.5 million of which the continued cash 
subsidy of Tax Incremental Districts (TID) #5, #6, and #8.  This was offset by the unspent 
bond proceeds in the Construction Fund increasing by $0.8 million as compared to the 
prior year.   


o Receivables – Combined receivables increased by about $1.7 million or 13.1%. The 
majority of the increase was $0.7 million for property taxes and $0.7 million for outstanding 
grant awards for TID #8 – Yahara Riverside Development. 


o Capital Assets – These assets increased by $2.5 million or 4.6%.  Of this increase, $0.7 
million was for non-depreciable assets and $1.8 million was for assets being depreciated. 


o Net Pension Asset – The increase in the Net Pension Asset of $2.1 million (49.8%) is due 
to the Wisconsin Retirement Fund going from 106.02% funded in the current year as 
opposed to 105.26% for the prior year. 


o Unearned revenues – The majority of the increase in unearned revenues ($697,453 or 
87.8%) relates to unspent American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) proceeds. 







CITY OF STOUGHTON 
 


MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS 
(Unaudited) 


As of and For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 
 


viii 


o Restricted net position – The increase of $1.6 million (26.6%) can be attributed to (a) 
pension increases of $0.7 million (28.0%), (b) combined TID activities of $0.5 million 
(58.8%) and (c) impact fees from developers of $0.3 million (55.1%). 


 Business-type Activities 
o Cash and investments – The increase in cash of $2.6 million (28.4%) is partially due to the 


decrease in total accounts receivable of $1.5 million (37.0%). 
o Inventories and prepaid items – The increase of $0.7 million (183.2%) can be attributed to 


timing of year end purchases and where the calendar falls. 
o Capital assets – The increase of $3.0 million (4.7%) is mainly contributed to increase in 


Construction in Progress ($0.9 million or 94.2%) for continuing improvements in the various 
utilities. 


o Net Pension Asset – The increase in the Net Pension Asset of $0.5 million (42.7%) is due 
to the Wisconsin Retirement Fund going from 106.02% funded in the current year as 
opposed to 105.26% for the prior year. 


o Accounts payable – The decrease of $1.0 million (47.1%) depends on the timing of when 
accounts payable checks are issued at year end. 


o Pension related liabilities – The increase of $0.5 million, or 28.4%, is for the same reason 
listed above for the Net Pension Asset. 


 
The largest portion of the City’s net position (74.7%) reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., land, 
buildings and improvements, machinery and equipment, and infrastructure), less any debt used to acquire 
those assets that are still outstanding. Although the City’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of 
related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other 
sources as the capital assets themselves cannot generally be liquidated to pay these liabilities. The 
investment in capital assets increased by $3.3 million, or 7.3%, as compared to the prior year. 
 
An additional portion of the City’s net position (10.8%) represents resources that are subject to external 
restrictions on how they may be used. These restricted balances increased by $2.0 million, or 20.2%, in 
relation to the prior year. The largest factors for this increase were (a) pension activities at $0.9 million 
(27.2%), (b) combined TID activities of $0.5 million (58.8%) and (c) impact fees for developers at $0.3 million 
(55.1%). 
 
The remaining balance of unrestricted net position (14.5%) may be used to meet the government’s ongoing 
obligations. The unrestricted net position increased by $0.5 million or 3.3%.This was primarily due to the 
continuing investments in capital assets in the current year. 
 
 
 
 
 







CITY OF STOUGHTON 
 


MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS 
(Unaudited) 


As of and For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 
 


ix 


2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021


Program Revenues


Charges for services 3,808,065$     2,495,111$     22,840,578$    21,591,811$   26,648,643$      24,086,922$      


Operating grants and contributions 2,228,308       2,593,720       181,336           3,523,696       2,409,644          6,117,416          


Capital grants and contributions 2,463,672       397,931          2,753,709        2,664,608       5,217,381          3,062,539          


General Revenues


Property taxes 11,037,716     11,140,643     -                       -                      11,037,716        11,140,643        


Other taxes 250,829          171,065          -                       -                      250,829             171,065             


Intergovernmental revenues 1,495,163       1,466,921       -                       -                      1,495,163          1,466,921          


Other revenues 662,610          491,611          132,986           90,606            795,596             582,217             


     Total revenues 21,946,363     18,757,002     25,908,609      27,870,721     47,854,972        46,627,723        


Expenses


General government 2,165,576       2,775,516       -                       -                      2,165,576          2,775,516          


Public safety 4,823,434       5,605,600       -                       -                      4,823,434          5,605,600          


Public works 4,827,394       3,977,559       -                       -                      4,827,394          3,977,559          


Culture, recreation and education 4,545,699       3,694,716       -                       -                      4,545,699          3,694,716          


Conservation and development 1,522,098       1,150,303       -                       -                      1,522,098          1,150,303          


Interest and fiscal charges 906,718          815,402          -                       -                      906,718             815,402             


Water -                      -                      1,961,593        5,131,321       1,961,593          5,131,321          


Wastewater -                      -                      2,089,682        1,899,994       2,089,682          1,899,994          


Electric -                      -                      15,471,713      14,498,571     15,471,713        14,498,571        


Emergency Medical Services -                      -                      744,112           689,774          744,112             689,774             


Storm sewer -                      -                      722,529           627,032          722,529             627,032             


Total expenses 18,790,919     18,019,096     20,989,629      22,846,692     39,780,548        40,865,788        


Income before transfers 3,155,444       737,906          4,918,980        5,024,029       8,074,424          5,761,935          


Transfers (86,052)           534,260          86,052             (534,260)         -                        -                        


Changes in net position 3,069,392       1,272,166       5,005,032        4,489,769       8,074,424          5,761,935          


Beginning net position 35,325,565     34,053,399     65,896,810      61,407,041     101,222,375      95,460,440        


Ending net position 38,394,957$   35,325,565$   70,901,842$    65,896,810$   109,296,799$    101,222,375$    


Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total


Table Two


Condensed Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position


Revenues


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







CITY OF STOUGHTON 
 


MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS 
(Unaudited) 


As of and For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 
 


x 


Revenues 
 
Program revenues are those revenues that can be directly related to a particular activity. 


 Charges for services are primarily made up of licenses, permits, public charges for services such 
as library, garbage, recycling, park, and recreation fees.  


 Operating grants are mainly from state resources received for highway maintenance, taxi service 
and recycling programs.  


 Capital grants fluctuate annually and are received to assist the city in capital asset purchases 
 


General revenues represent revenues that are not directly related to one specific function.  
 Property taxes are for operations, debt service, and Tax Incremental Districts increments. 
 Other taxes are room taxes paid by hotels, bed & breakfast and other lodgings as Airbnb. 
 Intergovernmental revenues include state shared revenues and payments in lieu of taxes. 
 Other revenues include donations and investment income. 


 
The information below provides more information on specific revenue sources. 


o Government Activities 
o Charges for services increase by about $1.3 million or 52.6%.  There were a number of 


factors causing this large increase. 
 Licenses and permits were up $0.1 million (24.0%) primary within the Planning & 


Development Department for new construction projects. 
 Public charges for services were up $0.1 million (3.4%) primarily due correcting 


the reporting for the Shared Ride Services revenues. 
 Charges to other governments were up $0.6 million (1823.1%) correct reporting of 


charges that were previous classified as donations. 
 Impact fees were up $0.3 million (531.9%) due to a large number of new lots were 


created. 
o Capital grants and contributions are up about $2.1 million (519.1%) compared to the prior 


year relating to state construction projects on US Highway 51. 
o Property tax revenue for both operations and debt combined increased by $0.4 million or 


4.7%. 
o Property tax revenue for Tax Increment Financing districts was down $0.5 million (32.4%) 


based upon incremental tax calculations performed by the Wisconsin Department of 
Revenue. 


o Investment income increased by $0.25 million or 439.6% due to the raising of interest rates 
by the Federal Reserve. 


o Business-type activities 
o Charges for services increased by $1.2 million or 5.8%.  This can be attributed to both 


higher fee structure as well as the increased tax base of the city. 
o Operating grants and contributions were down $3.3 million (94.9%) compared to the prior 


year.  Stoughton Utilities received grant funding in calendar year 2021 for the lead line 
service replacement project throughout the city. 


 
Expenses 
 
Governmental activities expenses are broken down into various functions. 


 General Government includes administrative type costs including Council, Clerk, Human 
Resources, Finance, Legal and Assessment services.  


 Public Safety includes the Police Department, Fire Department and Building Inspection. 
 Public Works includes expenses for street and sidewalk maintenance, winter and forestry 


operations, refuse and recycling efforts along with the Shared Ride Service. 







CITY OF STOUGHTON 
 


MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS 
(Unaudited) 


As of and For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 
 


xi 


 Health and Human Services includes the Senior Center, Food Pantry, and two cemeteries. 
 Culture, Recreation and Education includes Parks, Opera House, Library and WSTO-TV. 
 Conservation and Development are the expenses of the Planning Department and Tax Incremental 


Financing funds. 
 
In total, governmental activities expenses increased by $0.8 million or 4.3%.  However, when you look at 
the various categories, there were double digit percentage changes for each.  General Government was 
down 22.0% and Public Safety down 14.0%. At the same time, Public Works (21.4%), 
Culture/Recreation/Education (23.0%), Conservation and Development (32.3%) were all up.  
 
This can be attributed to (a) spending priorities can change each year with the adopted budget and (b) 
classification of some activities was corrected to align with instructions from the Wisconsin Department of 
Revenue for account classifications. 
 
In total, business-type activities expenses were down in total by $1.9 million or 8.1%.   


 The water utility expenses were down by $3.2 million or 61.8%.  Much of this can be attributed to 
the lead line service replacement project being completed in the prior year. 


 Wastewater utility expenses were up by $0.2 million or 10.0%.  There were increased employee 
costs including approximately $124,000 for actuarial activities for GASB 68 pension and GASB 75 
Other Post-Employment Benefits. 


 The electric utility expenses were up $1.0 million or 6.7%.  This was due to an increase in purchase 
power costs which are offset by the PCAC (Power Cost Adjustment Clause) revenues. 


 
 
 
 


 


All other revenue 
sources, 0.5%


Operating grants 
and contributions, 


0.7%
Capital grants and 


contributions, 10.6%


Charges for services, 
88.2%


Business‐Type Activities ‐ Revenues







CITY OF STOUGHTON 
 


MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS 
(Unaudited) 


As of and For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 
 


xii 


 


 


All other revenue 
sources, 4.1%


Property taxes, Tax 
Increment Districts, 


5.2%


Intergovernmental 
revenues, 6.8%


Operating grants and 
contributions, 10.2%


Capital grants and 
contributions, 11.2%


Property taxes, debt, 
16.2%


Charges for services, 
17.4%


Property taxes, general, 
28.9%


Governmental Activities ‐ Revenues


Interest and fiscal 
charges, 4.8% Conservation and 


Development, 8.1%


General Government, 
11.5%


Culture, Recreation and 
Education, 24.2%Public Safety, 25.7%


Public Works, 25.7%


Governmental Activities ‐ Expenses







CITY OF STOUGHTON 
 


MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS 
(Unaudited) 


As of and For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 
 


xiii 


Business Type Activities 
 


Non-Major
Water Wastewater Electric Storm Water EMS Total


Net Position, Beginning 16,096,400$  18,670,526$  25,268,098$  4,390,259$     1,471,527$   65,896,810$   
Net Position, Ending 17,754,441    19,802,150    26,425,749    5,376,640       1,542,862     70,901,842     
Change in Net Position 1,658,041$    1,131,624$    1,157,651$    986,381$        71,335$        5,005,032$     


Table Three
Net Position by Enterprise Fund (Business Type Activities)


December 31, 2022


Major Funds


 
The Water Utility net position increased by $1.7 million or 10.3% due to an increase in unrestricted cash on 
hand due to a debt issuance as well as a rate increase.  This corresponds with the decrease of $0.3 million 
in Net Investment in Capital Assets due to long-term debt increasing by $1.2 million. 
 
The Wastewater Utility net position in total increased by $1.1 million or 6.1%.  The Net Investment in Capital 
Assets was the largest component for this increase.  Capital assets (net of depreciation) increased by $1.0 
million while long-term debt decreased by $0.4 million. 
 
The Electric Utility net position increased by $1.2 million or 4.6%, The Net Investment in Capital Assets was 
the largest component for this increase.  Capital assets (net of depreciation) increased by $0.5 million while 
long-term debt decreased by $0.7 million. 
 
The Storm Water Utility net position increased by $1.0 million or 22.5%.  The Net Investment in Capital 
Assets was the largest component for this increase.  Capital assets (net of depreciation) increased by $1.0 
million while long-term debt increased by $0.2 million. 
 
Emergency Medical Services (EMS) net position increased by $71,335 or 4.8%.  This can be attributed to 
call volume increasing each year. 
 
Governmental Funds 
 
The focus of the City of Stoughton’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, 
outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City’s financing 
requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of the government’s 
net resources available for spending at the end of the calendar year. 
 
As of December 31, 2022, the city’s governmental funds reported combined fund balances of $16.1 million 
which is a decrease of $0.3 million or 2.1%.  The unassigned fund balance is approximately 20.7% of the 
total fund balance.  This unassigned amount is available to meet the city’s current and future needs.  
 







CITY OF STOUGHTON 
 


MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS 
(Unaudited) 


As of and For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 
 


xiv 


Category General Fund Debt Service Construction Non‐Major Total


Non‐spendable 1,540,231$       ‐$                       ‐$                      266$               1,540,497$     


Restricted 203,318             621,554            852,464           3,786,312      5,463,648       


Committed ‐                           ‐                          ‐                         2,059,013      2,059,013       


Assigned 1,018,543          ‐                          2,112,880        610,015         3,741,438       


Unassigned 4,419,784          ‐                          (1,086,957)     3,332,827       


Total 7,181,876$       621,554$          2,965,344$     5,368,649$    16,137,423$   


Beginning balance 7,319,997$       682,468$          2,077,443$     6,405,012$    16,484,920$   


Ending fund balance 7,181,876          621,554            2,965,344        5,368,649      16,137,423     


Increase (decrease) (138,121)$         (60,914)$           887,901$         (1,036,363)$  (347,497)$       


Table Four


Governmental Funds ‐ Fund Balances


December 31, 2022


 
 
General Fund - The City’s General Fund is the chief operating fund of the city. The increase is primarily 
due to operating expenditures being below budget. See the following General Fund Budgetary Highlights 
section for further details. 
 
Debt Service Fund - The City’s Debt Service Fund accounts for the accumulation of resources for, and 
payment of, general long-term debt principal, interest and related costs. Although the adopted budget 
planned for a decrease in fund balance of about $118,000, the actual decrease was about 50% of that 
amount. 
 
Construction Capital Projects Fund - The City’s construction capital projects fund accounts for the funds 
accumulated for the purpose of obtaining capital assets or for capital projects and other expenditures that 
are unique and are not normal operating or maintenance type expenditures reportable within the General 
Fund or other governmental funds. The actual fund balance increase is primarily due to unspent note 
proceeds. 
 
Nonmajor Governmental Funds - Fund balance of all other governmental funds increased by 15.1% from 
the prior year. There are 38 different non-major governmental funds, each with a different purpose. 
 
Proprietary Funds 
 
The City of Stoughton’s proprietary fund financial statements provide the same type of information found in 
the government-wide financial statements but in more detail. Factors concerning the finances of these funds 
have already been addressed in the discussion of the City’s business-type activities. 
 
Internal Service Fund 
 
In December 2011, the City paid off its Wisconsin Retirement System Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability. 
The City borrowed money from the Electric Utility to pay off its portion of liability. This advance has been 
recorded in the Retirement Fund, which is an Internal Service Fund that the city created for this purpose. 
The internal service fund had a zero balance as of December 31, 2022 as the liability was paid in full during 
the year to Stoughton Utilities.  
 
 







CITY OF STOUGHTON 
 


MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS 
(Unaudited) 


As of and For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 
 


xv 


 


GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 
 


 
The General Fund adopted budget had appropriations for $15.0 million and projected revenues of $14.9 million 
with a net planned usage of fund balance for $87,136 (i.e., planned deficit). The majority of this deficit was for 
$113,000 in sick leave payouts.  In total, the fund balance decreased by $138,121. 
 
A number of departments in the General Fund exceeded their appropriations during the year.  The Common 
Council amended the 2022 budget to ensure that the departments no longer exceeded their budgetary 
appropriations. 
 
The departments that required their 2022 budget to be amended for this purpose is listed below.   


 City Attorney $8,885 deficit – Attorney fees not charged to developers or Tax Incremental Districts 
exceeded the budgeted amounts. 


 City Clerk (surplus) – The Clerk purchased four (4) extra ballot machines for $27,830 in order to help 
elections flow smoother.  This was offset by approximately $18,000 in additional revenues as well as 
other expenditures being about $18,000 below budgeted amounts. 


 City Council $2,670 deficit – Computer equipment totaling $2,662 was ordered for alderpersons and/or 
meeting rooms but was not included in the Council’s original budget. 


 Community Commitment $8,631 deficit– The cost of the July 4th fireworks exceeded the budgeted 
amount. 


 Finance $11,286 deficit – Audit fees exceeded the budgeted expenditures by $11,378. 
 Fire $12,354 deficit – The Fire Department equipment maintenance expenditures were $30,533 over 


budget, which was partially offset by wages and benefits $24,345 below budgeted amounts. 
 Human Resources / Risk Management (surplus) – Expenditures were $19,226 over budget which had 


two primary causes.  The first was $15,970 in wages and benefits due to expanding hours for one 
position.  The second was increased insurance policy premiums which was offset by a workers 
compensation dividend (revenue) of $30,459 more than budgeted. 


 Mayor $226 deficit – The Mayor exceeded allowed expenditures for operating expenses. 
 Municipal Court $3,201 deficit – The Municipal Court exceeded allowed expenditures due to a wage 


increase provided mid-year for employee retention and revenues about 1.4% below budgeted 
amounts. 


 Planning (surplus) - The Planning Department had unbudgeted expenditures of $15,791 for Hill Street 
repairs that was offset by excess revenues of $113,938. 


 Police $11,857 deficit – The Police Department’s deficit was only 0.4% of the total allowed 
expenditures.  Wages and benefits exceeded the budgeted amount which was offset by reduced 
expenditures for various operating expenditures. 


 Public Works $13,129 deficit – There were excess expenditures in tree purchases, collision repairs, 
signs, and markings. 


 Recreation Programs $22,538 deficit – Public charges for services were $40,201 less than budgeted 
which was offset by expenditures $17,784 under the budgeted amounts.  This department was missed 
in amending the budgets as part of the year end process related to deficits. 


 
In looking at revenues by category, the following gives a high-level overview of various categories: 


 Other taxes – Other taxes had a surplus of $87,822 or 8.7% over budgeted amounts.  This was 
primarily in (a) agricultural use conversion penalties, room taxes, and payments in lieu of taxes from 
Stoughton Utilities. 







CITY OF STOUGHTON 
 


MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS 
(Unaudited) 


As of and For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 
 


xvi 


 Licenses and permits – This revenue category had a surplus of $116,974 or 48.9% over budgeted 
amounts.  The largest area is for permits issued by the Planning & Development Department with a 
revenue surplus of $111,812. 


 Public charges for services – This revenue category had a deficit of $49,475 or 11.8% under budgeted 
amounts.  In addition to the $40,201 deficit for Recreation Programs listed previously, the cable 
franchise fee as $17,528 less than budgeted.  This is due to fewer people using cable television 
services such Spectrum Communications or TDS Telecom. 


 Interdepartmental charges $13,597 – The budgeted amount for rent charges to Stoughton Utilities was 
budgeted too high. 


 Miscellaneous revenues – This revenue category had a surplus of $144,845 or 44.3%.  Investment 
Income had a surplus of $105,004 due to the interest rate changes by the Federal Reserve.  In addition, 
insurance recoveries had a surplus of $21,855 which is offset against repairs to city property. 


 
Further details can be found in the budget to actual section of this report and the City’s year-end budget to 
actual report. 


 


CAPITAL ASSETS 
 


At the end of 2022, the City had invested a total of $124.9 million in capital assets (net of depreciation), 
which was an increase of $5.8 million or 4.8% over the prior year. This investment in capital assets includes 
land, buildings and improvements, machinery and equipment, and infrastructure. 
 
For the governmental activities, capital assets net of depreciation increased $2.5 million or 4.6%.  The 
largest increase was in the Streets category, whether in new streets or resurfacing of existing streets. 
 
For business-type activities, the capital assets net of depreciation increased by $3.2 million or 3.9%. 
Comments regarding each fund is below. 


 Water Utility – Net capital assets increased by $0.9 million or 4.9% with the majority in Transmission 
and Distribution assets. 


 Wastewater Utility – Net capital assets increased by $11.0 million or 5.0% with the majority in 
Collection Systems. 


 Electric Utility – Net capital assets increased by $0.5 million or 2.5% with the majority in Distribution.  
Part of the net capital asset increase is a $180,000 capital lease asset recognized with the 
implementation of Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 87 – Leases.  This 
is a 20-year prepaid lease agreement with TDS Metrocom for the right to use fiber optic assets. 


 Stormwater Utility – Net capital assets increased by $1.0 million or 17.4% due to increased storm 
sewer infrastructure. 


 Emergency Medical Services – No capital assets were added during the year.  The only change in 
net capital assets was the result of current year depreciation of $68,328. 







CITY OF STOUGHTON 
 


MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS 
(Unaudited) 


As of and For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 
 


xvii 


2022 2021 Increase Inc


(Decrease) (Dec)


Governmental activities


Land and other assets, not being depreciated 11,679,880$       10,988,474$       691,406$            6.3%


Buildings & improvements 26,947,661         26,840,705         106,956              0.4%


Machinery & equipment 11,536,664         11,234,639         302,025              2.7%


Streets 25,723,441         23,022,473         2,700,968           11.7%


Sidewalks 6,388,805          5,970,488          418,317              7.0%


Street lighting 227,551             227,551             -                        0.0%


Bridges 845,989             845,989             -                        0.0%


Storm sewers 4,900,225          4,903,133          (2,908)                -0.1%


Traffic signals 411,974             411,974             -                        0.0%


Dams 592,997             592,997             -                        0.0%


      Total Capital Assets 89,255,187         85,038,423         4,216,764           5.0%


Less: Accumulated depreciation (31,560,100)        (29,866,106)        (1,693,994)          5.7%


Governmental activities net capital assets 57,695,087$       55,172,317$       2,522,770$         4.6%


Business-type activities
Land and other assets, not being depreciated 2,133,388$         1,209,646$         923,742$            76.4%
Administration and general assets 5,683,094          5,558,475          124,619              2.2%
Buildings and Improvements 1,240,308          1,240,308          -                        0.0%
Collection system 15,708,646         14,609,016         1,099,630           7.5%
Collection system pumping 756,008             756,008             -                        0.0%
Distribution 33,658,380         -                        33,658,380         100.0%
Equipment 973,260             973,260             -                        0.0%
General 1,010,091          1,007,359          2,732                 0.3%
Lease assets 180,000             -                        180,000              100.0%
Pumping 1,598,744          1,598,744          -                        0.0%
Sources of supply 595,730             595,730             -                        0.0%
Storm sewer 7,357,178          6,339,906          1,017,272           16.0%
Transmission and distribution 25,154,140         54,656,534         (29,502,394)        -54.0%
Treatment 90,795               90,795               -                        0.0%
Treatment and disposal 15,702,551         15,684,336         18,215               0.1%
Completed construction not classified -                        1,667,296          (1,667,296)          100.0%
      Total Capital Assets 111,842,313       105,987,413       5,854,900           5.5%


Less: Accumulated depreciation (44,678,097)        (42,067,209)        (2,610,888)          6.2%


Business-type activities net capital assets 67,164,216$       63,920,204$       3,244,012$         5.1%


Total capital assets, net of depreciation 124,859,303$     119,092,521$     5,766,782$         4.8%


Table Five


Capital Assets


 
  







CITY OF STOUGHTON 
 


MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS 
(Unaudited) 


As of and For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 
 


xviii 


 


LONG-TERM DEBT 
 


2022 2021 Increase Increase


(Decrease) (Decrease)


Governmental activities


General  obligation (GO) debt 33,870,743$    32,850,386$        1,020,357$     3.1%


GO debt, direct placement 681,910            719,192                (37,282)            ‐5.2%


Unamortized premiums  on debt 664,920            746,920                (82,000)            ‐11.0%


Total  governmental  activities 35,217,573      34,316,498          901,075           2.6%


Business ‐type activities


General  obligation (GO) debt 2,114,257        1,964,614             149,643           7.6%


Revenue bonds 6,316,622        5,740,000             576,622           10.0%


Revenue debt, direct placement 3,033,250        3,414,751             (381,501)          ‐11.2%


Unamortized premiums  on debt 81,930              103,029                (21,099)            ‐20.5%


Total  business‐type activities 11,546,059      11,222,394          323,665           2.9%


Total  debt 46,763,632$    45,538,892$        1,224,740$     2.7%


Governmental  ‐ GO debt 33,870,743$         Total  equalized value 1,567,793,700$   


Governmental  ‐ Direct GO debt 681,910                 GO Debt as  a percentage


Business‐type ‐ GO debt 2,114,257                  of equalized value 2.34%


Total  general  obligation debt 36,666,910$   


GO Debt l imit 78,389,685$         


Current GO debt 36,666,910           


Amount available 41,722,775$         


Table Five


Long Term Debt


 
In accordance with Wisconsin Statutes, total general obligation indebtedness of the City may not exceed 
5% of the equalized value of taxable property within the city's jurisdiction. The City’s general obligation debt 
is $41.7 million below that statutory limit. 
 
The City has a debt policy to maintain total outstanding general obligation debt at 4% or less of the 
equalized value. The City’s outstanding general obligation debt is at 2.3%, which is well below the self-
imposed limit. 
 


 


CURRENTLY KNOWN FACTS / ECONOMIC CONDITIONS 
 


 
The City has received $686,312 in American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funds in both calendar years 2021 
and 2022.  As of the drafting of this document, the Council still has not authorized the use of the 
remaining funds of $600,453. 
 
 







CITY OF STOUGHTON 
 


MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS 
(Unaudited) 


As of and For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 
 


xix 


 


REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 
 


 
The financial report is designed to provide our citizens, customers, investors and creditors with a general 
overview of the City’s finances. If you have questions about this report or need any additional information, 
contact the City of Stoughton Director of Finance/Comptroller at 207 S. Forrest St, Stoughton, WI  53589. 







City of Stoughton
Statement of Net Position
December 31, 2022


Governmental
Activities


Business-
Type


Activities Total


Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources


Assets
Cash and investments $ 17,061,673 $ 11,609,048 $ 28,670,721
Receivables (net) 13,803,054 2,632,717 16,435,771
Due from other governmental units 679,909 138 680,047
Internal balances 1,010,820 (1,010,820) -
Inventories and prepaid items 163,312 1,047,141 1,210,453
Investment in mutual insurance company 257,805 - 257,805
Restricted cash and investments - 3,322,316 3,322,316
Restricted net pension asset 3,099,455 918,464 4,017,919
Other assets - 514,930 514,930
Land held for resale 901,224 - 901,224
Capital assets:


Capital assets not being depreciated 11,679,880 2,133,388 13,813,268
Capital assets net of depreciation 46,015,207 65,030,828 111,046,035


Total assets 94,672,339 86,198,150 180,870,489


Deferred Outflows of Resources
Pension related amounts 6,272,564 1,796,906 8,069,470
OPEB related amounts 226,757 82,617 309,374


Total deferred outflows of resources 6,499,321 1,879,523 8,378,844


Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Net Position


Liabilities
Accounts payable 1,132,948 1,162,620 2,295,568
Accrued liabilities and deposits 794,088 318,258 1,112,346
Other liabilities - 38,207 38,207
Unearned revenues 1,491,850 57,635 1,549,485
Liabilities payable from restricted assets:


Current portion of revenue bonds - 1,568,843 1,568,843
Accrued interest - 42,407 42,407


Noncurrent liabilities:
Due within one year 3,915,183 353,404 4,268,587
Due in more than one year 32,314,009 10,957,489 43,271,498
Net fire pension liability 1,239,426 - 1,239,426
Other post-employment benefits 1,380,305 457,654 1,837,959


Total liabilities 42,267,809 14,956,517 57,224,326


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenue 12,755,960 - 12,755,960
Pension related amounts 7,581,333 2,163,220 9,744,553
OPEB related amounts 171,601 56,094 227,695


Total deferred inflows of resources 20,508,894 2,219,314 22,728,208


See notes to financial statements


1







City of Stoughton
Statement of Net Position
December 31, 2022


Governmental
Activities


Business-
Type


Activities Total


Net Position
Net investment in capital assets $ 25,961,955 $ 55,785,137 $ 81,627,552
Restricted for:


Debt service 267,168 2,104,104 2,371,272
Firemen pension 905,505 - 905,505
Pension 3,099,455 918,464 4,017,919
Equipment replacement - 1,175,801 1,175,801
TID activities 1,462,543 - 1,462,543
Library 284,506 - 284,506
Impact fees 772,302 - 772,302
Affordable housing 263,839 - 263,839
Grants and donations 217,909 - 217,909
Revolving loan 307,520 - 307,520


Unrestricted 4,852,255 10,918,336 15,890,131


Total net position $ 38,394,957 $ 70,901,842 $109,296,799


See notes to financial statements


2







City of Stoughton
Statement of Activities
Year Ended December 31, 2022


Program Revenues Net (Expenses) Revenues and Changes in Net Position


Functions/Programs Expenses
Charges for


Services


Operating
Grants and


Contributions


Capital 
Grants and


Contributions
Governmental


Activities
Business-Type


Activities Total


Governmental activities:
General government $ 2,165,576 $ 162,402 $ 3,290 $ - $ (1,999,884) $ - $ (1,999,884)
Public safety 4,823,434 1,047,982 152,298 44,600 (3,578,554) - (3,578,554)
Public works 4,827,394 1,308,436 1,463,919 2,334,582 279,543 - 279,543
Culture, recreation and education 4,545,699 1,099,027 530,606 - (2,916,066) - (2,916,066)
Conservation and development 1,522,098 190,218 78,195 84,490 (1,169,195) - (1,169,195)
Interest and fiscal charges 906,718 - - - (906,718) - (906,718)


Total governmental activities 18,790,919 3,808,065 2,228,308 2,463,672 (10,290,874) - (10,290,874)


Business-type activities:
Water 1,961,593 2,526,615 140,702 1,307,986 - 2,013,710 2,013,710
Wastewater 2,089,682 2,133,620 - 1,057,127 - 1,101,065 1,101,065
Electric 15,471,713 16,558,584 - 388,596 - 1,475,467 1,475,467
EMS 744,112 748,431 40,634 - - 44,953 44,953
Storm sewer 722,529 873,328 - - - 150,799 150,799


Total business-type activities 20,989,629 22,840,578 181,336 2,753,709 - 4,785,994 4,785,994


Total $ 39,780,548 $ 26,648,643 $ 2,409,644 $ 5,217,381 (10,290,874) 4,785,994 (5,504,880)


General Revenues
Taxes:


Property taxes, levied for general purposes 6,337,585 - 6,337,585
Property taxes, levied for debt service 3,565,553 - 3,565,553
Property taxes, levied for TIF districts 1,134,578 - 1,134,578
Other taxes 250,829 - 250,829


Intergovernmental revenues not restricted to specific programs 1,495,163 - 1,495,163
Investment income 303,702 116,976 420,678
Gain on sale of assets - 14,531 14,531
Miscellaneous 358,908 1,479 360,387


Total general revenues 13,446,318 132,986 13,579,304


Transfers (86,052) 86,052 -


Change in net position 3,069,392 5,005,032 8,074,424


Net Position, Beginning 35,325,565 65,896,810 101,222,375


Net Position, Ending $ 38,394,957 $ 70,901,842 $ 109,296,799


See notes to financial statements


3







City of Stoughton
Balance Sheet -
Governmental Funds
December 31, 2022


General Fund
Debt Service


Fund Construction


Assets
Cash and investments $ 5,155,722 $ 346,229 $ 3,020,828
Receivables (net):


Taxes 5,525,378 3,978,674 -
Delinquent personal property taxes 2,982 - -
Accounts 224,553 - 27,316
Special assessments - - -
Delinquent special assessments 12,778 - -
Loans - - -


Due from other governments - - -
Due from other funds 831,016 - 107,794
Advances to other funds 1,103,620 275,325 -
Other investments 257,805 - -
Inventories and prepayments 163,046 - -


Total assets $ 13,276,900 $ 4,600,228 $ 3,155,938


Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Fund
Balances


Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 161,105 $ - $ 187,954
Accrued liabilities 326,059 - 2,640
Deposits - - -
Due to other funds 6,564 - -
Due to other governments 26,099 - -
Unearned revenues - - -
Advances from other funds - - -


Total liabilities 519,827 - 190,594


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues 5,524,514 3,978,674 -
Unavailable revenues 50,683 - -


Total deferred inflows of resources 5,575,197 3,978,674 -


Fund Balances
Nonspendable 1,540,231 - -
Restricted 203,318 621,554 852,464
Committed - - -
Assigned 1,018,543 - 2,112,880
Unassigned (deficit) 4,419,784 - -


Total fund balances 7,181,876 621,554 2,965,344


Total liabilities and fund balance $ 13,276,900 $ 4,600,228 $ 3,155,938


See notes to financial statements


4







Nonmajor
Governmental


Funds Total


$ 8,538,894 $ 17,061,673


3,291,273 12,795,325
- 2,982


169,972 421,841
432,679 432,679


- 12,778
137,449 137,449
679,909 679,909
19,814 958,624


- 1,378,945
- 257,805


266 163,312


$ 13,270,256 $ 34,303,322


$ 783,889 $ 1,132,948
33,804 362,503
51,100 51,100


216,565 223,129
- 26,099


1,491,850 1,491,850
1,103,620 1,103,620


3,680,828 4,391,249


3,252,772 12,755,960
968,007 1,018,690


4,220,779 13,774,650


266 1,540,497
3,786,312 5,463,648
2,059,013 2,059,013


610,015 3,741,438
(1,086,957) 3,332,827


5,368,649 16,137,423


$ 13,270,256 $ 34,303,322


See notes to financial statements


5







City of Stoughton
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds


to the Statement of Net Position
December 31, 2022


Total Fund Balances, Governmental Funds $ 16,137,423


Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different
because:


Capital assets used in governmental funds are not financial resources and, therefore,
are not reported in the funds. See Note 2. 57,695,087


Land held for resale is considered an allowable expenditure per Tax Incremental
District project plans and is not reported as an asset in the funds. 901,224


Some receivables that are not currently available are reported as unavailable revenues
in the fund financial statements but are recognized as revenue when earned in the
government-wide statements. 1,018,690


The net pension asset and liability does not relate to current financial resources and is
not reported in the governmental funds. 1,860,029


Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions do not relate to current financial
resources and are not reported in the governmental funds. 6,272,564


Deferred outflows of resources related to other post employment liabilities do not relate
to current financial resources and are not reported in the governmental funds. 226,757


Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions do not relate to current financial
resources and are not reported in the governmental funds. (7,581,333)


Deferred inflows of resources related to other post employment liabilities do not relate
to current financial resources and are not reported in the governmental funds. (171,601)


The OPEB liabilities do not relate to current financial resources and are not reported in
the governmental funds. (1,380,305)


Some liabilities, including long-term debt, are not due and payable in the current period
and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. See Note  2. (36,583,578)


Net Position of Governmental Activities $ 38,394,957


See notes to financial statements


6







City of Stoughton
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances -
Governmental Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2022


General Fund
Debt Service


Fund Construction


Revenues
Taxes $ 5,540,161 $ 3,565,553 $ -
Intergovernmental 2,321,101 - 58,832
Licenses and permits 356,231 - -
Fines, forfeitures and penalties 111,946 - -
Public charges for services 488,539 - -
Intergovernmental charges for services 198,393 73,975 -
Special assessments 15,815 - -
Investment income 121,464 4,767 68,273
Miscellaneous revenues 425,257 - -


Total revenues 9,578,907 3,644,295 127,105


Expenditures
Current:


General government 2,211,054 - -
Public safety 4,796,668 - -
Public works 1,661,447 - 75,872
Culture, recreation and education 1,465,732 - -
Conservation and development 121,036 - 82,407


Capital outlay - - 2,359,346
Debt service:


Principal - 3,901,925 -
Interest and fiscal charges 6,427 895,077 83,679


Total expenditures 10,262,364 4,797,002 2,601,304


Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures (683,457) (1,152,707) (2,474,199)


Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Debt issued - - 3,105,000
Premium on debt - 65,948 -
Sales of fixed assets 9,867 - -
Transfers in 885,043 1,025,845 257,100
Transfers out (349,574) - -


Total other financing sources (uses) 545,336 1,091,793 3,362,100


Net change in fund balances (138,121) (60,914) 887,901


Fund Balances, Beginning 7,319,997 682,468 2,077,443


Fund Balances, Ending $ 7,181,876 $ 621,554 $ 2,965,344


See notes to financial statements


7







Nonmajor
Governmental


Funds Total


$ 2,174,918 $ 11,280,632
1,067,540 3,447,473


- 356,231
- 111,946


2,002,779 2,491,318
32,053 304,421


128,463 144,278
109,198 303,702
709,905 1,135,162


6,224,856 19,575,163


374,739 2,585,793
151,437 4,948,105
945,190 2,682,509


2,741,799 4,207,531
1,236,979 1,440,422
2,503,637 4,862,983


- 3,901,925
48,090 1,033,273


8,001,871 25,662,541


(1,777,015) (6,087,378)


1,780,000 4,885,000
26,228 92,176
14,495 24,362


712,360 2,880,348
(1,792,431) (2,142,005)


740,652 5,739,881


(1,036,363) (347,497)


6,405,012 16,484,920


$ 5,368,649 $ 16,137,423


See notes to financial statements


8







City of Stoughton
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures


and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds
to the Statement of Activities


Year Ended December 31, 2022


Net Change in Fund Balances, Total Governmental Funds $ (347,497)
  
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:


Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of net position
the cost of these assets is capitalized and they are depreciated over their estimated useful lives
and reported as depreciation expense in the statement of activities.


Capital outlay is reported as an expenditure in the fund financial statements but is capitalized in
the government-wide financial statements 4,862,983


Some items reported as capital outlay were not capitalized (444,297)
Depreciation is reported in the government-wide financial statements (2,468,117)
Net book value of assets retired (136,870)


Capital assets contributed to business-type activities are reported as capital outlay in the fund
financial statements. (824,395)


Capital assets contributed by developers 1,533,466


Receivables not currently available are reported as revenue when collected or currently available in
the fund financial statements but are recognized as revenue when earned in the government-wide
financial statements.


Special assessments 732,804
Revolving loan (51,814)


Debt issued provides current financial resources to governmental funds, but issuing debt increases
long-term liabilities in the statement of net position. Repayment of debt principal is an expenditure
in the governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net
position.


Debt issued (4,885,000)
Principal repaid 3,901,925


Governmental funds report debt premiums and discounts as other financing sources (uses) or
financing sources or uses. However, in the statement of net position, these are reported as
additions to or deductions from long-term debt. These are allocated over the period the debt is
outstanding in the statement of activities and are reported as interest expense.


Amortization 82,630


Some expenses in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial resources
and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in the governmental funds. 


Compensated absences 232,515
Accrued interest on debt (48,251)
Net pension asset/liability 634,228
Net other post-employment benefits liability 177,544
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions 2,085,015
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions (1,971,768)
Deferred outflows of resources related to other post-employment benefits (50,244)
Deferred inflows of resources related to other post-employment benefits (103,441)


Internal service funds are used by management to charge self insurance costs to individual funds.
The change in net position of the internal service fund reported with governmental activities 157,976


Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities $ 3,069,392


See notes to financial statements


9







City of Stoughton
Statement of Net Position -
Proprietary Funds
December 31, 2022


Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds


Water Wastewater Electric


Assets
Current assets:


Cash and investments $ 1,666,666 $ 1,065,383 $ 6,285,193
Other receivables (net) 271,784 235,223 1,950,581
Due from other funds 123,425 85,177 9,721
Due from other governments - - -
Inventories 58,750 - 987,391
Prepaid items - - 1,000
Restricted assets:


Redemption account 400,256 295,370 566,170


Total current assets 2,520,881 1,681,153 9,800,056


Noncurrent assets:
Restricted assets:


Reserve account 340,710 - 460,722
Depreciation account 25,000 33,283 25,000
Equipment replacement - 1,175,801 -
Construction account 4 - -
Net pension asset 189,937 194,121 413,766


Capital assets:
Land and land rights 24,841 100 344,364
Construction in progress 251,862 632,415 448,520
Plant in service 28,434,481 33,671,072 38,032,626
Property held for future use - - 229,097
Less Accumulated depreciation (9,137,991) (14,370,326) (18,906,319)


Other assets:
Other prepaid asset - 17,826 -
Plant and maintenance reserve account 198,292 - 538,790
Sick leave reserve account 120,610 101,123 121,939
Investment in ATC - - 492,146
Nonutility property (net of amortization) 4,958 - -


Total noncurrent assets 20,452,704 21,455,415 22,200,651


Total assets 22,973,585 23,136,568 32,000,707


Deferred Outflows of Resources
Pension related amounts 368,319 376,587 815,776
OPEB related amounts 29,980 13,822 26,645


Total deferred outflows of resources 398,299 390,409 842,421


See notes to financial statements


10







Business-Type Activities -
Enterprise Funds


Storm Sewer


Nonmajor
Enterprise


Funds - EMS Total


Governmental
Activities -


Internal
Service Fund


$ 799,949 $ 711,103 $ 10,528,294 $ -
1,643 173,486 2,632,717 -


62,190 - 280,513 -
- 138 138 -
- - 1,046,141 -
- - 1,000 -


- - 1,261,796 -


863,782 884,727 15,750,599 -


- - 801,432 -
- - 83,283 -
- - 1,175,801 -
- - 4 -


63,632 57,008 918,464 -


153,489 - 522,794 -
48,700 - 1,381,497 -


7,357,178 2,213,568 109,708,925 -
- - 229,097 -


(1,126,515) (1,136,946) (44,678,097) -


- - 17,826 -
- - 737,082 -
- - 343,672 -
- - 492,146 -
- - 4,958 -


6,496,484 1,133,630 71,738,884 -


7,360,266 2,018,357 87,489,483 -


125,317 110,907 1,796,906 -
5,593 6,577 82,617 -


130,910 117,484 1,879,523 -


See notes to financial statements


11







City of Stoughton
Statement of Net Position -
Proprietary Funds
December 31, 2022


Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds


Water Wastewater Electric


Liabilities
Current liabilities:


Accounts payable $ 34,108 $ 54,806 $ 1,043,734
Accrued liabilities 23,431 23,696 107,724
Public benefits - - 38,207
Deposits 650 - 105,872
Due to other funds 442,385 80,146 493,477
Unearned revenues - - -
Current portion of general obligation debt 54,000 36,000 -
Current portion of advance - - -


Liabilities payable from restricted assets:
Current portion of revenue bonds 519,717 359,126 690,000
Accrued interest 15,788 11,327 15,292


Total current liabilities 1,090,079 565,101 2,494,306


Noncurrent liabilities:
Long-term debt:


Revenue bonds payable 3,647,790 2,428,239 1,705,000
Unamortized debt premium 40,259 - 41,671
General obligation debt payable 111,000 74,000 -


Customer advances for construction - - 916,833
Compensated absences 120,610 101,123 121,939
Other post-employment benefits 143,217 88,134 145,311
Advances from other funds - - -


Total noncurrent liabilities 4,062,876 2,691,496 2,930,754


Total liabilities 5,152,955 3,256,597 5,425,060


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Pension related amounts 447,349 457,206 974,526
OPEB related amounts 17,139 11,024 17,793


Total deferred inflows of resources 464,488 468,230 992,319


Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 15,200,431 17,035,896 17,711,617
Restricted for:


Debt service 750,178 317,326 1,036,600
Equipment replacement - 1,175,801 -
Pension 189,937 194,121 413,766


Unrestricted (deficit) 1,613,895 1,079,006 7,263,766


Total net position $ 17,754,441 $ 19,802,150 $ 26,425,749


See notes to financial statements


12







Business-Type Activities -
Enterprise Funds


Storm Sewer


Nonmajor
Enterprise


Funds Total


Governmental
Activities -


Internal
Service Fund


$ 13,005 $ 16,967 $ 1,162,620 $ -
26,508 30,377 211,736 -


- - 38,207 -
- - 106,522 -
- - 1,016,008 -
- 57,635 57,635 -


263,404 - 353,404 -
- 30,000 30,000 -


- - 1,568,843 -
- - 42,407 -


302,917 134,979 4,587,382 -


- - 7,781,029 -
- - 81,930 -


1,575,853 - 1,760,853 -
- - 916,833 -


37,201 35,971 416,844 -
43,212 37,780 457,654 -


- 245,325 245,325 -


1,656,266 319,076 11,660,468 -


1,959,183 454,055 16,247,850 -


149,870 134,269 2,163,220 -
5,483 4,655 56,094 -


155,353 138,924 2,219,314 -


4,760,571 1,076,622 55,785,137 -


- - 2,104,104 -
- - 1,175,801 -


63,632 57,008 918,464 -
552,437 409,232 10,918,336 -


$ 5,376,640 $ 1,542,862 $ 70,901,842 $ -


See notes to financial statements


13







City of Stoughton
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position -
Proprietary Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2022


Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds


Water Wastewater Electric


Operating Revenues $ 2,526,615 $ 2,133,620 $ 16,558,584


Operating Expenses
Operation and maintenance 1,224,074 1,238,224 14,104,414
Depreciation 505,315 772,166 1,309,313


Total operating expenses 1,729,389 2,010,390 15,413,727


Operating income 797,226 123,230 1,144,857


Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Investment income 13,918 22,756 62,436
Interest and fiscal charges (82,125) (79,292) (65,207)
Miscellaneous expenses - - (3,248)
Intergovernmental - - -
Amortization of premium 10,629 - 10,469
Miscellaneous revenue - - -
Lead service replacement grant proceeds 140,702 - -
Lead service replacement expenses (160,708) - -
Gain on sale of assets 6,728 7,803 -


Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) (70,856) (48,733) 4,450


Income before contributions and transfers 726,370 74,497 1,149,307


Contributions and Transfers
Contributions in aid of construction 1,307,986 1,057,127 388,596
Capital contributions, City - - -
Transfers in - - -
Transfers out (376,315) - (380,252)


Total contributions and transfers 931,671 1,057,127 8,344


Change in net position 1,658,041 1,131,624 1,157,651


Net Position (Deficit), Beginning 16,096,400 18,670,526 25,268,098


Net Position, Ending $ 17,754,441 $ 19,802,150 $ 26,425,749


See notes to financial statements


14







Business-Type Activities -
Enterprise Funds


Storm Sewer


Nonmajor
Enterprise


Funds - EMS Total


Governmental
Activities -


Internal
Service Fund


$ 873,328 $ 748,431 $ 22,840,578 $ 157,976


416,579 675,784 17,659,075 -
255,287 68,328 2,910,409 -


671,866 744,112 20,569,484 -


201,462 4,319 2,271,094 157,976


11,187 6,679 116,976 -
(50,663) - (277,287) -


- - (3,248) -
- 40,634 40,634 -
- - 21,098 -
- 1,479 1,479 -
- - 140,702 -
- - (160,708) -
- - 14,531 -


(39,476) 48,792 (105,823) -


161,986 53,111 2,165,271 157,976


- - 2,753,709 -
824,395 - 824,395 -


- 18,224 18,224 -
- - (756,567) -


824,395 18,224 2,839,761 -


986,381 71,335 5,005,032 157,976


4,390,259 1,471,527 65,896,810 (157,976)


$ 5,376,640 $ 1,542,862 $ 70,901,842 $ -


See notes to financial statements


15







City of Stoughton
Statement of Cash Flows -
Proprietary Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2022


Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds


Water Wastewater Electric


Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Received from customers $ 2,505,902 $ 2,124,898 $ 16,434,961
Received from municipality for services - - -
Received for street lighting - - 96,333
Paid to suppliers for goods and services (737,891) (721,936) (13,956,273)
Paid to employees for services (437,116) (463,783) (996,055)


Net cash flows from operating activities 1,330,895 939,179 1,578,966


Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Investments sold and matured - 355,053 364,840
Investment income 19,591 49,079 46,418
Investments purchased (400,000) (22,343) (545,379)
Dividends from ATC - - 11,485


Net cash flows from investing activities (380,409) 381,789 (122,636)


Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities
Paid to municipality for tax equivalent (345,970) - (438,027)
Received from municipality principal on Wisconsin Retirement UAAL


advance - - 157,976
Received from municipality interest on Wisconsin Retirement UAAL


advance - - 4,739
Transfers to/from other funds - - -
Paid to utilities principal on Wisconsin Retirement UAAL advance - - -
Lead service replacement proceeds 140,702 - -
Lead service replacement expenses (160,708) - -
Payment on advance from other funds (877,698) - 877,698


Net cash flows from noncapital financing activities (1,243,674) - 602,386


Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing Activities
Debt issued 1,656,623 - -
Debt retired (480,572) (385,930) (685,000)
Interest paid (80,551) (83,305) (69,034)
Special assessments received 29,026 19,905 -
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (2,322,497) (1,664,023) (1,829,791)
Capital contributions received 2,673,751 1,057,127 388,596
Customer advances for construction received - - 687,768


Net cash flows from capital and related financing activities 1,475,780 (1,056,226) (1,507,461)


Net change in cash and cash equivalents 1,182,592 264,742 551,255


Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning 1,168,814 2,207,932 6,328,227


Cash and Cash Equivalents, Ending $ 2,351,406 $ 2,472,674 $ 6,879,482


See notes to financial statements


16







Business-Type Activities -
Enterprise Funds


Storm Sewer


Nonmajor
Enterprise


Funds - EMS Total


Governmental
Activities -


Internal
Service Fund


$ 927,842 $ 862,657 $ 22,856,260 $ -
- - - 157,976
- - 96,333 -


(154,361) (298,995) (15,869,456) -
(247,203) (365,157) (2,509,314) -


526,278 198,505 4,573,823 157,976


- - 719,893 -
11,187 6,679 132,954 -


- - (967,722) -
- - 11,485 -


11,187 6,679 (103,390) -


- - (783,997) -


- - 157,976 -


- - 4,739 -
- 18,224 18,224 -
- - - (157,976)
- - 140,702 -
- - (160,708) -
- (30,000) (30,000) -


- (11,776) (653,064) (157,976)


515,000 - 2,171,623 -
(275,357) - (1,826,859) -
(40,901) - (273,791) -


- - 48,931 -
(385,080) - (6,201,391) -


- - 4,119,474 -
- - 687,768 -


(186,338) - (1,274,245) -


351,127 193,408 2,543,124 -


448,822 517,695 10,671,490 -


$ 799,949 $ 711,103 $ 13,214,614 $ -


See notes to financial statements


17







City of Stoughton
Statement of Cash Flows -
Proprietary Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2022


Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds


Water Wastewater Electric


Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash Flows From
Operating Activities


Operating income $ 797,226 $ 123,230 $ 1,144,857
Nonoperating revenue (expense) - - (3,249)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash flows from


operating activities:
Depreciation 505,315 772,166 1,309,313
Depreciation charged to other funds 30,265 - 68,292


Changes in assets, deferred outflows of resources and liabilities and
deferred inflows of resources:


Customer accounts receivable (24,218) 637 (58,874)
Other accounts receivable (23,071) (7,550) 15,697
Due from other funds (4,092) 78,337 5,597
Due to other funds 417 - (32,693)
Inventories 1,023 - (694,094)
Prepaid items 3,141 3,926 8,637
Accounts payable (36,227) (148,316) (71,170)
Compensated absences 9,211 16,504 (39,417)
Customer deposits - - 13,539
Other current liabilities 20,378 20,924 19,483
Commitment to community - - 16,775
Pension related deferrals and liabilities (36,257) (19,596) (103,046)
Other prepaid asset - 11,884 -
OPEB related deferrals and liabilities 87,784 87,033 (20,681)


Net cash flows from operating activities $ 1,330,895 $ 939,179 $ 1,578,966


Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents to the Statement of
Net Position, Proprietary Funds


Cash and investments $ 1,666,666 $ 1,065,383 $ 6,285,193
Restricted cash and investments:


Redemption account 400,256 295,370 566,170
Reserve account 340,710 - 460,722
Depreciation account 25,000 33,283 25,000
Construction account 4 - -
Replacement account - 1,175,801 -


Plant and maintenance reserve account 198,292 - 538,790
Sick leave reserve account 120,610 101,123 121,939


Total cash and investments 2,751,538 2,670,960 7,997,814


Less noncash equivalents (400,132) (198,286) (1,118,332)


Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,351,406 $ 2,472,674 $ 6,879,482


Noncash Capital and Related Financing Activities
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments $ 132 $ (22,342) $ (4,622)


ATC earnings allocated $ - $ - $ 10,559


Municipality financed additions to utility plant $ - $ - $ -


See notes to financial statements


18







Business-Type Activities -
Enterprise Funds


Storm Sewer


Nonmajor
Enterprise


Funds - EMS Total


Governmental
Activities -


Internal
Service Fund


$ 201,462 $ 4,319 $ 2,271,094 $ 157,976
- 42,113 38,864 -


255,287 68,328 2,910,409 -
- - 98,557 -


(595) - (83,050) -
58,410 11,042 54,528 -
(3,301) - 76,541 -


- - (32,276) -
- - (693,071) -
- - 15,704 -


(1,250) 7,423 (249,540) -
37,201 (2,971) 20,528 -


- 57,635 71,174 -
1,253 11,078 73,116 -


- - 16,775 -
(27,639) (13,623) (200,161) -


- - 11,884 -
5,450 13,161 172,747 -


$ 526,278 $ 198,505 $ 4,573,823 $ 157,976


$ 799,949 $ 711,103 $ 10,528,294 $ -
- -
- - 1,261,796 -
- - 801,432 -
- - 83,283 -
- - 4 -
- - 1,175,801 -
- - 737,082 -
- - 343,672 -


799,949 711,103 14,931,364 -


- - (1,716,750) -


$ 799,949 $ 711,103 $ 13,214,614 $ -


$ - $ - $ -


$ - $ - $ -


$ 824,395 $ - $ -


See notes to financial statements


19







City of Stoughton
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position -
Fiduciary Funds
December 31, 2022


Custodial
Funds


Assets
Cash and investments $ 11,377,768
Tax roll receivable 5,166,486


Total assets 16,544,254


Liabilities
Due to other taxing units 16,544,254


Total liabilities 16,544,254


Net Position


Total net position $ -


See notes to financial statements


20







City of Stoughton
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position -
Fiduciary Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2022


Custodial
Funds


Additions
Property taxes collected for other governments $ 12,361,978
Registration fees 129,223
Court penalties and costs 45,160


Total additions 12,536,361


Deductions
Property taxes distributed to other governments 12,361,978
Distributions of fines, forfeitures and penalties 45,160
Distribution of registration fees 129,223


Total deductions 12,536,361


Change in fiduciary net position -


Net Position, Beginning -


Net Position, Ending $ -


See notes to financial statements


21







City of Stoughton
Index to Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Page


1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 23


Reporting Entity 23
Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 24
Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation 27
Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and


Net Position or Equity 28
Deposits and Investments 28
Receivables 29
Inventories and Prepaid Items 30
Restricted Assets 30
Capital Assets 30
Land Held for Resale 31
Other Assets 31
Deferred Outflows of Resources 31
Compensated Absences 32
Long-Term Obligations 32
Leases 32
Deferred Inflows of Resources 32
Equity Classifications 33
Pension 34
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB) 34
Basis for Existing Rates 35


2. Reconciliation of Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 35


Explanation of Certain Differences Between the Governmental Fund Balance Sheet and
the Statement of Net Position 35


3. Stewardship, Compliance and Accountability 35


Budgetary Information 35
Excess Expenditures and Other Financing Uses Over Budget 36
Deficit Balances 36
Limitations on the City's Tax Levy 36


4. Detailed Notes on All Funds 37


Deposits and Investments 37
Receivables 39
Restricted Assets 40
Capital Assets 41
Interfund Receivables/Payables, Advances and Transfers 46
Long-Term Obligations 49
Net Position/Fund Balances 53


5. Other Information 55


Employees' Retirement System 55
Risk Management 60
Commitments and Contingencies 61
Other Postemployment Benefits 62
Effect of New Accounting Standards on Current-Period Financial Statements 69
Firemen's Pension Plan 69


22







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies


The accounting policies of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin (the City) conform to accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America as applicable to governmental units. The accepted
standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles is the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB).


Reporting Entity


This report includes all of the funds of the City. The reporting entity for the City consists of the primary
government and its component unit. Component units are legally separate organizations for which the
primary government is financially accountable or other organizations for which the nature and
significance of their relationship with the primary government are such that their exclusion would cause
the reporting entity's financial statements to be misleading. The primary government is financially
accountable if (1) it appoints a voting majority of the organization's governing body and it is able to
impose its will on that organization, (2) it appoints a voting majority of the organization's governing body
and there is a potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific
financial burdens on, the primary government, (3) the organization is fiscally dependent on and there is
a potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial
burdens on, the primary government. Certain legally separate, tax exempt organizations should also be
reported as a component unit if all of the following criteria are met: (1) the economic resources
received or held by the separate organization are entirely or almost entirely for the direct benefit of the
primary government, its component units or its constituents; (2) the primary government or its
component units, is entitled to, or has the ability to access, a majority of the economic resources
received or held by the separate organization; and (3) the economic resources received or held by an
individual organization that the primary government, or its component units, is entitled to, or has the
ability to otherwise access, are significant to the primary government.


Component units are reported using one of three methods, discrete presentation, blended or fiduciary.
Generally, component units should be discretely presented in a separate column in the financial
statements. A component unit should be reported as part of the primary government using the blending
method if it meets any one of the following criteria: (1) the primary government and the component unit
have substantively the same governing body and a financial benefit or burden relationship exists, (2)
the primary government and the component unit have substantively the same governing body and
management of the primary government has operational responsibility for the component unit, (3) the
component unit serves or benefits, exclusively or almost exclusively, the primary government rather
than its citizens or (4) the total debt of the component unit will be paid entirely or almost entirely from
resources of the primary government.


Blended Component Unit


The Stoughton Redevelopment Authority (RDA) serves all the citizens of the government and is
governed by a board of seven Commissioners. The rates for user charges and bond issuance
authorizations are approved by the government's council and the government is legally obligated to
provide resources in case there are deficiencies in debt service payments and resources are not
available from other remedies. The RDA is reported as a special revenue fund. The RDA does not
issue separate financial statements.


23







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 


In June 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 87, Leases. This Statement requires the recognition of
certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating leases and
recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of resources based on the payment provisions of the
contract. The standard establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the foundational
principle that leases are financings of the right-to-use an underlying asset. Under the Statement, a
lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor
is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources, which enhances the
relevance and consistency of information about the City’s leasing activities. This standard was
implemented January 1, 2022.


Government-Wide Financial Statements


The statement of net position and statement of activities display information about the reporting
government as a whole. They include all funds of the reporting entity except for fiduciary funds.
The statements distinguish between governmental and business-type activities. Governmental
activities generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues and other
nonexchange revenues. Business-type activities are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to
external parties for goods or services. Likewise, the primary government is reported separately
from certain legally separate component units for which the primary government is financially
accountable.


The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given
function or segment are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly
identifiable with a specific function or segment. The City does not allocate indirect expenses to
functions in the statement of activities. Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or
applicants who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, services or privileges provided by a
given function or segment, and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the
operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other items not
included among program revenues are reported as general revenues. Internally dedicated
resources are reported as general revenues rather than as program revenues.


Fund Financial Statements


Financial statements of the City are organized into funds, each of which is considered to be a
separate accounting entity. Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-
balancing accounts, which constitute its assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred
inflows of resources, net position/fund balance, revenues and expenditures/expenses. 


Funds are organized as major funds or nonmajor funds within the governmental and proprietary
statements. An emphasis is placed on major funds within the governmental and proprietary
categories. A fund is considered major if it is the primary operating fund of the City or meets the
following criteria:


a. Total assets/deferred outflows of resources, liabilities/deferred inflows of resources,
revenues or expenditures/expenses of that individual governmental or enterprise fund are
at least 10% of the corresponding total for all funds of that category or type, and 


b. The same element of the individual governmental or enterprise fund that met the 10% test
is at least 5% of the corresponding total for all governmental and enterprise funds
combined.


24







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


c. In addition, any other governmental or enterprise fund that the City believes is particularly
important to financial statement users may be reported as a major fund.


Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds and fiduciary
funds, even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major
individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate
columns in the fund financial statements.


The City reports the following major governmental funds:


General Fund


General Fund accounts for the City's primary operating activities. It is used to account for and
report all financial resources except those accounted for and reported in another fund.


Debt Service Fund


Debt Service Fund is used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted,
committed or assigned to expenditure for the payment of general long-term debt principal,
interest and related costs, other than TID or enterprise debt.


Capital Projects Fund


Construction Capital Project Fund is used to account for and report financial resources that are
restricted, committed, or assigned to expenditures for capital outlays, including the acquisition
or construction of capital facilities and other capital assets.


Enterprise Funds


The City reports the following major enterprise funds:


Water utility accounts for operations of the water system


Wastewater utility accounts for operations of the wastewater system


Electric utility accounts for operations of the electric system


Storm Sewer Fund accounts for operations of the storm sewer system


25







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


The City reports the following nonmajor governmental and enterprise funds:


Special Revenue Funds


Special Revenue Funds are used to account for and report the proceeds of specific
revenue sources that are restricted or committed to expenditures for specified purposes
(other than debt service or capital projects).


Library Food Pantry
Ambulance Landmark Commission
Opera House Fire Department 
Opera House Repair Senior Center Wood Shop
Township Outreach Senior Center Special
Tourism Affordable Housing Fund
Seniors in Need Redevelopment Authority
ARPA fund Special Assessments
Cemetery K9 Unit
Revolving loan fund Tree Commission
Firemen's Pension Fund Refuse fund
Shared Ride Services


Capital Projects Funds


Capital Projects Funds are used to account for and report financial resources that are
restricted, committed or assigned to expenditure for capital outlays, including the
acquisition or construction of capital facilities and other capital assets.


Fire Equipment TIF District No. 4
Park Acquisition TIF District No. 5
Equipment Replacement TIF District No. 6
Building Maintenance TIF District No. 7
Outlay TIF District No. 8
Technology TIF District No. 9


Enterprise Fund


Enterprise Funds are used to account for and report any activity for which a fee is charged
to external uses for goods or services, and must be used for activities which meet certain
debt or cost recovery criteria.


EMS


In addition, the City reports the following fund types:


Internal Service Fund


Internal Service Fund is used to account for and report the financing of goods or services
provided by one department or agency to other departments or agencies of the City, or to other
governmental units, on a cost-reimbursement basis.


Retirement fund


26







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Custodial Funds


Custodial Funds are used to account for and report assets controlled by the City and the
assets are for the benefit of individuals, private organizations and/or other governmental units.


Fiduciary Property Taxes Municipal Courts
Registration Fee Trust


Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation 


Government-Wide Financial Statements


The government-wide statement of net position and statement of activities are reported using the
economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual
basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when the
liability is incurred or economic asset used. Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets and
liabilities resulting from exchange and exchange-like transactions are recognized when the
exchange takes place. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are
levied. Taxes receivable for the following year are recorded as receivables and deferred inflows.
Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed
by the provider are met. Special assessments are recorded as revenue when earned. Unbilled
receivables are recorded as revenues when services are provided.


As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide
financial statements. Exceptions to this general rule are charges between the City's water,
wastewater, and electric utilities and various other functions of the government. Elimination of
these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for the various
functions concerned.


Fund Financial Statements 


Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when
they are both measurable and available. Available means collectible within the current period or
soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the City
considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current
fiscal period. Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except for
unmatured interest on long-term debt, claims, judgments, compensated absences and pension
expenditures, which are recorded as a fund liability when expected to be paid with expendable
available financial resources.


Property taxes are recorded in the year levied as receivables and deferred inflows. They are
recognized as revenues in the succeeding year when services financed by the levy are being
provided.


Intergovernmental aids and grants are recognized as revenues in the period the City is entitled to
the resources and the amounts are available. Amounts owed to the City which are not available
are recorded as receivables and unavailable revenues. Amounts received before eligibility
requirements (excluding time requirements) are met are recorded as liabilities. Amounts received
in advance of meeting time requirements are recorded as deferred inflows.


Special assessments are recorded as revenues when they become measurable and available as
current assets. Annual installments due in future years are reflected as receivables and
unavailable revenues. Delinquent special assessments being held for collection by the county are
reported as receivables and nonspendable fund balance in the general fund.


27







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Revenues susceptible to accrual include property taxes, miscellaneous taxes, public charges for
services, special assessments and interest. Other general revenues such as fines and forfeitures,
inspection fees, recreation fees and miscellaneous revenues are recognized when received in
cash or when measurable and available under the criteria described above. 


Proprietary and Fiduciary Funds


Proprietary and fiduciary fund financial statements are reported using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as described previously in this note. 


The proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal
operating revenues of the water, wastewater, storm sewer, electric utility funds and EMS fund are
charges to customers for sales and services. Special assessments are recorded as receivables
and contribution revenue when levied. Operating expenses for proprietary funds include the cost of
sales and services, administrative expenses and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and
expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.


All Financial Statements


The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources and disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenditures/expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.


Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Net
Position or Equity


Deposits and Investments


For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the City considers all highly liquid investments with an
initial maturity of three months or less when acquired to be cash equivalents.


Investment of City funds is restricted by Wisconsin state statutes. Available investments are limited
to:


a. Time deposits in any credit union, bank, savings bank or trust company. 


b. Bonds or securities of any county, city, drainage district, technical college district, village,
town or school district of the state. Also, bonds issued by a local exposition district, a local
professional baseball park district, a local professional football stadium district, a local
cultural arts district, the University of Wisconsin Hospitals and Clinics Authority or the
Wisconsin Aerospace Authority.


c. Bonds or securities issued or guaranteed by the federal government.


d. The local government investment pool.


e. Any security maturing in seven years or less and having the highest or second highest
rating category of a nationally recognized rating agency.


f. Securities of an open-end management investment company or investment trust, subject
to various conditions and investment options.


28







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


g. Repurchase agreements with public depositories, with certain conditions.


The City has adopted an investment policy. That policy follows the state statute for allowable
investments, and does not address the risks disclosed in Note 4.


Investments are stated at fair value, which is the amount at which an investment could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties. Fair values are based on methods and
inputs as outlined in Note 4. No investments are reported at amortized cost. Adjustments
necessary to record investments at fair value are recorded in the operating statement as increases
or decreases in investment income. Investment income on commingled investments of municipal
accounting funds is allocated based on average balances. The difference between the bank
statement balance and carrying value is due to outstanding checks and/or deposits in transit.


The Wisconsin Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP) is part of the State Investment Fund
(SIF) and is managed by the State of Wisconsin Investment Board. The SIF is not registered with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, but operates under the statutory authority of Wisconsin
Chapter 25. The SIF reports the fair value of its underlying assets annually. Participants in the
LGIP have the right to withdraw their funds in total on one day's notice. At December 31, 2022, the
fair value of the City 's share of the LGIP's assets was substantially equal to the amount as
reported in these statements.


PMA Financial Network, Inc. is the administrator for the Wisconsin Investment Series Cooperative
(WISC). The investment manager for WISC is PMA Financial Network, Inc. The WISC is not
registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission, but does operate in a manner consistent
with Rule 2a7 of the Investment Company Act of 1940. Investments in WISC are valued at WISC’s
share price, the price for which the investments could be sold. At December 31, 2022 the City's
share of the WISC's assets was substantially equal to the amount reported in these statements.


See Note 4 for further information. 


Receivables  


Property taxes are levied in December on the assessed value as of the prior January 1. In addition
to property taxes for the City, taxes are collected for and remitted to the county government as well
as the local school district and technical college district. Taxes for all state and local governmental
units billed in the current year for the succeeding year are reflected as receivables and due to other
taxing units on the accompanying statement of fiduciary net position.


Property tax calendar - 2022 tax roll:


Lien date and levy date December 2022
Tax bills mailed December 2022
Payment in full, or January 31, 2023
First installment due January 31, 2023
Second installment due July 31, 2023
Personal property taxes in full January 31, 2023
Tax sale - 2022 delinquent real estate taxes October 2025


Accounts receivable have been shown net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts. Delinquent
real estate taxes as of July 31 are paid in full by the County, which assumes the collection thereof. 
No provision for uncollectible accounts receivable has been made for the water, wastewater,
stormwater and electric utilities because they have the right by law to place substantially all
delinquent bills on the tax roll and other delinquent bills are generally not significant. 


29







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


During the course of operations, transactions occur between individual funds that may result in
amounts owed between funds. Short-term interfund loans are reported as "due to and from other
funds." Long-term interfund loans (noncurrent portion) are reported as "advances from and to other
funds." Interfund receivables and payables between funds within governmental activities are
eliminated in the statement of net position. Any residual balances outstanding between the
governmental activities and business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial
statements as internal balances.


In the governmental fund financial statements, advances to other funds are offset equally by a
nonspendable fund balance account which indicates that they do not constitute expendable
available financial resources and, therefore, are not available for appropriation or by a restricted
fund balance account, if the funds will ultimately be restricted when the advance is repaid.


It is the City's policy to record revenue when the initial loan is made from the federal and state
grant funds. The net amount of the loan receivable balance is included in restricted fund balance.
Interest received from loan repayments is recognized as revenue when received in cash. Any
unspent loan repayments at year end are presented as restricted fund balance in the fund financial
statements.


Inventories and Prepaid Items  


Governmental fund inventory items are charged to expenditure accounts when purchased. Year-
end inventory was not significant. Proprietary fund inventories are generally used for construction
and/or for operation and maintenance work. They are not for resale. They are valued at cost
based on weighted average and charged to construction and/or operation and maintenance
expense when used.


Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded
as prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements. The cost of prepaid items
is recorded as expenditures/expenses when consumed rather than when purchased.


Restricted Assets  


Mandatory segregations of assets are presented as restricted assets. Such segregations are
required by bond agreements and other external parties. Current liabilities payable from these
restricted assets are so classified. The excess of restricted assets over current liabilities payable
from restricted assets will be used first for retirement of related long-term debt. The remainder, if
generated from earnings, is shown as restricted net position.


Capital Assets  


Government-Wide Financial Statements


Capital assets, which include property, plant and equipment (including right-to-use lease
assets), are reported in the government-wide financial statements. Capital assets are defined
by the government as assets with an initial cost of more than $5,000 general capital assets
and $15,000 for infrastructure assetsand an estimated useful life in excess of one year. All
capital assets are valued at historical cost or estimated historical cost if actual amounts are
unavailable. Donated capital assets are recorded at their estimated acquisition value at the
date of donation. 


Additions to and replacements of capital assets of business-type activities are recorded at
original cost, which includes material, labor and overhead. The cost of renewals and
betterments relating to retirement units is added to plant accounts. The cost of property
replaced, retired or otherwise disposed of, is deducted from plant accounts and, generally,
together with removal costs less salvage, is charged to accumulated depreciation.


30







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Depreciation of all exhaustible capital assets is recorded as an allocated expense in the
statement of activities, with accumulated depreciation reflected in the statement of net position.
Depreciation is provided over the assets' estimated useful lives using the straight-line method.
The range of estimated useful lives by type of asset is as follows:


Buildings 15-75 Years
Land Improvements 15-30 Years
Machinery and Equipment 3-15 Years
Utility System 5-100 Years
Infrastructure 30-75 Years


Lease assets are typically amortized over the lease term.


Fund Financial Statements


In the fund financial statements, capital assets used in governmental fund operations are
accounted for as capital outlay expenditures of the governmental fund upon acquisition.
Capital assets used in proprietary fund operations are accounted for the same way as in the
government-wide statements.


Land Held for Resale


Land held for resale consists of land and improvements and is valued at cost of acquisition,
demolition and site improvement.


Other Assets  


These accounts include costs related to the Utility's investment in American Transmission
Company (ATC) and nonutility property.


The electric utility is a member of ATC. ATC was formed by approximately 25 utilities to plan,
construct, maintain, monitor and own electric transmission facilities in Wisconsin. The Utility owns
less than 1/2 of 1% of ATC. The investment earns dividends quarterly, some of which is paid in
cash and some of which is required to be reinvested. From time to time, the Utility has the option to
contribute additional funds to maintain their proportionate share of ownership. The asset is valued
at net asset value per share which is equal to original cost plus additional contributions and
reinvested dividends and approximates fair value.


The water and electric utilities have plant and maintenance reserve accounts. Monthly deposits are
made into this account and made available for routine capital projects and other large operating
expenses.


The water, wastewater and electric utilities have sick leave reserve accounts. Upon retirement,
these funds are used for insurance coverage for utility employees.


Nonutility Property


Water utility non-utility property consists of a park shelter with a balance of $107,000 at
December 31, 2022. The cost is being amortized on a straight-line basis over its useful life.
The unamortized balance as of December 31, 2022 was $4,958. 


Deferred Outflows of Resources 


A deferred outflow of resources represents a consumption of net position/fund balance that applies
to a future period and will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until
that future time.


31







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Compensated Absences  


Under terms of employment, employees are granted sick leave and vacations in varying amounts.
Only benefits considered to be vested are disclosed in these statements. 


All vested vacation and sick leave pay is accrued when incurred in the government-wide and
proprietary fund financial statements. A liability for these amounts is reported in governmental
funds only if they have matured, for example, as a result of employee resignations and retirements,
and are payable with expendable resources. 


Payments for vacation and sick leave will be made at rates in effect when the benefits are used.
Accumulated vacation and sick leave balances at December 31, 2022 are determined on the basis
of current salary rates and include salary related payments.


The City provides post-employment health insurance benefits for all eligible employees who chose
to convert accumulated sick leave benefits to post-employment health insurance. The benefits are
based on contractual agreements with employee groups, local ordinances, or employee benefit
policies.  Employees may convert 100% of accumulated sick leave to pay for health care
premiums. The cost of those premiums is recognized as an expenditure as the premiums are paid.
The entire cost is paid by the City. Funding for those costs is provided out of the general fund.
Total expenditures for premiums during the year were $224,141. Four participants were eligible
during 2022 to receive benefits. There is no amount outstanding at year-end to be paid in the
future. 


Long-Term Obligations   


All long-term obligations to be repaid from governmental and business-type resources are reported
as liabilities in the government-wide statements. The long-term obligations consist primarily of
notes and bonds payable and accrued compensated absences.


Long-term obligations for governmental funds are not reported as liabilities in the fund financial
statements. The face value of debts (plus any premiums) are reported as other financing sources
and payments of principal and interest are reported as expenditures. The accounting in proprietary
funds is the same as it is in the government-wide statements.


For the government-wide statements and proprietary fund statements, bond premiums and
discounts are amortized over the life of the issue using the straight-line method. The balance at
year end is shown as an increase or decrease in the liability section of the statement of net
position.


The City has a debt policy to maintain total outstanding general obligation debt of 4% or less of the
equalized value of taxable property within the City's jurisdiction. The City's total outstanding general
obligation debt was 2.34% of equalized value at year end.


Leases


The Utilities is a lessee because it leases capital assets from other entities. As a lessee, the
Utilities reports an intangible right-to-use capital asset (known as the lease asset) in the financial
statements. The lease was prepaid, therefore no related lease liability was recorded. 


Deferred Inflows of Resources  


A deferred inflow of resources represents an acquisition of net position/fund balance that applies to
a future period and therefore will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that
future time.


32







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Equity Classifications  


Government-Wide Statements


Equity is classified as net position and displayed in three components:


a. Net Investment in Capital Assets - Consists of capital assets including restricted
capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding
balances (excluding unspent debt proceeds) of any bonds, mortgages, notes or other
borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of
those assets.


b. Restricted Net Position - Consists of net position with constraints placed on their use
either by 1) external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors or laws or
regulations of other governments or, 2) law through constitutional provisions or
enabling legislation.


c. Unrestricted Net Position - All other net positions that do not meet the definitions of
"restricted" or "net investment in capital assets."


The net position section includes an adjustment for capital assets owned by the business-type
activities column, but financed by the debt of the governmental activities column. The amount
is a reduction of "net investment in capital assets" and an increase in "unrestricted" net
position, shown only in the total column. A reconciliation of this adjustment is as follows:


Governmental
Activities


Business-Type
Activities Adjustment Total


Net investment in capital assets $ 25,961,955 $ 55,785,137 $ (119,540) $ 81,627,552
Unrestricted 4,852,255 10,918,336 119,540 15,890,131


When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City's policy to
use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.


Fund Statements


Governmental fund balances are displayed as follows:


a. Nonspendable - Includes fund balance amounts that cannot be spent either because
they are not in spendable form or because legal or contractual requirements require
them to be maintained intact.


b. Restricted - Consists of fund balances with constraints placed on their use either by
1) external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors or laws or regulations of
other governments or 2) law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.


c. Committed - Includes fund balance amounts that are constrained for specific
purposes that are internally imposed by the government through formal action of the
highest level of decision making authority. Fund balance amounts are committed
through a formal action (resolution) of the City Council. This formal action must occur
prior to the end of the reporting period, but the amount of the commitment, which will
be subject to the constraints, may be determined in the subsequent period. Any
changes to the constraints imposed require the same formal action of the City Council
that originally created the commitment.


33







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


d. Assigned - Includes spendable fund balance amounts that are intended to be used for
specific purposes that do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or
committed. The City Council has, by resolution, adopted a financial policy authorizing
the finance director to assign amounts for a specific purpose. Assignments may take
place after the end of the reporting period.


e. Unassigned - Includes residual positive fund balance within the general fund which
has not been classified within the other above mentioned categories. Unassigned fund
balance may also include negative balances for any governmental fund if expenditures
exceed amounts restricted, committed or assigned for those purposes.


Proprietary fund equity is classified the same as in the government-wide statements.


The City considers restricted amounts to be spent first when both restricted and unrestricted
fund balance is available unless there are legal documents / contracts that prohibit doing this,
such as in grant agreements requiring dollar for dollar spending. Additionally, the City would
first use committed, then assigned, and lastly unassigned amounts of unrestricted fund
balance when expenditures are made.


The City has a formal minimum fund balance policy. That policy is to maintain an unassigned
general fund balance within a range of 20% to 25% of general fund annual budgeted
expenditures. The unassigned general fund balance at year-end was $4,419,784 or 40.56% of
2022 general fund budgeted expenditures and other financing uses.


See Note 4 for further information.


Pension  


For purposes of measuring the net pension liability (asset), deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions and pension expense, information about the
fiduciary net position of the Wisconsin Retirement System (WRS) and additions to/deductions from
WRS' fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by
WRS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported
at fair value.


Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB)  


For purposes of measuring the total OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to OPEB and OPEB expense, information about the City health
insurance OPEB Plan has been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the City
health insurance OPEB Plan. For this purpose, the City health insurance OPEB Plan recognizes
benefit payments when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.


The fiduciary net position of the Local Retiree Life Insurance Fund (LRLIF) has been determined
using the flow of economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.
This includes for purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to other post-employment benefits, OPEB expense and
information about the fiduciary net position of the LRLIF and additions to/deductions from LRLIFs
fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by LRLIF. For
this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when
due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.


34







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Basis for Existing Rates  


Current water rates were approved by the PSCW effective March 1, 2022.


Current electric rates were approved by the PSCW on July 1, 2020.


Current wastewater rates were approved by the utilities committee effective July 1, 2022.


2. Reconciliation of Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 


Explanation of Certain Differences Between the Governmental Fund Balance Sheet and the
Statement of Net Position 


The governmental fund balance sheet includes a reconciliation between fund balance, total
governmental funds and net position, governmental activities as reported in the government-wide
statement of net position. The details of this reconciliation include the following items.


Capital assets used in governmental funds are not financial resources and, therefore, are not reported
in the funds.


Capital assets not being depreciated $ 11,679,880
Capital assets, net of depreciation 46,015,207


Combined adjustment for capital assets $ 57,695,087


Long-term liabilities applicable to the City's governmental activities are not due and payable in the
current period, and accordingly, are not reported as fund liabilities. Interest on long-term debt is not
accrued in governmental funds, but rather is recognized as an expenditure when due. All liabilities-both
current and long-term-are reported in the statement of net position.


Bonds and notes payable $ 34,552,653
Compensated absences 1,012,249
Accrued interest 354,386
Unamortized premium on debt 664,290


Combined adjustment for long-term liabilities $ 36,583,578


3. Stewardship, Compliance and Accountability  


Budgetary Information


A budget has been adopted for the all funds except Shared ride services fund. Wisconsin Statute
65.90 requires that an annual budget be adopted for all funds.


35







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Excess Expenditures and Other Financing Uses Over Budget  


Funds


Budgeted
Expenditures


and Other
Financing Uses


Actual
Expenditures


and Other
Financing Uses


Excess
Expenditures


and Other
Financing Uses


Over Budget


Food Pantry $ 75,000 $ 87,030 $ 12,030
Landmark Commission 26,925 38,990 12,065
Fire Department 30,783 31,425 642
Senior Center Special Fund 6,000 9,319 3,319
K9 Unit 21,160 25,396 4,236
Refuse 872,341 875,910 3,569
TIF District No. 6 424,613 436,789 12,176
TIF District No. 8 1,294,009 1,327,846 33,837
TIF District No. 9 20,000 58,003 38,003
Equipment Replacement Fund 254,150 264,136 9,986
Building maintenance 133,038 161,496 28,458
Tourism 209,270 210,996 1,726


The City controls expenditures at the object level. Some individual line items experienced expenditures
which exceeded appropriations. The detail of those items can be found in the City's year-end budget to
actual report.


Deficit Balances  


Generally accepted accounting principles require disclosure of individual funds that have deficit
balances at year end.


As of December 31, 2022, the following individual funds held a deficit balance:


Fund Amount Reason


Special revenue, Tourism $ 24,030 Expenditures in excess of revenues
Capital projects, TIF District No. 9 23,514 Expenditures in excess of revenues
Capital projects, TIF District No. 5 586,122 Expenditures in excess of revenues
Capital projects, TIF District No. 4 16,036 Expenditures in excess of revenues
Capital projects, TIF District No. 8 298,381 Expenditures in excess of revenues
Capital projects, Outlay 138,874 Expenditures in excess of revenues


TIF district deficits are anticipated to be funded with future incremental taxes levied over the life of the
districts, which is 27 years for the districts created before October 1, 1995, and 23 years for districts
created thereafter through September 30, 2004. Beginning October 1, 2004, the life of new districts
varies by type of district (20-27 years) and may be extended in some cases. Other fund deficits are
anticipated to be funded with future contributions, general tax revenues, or long-term borrowing.


Limitations on the City'S Tax Levy  


Wisconsin law limits the City's future tax levies. Generally the City is limited to its prior tax levy dollar
amount (excluding TIF Districts), increased by the greater of the percentage change in the City's
equalized value due to net new construction or zero percent. Changes in debt service from one year to
the next are generally exempt from this limit with certain exceptions. The City is required to reduce its
allowable levy by the estimated amount of fee revenue it collects for certain services, if those services
were funded in 2013 by the property tax levy. Levies can be increased above the allowable limits if the
amount is approved by referendum.


36







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


4. Detailed Notes on All Funds 


Deposits and Investments 


The City's deposits and investments at year end were comprised of the following:


Carrying
Value


Statement
Balances Associated Risks


Deposits $ 10,746,607 $ 10,740,375 Custodial credit


U.S. agencies, implicitly guaranteed 47,960 47,960


Credit, custodial credit,
concentration of credit,
interest rate


LGIP 1,572,034 1,572,034 Credit
Certificates of deposit, nonnegotiable 520,372 520,372 Custodial credit
Wisconsin Investment Series Cooperative 26,718,648 24,648,558 Credit
Mutual funds, other than bonds 44,281 44,281 N/A


Certificates of deposit, negotiable 1,395,528 1,388,900


Credit, custodial credit,
concentration of credit,
interest rate


Cash on hand 2,325,375 -


Total deposits and investments $ 43,370,805 $ 38,962,480


Reconciliation to financial statements


Per statement of net position:
Unrestricted cash and investments $ 28,670,721
Restricted cash and investments 3,322,316


Per statement of net position, fiduciary
fund:


Custodial fund 11,377,768


Total deposits and investments $ 43,370,805


Deposits in each local and area bank are insured by the FDIC in the amount of $250,000 for time and
savings accounts (including NOW accounts) and $250,000 for demand deposit accounts (interest-
bearing and noninterest-bearing). In addition, if deposits are held in an institution outside of the state in
which the government is located, insured amounts are further limited to a total of $250,000 for the
combined amount of all deposit accounts.Deposits in the credit union are insured by the National
Credit Union Administration in the amount of $250,000 for all share draft accounts and $250,000 for all
share certificate and regular share accounts.


Bank accounts and credit unions are also insured by the State Deposit Guarantee Fund in the amount
of $400,000. However, due to the nature of this fund, recovery of material principal losses may not be
significant to individual municipalities. This coverage has not been considered in computing custodial
credit risk.


The Securities Investor Protection Corporation (SIPC), created by the Securities Investor Protection
Act of 1970, is an independent government-sponsored corporation (not an agency of the U.S.
government).


SIPC membership provides account protection up to a maximum of $500,000 per customer, of which
$100,000 may be in cash. $500,000 of the City's investments are covered by SIPC. 


37







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


The City categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by
generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to
measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant
unobservable inputs. 


The valuation methods for recurring fair value measurements are as follows:


 Market approach


December 31, 2022
Investment Type Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total


U.S. agencies $ - $ 47,960 $ - $ 47,960
Certificates of deposit, negotiable - 1,388,900 - 1,388,900
Mutual funds, other than bonds - 44,281 - 44,281


Total $ - $ 1,481,141 $ - $ 1,481,141


Custodial Credit Risk 


Deposits


Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a financial institution failure, the City's
deposits may not be returned to the City.


As of December 31, 2022, $46,945 of the City's total bank balances were exposed to custodial
credit risk as follows:


Uninsured and uncollateralized $ 46,945


Total $ 46,945


Investments


For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the
counterparty, the City will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral
securities that are in the possession of an outside party.


U.S. Agencies


Neither insured nor registered and held by counterparty $ 47,960


Total U.S. Agencies $ 47,960


Certificates of Deposit - Negotiable


Neither insured nor registered and held by counterparty $ 1,146,000


Credit Risk 


Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its
obligations.


38







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


As of December 31, 2022, the City's investments were rated as follows:


Investment Type
Standard
& Poors


Moody's
Investors
Services


U.S. Agencies implicitly guaranteed AAA Aaa
Certificates of deposit, negotiable AAA-A+ Aa1
Wisconsin Investment Series


Cooperative AAAm


The City also held investments in the following external pool which is not rated:


Local Government Investment Pool


There are also negotiable certificates of deposit in the amount of $1,188,900 that are not rated.


Interest Rate Risk


Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the value of an
investment.


As of December 31, 2022, the City's investments were as follows:


Maturity (In Years)
Investment Type Fair Value Less than 1 1-3 3 or more


U.S. agencies implicitly guaranteed $ 47,960 $ - $ - $ 47,960
Certificates of deposit, negotiable 1,388,900 1,388,900 - -


Total $ 1,436,860 $ 1,388,900 $ - $ 47,960


See Note 1 for further information on deposit and investment policies.


Receivables  


All receivables, except $15,760 in general fund and $570,128 in nonmajor funds are expected to be
collected within one year.


Revenues of the EMS fund are reported net of uncollectible amounts. Total uncollectible amounts
related to revenues of the current period are as follows:


Uncollectibles related to ambulance receivables (nonmajor
enterprise fund, EMS) $ 165,930


Total uncollectibles of the current fiscal year $ 165,930


39







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Governmental funds report unavailable or unearned revenue in connection with receivables for
revenues that are not considered to be available to liquidate liabilities of the current period. Property
taxes levied for the subsequent year are not earned and cannot be used to liquidate liabilities of the
current period. Governmental funds also defer revenue recognition in connection with resources that
have been received, but not yet earned. At the end of the current fiscal year, the various components
of unavailable revenue and unearned revenue reported in the governmental funds were as follows:


Unearned Unavailable


Property taxes receivable for subsequent year $ 12,729,495 $ -
Special assessments not yet due - 285,886
Guaranteed increment receivable 26,465 -
Miscellaneous revenues received after 60 days - 52,895
Grants received prior to meeting all eligibility requirements 1,491,850 -
Capital grants accrued - 679,909


Total unearned/unavailable revenue for governmental
funds $ 14,247,810 $ 1,018,690


Unearned revenue included in liabilities $ 1,491,850


Unearned revenue included in deferred inflows 12,755,960


Total unearned revenue for governmental funds $ 14,247,810


Restricted Assets  


The following represent the balances of the restricted assets:


Long-Term Debt Accounts


Redemption - Used to segregate resources accumulated for debt service payments over the next
twelve months.


Reserve - Used to report resources set aside to make up potential future deficiencies in the
redemption account.


Depreciation - Used to report resources set aside to fund plant renewals and replacement or make
up potential future deficiencies in the redemption account.


Construction - Used to report proceeds of revenue bond issuances that are restricted for use in
construction.


Equipment Replacement Account


The Wastewater utility established an equipment replacement account to be used for significant
mechanical equipment replacement as required by the Wisconsin Department of Natural
Resources.


Net Pension Asset


Restricted assets have been reported in connection with the net pension asset balance since this
balance must be used to fund employee benefits.


40







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Following is a list of restricted assets at December 31, 2022: 


Restricted
Assets


Liabilities
Payable from


Restricted
Assets


Restricted Net
Position


Bond redemption account $ 1,261,796 $ 42,407 $ 1,219,389
Bond reserve account 801,432 - 801,432
Bond depreciation account 83,283 - 83,283
Construction account 4 - n/a
Equipment replacement account 1,175,801 - 1,175,801
Net pension asset, business-type activities 918,464 - 918,464
Net pension asset, governmental activities 3,099,455 - 3,099,455


Total $ 7,340,235 $ 42,407 $ 7,297,824


Capital Assets  


Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2022, was as follows:


Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions


Ending
Balance


Governmental Activities
Capital assets not being depreciated:


Land $ 8,905,575 $ 216,032 $ - $ 9,121,607
Construction in progress 628,006 948,534 473,160 1,103,380
Inexhaustible portion of streets 1,454,893 - - 1,454,893


Total capital assets not being
depreciated 10,988,474 1,164,566 473,160 11,679,880


Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements 26,840,705 106,956 - 26,947,661
Machinery and equipment 11,234,639 620,724 318,699 11,536,664
Streets 23,022,473 3,232,895 531,927 25,723,441
Sidewalks 5,970,488 475,776 57,459 6,388,805
Street lighting 227,551 - - 227,551
Bridges 845,989 - - 845,989
Storm sewers 4,903,133 - 2,908 4,900,225
Traffic signals 411,974 - - 411,974
Dams 592,997 - - 592,997


Total capital assets being depreciated 74,049,949 4,436,351 910,993 77,575,307


Total capital assets 85,038,423 5,600,917 1,384,153 89,255,187


41







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions


Ending
Balance


Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements $ (8,397,933) $ (470,301) $ - $ (8,868,234)
Machinery and equipment (6,190,978) (819,729) 181,829 (6,828,878)
Streets (8,652,674) (856,591) 531,927 (8,977,338)
Sidewalks (3,193,894) (127,776) 57,459 (3,264,211)
Street lighting (59,363) (3,034) - (62,397)
Bridges (255,726) (11,280) - (267,006)
Storm sewers (2,818,075) (163,177) 2,908 (2,978,344)
Traffic signals (220,373) (10,299) - (230,672)
Dams (77,090) (5,930) - (83,020)


Total accumulated depreciation (29,866,106) (2,468,117) 774,123 (31,560,100)


Net capital assets being depreciated 44,183,843 1,968,234 136,870 46,015,207


Total governmental activities capital
assets, net of accumulated
depreciation $ 55,172,317 $ 3,132,800 $ 610,030 $ 57,695,087


Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows: 


Governmental Activities
General government $ 137,988
Public safety 470,791
Public works, which includes the depreciation of infrastructure 1,531,324
Culture, recreation and education 328,014


Total governmental activities depreciation expense $ 2,468,117


42







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Business-Type Activities


Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions


Ending
Balance


Water
Capital assets not being depreciated:


Land and land rights $ 24,841 $ - $ - $ 24,841
Construction in progress 214,160 37,702 - 251,862


Total capital assets not being
depreciated 239,001 37,702 - 276,703


Capital assets being depreciated:
Source of supply 595,730 - - 595,730
Pumping 1,598,744 - - 1,598,744
Treatment 90,795 - - 90,795
Transmission and distribution 22,138,562 3,066,805 66,246 25,139,121
General 1,007,359 20,861 18,129 1,010,091
Completed construction not classified 1,667,296 - 1,667,296 -


Total capital assets being completed
construction not classified 27,098,486 3,087,666 1,751,671 28,434,481


Total capital assets 27,337,487 3,125,368 1,751,671 28,711,184


Less accumulated depreciation for:
Source of supply (456,093) (17,276) - (473,369)
Pumping (1,464,709) (50,125) - (1,514,834)
Treatment (90,795) - - (90,795)
Transmission and distribution (5,712,020) (472,906) - (6,184,926)
General (931,451) (19,449) 76,833 (874,067)
Completed construction not classified (24,176) - 24,176 -


Total accumulated  depreciation (8,655,068) (559,756) 76,833 (9,137,991)


Net capital assets being depreciated 18,443,418 2,527,910 1,674,838 19,296,490


Net water capital assets $ 18,682,419 $ 2,565,612 $ 1,674,838 $ 19,573,193


43







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions


Ending
Balance


Wastewater
Capital assets not being depreciated:


Land and land rights $ 100 $ - $ - $ 100
Construction in progress 19,115 613,300 - 632,415


Total capital assets not being
depreciated 19,215 613,300 - 632,515


Capital assets being depreciated:
Collection system 14,609,016 1,099,957 327 15,708,646
Collection system pumping 756,008 - - 756,008
Treatment and disposal 15,684,336 39,081 20,866 15,702,551
Administrative and general assets 1,601,678 24,686 122,497 1,503,867


Total capital assets being depreciated 32,651,038 1,163,724 143,690 33,671,072


Total capital assets 32,670,253 1,777,024 143,690 34,303,587


Less accumulated depreciation for:
Wastewater (13,691,236) (772,166) 93,076 (14,370,326)


Total accumulated depreciation (13,691,236) (772,166) 93,076 (14,370,326)


Net capital assets being depreciated 18,959,802 391,558 50,614 19,300,746


Net wastewater capital assets $ 18,979,017 $ 1,004,858 $ 50,614 $ 19,933,261


Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions


Ending
Balance


Electric
Capital assets not being depreciated:


Land and land rights $ 344,364 $ - $ - $ 344,364
Construction in progress 367,983 80,537 - 448,520
Property held for future use 229,097 - - 229,097


Total capital assets not being
depreciated / amortized 941,444 80,537 - 1,021,981


Capital assets being depreciated:
Transmission 15,019 - - 15,019
Distribution 32,502,953 1,331,705 176,278 33,658,380
Administrative and general assets 3,956,797 269,978 47,548 4,179,227
Lease assets - 180,000 - 180,000


Total capital assets being depreciated /
amortized 36,474,769 1,781,683 223,826 38,032,626


Total capital assets 37,416,213 1,862,220 223,826 39,054,607


Less accumulated depreciation for:
Transmission (19,366) - - (19,366)
Distribution (15,008,358) (1,194,820) 178,329 (16,024,849)
Administrative and general assets (2,729,159) (180,493) 47,548 (2,862,104)


Total accumulated depreciation /
amortization (17,756,883) (1,375,313) 225,877 (18,906,319)


Net capital assets being depreciated /
amortized 18,717,886 406,370 (2,051) 19,126,307


Net electric capital assets $ 19,659,330 $ 486,907 $ (2,051) $ 20,148,288


44







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions


Ending
Balance


Stormwater
Capital assets not being depreciated:


Land $ 9,986 $ 143,503 $ - $ 153,489
Construction in progress - 48,700 - 48,700


Total capital assets not being
depreciated 9,986 192,203 - 202,189


Capital assets being depreciated:
Storm Sewer 6,339,906 1,017,272 - 7,357,178


Total capital assets being depreciated 6,339,906 1,017,272 - 7,357,178


Total capital assets 6,349,892 1,209,475 - 7,559,367


Less accumulated depreciation for:
Storm Sewer (871,228) (255,287) - (1,126,515)


Total accumulated depreciation (871,228) (255,287) - (1,126,515)


Net capital assets being depreciated 5,468,678 761,985 - 6,230,663


Net stormwater capital assets $ 5,478,664 $ 954,188 $ - $ 6,432,852


Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions


Ending
Balance


EMS
Capital assets being depreciated:


Buildings and improvements $ 1,240,308 $ - $ - $ 1,240,308
Equipment 973,260 - - 973,260


Total capital assets being depreciated 2,213,568 - - 2,213,568


Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements (404,515) (24,529) - (429,044)
Equipment (664,103) (43,799) - (707,902)


Total accumulated depreciation (1,068,618) (68,328) - (1,136,946)


Net capital assets being depreciated 1,144,950 (68,328) - 1,076,622


Net other enterprise capital assets $ 1,144,950 $ (68,328) $ - $ 1,076,622


Business-type capital assets, net of
accumulated depreciation $ 63,944,380 $ 4,943,237 $ 1,723,401 $ 67,164,216


Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows:


Business-Type Activities
Water $ 505,315
Wastewater 772,166
Electric 1,309,313
Storm sewer 255,287
EMS 68,328


Total business-type activities depreciation expense $ 2,910,409


45







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Depreciation expense may be different from business-type activity capital asset additions because of
joint metering, salvage, cost of removal, internal allocations, or cost associated with the disposal of
assets.


Additional disclosures of the lease assets are included in the Lease Disclosure note.


Interfund Receivables/Payables, Advances and Transfers   


Interfund Receivables/Payables


The following is a schedule of interfund receivables and payables including any overdrafts on
pooled cash and investment accounts:


Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount


General Water Utility $ 396,616
General Electric Utility 410,469
General Wastewater Utility 19,125
General Tourism 4,806
Construction Electric Utility 1,864
Construction Water Utility 45,339
Construction Wastewater Utility 60,591
Park Acquisition Water Utility 430
Park Acquisition Wastewater Utility 430
Building Maintenance Electric Utility 18,954
Water Utility General 1,313
Water Utility Special Assessments 122,112
Wastewater Utility General 1,641
Wastewater Utility Special Assessments 83,536
Electric Utility General 3,610
Electric Utility Special Assessments 6,111
Storm Sewer Utility Electric Utility 62,190


Total, fund financial statements 1,239,137


Less fund eliminations (66,996)
Less government-wide eliminations (436,646)
Add interfund advances 275,325


Total internal balances, government-wide statement of net position $ 1,010,820


Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount


Governmental activities Business-type activities $ 1,229,143
Business-type activities Governmental activities (218,323)


Total government-wide financial statements $ 1,010,820


All amounts are due within one year.


The principal purpose of these interfunds is to fund ongoing operations.  All remaining balances
resulted from the time lag between the dates that: (1) interfund goods and services are provided or
reimbursable expenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in the accounting system and
(3) payments between funds are made.


46







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Advances


The general fund is advancing funds to the TIF District Nos. 4, 5, 6, 8, 9 and Outlay capital project
funds. The amount advanced is determined by the deficiency of revenues over expenditures and
other financing sources since the district's inception. No interest is being charged and a repayment
schedule has not been established.


The debt service fund is advancing funds to EMS enterprise fund for the purpose of funding
deficiency of cash. No interest is being charged and a repayment schedule has not been
established. 


The following is a schedule of interfund advances:


Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount


Amount Not
Due Within
One Year


General Fund TIF District No. 4 $ 13,005 $ 13,005
General Fund TIF District No. 5 586,141 586,141
General Fund TIF District No. 6 125,000 125,000
General Fund TIF District No. 8 258,626 258,626
General Fund TIF District No. 9 8,056 8,056
General Fund Outlay 112,792 112,792
Debt Service Fund EMS 275,325 245,325


Total, fund financial statements 1,378,945


Less fund eliminations (1,103,620)


Total, interfund advances $ 275,325


For the statement of net position, interfund advances which are owed within the governmental
activities or business-type activities are netted and eliminated.


47







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Transfers


The following is a schedule of interfund transfers:


Fund Transferred To Fund Transferred From Amount Principal Purpose


General Water utility $ 376,315
Payment in lieu of taxes and


dividend


General Electric utility 380,252
Payment in lieu of taxes and


dividend
General Technology 31,936 Fund closure
General Fire equipment 16,613 Fund closure
General Tourism 25,927 Room tax revenue
General Building maintenance 45,000 Building maintenance
General Redevelopment Authority 9,000 Fund operations
Debt service TIF District No. 5 153,850 Debt service
Debt service TIF District No. 6 419,613 Debt service
Debt service TIF District No. 7 337,473 Debt service
Debt service TIF District No. 8 114,909 Debt service
Construction Special assessment 157,100 Fund capital projects
Construction General 100,000 Fund capital projects
Opera House General 121,680 Fund operations
Opera House Opera House repair 6,778 Fund closure
Landmark Commission General 2,470 Fund operations
Redevelopment Authority General 25,424 Fund operations
Redevelopment Authority Revolving Loan 272,656 Move loan activity
Redevelopment authority TIF District No. 4 15,000 Fund loans
TIF District No. 5 TIF District No. 4 153,850 Donor contribution to TID
TIF District No. 8 TIF District No. 4 14,502 Donor contribution to TID
Outlay General 100,000 Fund capital projects
EMS Ambulance 18,224 Fund closure


Total, fund financial statements 2,898,572


Less fund eliminations (2,123,781)


Less government-wide eliminations (36,448)


Capital assets contributions from governmental
activities to business-type activities (824,395)


Total transfers, government-wide statement of
activities $ (86,052)


Fund Transferred To Fund Transferred From Amount


Governmental activities Business-type activities $ 756,567
Business-type activities Governmental activities (842,619)


Total government-wide financial statements $ (86,052)


Generally, transfers are used to (1) move revenues from the fund that collects them to the fund
that the budget requires to expend them, (2) move receipts restricted to debt service from the
funds collecting the receipts to the debt service fund and (3) use unrestricted revenues collected in
the general fund to finance various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with
budgetary authorizations.


48







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Long-Term Obligations  


Long-term obligations activity for the year ended December 31, 2022, was as follows:


Beginning
Balance Increases Decreases


Ending
Balance


Amounts Due
Within One


Year


Governmental Activities
Bonds and notes payable:


General obligation debt $ 32,850,386 $ 4,885,000 $ 3,864,643 $ 33,870,743 $ 3,876,596
General obligation debt from direct


borrowings and direct placements 719,192 - 37,282 681,910 38,587
Premiums 746,920 - 82,630 664,290 -


Total bonds and notes payable 34,316,498 4,885,000 3,984,555 35,216,943 3,915,183


Other liabilities:
Compensated absences 1,244,764 566,761 799,276 1,012,249 -


Total other liabilities 1,244,764 566,761 799,276 1,012,249 -


Total governmental activities long-
term liabilities $ 35,561,262 $ 5,451,761 $ 4,783,831 $ 36,229,192 $ 3,915,183


Business-Type Activities
Bonds and notes payable:


General obligation debt $ 1,964,614 $ 515,000 $ 365,357 $ 2,114,257 $ 353,404
Revenue bonds 5,740,000 1,656,622 1,080,000 6,316,622 1,177,303
Revenue debt from direct borrowings and


direct placements 3,414,751 - 381,501 3,033,250 391,540
Premiums 103,029 - 21,099 81,930 -


Total bonds and notes payable 11,222,394 2,171,622 1,847,957 11,546,059 1,922,247


Other liabilities:
Vested compensated absences 396,316 167,341 146,813 416,844 -
Customer advances for construction 229,065 967,248 279,480 916,833 -


Total other liabilities 625,381 1,134,589 426,293 1,333,677 -


Total business-type activities long-
term liabilities $ 11,847,775 $ 3,306,211 $ 2,274,250 $ 12,879,736 $ 1,922,247


In accordance with Wisconsin Statutes, total general obligation indebtedness of the City may not
exceed 5% of the equalized value of taxable property within the City's jurisdiction. The debt limit as of
December 31, 2022, was $78,389,685. Total general obligation debt outstanding at year end was
$36,666,910. 


49







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


General Obligation Debt 


All general obligation debt payable is backed by the full faith and credit of the City. Debt in the
governmental funds will be retired by future property tax levies or tax increments accumulated by
the debt service fund. Business-type activities debt is payable by revenues from user fees of those
funds or, if the revenues are not sufficient, by future tax levies.


Governmental Activities


General Obligation Debt
Date of
Issue


Final
Maturity


Interest
Rates


Original
Indebtedness


Balance
December 31,


2022


2014 General Obligation Notes 06/01/14 04/01/24 2.00-2.25% $ 2,755,000 $ 430,000
2015 General Obligation Notes 07/09/15 04/01/25 2.00-2.25 1,545,000 540,000
2016 General Obligation Notes 05/26/16 04/01/26 3.25-3.75 5,830,000 2,990,000
2016 State Trust Fund Loan* 12/28/16 03/15/36 3.5 850,000 681,910
2017 General Obligation Notes 06/08/17 04/01/27 2.00-3.00 7,085,000 4,480,000
2018 General Obligation Bonds 04/26/18 04/01/38 2.00-4.00 12,585,000 10,720,000
2018 General Obligation Notes 04/26/18 04/01/28 3.20-4.00 775,000 675,000
2019 General Obligation Notes 04/24/19 04/01/29 2.13-4.00 6,980,000 5,610,743
2020 General Obligation Notes 06/18/20 04/01/30 2.00-3.00 2,005,000 1,750,000
2021 General Obligation Notes 06/23/21 05/01/31 1.10-2.00 2,175,000 1,790,000
2022 General Obligation Bonds 06/09/22 04/01/42 3.00-4.00 4,885,000 4,885,000


Total governmental activities, general obligation debt $ 34,552,653


Business-Type Activities


General Obligation Debt
Date of
Issue


Final
Maturity


Interest
Rates


Original
Indebtedness


Balance
December 31,


2022


2014 General Obligation Notes 06/01/14 04/01/24 2.00-2.25% $ 280,000 $ 60,000
2015 General Obligation Notes 07/09/15 04/01/25 2.00-2.25 1,180,000 375,000
2017 General Obligation Notes 06/08/17 04/01/27 2.00-3.00 575,000 305,000
2019 General Obligation Notes 04/24/19 04/01/29 2.13-4.00 450,000 334,257
2020 General Obligation Notes 06/18/20 04/01/30 2.00-3.00 410,000 390,000
2021 General Obligation Notes 06/23/21 05/01/31 1.10-2.00 150,000 135,000
2022 General Obligation Bonds 06/09/22 04/01/31 3.00-4.00 515,000 515,000


Total business-type activities, general obligation debt $ 2,114,257


* - Direct borrowing or direct placement


50







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:


Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities
General Obligation Debt General Obligation Debt


Years Principal Interest Principal Interest


2023 $ 3,876,596 $ 969,003 $ 353,404 $ 51,679
2024 3,760,100 840,846 364,900 37,915
2025 3,873,603 710,001 351,397 28,787
2026 3,902,106 606,419 232,894 21,382
2027 3,595,610 507,056 184,390 16,391
2028-2032 8,632,728 1,567,645 627,272 24,576
2033-2037 4,475,000 676,213 - -
2038-2042 1,755,000 126,025 - -


Total $ 33,870,743 $ 6,003,208 $ 2,114,257 $ 180,730


Governmental Activities
Notes from Direct Borrowings


and Direct Placements


Years Principal Interest


2023 $ 38,587 $ 23,867
2024 39,876 22,578
2025 41,333 21,121
2026 42,780 19,674
2027 44,277 18,177
2028-2032 245,664 102,298
2033-2036 229,393 20,421


Total $ 681,910 $ 228,136


The City's outstanding debt from direct borrowing and placements related to governmental
activities of $681,910 contain a provision that in an event of default, any delinquent payment
amount is subject to a penalty of one percent per month.


Revenue Debt


Business-type activities revenue bonds are payable only from revenues derived from the operation
of the water, wastewater and electric utilities. 


The Utilities have pledged future electric, water and wastewater revenues to repay revenue bonds
issued in between 2003-2022. Proceeds from the bonds provided financing for the Utility
construction, improvements, and additions. The bonds are payable solely from Utility revenues and
are payable through 2042. Annual principal and interest payments on the bonds are expected to
require 1%, 14% and 11%, respectively, of electric, water and wastewater gross revenues. The
total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the bonds is $10,816,334. Principal and interest
paid for the current year and total customer gross revenues were $1,777,653 and $21,317,929,
respectively.


51







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Revenue debt payable at December 31, 2022, consists of the following:


Business-Type Activities Revenue Debt


Date of
Issue


Final
Maturity


Interest
Rates


Original
Indebtedness


Balance
December 31,


2022
Water Utility


2010 Water Utility Revenue
Bonds* 01/27/10 05/01/29 2.67% $ 575,018 $ 245,885


2016 Water Utility Revenue
Bonds 05/26/16 05/01/26 1.00-2.75 2,520,000 740,000


2019 Water Utility Revenue
Bonds 11/14/19 05/01/34 2.00-3.00 1,825,000 1,525,000


2022 Water Utility Revenue
Bonds 11/01/22 05/01/42 2.145 1,656,622 1,656,622


Total water utility 4,167,507


Wastewater Utility


2003 Wastewater Utility Clean
Water Fund Loan* 09/10/03 05/01/23 2.766% 1,670,624 107,612


2007 Wastewater Utility Clean
Water Fund Loan* 06/27/07 05/01/27 2.475 1,539,762 495,373


2014 Wastewater Utility Clean
Water Fund Loan* 11/01/14 05/01/34 2.625 3,305,713 2,184,380


Total wastewater utility 2,787,365


Electric Utility


2013 Electric Utility Revenue
Bonds 04/01/13 04/01/23 2.00-2.25% 3,170,000 325,000


2016 Electric Utility Revenue
Bonds 05/26/16 04/01/36 2.00-3.00 4,005,000 2,070,000


Total electric utility 2,395,000


Total business-type activities, revenue debt $ 9,349,872


Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:


Business-Type Activities
Revenue Debt


Years Principal Interest


2023 $ 1,177,303 $ 139,509
2024 423,746 122,513
2025 435,221 112,366
2026 446,727 101,250
2027 318,266 91,751
2028-2032 1,715,586 335,563
2033-2037 1,319,313 119,068
2038-2042 480,460 26,337


Total $ 6,316,622 $ 1,048,357


52







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Business-Type Activities
Revenue Debt  from Direct


Borrowings and Direct
Placements


Years Principal Interest


2023 $ 391,540 $ 73,986
2024 291,253 65,077
2025 298,768 57,466
2026 306,477 49,657
2027 314,385 41,648
2028-2032 1,018,023 119,365
2033-2034 412,804 10,906


Total $ 3,033,250 $ 418,105


Other Debt Information  


Estimated payments of compensated absences are not included in the debt service requirement
schedules. The compensated absences attributable to governmental activities will be liquidated
primarily by the general fund. 


A statutory mortgage lien upon the City's system and any additions, improvements and extensions
thereto is created by Section 66.0621 of the Wisconsin Statutes as provided for in the ordinances
creating the revenue bond issue. The City's system and the earnings of the system remain subject
to the lien until payment in full of the principal and interest on the bonds.


The water and electric mortgage revenue bond ordinances require segregation of the proceeds of
the bond issues and the creation and continual funding of several funds from operating revenues.
The City was in compliance with funding requirements in all material respects at December 31,
2022.


Net Position/Fund Balances 


Net position reported on the government-wide statement of net position at December 31, 2022,
includes the following:


Governmental Activities


Net investment in capital assets:
Land $ 9,121,607
Construction in progress 1,103,380
Inexhaustible portion of streets 1,454,893
Other capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 46,015,207
Less capital related long-term debt outstanding (excluding unspent capital related


debt proceeds) (31,068,842)
Less unamortized debt premium (664,290)


Total net investment in capital assets $ 25,961,955


53







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Governmental Funds


Governmental fund balances reported on the fund financial statements at December 31, 2022,
include the following:


General
Fund Debt Service Construction


Nonmajor
Funds Total


Fund Balances


Nonspendable:
Prepaid items $ 163,046 $ - $ - $ 266 $ 163,312
Delinquent items 15,760 - - - 15,760
Noncurrent interfunds 1,103,620 - - - 1,103,620
CVMIC equity 257,805 - - - 257,805


Subtotal 1,540,231 - - 266 1,540,497


Restricted for:
Library - - - 284,506 284,506
ARPA - - - 14,591 14,591
Redevelopment - - - 307,407 307,407
Debt service - 621,554 - - 621,554
Capital projects - - 852,464 157,147 1,009,611
Firemen Pension - - - 905,505 905,505
Affordable housing - - - 263,839 263,839
Park acquisition - - - 772,302 772,302
TID activities - - - 1,081,015 1,081,015
Police donations 43,226 - - - 43,226
Recreation programs donations 11,214 - - - 11,214
Senior Center donation 148,878 - - - 148,878


Subtotal 203,318 621,554 852,464 3,786,312 5,463,648


Committed to:
Seniors in need - - - 65,291 65,291
Senior center wood shop - - - 13,234 13,234
Food pantry - - - 402,586 402,586
K9 unit - - - 17,702 17,702
Tree commission - - - 8,704 8,704
Cemetery - - - 23,855 23,855
Refuse - - - 43,041 43,041
Fire department special - - - 56,279 56,279
Township outreach - - - 14,977 14,977
Senior center special - - - 804,257 804,257
Capital projects - - - 609,087 609,087


Subtotal - - - 2,059,013 2,059,013


Assigned to:
Police 26,555 - - - 26,555
Retirement 540,926 - - - 540,926
Equipment replacement - - - 212,808 212,808
Capital projects - - 2,112,880 397,207 2,510,087
Subsequent years budget 451,062 - - - 451,062


Subtotal 1,018,543 - 2,112,880 610,015 3,741,438


Unassigned (deficit): 4,419,784 - - (1,086,957) 3,332,827


Total fund balances (deficit) $ 7,181,876 $ 621,554 $ 2,965,344 $ 5,368,649 $ 16,137,423


54







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Business-Type Activities
Net investment in capital assets:


Land $ 522,794
Construction in progress 1,381,497
Property held for future use 229,097
Other capital assets, net of depreciation 65,030,828
Less capital related long-term debt outstanding (excluding unspent capital related


debt proceeds) (11,297,149)
Less unamortized debt premium (81,930)


Total net investment in capital assets $ 55,785,137


5. Other Information 


Employees' Retirement System


Plan Description


The WRS is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan. WRS benefits and
other plan provisions are established by Chapter 40 of the Wisconsin Statutes. Benefit terms may
only be modified by the legislature. The retirement system is administered by the Wisconsin
Department of Employee Trust Funds (ETF). The system provides coverage to all eligible State of
Wisconsin, local government and other public employees. All employees, initially employed by a
participating WRS employer on or after July 1, 2011, expected to work at least 1,200 hours a year
(880 hours for teachers and school district educational support employees) and expected to be
employed for at least one year from employee’s date of hire are eligible to participate in the WRS. 


ETF issues a standalone Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR), which can be found at
https://etf.wi.gov/about-etf/reports-and-studies/financial-reports-and-statements.


Additionally, ETF issued a standalone Wisconsin Retirement System Financial Report, which can
also be found using the link above.


Vesting


For employees beginning participation on or after January 1, 1990, and no longer actively
employed on or after April 24, 1998, creditable service in each of five years is required for eligibility
for a retirement annuity. Participants employed prior to 1990 and on or after April 24, 1998, and
prior to July 1, 2011, are immediately vested. Participants who initially became WRS eligible on or
after July 1, 2011, must have five years of creditable service to be vested. 


Benefits Provided


Employees who retire at or after age 65 (54 for protective occupation employees, 62 for elected
officials and executive service retirement participants, if hired on or before 12/31/2016) are entitled
to retirement benefit based on a formula factor, their average earnings and creditable service.


Final average earnings is the average of the participant's three highest annual earnings period.
Creditable service includes current service and prior service for which a participant received
earnings and made contributions as required. Creditable service also includes creditable military
service. The retirement benefit will be calculated as a money purchase benefit based on the
employee's contributions plus matching employer's contributions, with interest, if that benefit is
higher than the formula benefit.


55







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Vested participants may retire at age 55 (50 for protective occupations) and receive an actuarially
reduced benefit. Participants terminating covered employment prior to eligibility for an annuity may
either receive employee-required contributions plus interest as a separation benefit or leave
contributions on deposit and defer application until eligible to receive a retirement benefit. 


The WRS also provides death and disability benefits for employees.


Post-Retirement Adjustments


The Employee Trust Funds Board may periodically adjust annuity payments from the retirement
system based on annual investment performance in accordance with s. 40.27, Wis. Stat. An
increase (or decrease) in annuity payments may result when investment gains (losses), together
with other actuarial experience factors, create a surplus (shortfall) in the reserves, as determined
by the system's consulting actuary. Annuity increases are not based on cost of living or other
similar factors. For Core annuities, decreases may be applied only to previously granted increases.
By law, Core annuities cannot be reduced to an amount below the original, guaranteed amount
(the floor) set at retirement. The Core and Variable annuity adjustments granted during recent
years are as follows:


Year
Core Fund


Adjustment % 
Variable Fund
Adjustment % 


2012 (7.0) (7.0)


2013 (9.6) 9.0


2014 4.7 25.0


2015 2.9 2.0


2016 0.5 (5.0)


2017 2.0 4.0


2018 2.4 17.0


2019 0.0 (10.0)


2020 1.7 21.0


2021 5.1 13.0


Contributions


Required contributions are determined by an annual actuarial valuation in accordance with Chapter
40 of the Wisconsin Statutes. The employee required contribution is one-half of the actuarially
determined contribution rate for General category employees, including Teachers, Executives and
Elected Officials. Starting on January 1, 2016, the Executives and Elected Officials category was
merged into the General Employee category. Required contributions for protective employees are
the same rate as general employees. Employers are required to contribute the remainder of the
actuarially determined contribution rate. The employer may not pay the employee required
contribution unless provided for by an existing collective bargaining agreement.


During the reporting period, the WRS recognized $572,456 in contributions from the City.


Contribution rates for the plan year reported as of December 31, 2022 are: 


Employee Category Employee Employer


General (executives & elected officials) 6.75 % 6.75 %


Protective with Social Security 6.75 % 11.75 %


Protective without Social Security 6.75 % 16.35 %


56







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Pension Asset, Pension Expense (Revenue), Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions


At December 31, 2022, the City reported an asset of $4,017,919 for its proportionate share of the
net pension asset. The net pension asset was measured as of December 31, 2021, and the total
pension liability used to calculate the net pension asset was determined by an actuarial valuation
as of December 31, 2020 rolled forward to December 31, 2021. No material changes in
assumptions or benefit terms occurred between the actuarial valuation date and the measurement
date. The City's proportion of the net pension asset was based on the City’s share of contributions
to the pension plan relative to the contributions of all participating employers. At December 31,
2021, the City's proportion was 0.04984898%, which was a decrease of 0.00073904% from its
proportion measured as of December 31, 2020.


For the year ended December 31, 2022, the City recognized pension expense (revenue) of
$(443,688).


At December 31, 2022, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources  related to pensions from the following sources:


Deferred
Outflows of
Resources


Deferred
Inflows of
Resources


Differences between projected and actual experience $ 6,490,745 $ 468,052


Changes in assumptions 749,606 -


Net differences between projected and actual earnings on pension
plan investments - 8,988,420


Changes in proportion and differences between employer
contributions and proportionate share of contributions 4,530 6,760


Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 602,982 -


Total $ 7,847,863 $ 9,463,232


$602,982 reported as deferred outflows related to pension resulting from the WRS Employer’s
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net
pension liability (asset) in the year ended December 31, 2023. Other amounts reported as deferred
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pension will be recognized in
pension expense as follows:


Years Ending 
December 31:


Deferred
Outflows of


Resources and
Deferred Inflows


of Resources
(Net)


2023 $ (189,037)


2024 (1,090,838)


2025 (479,636)


2026 (458,840)


57







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Actuarial Assumptions


The total pension liability in the December 31, 2021 actuarial valuation was determined using the
following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:


Actuarial Valuation Date: December 31, 2020


Measurement Date of Net Pension Liability (Asset): December 31, 2021


Experience Study: January 1, 2018 - December 31, 2020
Published November 19, 2021


Actuarial Cost Method: Entry Age Normal


Asset Valuation Method: Fair Value


Long-Term Expected Rate of Return: 6.8%


Discount Rate: 6.8%


Salary Increases:


Wage Inflation


Seniority/Merit


3.0%


0.1% - 5.6%


Mortality: 2020 WRS Experience Mortality Table


Post-Retirement Adjustments*: 1.7%


* No post-retirement adjustment is guaranteed. Actual adjustments are based on recognized
investment return, actuarial experience and other factors. 1.7% is the assumed annual adjustment
based on the investment return assumption and the post-retirement discount rate. 


Actuarial assumptions are based upon an experience study conducted in 2021 that covered a
three-year period from January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2020. Based on this experience study,
actuarial assumptions used to measure the Total Pension Liability changed from prior year,
including the discount rate, long-term expected rate of return, post-retirement adjustment, price
inflation, mortality and separation rates. The Total Pension Liability for December 31, 2021 is
based upon a roll-forward of the liability calculated from the December 31, 2020 actuarial valuation.


58







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Long-Term Expected Return on Plan Assets


The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a
building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each
major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by
weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by
adding expected inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of geometric real rates of return
for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:


Asset Allocation Targets and Expected Returns* As of December 31, 2021


Core Fund Asset Class
Asset


Allocation %


Long-Term
Expected


Nominal Rate
of Return %


Long-Term
Expected Real
Rate of Return


%**


Global Equities 52   6.8   4.2 


Fixed Income 25 4.3 1.8


Inflation Sensitive 19 2.7 0.2


Real Estate 7 5.6 3


Private Equity/Debt 12 9.7 7


Total Core Fund*** 115 6.6 4


Variable Fund Asset


U.S. Equities 70 6.3 3.7


International Equities 30 7.2 4.6


Total Variable Fund 100 6.8 4.2


* Asset Allocations are managed within established ranges; target percentages may differ from
actual monthly allocations


** New England Pension Consultants Long Term US CPI (Inflation) Forecast: 2.5%


*** The investment policy used for the Core Fund involves reducing equity exposure by leveraging
lower-volatility assets, such as fixed income securities. This results in an asset allocation beyond
100%. Currently, an asset allocation target of 15% policy leverage is used subject to an allowable
range of up to 20%.


59







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Single Discount Rate


A single discount rate of 6.8% was used to measure the total pension liability, as opposed to a
discount rate of 7.0% for the prior year. This single discount rate is based on the expected rate of
return on pension plan investments of 6.8% and a municipal bond rate of 1.84% (Source: Fixed-
income municipal bonds with 20 years to maturity that include only federally tax-exempt municipal
bonds as reported in Fidelity Index’s “20-year Municipal GO AA Index” as of December 31, 2021.
In describing this index, Fidelity notes that the Municipal Curves are constructed using option-
adjusted analytics of a diverse population of over 10,000 tax-exempt securities.). Because of the
unique structure of WRS, the 6.8% expected rate of return implies that a dividend of approximately
1.7% will always be paid. For purposes of the single discount rate, it was assumed that the
dividend would always be paid. The projection of cash flows used to determine this single discount
rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that
employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined
contribution rates and the member rate. Based on these assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary
net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments (including
expected dividends) of current plan members. Therefore, the investment rate of return on pension
plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total
pension liability.


Sensitivity of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) to Changes in
the Discount Rate


The following presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) calculated
using the discount rate of 6.80%, as well as what the City’s proportionate share of the net pension
liability (asset) would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower
(5.80%) or 1-percentage-point higher (7.80%) than the current rate: 


1% Decrease
to Discount
Rate (5.8%)


Current
Discount Rate


(6.8%)


1% Increase to
Discount Rate


(7.8%)


City’s proportionate share of the net pension
liability (asset) $ 2,850,998 $ (4,017,919) $ (8,962,262)


Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position


Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in separately issued
financial statements available at https://etf.wi.gov/about-etf/reports-and-studies/financial-reports-
and-statements.


At December 31, 2022, the City reported a payable to the pension plan which represents
contractually required contributions outstanding as of the end of the year.


Risk Management  


The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to or destruction of assets;
errors and omissions; workers compensation; and health care of its employees. The City participates in
a public entity risk pool called CVMIC to provide coverage for losses from theft of, damage to, or
destruction of assets and workers compensation. However, other risks, such as (torts; theft of, damage
to, or destruction of assets; errors and omission; workers compensation; and health care of its
employees) are accounted for and financed by the City in the general fund.


60







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Public Entity Risk Pool


Wisconsin Municipal Insurance Commission (WMIC)
Cities and Villages Mutual Insurance Company (CVMIC)


The WMIC is an intergovernmental cooperation commission created by contract under Section
66.30 of the Wisconsin Statutes. It was created in August, 1987 for the purpose of facilitating
the organization, establishment and capitalization of the CVMIC, and has numerous cities and
villages as members.


The CVMIC is a municipal mutual insurance company established on September 14, 1987
under Section 611.23 of the Wisconsin Statutes. The CVMIC provides liability insurance
coverage to the cities and villages which make up the membership of the WMIC.


The CVMIC is self-insured up to a maximum of $2,000,000 of each insurance risk. Losses
paid by CVMIC plus administrative expenses will be recovered through premiums to the
participating pool of municipalities. The City's share of such losses is approximately 1%.


Management of each organization consists of a board of directors or officers comprised of
representatives elected by each of three classes of participants based on population. The City
does not exercise any control over the activities of the agencies beyond the election of the
officers and board.


Financial statements of WMIC and CVMIC can be obtained directly from CVMIC's offices.


The initial investment in WMIC is refundable upon withdrawal from the commission and has
been reported at the original amount of $257,805 in the general fund.


The City pays an annual premium to CVMIC for its general liability insurance, which provides
coverage up to $5,000,000 per occurrence, less the City's retained liability. The City's retained
liability is limited to $25,000 per occurrence and an annual aggregate limit of $100,000. An
actuarially determined estimate has been recorded for this liability, as well as for claims
incurred but not reported at December 31, 2022.


Commitments and Contingencies  


Claims and judgments are recorded as liabilities if all the conditions of Governmental Accounting
Standards Board pronouncements are met. The liability and expenditure for claims and judgments are
only reported in governmental funds if it has matured. Claims and judgments are recorded in the
government-wide statements and proprietary funds as expenses when the related liabilities are
incurred.


From time to time, the City is party to various pending claims and legal proceedings. Although the
outcome of such matters cannot be forecasted with certainty, it is the opinion of management and the
City attorney that the likelihood is remote that any such claims or proceedings will have a material
adverse effect on the City's financial position or results of operations. 


The City has received federal and state grants for specific purposes that are subject to review and
audit by the grantor agencies. Such audits could lead to requests for reimbursements to the grantor
agency for expenditures disallowed under terms of the grants. Management believes such
disallowances, if any, would be immaterial.


The City has active construction projects as of December 31, 2022. Work that has been completed on
these projects but not yet paid for (including contract retainages) is reflected as accounts payable and
expenditures.


61







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Long-Term Contracts, WPPI Energy


The electric utility is one of 51 WPPI Energy member municipalities located throughout the States
of Wisconsin, Michigan and Iowa. On December 1, 1989, each initial WPPI Energy member
commenced purchasing electric service from WPPI Energy under a long-term Power Supply
Contract for Participating Members (long-term contract). Under the long-term contract, WPPI
Energy is obligated to provide and sell, and each member is obligated to take and pay for, the
electric power and energy required for the operation of each member's electric utility. 


The long-term contract requires all WPPI Energy members to pay for power and energy
requirements supplied or made available by WPPI Energy at rates sufficient to cover WPPI
Energy's revenue requirement including power supply costs, administrative expenses and debt
service. WPPI Energy's subsequent year's operating budget and rates are approved annually by its
Board of Directors, consisting of representatives from each member. The members have agreed
to charge rates to retail customers sufficient to meet their WPPI Energy obligations. The long-term
contract provides that all payments to WPPI Energy constitute operating expenses of the utility
payable from any operating and maintenance fund established for that system.


Fifty members, representing approximately 99.8% of WPPI Energy's existing load, have long-term
contracts through December 31, 2055. The remaining member has a long-term contract through
December 31, 2037.


WPPI Energy's outstanding debt service obligation to be paid by its members through their
wholesale power charges through the remainder of the long-term contract was $274 million as of
December 31, 2022.


Other Postemployment Benefits


General Information about the OPEB Plan 


Plan Description


The City's defined benefit OPEB plan,  Retiree Benefits Plan (RBP), provides OPEB for all
permanent full-time general and public safety employees of the City. RBP is a single-employer
defined benefit OPEB plan administered by the City. Article 11 of the State Compiled Statutes
grants the authority to establish and amend the benefit terms and financing requirements to
the City Board. No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of
Statement 75.


Benefits Provided


RBP provides healthcare and life insurance benefits for retirees and their dependents. This
results in an other post-employment benefit (OPEB) for the retirees, commonly referred to as
an implicit rate subsidy. Retirees participating in the plan contribute 100% of the blended
premium. The City, by paying the blended premium for active employees, contributes the
difference between the blended premium and the age-adjusted premium towards retiree
benefits. 


Employees Covered by Benefit Terms


At December 31, 2022, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms: 


Inactive plan members or beneficiaries currently receiving benefit
payments 3


Active plan members 94


Total 97


62







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Total OPEB Liability


The City's total OPEB liability of $1,032,210 was measured as of December 31, 2022, and was
determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2021, rolled forward to December 31,
2022.


Actuarial Assumptions and Other Inputs 


The total OPEB liability in the December 31, 2021 actuarial valuation was determined using the
following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included in the
measurement, unless otherwise specified:


Inflation 2.25%


Salary increases 3.20%


Healthcare cost trend rates 5.00%


Retirees' share of benefit-related costs 100%


The discount rate was based on the Municipal Bond Rate based on the Bond Buyer 20-Bond GO
Index.


Mortality rates were based on the rates from Wisconsin Retirement Experience Study Report dated
November 19, 2021 with the MP-2021 generational improvement scale.


The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2022 valuation were based on the results of
an actuarial experience study dated November 19, 2021.


Changes in the Total OPEB Liability 


Total OPEB
Liability


Balances at December 31, 2021 $ 1,126,960


Changes for the year:
Service cost 73,895
Interest 22,872
Changes in assumptions or other inputs (158,191)
Benefit payments (33,326)


Net changes (94,750)


Balances at December 31, 2022 $ 1,032,210


Changes of assumptions and other inputs reflect a change in the discount rate from 2.06% to
3.72%.


Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate


The following presents the total OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City's total OPEB
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (2.72%)
or 1-percentage-point higher (4.72%) than the current discount rate:


1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase 


Total OPEB liability $ 1,123,618 $ 1,032,210 $ 951,262


63







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rates


The following presents the total OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City's total OPEB
liability would be if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1-percentage-point
lower ((1.0)% decreasing to 4.0%) or 1-percentage-point higher (1.0% decreasing to 6.0%) than
the current healthcare cost trend rates:


1% Decrease 


Healthcare
Cost Trend


Rates 1% Increase


Total OPEB liability $ 923,292 $ 1,032,210 $ 1,159,628


OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources
Related to OPEB


For the year ended December 31, 2022, the City recognized OPEB expense of $80,788. At
December 31, 2022, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to OPEB from the following sources: 


Deferred
Outflows of
Resources


Deferred
Inflows of
Resources


Changes of assumptions or other inputs $ 4,918 $ 141,556


      Total $ 4,918 $ 141,556


Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:


Years Ending December 31: Amount


2023 $ (15,979)
2024 (15,979)
2025 (15,979)
2026 (15,979)
2027 (15,979)
Thereafter (56,743)


Total $ (136,638)


Local Retiree Life Insurance Fund (LRLIF)


Plan Description


The LRLIF is a multiple-employer defined benefit OPEB plan. LRLIF benefits and other plan
provisions are established by Chapter 40 of the Wisconsin Statutes. The Wisconsin
Department of Employee Trust Funds (ETF) and the Group Insurance Board have statutory
authority for program administration and oversight. The plan provides post-employment life
insurance benefits for all eligible employees. 


ETF issues a standalone Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR), which can be
found at https://etf.wi.gov/about-etf/reports-and-studies/financial-reports-and-statements. 


Additionally, ETF issued a standalone Retiree Life Insurance Financial Report, which can be
found at the link above.


64







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Benefits Provided


The LRLIF plan provides fully paid up life insurance benefits for post-age 64 retired employees
and pre-65 retirees who pay for their coverage.


Contributions


The Group Insurance Board approves contribution rates annually, based on recommendations
from the insurance carrier. Recommended rates are based on an annual valuation, taking into
consideration an estimate of the present value of future benefits and the present value of
future contributions. A portion of employer contributions made during a member's working
lifetime funds a post-retirement benefit.


Employers are required to pay the following contribution based on employee contributions for
active members to provide them with Basic Coverage after age 65. There are no employer
contributions required for pre-age 65 annuitant coverage. If a member retires prior to age 65,
they must continue paying the member premiums until age 65 in order to be eligible for the
benefit after age 65. 


Contribution rates for the plan year reported as of December 31, 2022 are:


Coverage Type Employer Contribution


50% Post Retirement Coverage 40% of member contribution


25% Post Retirement Coverage 20% of member contribution


Member contributions are based upon nine age bands through age 69 and an additional eight
age bands for those age 70 and over. Participating members must pay monthly contribution
rates per $1,000 of coverage until the age of 65 (age 70 if active). The member contribution
rates in effect for the plan year are as listed below: 


Life Insurance Member Contribution Rates *For the Plan Year 


Attained Age Basic Supplemental


Under 30 $0.05 $0.05


30-34 0.06 0.06


35-39 0.07 0.07


40-44 0.08 0.08


45-49 0.12 0.12


50-54 0.22 0.22


55-59 0.39 0.39


60-64 0.49 0.49


65-69 0.57 0.57


*Disabled members under age 70 receive a waiver-of-premium benefit


During the reporting period, the LRLIF recognized $2,790 in contributions from the employer.


65







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense (Revenue) and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred
Inflows of Resources Related to OPEBs


At December 31, 2022, the City reported a liability of $805,749 for its proportionate share of the net
OPEB liability. The net OPEB liability was measured as of December 31, 2021, and the total OPEB
liability used to calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of
January 1, 2021 rolled forward to December 31, 2021. No material changes in assumptions or
benefit terms occurred between the actuarial valuation date and the measurement date. The City’s
proportion of the net OPEB liability was based on the City’s share of contributions to the OPEB
plan relative to the contributions of all participating employers. At December 31, 2021, the City’s
proportion was 0.13632800%, which was an increase of 0.00587400% from its proportion
measured as of December 31, 2020.


For the year ended December 31, 2022, the City recognized OPEB expense (revenue) of
$105,643.


At December 31, 2022, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to OPEB from the following sources:


Deferred
Outflow of
Resources


Deferred
Inflows of
Resources


Differences between expected and actual experience $ - $ 40,989


Net differences between projected and investment earnings
on plan investments 10,483 -


Changes in actuarial assumptions 243,444 39,055


Changes in proportion and differences between employer
contributions and proportionate share of contributions 36,965 6,095


Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 13,564 -


Total $ 304,456 $ 86,139


$13,564 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from the LRLIF
Employer’s contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of
the net OPEB liability in the year ended December 31, 2023. Other amounts reported as deferred
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in
OPEB expense as follows:


Years Ending
December 31:


Deferred
Outflows of


Resources and
Deferred Inflows


of Resources
(Net)


2023 $ 44,931


2024 43,715


2025 41,174


2026 49,557


2027 22,176


Thereafter 3,200


66







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Actuarial Assumptions


The total OPEB liability in the actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial
assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:


Actuarial Valuation Date: January 1, 2021


Measurement Date of Net OPEB Liability (Asset) December 31, 2021


Experience Study: January 1, 2018 - December 31, 2020.
Published November


Actuarial Cost Method: Entry Age Normal


20 Year Tax-Exempt Municipal Bond Yield 2.06%


Long-Term Expected Rate of Return: 4.25%


Discount Rate: 2.17%


Salary Increases:


Wage Inflation


Seniority/Merit


3.00%


0.10% - 5.6%


Mortality: 2020 WRS Experience Mortality Table


Actuarial assumptions are based upon an experience study conducted in 2021 that covered a
three-year period from January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2020. Based on this experience
study, actuarial assumptions used to measure the Total OPEB Liability changed from the prior
year, including the price inflation, mortality and separation rates. The Total OPEB Liability for
December 31, 2021 is based upon a roll-forward of the liability calculated from the 
January 1, 2021 actuarial valuation.


67







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Long-Term Expected Return on Plan Assets


The long-term expected rate of return is determined by adding expected inflation to expected
long-term real returns and reflecting expected volatility and correlation. Investments for the
LRLIF are held with Securian, the insurance carrier. Interest is calculated and credited to the
LRLIF based on the rate of return for a segment of the insurance carriers' general fund,
specifically 10-year A-Bonds (as a proxy, and not tied to any specific investments). The overall
aggregate interest rate is calculated using a tiered approach based on the year the funds were
originally invested and the rate of return for that year. Investment interest is credited based on
the aggregate rate of return and assets are not adjusted to fair market value. Furthermore, the
insurance carrier guarantees the principal amounts of the reserves, including all interest
previously credited thereto. 


State OPEB Life Insurance
Asset Allocation Targets and Expected Returns 


As of December 31, 2021


Asset Class Index
Target


Allocation


Long-Term
Expected


Geometric Real
Rate of Return


US Intermediate Credit Bonds Bloomberg US Interm Credit 45.00%  1.68% 
US Long Credit Bonds Bloomberg US Long Credit  5.00% 1.82%
US Mortgages Bloomberg US MBS 50.00% 1.94%


Inflation 2.30%


Long-Term Expected Rate of Return  4.25%


The long-term expected rate of return remained unchanged from the prior year at 4.25%. The
long-term expected rate of return is determined by adding expected inflation to expected long-
term real returns and reflecting expected volatility and correlation. The expected inflation rate
increased from 2.20% as of December 31, 2020 to 2.30% as of December 31, 2021.


Single Discount Rate


A single discount rate of 2.17% was used to measure the total OPEB liability for the current
year, as opposed to a discount rate of 2.25% for the prior year. The significant change in the
discount rate was primarily caused by the decrease in the municipal bond rate from 2.12% as
of December 31, 2020 to 2.06% as of December 31, 2021. The Plan’s fiduciary net position
was projected to be insufficient to make all projected future benefit payments of current active
and inactive members. Therefore, the discount rate for calculating the total OPEB liability is
equal to the single equivalent rate that results in the same actuarial present value as the long-
term expected rate of return applied to benefit payments, to the extent that the plan’s fiduciary
net position is projected to be sufficient to make projected benefit payments, and the municipal
bond rate applied to benefit payment to the extent that the plan’s fiduciary net position is
projected to be insufficient. The plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to
make projected future benefit payments of current plan members through December 31, 2036.


The projection of cash flows used to determine the single discount rate assumed that employer
contributions will be made according to the current employer contribution schedule and that
contributions are made by plan members retiring prior to age 65.


68







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


Sensitivity of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability (Asset) to Changes in
the Discount Rate


The following presents the City’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability (asset)
calculated using the discount rate of 2.17%, as well as what the City’s proportionate share of
the net OPEB liability (asset) would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-
percentage-point lower (1.17%) or 1-percentage-point higher (3.17%) than the current rate: 


1% Decrease
to Discount
Rate (1.17%)


Current
Discount Rate


(2.17%)


1% Increase to
Discount Rate


(3.17%)


City’s proportionate share of the net OPEB
liability (asset) $ 1,093,111 $ 805,749 $ 589,521


Effect of New Accounting Standards on Current-Period Financial Statements  


The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) has approved the following: 


 Statement No. 94, Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and Availability Payment


Arrangements


 Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements


 Statement No. 99, Omnibus 2022


 Statement No. 100, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections - an Amendment of GASB


Statement No. 62


 Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences


When they become effective, application of these standards may restate portions of these financial
statements.


Firemen's Pension Plan  


Plan description. The City reports a single-employer defined benefit pension plan for fire department
employees (the Plan). Management of the Plan is vested in the Firemen's Pension Board. No assets
have been accumulated in a trust for payment of these benefits. 


Benefits provided. The plan is administered by the Firemen's Pension Board and provides pension
benefits to fire department employees and volunteers. The amount paid to retirees each year is based
on the years of service at the time of retirement and the position the retiree held while a member of the
department. 


Plan membership. At December 31, 2020, the plan's membership consisted of:


Retirees and beneficiaries 26


Inactive, nonretired members -


Active members 34


Total 60


69







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


The City paid $37,702 for pension benefits as they came due during the reporting period. The City has
accumulated assets to pay for these benefits; however, the arrangement does not meet the definition
of a trust under GASB Statement No. 73. The specific criteria that are not met include:


 Contributions from employers and nonemployer contributing entities to the pension plan and


earnings on those contributions are irrevocable.


 Pension plan assets are legally protected from the creditors of employers, nonemployer


contributing entities, the pension plan administrator and plan members


Changes in total pension liability. The City's change in total pension liability for the year ended
December 31, 2022 was as follows:


Total Pension
Liability


Beginning of Year Balance $ 1,196,146


Service cost 43,905
Interest on total pension liability 25,891
Changes of assumptions 11,186
Benefit payments (37,702)


End of Year Balance $ 1,239,426


Assumptions. The total pension liability was determined using the following actuarial assumptions,
applied to all periods included in the measurement:


Measurement Date: December 31, 2021


Actuarial Valuation Date: December 31, 2020


Inflation: 2.3%


Salary Changes: 2.3%


Discount Rate: 2.06%


Source of Discount Rate: Bond Buyer GO 20-Year Municipal Bond Index


Source of Mortality Assumptions: Wisconsin 2020 Mortality table


Dates of Experience Studies: Experience study conducted using WRS
experience from 2018-2020


Sensitivity of the total pension liability to changes in the discount rate. The following is a sensitivity
analysis of the total pension liability to changes in the discount rate. The table below presents the
pension liability of the District calculated using the current discount rate of 2.06% as well as what the
total pension liability would be if it were to be calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage-point
lower (1.06%) or 1 percentage-point higher (3.06%) that the current rate:


1% Decrease 
Current


Discount Rate 1% Increase 


Total pension liability $ 1,451,825 $ 1,239,426 $ 1,071,892


Pension expense, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
pensions. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the City recognized pension expense of $35,336.


70







City of Stoughton
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2022


At December 31, 2022, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions from the following sources:


Deferred
Outflows of
Resources


Deferred
Inflows of
Resources


Differences between expected and actual experience $ - $ 165,637


Changes in assumptions 221,607 115,684


Total $ 221,607 $ 281,321


Amounts reported as deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources related to pension will be
recognized in pension expense as follows:


Years Ending
December 31:


Deferred
Outflows and


Deferred Inflows
of Resources


(Net)


2023 $ (34,460)


2024 (30,045)


2025 (36,169)


2026 8,468


2027 25,327


Thereafter 7,165


71







R E Q U I R E D   S U P P L E M E N T A R Y   I N F O R M A T I O N







City of Stoughton
Detailed Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes


in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual - General Fund
Year Ended December 31, 2022


Original and
Final Budget Actual


Variance With
Final Budget


Revenues


Taxes
General property taxes $ 5,464,725 $ 5,456,743 $ (7,982)
Payments in lieu of taxes 57,600 62,855 5,255
Hotel/Motel 8,000 20,563 12,563


Total taxes 5,530,325 5,540,161 9,836


Intergovernmental Revenues
Federal grants - 13,648 13,648
Federal aid, fire - 62 62
Federal aid, human services 25,498 25,498 -
Other fed, operating 36,531 43,740 7,209
State shared revenues 805,225 812,138 6,913
Fire insurance tax (2% fire dues) 9,400 9,400 -
State grants 40,000 42,320 2,320
Exempt computer aid 61,156 61,156 -
State aid, other law enforcement 8,800 8,847 47
State aid, general transportation aids 1,156,000 1,156,188 188
State aid, connecting streets 81,000 52,041 (28,959)
State aid, other public safety 2,900 2,904 4
State aid, conservation and devel, operating 76,100 76,100 -
Other local government grants 9,000 10,878 1,878
Other local government grants, operating - 6,181 6,181


Total intergovernmental revenues 2,311,610 2,321,101 9,491


Licenses and Permits
Business and occupational licenses 45,372 52,274 6,902
Dog and cat licenses 3,400 2,361 (1,039)
Building permits 184,485 296,297 111,812
Other permits 6,000 5,299 (701)


Total licenses and permits 239,257 356,231 116,974


Fines, Forfeitures and Penalties
Law and ordinance violations 113,000 111,946 (1,054)


Public Charges for Services
Public safety - 2,514 2,514
Law enforcement fees 18,400 11,213 (7,187)
Transportation 14,850 8,439 (6,411)
Other transportation 3,500 419 (3,081)
Public health services 110,502 121,726 11,224
Cemetery 13,500 11,070 (2,430)
Other health services 118,248 116,656 (1,592)
Culture, recreation and education 123,081 87,858 (35,223)
Parks 8,000 10,661 2,661
Stadium 65,000 57,360 (7,640)
Trees 21,904 37,200 15,296
Other public charges for services - 3,963 3,963
Refuse and garbage collection 21,000 19,460 (1,540)


Total public charges for services 517,985 488,539 (29,446)


See notes to required supplementary information


72







City of Stoughton
Detailed Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes


in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual - General Fund
Year Ended December 31, 2022


Original and
Final Budget Actual


Variance
With Final


Budget


Intergovernmental Charges
State $ - $ 1,859 $ 1,859
Local, general government - 898 898
Local, fire services 184,000 184,593 593
Local, transportation - 1,043 1,043
Local, other services 10,000 10,000 -


Total intergovernmental charges 194,000 198,393 4,393


Special Assessments
Other 13,500 15,815 2,315


Investment Income
Investment income 16,170 121,464 105,294


Miscellaneous
Rent 41,960 29,530 (12,430)
Insurance recoveries 3,774 25,630 21,856
Donations 119,112 129,198 10,086
Other miscellaneous 217,560 197,850 (19,710)
Insurance dividends 44,226 43,049 (1,177)


Total miscellaneous 426,632 425,257 (1,375)


Total revenues 9,362,479 9,578,907 216,428


Expenditures


General Government
Council/Board 57,983 52,550 5,433
Legislative support 105,901 106,126 (225)
Judicial 62,462 64,556 (2,094)
Administrator 263,016 263,017 (1)
Information technology 512,960 470,525 42,435
Treasury 625,518 608,697 16,821
Legal 157,000 165,885 (8,885)
Personnel 232,043 231,167 876
General buildings/plant/hall 97,764 90,555 7,209
Other general government 157,976 157,976 -


Total general government 2,272,623 2,211,054 61,569


Public Safety
Police 3,759,137 3,794,172 (35,035)
Fire protection 547,635 559,990 (12,355)
Inspection 424,876 442,506 (17,630)


Total public safety 4,731,648 4,796,668 (65,020)


Public Works
Highway and street maintenance and construction 123,742 121,735 2,007
Highway and street maintenance for local 1,266,248 1,310,898 (44,650)
Snow and ice control 70,000 73,494 (3,494)
Buildings and grounds operations 164,705 155,320 9,385


Total public works 1,624,695 1,661,447 (36,752)


See notes to required supplementary information


73







City of Stoughton
Detailed Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes


in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual - General Fund
Year Ended December 31, 2022


Original and
Final Budget Actual


Variance
With Final


Budget


Culture, Recreation and Education
Parks $ 335,536 $ 324,742 $ 10,794
Senior center 608,460 605,867 2,593
Community center 183,964 201,925 (17,961)
Recreation 328,690 301,489 27,201
Cemetery 36,000 31,709 4,291


Total culture, recreation and education 1,492,650 1,465,732 26,918


Conservation and Development
Economic development 125,350 121,036 4,314


Debt Service
Interest and fiscal charges 6,427 6,427 -


Total debt service 6,427 6,427 -


Total expenditures 10,253,393 10,262,364 (8,971)


Excess of revenues over expenditures (890,914) (683,457) 207,457


Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers in 1,035,734 885,043 (150,691)
Transfers out (642,793) (349,574) 293,219
Sales of fixed assets - 9,867 9,867


Total other financing sources (uses) 392,941 545,336 152,395


Net change in fund balance (497,973) (138,121) 359,852


Fund Balance, Beginning 7,319,997 7,319,997 -


Fund Balance, Ending $ 6,822,024 $ 7,181,876 $ 359,852


See notes to required supplementary information


74







Proportionate
Share of the Net Plan Fiduciary


Proportion Proportionate Pension  Liability (Asset) Net Position
WRS of the Net Share of the as a Percentage as a Percentage


Fiscal Year Pension Net Pension Covered of Covered of the Total
Ending Liability (Asset) Liability (Asset) Payroll Payroll Pension Liability


12/31/14 0.04486493 % (1,102,005)$          5,696,627$   19.34 % 102.74 %
12/31/15 0.04597674 % 747,113                 6,169,077     12.11 % 98.20 %
12/31/16 0.04705035 % 387,807                 6,266,372     6.23 % 99.12 %
12/31/17 0.04873732 % (1,447,068)            6,542,867     22.12 % 102.93 %
12/31/18 0.04989755 % 1,775,198              6,864,771     25.86 % 96.45 %
12/31/19 0.05079366 % (1,637,819)            7,034,407     23.28 % 102.96 %
12/31/20 0.05058802 % (3,158,280)            7,015,787     45.02 % 105.26 %
12/31/21 0.04984898 % (4,017,919)            7,128,846     56.36 % 106.02 %


Contributions in
Relation to the Contributions


City Contractually Contractually Contribution as a Percentage
Fiscal Required Required Deficiency Covered of Covered


Year Ending Contributions Contributions (Excess) Payroll Payroll


12/31/15 465,913$              465,913$               -$                  6,169,077$                           7.55 %
12/31/16 461,771                461,771                 -                    7,032,737                             6.57 %
12/31/17 511,909                511,909                 -                    7,308,112                             7.00 %
12/31/18 533,009                533,009                 -                    6,864,764                             7.76 %
12/31/19 533,847                533,847                 -                    7,034,407                             7.59 %
12/31/20 529,789                529,789                 -                    7,015,788                             7.55 %
12/31/21 542,592                542,592                 -                    7,128,846                             7.61 %
12/31/22 602,982                602,982                 -                    7,623,482                             7.91 %


Year Ended December 31, 2022


Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) -


Schedule of Employer Contributions - Wisconsin Retirement System


City of Stoughton


Wisconsin Retirement System
Year Ended December 31, 2022


See notes to the required supplementary information
75







City of Stoughton
Schedule of Changes in the Total Pension Liability -
Firemen's Pension Plan
Year Ended December 31, 2022


Difference
Interest on Between Expected


Fiscal Beginning Total Pension Changes in and Actual Changes of Benefit Ending
Year Ending Balance Service Cost Liability Benefit Terms Experience Assumptions Payments Balance


12/31/22 1,196,146$      43,905$        25,891$            -$                     -$                              11,186$            (37,702)$  1,239,426$    
12/31/21 1,067,144        31,013          29,603              -                       -                                104,167            (35,781)    1,196,146      
12/31/20 868,177           20,856          35,715              -                       -                                178,613            (36,217)    1,067,144      
12/31/19 1,392,161        47,261          48,829              -                       -                                (579,792)          (40,282)    868,177         
12/31/18 1,268,731        41,400          48,805              -                       -                                71,580              (38,355)    1,392,161      
12/31/17 1,259,717        42,477          45,829              -                       -                                (42,041)            (37,251)    1,268,731      


Schedule of Covered Payroll -
Firemen's Pension Plan
Year Ended December 31, 2022


Total Pension
Liability as a


Percentage of
Fiscal Total Pension Covered Covered


Year Ending Liability Payroll Payroll


12/31/22 1,239,426$      97,353$        1273 %


12/31/21 1,196,146        90,193          1326 %


12/31/20 1,067,144        87,401          1221 %


12/31/19 868,177           92,307          941 %


12/31/18 1,392,161        102,773        1355 %
12/31/17 1,268,731        93,830          1352 %


See notes to the required supplementary information


76







Proportionate
Share of the Net Plan Fiduciary


Proportion Proportionate OPEB  Liability Net Position
WRS of the Net Share of the as a Percentage as a Percentage


Fiscal Year OPEB Net OPEB Covered of Covered of the Total
Ending Liability Liability Payroll Payroll OPEB Liability


12/31/20 0.13045400 % 717,591$               6,809,000$   10.54 % 31.36 %
12/31/21 0.13632800 % 805,749                 7,121,000     11.32 % 29.57 %


Contributions in
Relation to the Contributions


City Contractually Contractually Contribution as a Percentage
Fiscal Required Required Deficiency Covered of Covered


Year Ending Contributions Contributions (Excess) Payroll Payroll


12/31/21 16,403$                16,403$                 -$                  7,566,973$                           0.22 %
12/31/22 13,564                  13,564                   -                    7,968,849                             0.17 %


Year Ended December 31, 2021


Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability -


Schedule of Employer Contributions - Local Retiree Life Insurance Fund


City of Stoughton


Local Retiree Life Insurance Fund
Year Ended December 31, 2022


See notes to the required supplementary information
77







2021 2022
Total OPEB Liability


Service cost 72,403$            73,895$            
Interest 22,101              22,872              
Changes of benefit terms -                        -                        
Differences between expected and actual experience -                        -                        
Changes of assumptions 6,230                (158,191)           
Benefit payments (32,513)             (33,326)             


Net change in total OPEB liability 68,221              (94,750)             


Total OPEB Liability, Beginning 1,058,739         1,126,960         


Total OPEB Liability, Ending 1,126,960$        1,032,210$        


Covered-Employee Payroll 7,566,973$        7,968,850$        


Total OPEB Liability as a Percentage of Covered-Employee Payroll    14.89 % 12.95 %


Notes to Schedule:


No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of Statement 75.    


Changes in benefit terms:  There were no changes in benefit terms.


Changes in assumptions: The discount rate changed in the current year to 3.72 %. 


Other Information:


however the standards allow the City to present as many years as are available until ten fiscal years are
presented. Information prior to 2021 is not available.


The City implemented GASB Statement No. 75 in 2021 and is required to present the last ten fiscal years data;


City of Stoughton
Schedule of Changes in Employer's Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios -
Health Insurance
Year Ended December 31, 2022


See notes to required supplementary information
78







City of Stoughton
Notes to Required Supplementary Information
Year Ended December 31, 2022


Budgetary Information


Budgetary information is derived from the annual operating budget and is presented using the same basis of
accounting for each fund as described in Note 1. 


Department heads submit budget requests by mid-August. The mayor and finance director produce the
executive budget, which is reviewed with the finance committee in mid-September. The City Council then
reviews the budget and holds a public hearing. Council adoption of the budget follows the public hearing,
usually in November. Department heads have the authority to make budget transfers within their own
department, except for wage accounts and capital outlay items. Council action is required for adjustments to
wage and outlay accounts, and to change a department's total budget.


Appropriations lapse at year end unless specifically carried over. There were no carryovers to the following
year.  Budgets are adopted at the department level of expenditure. 


Wisconsin Retirement System


The amounts determined for each fiscal year were determined as of the calendar year-end and occurred within
the fiscal year.


The City is required to present the last ten years of data; however, accounting standards allow the presentation
of as many years as are available until ten fiscal years are presented.


Changes in benefit terms. There were no changes of benefit terms for any participating employer in the
Wisconsin Retirement System.


Changes in assumptions. Based on a three-year experience study conducted in 2021 covering January 1, 2018
through December 31, 2020, the ETF Board adopted assumption changes that were used to measure the total
pension liability beginning with the year-end December 31, 2021, including the following:


 Lowering the long-term expected rate of return from 7.0% to 6.8%


 Lowering the discount rate from 7.0% to 6.8%


 Lowering the price inflation rate from 2.5% to 2.4%


 Lowering the post-retirement adjustments from 1.9% to 1.7%


 Mortality assumptions were changed to reflect updated trends by transitioning from the Wisconsin


2018 Mortality Table to the 2020 WRS Experience Mortality Table


Based on a three-year experience study conducted in 2018 covering January 1, 2015 through 
December 31, 2017, the ETF Board adopted assumption changes that were used to measure the total pension
liability beginning with the year-ended December 31, 2018, including the following:


 Lowering the long-term expected rate of return from 7.2% to 7.0%


 Lowering the discount rate from 7.2% to 7.0%


 Lowering the wage inflation rate from 3.2% to 3.0%


 Lowering the price inflation rate from 2.7% to 2.5%


 Lowering the post-retirement adjustments from 2.1% to 1.9%


 Mortality assumptions were changed to reflect updated trends by transitioning from the Wisconsin


2012 Mortality Table to the Wisconsin 2018 Mortality Table


79







City of Stoughton
Notes to Required Supplementary Information
Year Ended December 31, 2022


Local Retiree Life Insurance Fund


The amounts determined for each fiscal year were determined as of the calendar year-end and occurred within
the fiscal year.


The City is required to present the last ten years of data; however, accounting standards allow the presentation
of as many years as are available until ten fiscal years are presented.


Changes in benefit terms. There were no changes of benefit terms for any participating employer in LRLIF.


Changes in assumptions. In addition to the rate changes detailed in the tables above, the State of Wisconsin
Employee Trust Fund Board adopted economic and demographic assumption changes based on a three year
experience study performed for the Wisconsin Retirement System. These assumptions are used in the
actuarial valuations of OPEB liabilities (assets) for the retiree life insurance programs and are summarized
below.


The assumption changes that were used to measure the December 31, 2021 total OPEB liabilities, including
the following:


 Lowering the price inflation rate from 2.5% to 2.4%


 Mortality assumptions were changed to reflect updated trends by transitioning from the Wisconsin


2018 Mortality Table to the 2020 WRS Experience Mortality Table


The assumption changes that were used to measure the December 31, 2018 total OPEB liabilities, including
the following:


 Lowering the long-term expected rate of return from 5.00% to 4.25%


 Lowering the wage inflation rate from 3.2% to 3.0%


 Lowering the price inflation rate from 2.7% to 2.5%


 Mortality assumptions were changed to reflect updated trends by transitioning from the Wisconsin


2012 Mortality Table to the Wisconsin 2018 Mortality Table


80







S U P P L E M E N T A R Y   I N F O R M A T I O N







City of Stoughton
Combining Balance Sheet -
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
December 31, 2022


Special Revenue Funds


Library Ambulance Opera House
Opera House


Repair
Township


Outreach Fund


Assets
Cash and investments $ 312,809 $ - $ 305,718 $ - $ 15,295
Due from other funds - - - - -
Receivables (net):


Taxes 726,880 - 234,876 - -
Accounts 4,726 - 1,250 - -
Special assessments - - - - -
Loans - - - - -


Due from other governments - - - - -
Prepaid items - - - - -


Total assets $ 1,044,415 $ - $ 541,844 $ - $ 15,295


Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of
Resources and Fund Balances


Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 8,625 $ - $ 71,380 $ - $ -
Accrued liabilities 24,404 - 8,229 - 318
Deposits - - - - -
Due to other funds - - - - -
Unearned revenues - - 227,359 - -
Advances from other funds - - - - -


Total liabilities 33,029 - 306,968 - 318


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues 726,880 - 234,876 - -
Unavailable revenues - - - - -


Total deferred inflows of
resources 726,880 - 234,876 - -


Fund Balances (Deficit)
Nonspendable - - - - -
Restricted 284,506 - - - -
Committed - - - - 14,977
Assigned - - - - -
Unassigned (deficit) - - - - -


Total fund balances
(deficit) 284,506 - - - 14,977


Total liabilities, deferred
inflows of resources
and fund balances $ 1,044,415 $ - $ 541,844 $ - $ 15,295


81







Special Revenue Funds


Tourism Fund
Seniors in


Need Food Pantry
Landmark


Commission
Fire


Department
Senior Center
Wood Shop


Senior Center
Special Fund


$ - $ 66,063 $ 422,826 $ 8,347 $ 60,017 $ 13,266 $ 804,257
- - - - - - -


- - - 17,960 - - -
46,152 - - - - - -


- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -


$ 46,152 $ 66,063 $ 422,826 $ 26,307 $ 60,017 $ 13,266 $ 804,257


$ 63,164 $ 772 $ 20,240 $ 8,347 $ 3,738 $ 32 $ -
- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -


4,806 - - - - - -
- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -


67,970 772 20,240 8,347 3,738 32 -


- - - 17,960 - - -
2,212 - - - - - -


2,212 - - 17,960 - - -


- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -
- 65,291 402,586 - 56,279 13,234 804,257
- - - - - - -


(24,030) - - - - - -


(24,030) 65,291 402,586 - 56,279 13,234 804,257


$ 46,152 $ 66,063 $ 422,826 $ 26,307 $ 60,017 $ 13,266 $ 804,257


82







City of Stoughton
Combining Balance Sheet -
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
December 31, 2022


Special Revenue Funds


ARPA Fund
Redevelopment


Authority


Special
Assessments K9 Unit


Tree
Commission


Assets
Cash and investments $ 1,148,774 $ 128,453 $ 609,087 $ 17,702 $ 8,704
Due from other funds - - - - -
Receivables (net):


Taxes - 20,500 126,888 - -
Accounts - 42,163 - - -
Special assessments - - 432,679 - -
Loans - 137,449 - - -


Due from other governments - - - - -
Prepaid items - 113 - - -


Total assets $ 1,148,774 $ 328,678 $ 1,168,654 $ 17,702 $ 8,704


Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of
Resources and Fund Balances


Liabilities
Accounts payable $ - $ 658 $ - $ - $ -
Accrued liabilities - - - - -
Deposits - - - - -
Due to other funds - - 211,759 - -
Unearned revenues 1,134,183 - - - -
Advances from other funds - - - - -


Total liabilities 1,134,183 658 211,759 - -


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues - 20,500 61,922 - -
Unavailable revenues - - 285,886 - -


Total deferred inflows of
resources - 20,500 347,808 - -


Fund Balances (Deficit)
Nonspendable - 113 - - -
Restricted 14,591 307,407 - - -
Committed - - 609,087 17,702 8,704
Assigned - - - - -
Unassigned (deficit) - - - - -


Total fund balances
(deficit) 14,591 307,520 609,087 17,702 8,704


Total liabilities, deferred
inflows of resources
and fund balances $ 1,148,774 $ 328,678 $ 1,168,654 $ 17,702 $ 8,704


83







Special Revenue Funds


Capital
Projects
Funds


Cemetery
Revolving
Loan Fund


Firemen's
Pension Refuse Fund


Affordable
Housing


Shared Ride
Services


Fire
Equipment


$ 23,855 $ - $ 905,505 $ 116,647 $ 265,313 $ 151,469 $ -
- - - - - - -


- - - 923,245 - 7,886 -
- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -
- - - 153 - - -


$ 23,855 $ - $ 905,505 $ 1,040,045 $ 265,313 $ 159,355 $ -


$ - $ - $ - $ 72,775 $ 1,474 $ 21,161 $ -
- - - 831 - - -
- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -
- - - - - 130,308 -
- - - - - - -


- - - 73,606 1,474 151,469 -


- - - 923,245 - 7,886 -
- - - - - - -


- - - 923,245 - 7,886 -


- - - 153 - - -
- - 905,505 - 263,839 - -


23,855 - - 43,041 - - -
- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -


23,855 - 905,505 43,194 263,839 - -


$ 23,855 $ - $ 905,505 $ 1,040,045 $ 265,313 $ 159,355 $ -


84







City of Stoughton
Combining Balance Sheet -
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
December 31, 2022


Capital Projects Funds


Park
Acquisition


TIF District
No. 4


TIF District
No. 5


TIF District
No. 6


TIF District
No. 7


Assets
Cash and investments $ 773,567 $ - $ - $ 359,437 $ 1,265,893
Due from other funds 860 - - - -
Receivables (net):


Taxes - 175,711 59,705 75,532 900,076
Accounts - - 158 429 64,468
Special assessments - - - - -
Loans - - - - -


Due from other governments - - - - -
Prepaid items - - - - -


Total assets $ 774,427 $ 175,711 $ 59,863 $ 435,398 $ 2,230,437


Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of
Resources and Fund Balances


Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 2,125 $ 3,031 $ 139 $ 23,330 $ 408,317
Accrued liabilities - - - - -
Deposits - - - 25,440 660
Due to other funds - - - - -
Unearned revenues - - - - -
Advances from other funds - 13,005 586,141 125,000 -


Total liabilities 2,125 16,036 586,280 173,770 408,977


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues - 175,711 59,705 75,532 926,541
Unavailable revenues - - - - -


Total deferred inflows of
resources - 175,711 59,705 75,532 926,541


Fund Balances (Deficit)
Nonspendable - - - - -
Restricted 772,302 - - 186,096 894,919
Committed - - - - -
Assigned - - - - -
Unassigned (deficit) - (16,036) (586,122) - -


Total fund balances
(deficit) 772,302 (16,036) (586,122) 186,096 894,919


Total liabilities, deferred
inflows of resources
and fund balances $ 774,427 $ 175,711 $ 59,863 $ 435,398 $ 2,230,437


85







Capital Projects Funds


TIF District
No. 8


TIF District
No. 9


Equipment
Replacement


Building
Maintenance Outlay


Technology
Fund


Total
Nonmajor


Governmental
Funds


$ - $ - $ 377,615 $ 378,275 $ - $ - $ 8,538,894
- - - 18,954 - - 19,814


22,014 - - - - - 3,291,273
- 10,626 - - - - 169,972
- - - - - - 432,679
- - - - - - 137,449


679,909 - - - - - 679,909
- - - - - - 266


$ 701,923 $ 10,626 $ 377,615 $ 397,229 $ - $ - $ 13,270,256


$ 39,755 $ 1,084 $ 7,660 $ - $ 26,082 $ - $ 783,889
- - - 22 - - 33,804
- 25,000 - - - - 51,100
- - - - - - 216,565
- - - - - - 1,491,850


258,626 8,056 - - 112,792 - 1,103,620


298,381 34,140 7,660 22 138,874 - 3,680,828


22,014 - - - - - 3,252,772
679,909 - - - - - 968,007


701,923 - - - - - 4,220,779


- - - - - - 266
- - 157,147 - - - 3,786,312
- - - - - - 2,059,013
- - 212,808 397,207 - - 610,015


(298,381) (23,514) - - (138,874) - (1,086,957)


(298,381) (23,514) 369,955 397,207 (138,874) - 5,368,649


$ 701,923 $ 10,626 $ 377,615 $ 397,229 $ - $ - $ 13,270,256


86







City of Stoughton
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances -
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2022


Special Revenue Funds


Library Ambulance Opera House
Opera House


Repair
Township


Outreach Fund


Revenues
Taxes $ 646,350 $ - $ 195,000 $ - $ -
Intergovernmental 249,908 - 48 - 9,015
Public charges for services 7,288 - 654,088 - -
Intergovernmental charges for


services 15,952 - - - -
Special assessments - - - - -
Investment income 5,298 - 160 - 97
Miscellaneous revenues 69,442 - 12,896 - -


Total revenues 994,238 - 862,192 - 9,112


Expenditures
Current:


General government - - - - -
Public safety - - - - -
Public works - - - - -
Culture, recreation and


education 1,013,841 - 1,034,134 - 8,258
Conservation and development - - - - -


Capital outlay 48,171 - - - -
Debt service:


Interest and fiscal charges - - - - -


Total expenditures 1,062,012 - 1,034,134 - 8,258


Excess (deficiency) of
revenues over
expenditures (67,774) - (171,942) - 854


Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Debt issued - - - - -
Premium on debt - - - - -
Sales of fixed assets - - - - -
Transfers in - - 128,458 - -
Transfers out - (18,224) - (6,778) -


Total other financing
sources (uses) - (18,224) 128,458 (6,778) -


Net change in fund
balances (67,774) (18,224) (43,484) (6,778) 854


Fund Balances (Deficit),
Beginning 352,280 18,224 43,484 6,778 14,123


Fund Balances (Deficit), Ending $ 284,506 $ - $ - $ - $ 14,977


87







Special Revenue Funds


Tourism Fund
Seniors in


Need Food Pantry
Landmark


Commission
Fire


Department
Senior Center
Wood Shop


Senior Center
Special Fund


$ 161,039 $ - $ - $ 10,000 $ - $ - $ -
- - - 17,000 - - -
- - - - 533 - -


- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -
- 682 14,015 34 534 92 7,899
- 19,800 86,462 385 29,716 3,953 188,879


161,039 20,482 100,477 27,419 30,783 4,045 196,778


- - - - - - -
- - - - 31,425 - -
- - - - - - -


185,069 18,805 87,030 38,990 - 774 9,319
- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -


- - - - - - -


185,069 18,805 87,030 38,990 31,425 774 9,319


(24,030) 1,677 13,447 (11,571) (642) 3,271 187,459


- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -
- - - 2,470 - - -


(25,927) - - - - - -


(25,927) - - 2,470 - - -


(49,957) 1,677 13,447 (9,101) (642) 3,271 187,459


25,927 63,614 389,139 9,101 56,921 9,963 616,798


$ (24,030) $ 65,291 $ 402,586 $ - $ 56,279 $ 13,234 $ 804,257


88







City of Stoughton
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances -
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2022


Special Revenue Funds


ARPA Fund
Redevelopment


Authority


Special
Assessments K9 Unit


Tree
Commission


Revenues
Taxes $ - $ 11,000 $ - $ - $ -
Intergovernmental 238,440 - - - 2,072
Public charges for services - - - - 3,721
Intergovernmental charges for


services - - - - -
Special assessments - - 128,463 - -
Investment income 14,591 4,121 8,438 24 61
Miscellaneous revenues - - - 23,563 1,710


Total revenues 253,031 15,121 136,901 23,587 7,564


Expenditures
Current:


General government 235,000 - - - -
Public safety - - - 25,396 -
Public works - - - - -
Culture, recreation and


education - - - - -
Conservation and development - 16,696 - - 1,872


Capital outlay - - - - -
Debt service:


Interest and fiscal charges - - - - -


Total expenditures 235,000 16,696 - 25,396 1,872


Excess (deficiency) of
revenues over
expenditures 18,031 (1,575) 136,901 (1,809) 5,692


Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Debt issued - - - - -
Premium on debt - - - - -
Sales of fixed assets - 6,977 - - -
Transfers in - 313,080 - - -
Transfers out - (9,000) (157,100) - -


Total other financing
sources (uses) - 311,057 (157,100) - -


Net change in fund
balances 18,031 309,482 (20,199) (1,809) 5,692


Fund Balances (Deficit),
Beginning (3,440) (1,962) 629,286 19,511 3,012


Fund Balances (Deficit), Ending $ 14,591 $ 307,520 $ 609,087 $ 17,702 $ 8,704


89







Special Revenue Funds


Capital
Projects
Funds


Cemetery
Revolving
Loan Fund


Firemen's
Pension Refuse Fund


Affordable
Housing


Shared Ride
Services


Fire
Equipment


$ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 16,951 $ -
- - 44,211 34,108 - 189,525 -
- - - 875,908 - 105,072 -


- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -


353 - 2,774 1,901 2,664 423 -
- - 712 - - - -


353 - 47,697 911,917 2,664 311,971 -


- - - - - - -
- - 46,201 - - - -
- - - 875,910 - - -


308 - - - - 311,971 -
- - - - 251,474 - -
- - - - - - -


- - - - - - -


308 - 46,201 875,910 251,474 311,971 -


45 - 1,496 36,007 (248,810) - -


- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -
- (272,656) - - - - (16,613)


- (272,656) - - - - (16,613)


45 (272,656) 1,496 36,007 (248,810) - (16,613)


23,810 272,656 904,009 7,187 512,649 - 16,613


$ 23,855 $ - $ 905,505 $ 43,194 $ 263,839 $ - $ -


90







City of Stoughton
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances -
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2022


Capital Projects Funds


Park
Acquisition


TIF District
No. 4


TIF District
No. 5


TIF District
No. 6


TIF District
No. 7


Revenues
Taxes $ - $ 163,178 $ 66,352 $ 65,877 $ 832,281
Intergovernmental - 6,982 39,592 - -
Public charges for services 315,907 - - 6,277 -
Intergovernmental charges for


services - - - - -
Special assessments - - - - -
Investment income 8,372 676 - 4,304 16,732
Miscellaneous revenues 2,979 - - 35,000 29,651


Total revenues 327,258 170,836 105,944 111,458 878,664


Expenditures
Current:


General government - - - - -
Public safety - - - - -
Public works - - - 534 -
Culture, recreation and


education 10,345 - - - -
Conservation and development - 9,701 1,802 16,642 892,771


Capital outlay 42,530 (1,175) - - 26,154
Debt service:


Interest and fiscal charges - - - - 18,865


Total expenditures 52,875 8,526 1,802 17,176 937,790


Excess (deficiency) of
revenues over
expenditures 274,383 162,310 104,142 94,282 (59,126)


Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Debt issued - - - - 700,000
Premium on debt - - - - 13,208
Sales of fixed assets - - - - -
Transfers in - - 153,850 - -
Transfers out - (183,352) (153,850) (419,613) (337,473)


Total other financing
sources (uses) - (183,352) - (419,613) 375,735


Net change in fund
balances 274,383 (21,042) 104,142 (325,331) 316,609


Fund Balances (Deficit),
Beginning 497,919 5,006 (690,264) 511,427 578,310


Fund Balances (Deficit), Ending $ 772,302 $ (16,036) $ (586,122) $ 186,096 $ 894,919


91







Capital Projects Funds


TIF District
No. 8


TIF District
No. 9


Equipment
Replacement


Building
Maintenance Outlay


Technology
Fund


Total
Nonmajor


Governmental
Funds


$ 6,890 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 2,174,918
84,490 - - - 152,149 - 1,067,540


- 33,985 - - - - 2,002,779


- - 16,101 - - - 32,053
- - - - - - 128,463
- 504 7,252 5,884 1,313 - 109,198
- - 30,600 149,213 24,944 - 709,905


91,380 34,489 53,953 155,097 178,406 - 6,224,856


- 23,243 - 116,496 - - 374,739
- - 40,221 - 8,194 - 151,437
- - - - 68,746 - 945,190


- - - - 22,955 - 2,741,799
25,924 20,097 - - - - 1,236,979


1,168,299 14,663 214,347 - 990,648 - 2,503,637


18,714 - 9,568 - 943 - 48,090


1,212,937 58,003 264,136 116,496 1,091,486 - 8,001,871


(1,121,557) (23,514) (210,183) 38,601 (913,080) - (1,777,015)


690,000 - 390,000 - - - 1,780,000
13,020 - - - - - 26,228


- - 7,518 - - - 14,495
14,502 - - - 100,000 - 712,360


(114,909) - - (45,000) - (31,936) (1,792,431)


602,613 - 397,518 (45,000) 100,000 (31,936) 740,652


(518,944) (23,514) 187,335 (6,399) (813,080) (31,936) (1,036,363)


220,563 - 182,620 403,606 674,206 31,936 6,405,012


$ (298,381) $ (23,514) $ 369,955 $ 397,207 $ (138,874) $ - $ 5,368,649


92







City of Stoughton
Combining Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position -
Custodial Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2022


Fiduciary
Property Taxes


Municipal
Courts


Registration Fee
Trust Total


Additions
Property taxes collected for other


governments $ 12,361,978 $ - $ - $ 12,361,978
Registration fees - - 129,223 129,223
Fines, forfeitures and penalties - 45,160 - 45,160


Total additions 12,361,978 45,160 129,223 12,536,361


Deductions
Property taxes distributed to other


governments 12,361,978 - - 12,361,978
Distributions of fines, forfeitures and


penalties - 45,160 - 45,160
Distribution of registration fees - - 129,223 129,223


Total deductions 12,361,978 45,160 129,223 12,536,361


Change in net position - - - -


Net Position, Beginning - - - -


Net Position, Ending $ - $ - $ - $ -


93







 


 
 
 
Reporting and insights 
from 2022 audit: 


City of Stoughton 
 


 
December 31, 2022 







THIS COMMUNICATION IS INTENDED SOLELY FOR THE INFORMATION AND USE OF THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE, AND, IF APPROPRIATE, 
MANAGEMENT, AND IS NOT INTENDED TO BE AND SHOULD NOT BE USED BY ANYONE OTHER THAN THESE SPECIFIED PARTIES. 
 
BAKER TILLY US, LLP, TRADING AS BAKER TILLY, IS A MEMBER OF THE GLOBAL NETWORK OF BAKER TILLY INTERNATIONAL LTD., THE MEMBERS OF WHICH 
ARE SEPARATE AND INDEPENDENT LEGAL ENTITIES. 


Executive summary 
 


July 18, 2023 


 


City Council 


City of Stoughton 


207 South Forrest Street 
Stoughton, WI 53589 
 
 
We have completed our audit of the financial statements of the City of Stoughton (the City) for the year 


ended December 31, 2022, and have issued our report thereon dated July 18, 2023. This letter presents 


communications required by our professional standards.  


A separate communication was issued related to the Stoughton Utilities dated May 8, 2023. Matters 


specific to the Stoughton Utilities are not included within this report.  


Your audit should provide you with confidence in your financial statements. The audit was performed 


based on information obtained from meetings with management, data from your systems, knowledge of 


your City’s operating environment and our risk assessment procedures. We strive to provide you clear, 


concise communication throughout the audit process and of the final results of our audit. 


Additionally, we have included information on key risk areas the City of Stoughton should be aware of in 


your strategic planning. We are available to discuss these risks as they relate to your organization’s 


financial stability and future planning. 


If you have questions at any point, please connect with us: 


• Andrea Jansen, Partner: andrea.jansen@bakertilly.com or +1 (608) 240 2338 


• Vasvi Joshi, Senior Manager: vasvi.joshi@bakertilly.com or +1 (608) 240 2453 


 


Sincerely, 


Baker Tilly US, LLP 


 


Andrea Jansen, CPA, Partner 
 


 


Vasvi Joshi, CPA, Senior Manager 
 


  



mailto:andrea.jansen@bakertilly.com

mailto:vasvi.joshi@bakertilly.com





 


 
© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 3 


Responsibilities 


Our responsibilities 


As your independent auditor, our responsibilities include: 


• Planning and performing the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 


statements are free from material misstatement. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance. 


• Assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 


error. Included in that assessment is a consideration of the City’s internal control over financial 


reporting. 


• Performing appropriate procedures based upon our risk assessment. 


• Evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 


accounting estimates made by management. 


• Forming and expressing an opinion based on our audit about whether the financial statements 


prepared by management, with the oversight of the City Council:  


• Are free from material misstatement 


• Present fairly, in all material respects and in accordance with accounting principles generally 


accepted in the United States of America 


• Performing tests related to compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and 


grants, as required by Government Auditing Standards 


• Considering internal control over compliance with requirements that could have a direct and material 


effect on major federal and major state programs to design tests of both controls and compliance with 


identified requirements 


• Forming and expressing an opinion based on our audit in accordance with OMB’s Uniform 


Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform 


Guidance) and State Single Audit Guidelines about the entity’s compliance with requirements 


described in the OMB Compliance Supplement and State Single Audit Guidelines that could have a 


direct and material effect on each of its major federal and state programs.  


• Our audit does not relieve management or the City Council of their responsibilities. 


We are also required to communicate significant matters related to our audit that are relevant to the 


responsibilities of the City Council, including:  


• Internal control matters 


• Qualitative aspects of the City’s accounting practice including policies, accounting estimates and 


financial statement disclosures 


• Significant unusual transactions 


• Significant difficulties encountered 


• Disagreements with management 


• Circumstances that affect the form and content of the auditors’ report  


• Audit consultations outside the engagement team 


• Corrected and uncorrected misstatements 


• Other audit findings or issues 







 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 4 


Audit status 


Significant changes to the audit plan 


There were no significant changes made to either our planned audit strategy or to the significant risks and 


other areas of emphasis identified during the performance of our risk assessment procedures.  


 


 







 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 5 


Audit approach and results 


Planned scope and timing 


Audit focus 


Based on our understanding of the City and environment in which you operate, we focused our audit on 


the following key areas: 


• Key transaction cycles 


• Areas with significant estimates 


• Areas of complexity and additional compliance requirements including TIF Districts 


• Implementation of new accounting standards 


Our areas of audit focus were informed by, among other things, our assessment of materiality. Materiality 


in the context of our audit was determined based on specific qualitative and quantitative factors combined 


with our expectations about the City’s current year results. 


 


Key areas of focus and significant findings 


Significant risks of material misstatement 


A significant risk is an identified and assessed risk of material misstatement that, in the auditor’s 


professional judgment, requires special audit consideration. Within our audit, we focused on the following 


areas below. 


Significant risk areas Testing approach Conclusion 


Management override of 
controls 


Incorporate unpredictability into 
audit procedures, emphasize 
professional skepticism and 
utilize audit team with industry 
expertise 


Procedures identified provided 
sufficient evidence for our audit 
opinion 


Improper revenue recognition 
due to fraud 


Confirmation or validation of 
certain revenues supplemented 
with detailed predictive analytics 
based on nonfinancial data and 
substantive testing of related 
receivables 


Procedures identified provided 
sufficient evidence for our audit 
opinion 


 


Other areas of emphasis 


We also focused on other areas that did not meet the definition of a significant risk, but were determined 


to require specific awareness and a unique audit response.  


Other areas of emphasis   


Cash and investments Revenues and receivables General disbursements 


Payroll Pension and OPEB 
liabilities / assets 


Long-term debt 


Capital assets including 
infrastructure 


Net position calculations Financial reporting and required 
disclosures 







 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 6 


Internal control matters 


We considered the City’s internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing our audit 


procedures for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the financial statements. We are not expressing 


an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control.  


Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph 


and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or 


significant deficiencies and, therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were 


not identified. 


A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 


management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 


detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. 


A material weakness is a deficiency or combination of deficiencies in internal control such that there is a 
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be 
prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. We identified the following deficiencies as 
material weaknesses:  
 


• Inadequate segregation of duties 


A properly designed system of internal control includes adequate staffing as well as policies and 
procedures to properly segregate duties. This includes systems that are designed to limit the access 
or control of any one individual to your government’s assets or accounting records, and to achieve a 
higher likelihood that errors or irregularities in your accounting processes would be discovered by 
your staff in a timely manner.  
 
At this time, due to staffing and financial limitations, the proper internal controls are not in place to 
achieve adequate segregation of duties. As a result, errors, irregularities or fraud could occur as part 
of the financial reporting process that may not be discovered by someone in your organization. 
Therefore, we are reporting a material weakness related to the internal control environment.  


 


• Missing key controls 


There are certain controls that are not currently in place related to significant transaction cycles. As a 
result, there is a risk that erroneous or unauthorized transactions or misstatements could occur 
without the knowledge of management or the governing body. Our recommendations for 
strengthening controls are listed below. 


 


• Controls over monthly and year-end accounting 


Adjusting journal entries and supporting documentation should be reviewed and approved by 


an appropriate person who is not the original preparer.  


 


• Controls over property taxes 


There should be a formal process to prepare and approve journal entries to record taxes 


receivable and the tax settlements. 


 


Since the controls listed above or other compensating controls are not currently in place, errors or 
irregularities could occur as part of the accounting processes that might not be discovered by 
management or the governing body. Therefore, the absence of these controls is considered to be a 
material weakness. 


 


We recommend that a designated employee review the segregation of duties, risks, and these potential 


controls and determine whether additional controls should be implemented. This determination should 


take into consideration a cost / benefit analysis. 


 
  







 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 7 


• Financial statement close process 


Properly designed systems of internal control provide your organization with the ability to process and 
record accurate monthly and year-end transactions and annual financial reports. 
 
Our audit includes a review and evaluation of the internal controls relating to financial reporting. Common 
attributes of a properly designed system of internal control for financial reporting are as follows: 
 


• There is adequate staffing to prepare financial reports throughout the year and at year-end. 


• Material misstatements are identified and corrected during the normal course of duties. 


• Complete and accurate financial statements, including footnotes, are prepared. 


• Complete and accurate schedule of expenditures of federal and state awards is prepared. 


• Financial reports are independently reviewed for completeness and accuracy. 


 
Our evaluation of the internal controls over financial reporting has identified control deficiencies that are 
considered to be a material weakness surrounding the preparation of financial statements and footnotes, 
including the schedule of federal and state awards, adjusting journal entries identified by the auditors, and 
an independent review of financial reports.  
 
Management has not prepared financial statements that are in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles or the schedule of expenditures of federal and state awards that is in conformance 
with the applicable federal or state requirements. In addition, a material misstatement in the general 
ledger was identified during the financial audit.  
 


  







 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 8 


Other comments and recommendations 


• Controls over property taxes 


- Bank reconciliations for the tax account should be performed by someone independent of 


the tax collection process. 


 


Prior Year Point 


• Collateral for Bank Deposits (Per 12/31/08 Letter)  


Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 40 requires disclosures about various 


risks associated with the City’s deposits and investments. These disclosures can be found in Note 4 of 


the financial statements.  


One of the required disclosures is custodial credit risk. Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a 


financial institution failure, the City’s deposits may not be returned. To address this risk, the City has 


collateral agreements with its primary bank to cover deposits in excess of the FDIC limits. However, a 


portion of the City’s deposits and investments was exposed to custodial credit risk because the collateral 


was insufficient to cover all City deposits. In addition, the current collateral agreement in place with the 


City’s primary bank allows for the collateral to be held in the trust department of this bank. GASB No. 40 


states that this type of custodial arrangement exposes the City to greater risk than if the collateral was 


held by an independent third-party custodian. 


We recommend that the City evaluate its current collateral situation to determine if adjustments are 


desired. 


Status December 31, 2022 


A total of $1,240,905 of deposits and investments were exposed to some level of custodial credit risk as 


of December 31, 2022. 


 


  







 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 9 


Required communications 


Qualitative aspect of accounting practices 


• Accounting policies: Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting 


policies. In accordance with the terms of our engagement letter, we have advised management about 


the appropriateness of accounting policies and their application. The significant accounting policies 


used by City are described in Note 1 to the financial statements. As described in Note 1, the City 


changed accounting policies related to leases by adopting Governmental Accounting Standards 


Board (GASB) No. 87 – Leases in 2022. We noted no transactions entered into by the City during the 


year for which accounting policies are controversial or for which there is a lack of authoritative 


guidance or consensus or diversity in practice. 


• Accounting estimates: Accounting estimates, including fair value estimates, are an integral part of the 


financial statements prepared by management and are based on management's knowledge and 


experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting 


estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements, the 


degree of subjectivity involved in their development and because of the possibility that future events 


affecting them may differ significantly from those expected. The following estimates are of most 


significance to the financial statements: 


 


Estimate Management’s process to 
determine  


Baker Tilly’s conclusions 
regarding reasonableness 


Net pension asset and 
related deferrals 


Evaluation of information 
provided by the Wisconsin 
Retirement System  


Reasonable in relation to the 
financial statements as a whole 


Allowance for doubtful 
accounts 


Evaluation of historical 
revenues and loss levels with 
the analysis on collectability of 
individual amounts 


Reasonable in relation to the 
financial statements as a whole 


Firemen’s total pension 
liability and related 
deferrals 


Key assumptions set by 
management with the 
assistance of a third-party 
actuary 


Reasonable in relation to the 
financial statements as a whole 


Total OPEB health 
insurance liability and 
related deferrals 


Key assumptions set by 
management with the 
assistance of a third-party 
actuary 


Reasonable in relation to the 
financial statements as a whole 


Net OPEB life insurance 
liability and related 
deferrals 


Evaluation of information 
provided by the Wisconsin 
Department of Employee Trust 
Funds 


Reasonable in relation to the 
financial statements as a whole 


Depreciation Evaluate estimated useful life 
of the asset and original 
acquisition value 


Reasonable in relation to the 
financial statements as a whole 


 


There have been no significant changes made by management to either the processes used to develop 


the particularly sensitive accounting estimates, or to the significant assumptions used to develop the 


estimates, noted above.  


 


• Financial statement disclosures: The disclosures in the financial statements are neutral, consistent 


and clear. 







 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 10 


Significant unusual transactions 


There have been no significant transactions that are outside the normal course of business for the City or 


that otherwise appear to be unusual due to their timing, size or nature.  


Significant difficulties encountered during the audit 


We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management and completing our audit.  


Disagreements with management 


Professional standards define a disagreement with management as a matter, whether or not resolved to 


our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter that could be significant to 


the financial statements or the auditors' report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements 


arose during the course of our audit.  


Audit report  


There have been no departures from the auditors’ standard report.  


Audit consultations outside the engagement team  


We encountered no difficult or contentious matters for which we consulted outside of the engagement 


team.  


Corrected misstatements 


Professional standards require us to accumulate misstatements identified during the audit, other than 


those that are clearly trivial and to communicate accumulated misstatements to management. 


Management is in agreement with the misstatements we have identified, and they have been corrected in 


the financial statements. The schedule within the attachments summarizes the material corrected 


misstatements, that, in our judgment, may not have been detected except through our auditing 


procedures. The internal control matters section of this report describes the effects on the financial 


reporting process indicated by the corrected misstatements, other than those that we consider to be of a 


lesser magnitude than significant deficiencies and material weaknesses. 


 Other audit findings or issues 


We encountered no other audit findings or issues that require communication at this time.  


We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 


standards, with management each year prior to retention as the City’s auditors. However, these 


discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a 


condition to our retention. 


Other information in documents containing audited basic financial statements 


The City’s audited financial statements are “general purpose” financial statements. General purpose 


financial statements consist of the basic financial statements that can be used by a broad group of people 


for a broad range of activities. Once we have issued our audit report, we have no further obligation to 


update our report for events occurring subsequent to the date of our report. The City can use the audited 


financial statements in other client prepare documents, such as official statements related to the issuance 


of debt, without our acknowledgement. Unless we have been engaged to perform services in connection 


with any subsequent transaction requiring the inclusion of our audit report, as well as to issue an auditor’s 


acknowledgment letter, we have neither read the document nor performed subsequent event procedures 


in order to determine whether or not our report remains appropriate. 


  







 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 11 


Management’s consultations with other accountants 


In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 


matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no consultations with other 


accountants regarding auditing or accounting matters. 


Written communications between management and Baker Tilly 


The attachments include copies of other material written communications, including a copy of the 


management representation letter. 


Compliance with laws and regulations 


We did not identify any non-compliance with laws and regulations during our audit.  


We will issue a separate document which contains the results of our audit procedures to comply with the 


Uniform Guidance and State Single Audit Guidelines. 


Fraud 


We did not identify any known or suspected fraud during our audit.  


Going concern 


Pursuant to professional standards, we are required to communicate to you, when applicable, certain 


matters relating to our evaluation of the City’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable 


period of time but no less than 12 months from the date of the financial statements, including the effects 


on the financial statements and the adequacy of the related disclosures, and the effects on the auditor's 


report. No such matters or conditions have come to our attention during our engagement.  


Independence 


We are not aware of any relationships between Baker Tilly and the City that, in our professional judgment, 


may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence. 


Related parties 


We did not have any significant findings or issues arise during the audit in connection with the City’s 


related parties.  


Other matters 


We applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information (RSI) that supplements 


the basic financial statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding the 


methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 


responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our 


audit of the basic financial statements. We did not audit the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide 


any assurance on the RSI. 


We were engaged to report on the supplementary information which accompanies the financial 


statements but is not RSI. With respect to the supplementary information, we made certain inquiries of 


management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the information to determine 


that the information complies with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 


America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and the information is 


appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements. We compared and reconciled 


the supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to prepare the financial 


statements or to the financial statements themselves. 


  







 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 12 


Nonattest services 


The following nonattest services were provided by Baker Tilly: 


• Financial statement preparation and adjusting journal entries 


• Compiled TIF financial statements 


• Compiled regulatory reports 


• Maintenance of capital asset records 


 


In addition, we prepared GASB No. 34 conversion entries which are summarized in the “Reconciliation of 


the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Net Position” and the “Reconciliation of 


the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the 


Statement of Activities” in the financial statements. 


None of these nonattest services constitute an audit under generally accepted auditing standards, 


including Government Auditing Standards. 


 







 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 13 


Resources for those charged with 


governance 
Visit our resource page for regulatory updates, trending challenges and opportunities in your industry and 


other timely updates.  


Visit the resource page at https://www.bakertilly.com/insights/audit-committee-resource-page. 


  



https://www.bakertilly.com/insights/audit-committee-resource-page





 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 14 


Management representation letter  
  







































 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 23 


Client service team 
  


Andrea Jansen, CPA, CFE 
Partner 


 


4807 Innovate Lane 


Madison, Wisconsin 53718 


United States 


 


T +1 (608) 240 2338 | Madison 
andrea.jansen@bakertilly.com  


  
 


  


Vasvi Joshi, CPA 
Senior Manager 


 


4807 Innovate Lane 


Madison, Wisconsin 53718 


United States 


 


T +1 (608) 240 2453 | Madison   
vasvi.joshi@bakertilly.com 


  
  
 
 


Ryan Shavlik, CPA 
Senior Associate 


 


4807 Innovate Lane 


Madison, Wisconsin 53718 


United States 


 


T +1 (608) 316 1335 | Madison   
ryan.shavlik@bakertilly.com 


 
 



mailto:Andrea.jansen@bakertilly.com

mailto:vasvi.joshi@bakertilly.com

mailto:ryan.shavlik@bakertilly.com





 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 24 


Accounting changes relevant to the City of 


Stoughton  
Future accounting standards update 


GASB 
Statement 
Number 


Description Potentially 
Impacts 
you 


Effective Date  


94 Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships 
and Availability Payment Arrangements 


 
12/31/23 


96 Subscription-Based Information Technology 
Arrangements 


 
12/31/23 


99 Omnibus 2022 
 


12/31/23 


100 Accounting Changes and Error Corrections 
 


12/31/24 


101 Compensated Absences 
 


12/31/24 


 


Further information on upcoming GASB pronouncements. 


 


Determining if GASB 94 applies for your organization 


GASB 94, Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and Availability Payment Arrangements provides 


guidance related to public-private and public-public partnerships (PPP) and availability payment 


arrangements (APA). 


A PPP is an arrangement in which an entity contracts with an operator to provide public services by 


conveying control of the right to operate or use infrastructure or other capital asset. A common example 


of PPP is a service concession arrangement.  


An APA is an arrangement in which an entity compensates an operator for services that may include 


designing, constructing, financing, maintaining, or operating an asset.  


The City should start to identify any contracts that could meet either definition to ensure they are reviewed 


for applicability and accounted for correctly when the standard is effective. Initial steps include reviewing 


contracts that didn’t meet the definition of a lease under GASB 87 and identifying any other agreements 


where the organization contracts with or partners with another entity to provide services. 


 


 



https://www.bakertilly.com/insights/gasb-update-for-public-sector-organizations





 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 25 


Future accounting for subscription-based IT arrangements 


Subscription-based IT arrangements include contracts that convey control of the right to use another 


party’s IT software. It would not include any licensing arrangements that provide a perpetual license, 


which would still be accounted for as an intangible asset. Subscription-based IT arrangements are 


becoming more and more popular with IT vendors. This standard mirrors the new lease standard. The 


City will be able to utilize the systems put into place to implement the lease standard to properly account 


for these contracts. Common examples of these contracts in the utility industry include: 


• Leasing space in the cloud 


• GIS systems 


• SCADA systems 


• Some work order or inventory systems as well as some general ledger or billing systems 


The City should work with its IT department and department managers to determine a population listing of 


contracts that would fall under this standard to determine the potential future impact to financial reporting.  


  







 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 26 


Material corrected misstatements 
Description Opinion unit Amount 


Adjust advance tax collections General fund             $ 3,759,161 


Adjust debt service payments Debt service fund                   407,936 


Adjust taxes receivable Custodial funds                2,323,575 


Record capital asset activity All remaining funds                   829,682 


 


The remaining misstatements that were identified and corrected by management were not material 


individually or in the aggregate to the financial statements taken as a whole.  


  







 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 27 


Two-way audit communications  
As part of our audit of your financial statements, we are providing communications to you throughout the 


audit process. Auditing requirements provide for two-way communication and are important in assisting 


the auditor and you with more information relevant to the audit. 


As this past audit is concluded, we use what we have learned to begin the planning process for next 


year’s audit. It is important that you understand the following points about the scope and timing of our 


next audit: 


a. We address the significant risks of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, through 


our detailed audit procedures. 


b. We will obtain an understanding of the five components of internal control sufficient to assess the 


risk of material misstatement of the financial statements whether due to error or fraud, and to 


design the nature, timing and extent of further audit procedures. We will obtain a sufficient 


understanding by performing risk assessment procedures to evaluate the design of controls 


relevant to an audit of financial statements and to determine whether they have been 


implemented. We will use such knowledge to:  


• Identify types of potential misstatements. 


• Consider factors that affect the risks of material misstatement. 


• Design tests of controls, when applicable, and substantive procedures. 


c. We will not express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting or 


compliance with laws, regulations and provisions of contracts or grant programs. For audits 


performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards, our report will include a 


paragraph that states that the purpose of the report is solely to describe the scope of testing of 


internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the result of that testing and not to 


provide an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting or on 


compliance and that the report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 


Government Auditing Standards in considering internal control over financial reporting and 


compliance. The paragraph will also state that the report is not suitable for any other purpose. 


d. The concept of materiality recognizes that some matters, either individually or in the aggregate, 


are important for fair presentation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted 


accounting principles while other matters are not important. In performing the audit, we are 


concerned with matters that, either individually or in the aggregate, could be material to the 


financial statements. Our responsibility is to plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 


assurance that material misstatements, whether caused by errors or fraud, are detected. 


Our audit will be performed in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 


of America and Government Auditing Standards, OMB’s Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost 


Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance) and the State Single Audit 


Guidelines. 







 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 28 


We will not express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting or 


compliance with laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts or grant programs. For audits done in 


accordance with Government Auditing Standards, the Uniform Guidance, and the State Single Audit 


Guidelines, our report will include a paragraph that states that the purpose of the report is solely to 


describe (a) the scope of testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the result 


of that testing and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting 


or on compliance, (b) the scope of testing internal control over compliance for major programs and major 


program compliance and the result of that testing and to provide an opinion on compliance but not to 


provide an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance and, (c) that the report is an 


integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering 


internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the Uniform Guidance, and the State Single 


Audit Guidelines, in considering internal control over compliance and major program compliance. The 


paragraph will also state that the report is not suitable for any other purpose. 


e. Your financial statements contain components, as defined by auditing standards generally 


accepted in the United States of America, which we also audit. 


We are very interested in your views regarding certain matters. Those matters are listed here: 


a. We typically will communicate with your top level of management unless you tell us otherwise. 


b. We understand that the governing board has the responsibility to oversee the strategic direction 


of your organization, as well as the overall accountability of the entity. Management has the 


responsibility for achieving the objectives of the entity. 


c. We need to know your views about your organization’s objectives and strategies, and the related 


business risks that may result in material misstatements. 


d. We anticipate that the City will receive an unmodified opinion on its financial statements. 


e. Which matters do you consider warrant particular attention during the audit, and are there any 


areas where you request additional procedures to be undertaken? 


f. Have you had any significant communications with regulators or grantor agencies? 


g. Are there other matters that you believe are relevant to the audit of the financial statements? 


Also, is there anything that we need to know about the attitudes, awareness and actions of the governing 


body concerning: 


a. The entity’s internal control and its importance in the entity, including how those charged with 


governance oversee the effectiveness of internal control? 


b. The detection or the possibility of fraud? 


We also need to know if you have taken actions in response to developments in financial reporting, laws, 


accounting standards, governance practices, or other related matters, or in response to previous 


communications with us. 


With regard to the timing of our audit, here is some general information. If necessary, we may do 


preliminary financial audit work during the months of October-December, and sometimes early in January. 


Our final financial fieldwork is scheduled during the spring to best coincide with your readiness and report 


deadlines. After fieldwork, we wrap up our financial audit procedures at our office and may issue drafts of 


our report for your review. Final copies of our report and other communications are issued after approval 


by your staff. This is typically 6-12 weeks after final fieldwork, but may vary depending on a number of 


factors.  







 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 29 


Keep in mind that while this communication may assist us with planning the scope and timing of the audit, 


it does not change the auditor’s sole responsibility to determine the overall audit strategy and the audit 


plan, including the nature, timing and extent of procedures necessary to obtain sufficient appropriate audit 


evidence. 


We realize that you may have questions on what this all means, or wish to provide other feedback. We 


welcome the opportunity to hear from you. 





		07 R-116-2023 - Acceptance of 2022 Financial Statements and Management Letter.pdf

		07a City of Stoughton AUD 12-31-2022 FS FINAL.pdf

		Prop CFS

		Proprietary CFS

		Proprietary CFS

		Proprietary CFS

		Proprietary CFS

		Proprietary CFS

		Proprietary CFS

		Prop CFS

		Proprietary CFS

		Proprietary CFS

		Proprietary CFS

		Proprietary CFS

		Index to Notes

		Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		TOC NOTE I.D.8

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		CF Notes

		General Fund IS Budget to Actual

		S1A

		S1A

		Notes

		Notes

		Combining custodial FSCNA

		City of Stoughton AUD 12-31-2022 - BT - Opinion.pdf

		Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

		Opinions

		Basis for Opinion

		Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

		Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

		Required Supplementary Information

		Supplementary Information

		Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

		Select office





		07b City of Stoughton AUD 12-31-2022 Audit Results FINAL.pdf










 
\\sto-fs1\global-public-files\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2023 PACKETS\07-25-2023\08 R-119-2023 Preliminary Plat for Lots 1, 3 and 4 within the 51 West Subdivision - 
Resolution.doc 
 


CITY OF STOUGHTON 
 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 
 


Resolution by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton 
Conditionally Approving the Preliminary Plat for Lots 1, 3 and 4 within the 51 West Subdivision 
  
Committee Action: 


 
Plan Commission recommends approval 6 - 0   


 
Fiscal Impact: 


 
N/A  


File Number: 
 
R -119 - 23 


 
Date Introduced: 


 
July 25, 2023 


The City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, Common Council does proclaim as follows: 
 


RECITALS 
 
A. A preliminary plat titled “Blue Grass Replat – Preliminary Plat” dated May 1, 2023 


(the “Plat”)(Exhibit A) was submitted by Bruce Hollar for Jerod Bennet (the 
“Owner”) to the City of Stoughton (the “City”) on May 2, 2023 for review and action, 
and the statutory review period will expire on July 31, 2023. 
 


B. The Plat was referred to the Plan Commission for review and recommendation to the 
City Council. 
 


C. The Plan Commission has reviewed the Plat, and determined that the Plat will only be 
consistent with the City of Stoughton ordinances, Chapter 236 of Wisconsin Statutes, 
and the City of Stoughton Comprehensive Plan if all of the conditions set forth below 
are satisfied.  The Plan Commission recommends approving the Plat subject to the 
conditions set forth below. 
 


D. The Common Council has reviewed the Plat, and agrees with the Plan Commission 
recommendations. 
 







 
\\sto-fs1\global-public-files\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2023 PACKETS\07-25-2023\08 R-119-2023 Preliminary Plat for Lots 1, 3 and 4 within the 51 West Subdivision - 
Resolution.doc 
 


RESOLUTION 
 


The Common Council of the City of Stoughton hereby approves the Preliminary Plat 
of “Blue Grass Replat – Preliminary Plat” (dated May 1, 2023) subject to the following 
conditions: 
 
1. A final plat shall not be approved unless the following conditions are satisfied: 


 
2. The final plat shall include a notation informing prospective purchasers of the 


obligation to pay park improvement fees to the City at the time of building permit 
issuance. 
 


3. Before the City will sign a Final Plat, Developer must reimburse the City for all 
expenses incurred by the City in connection with its review and processing of the Plat, 
a Final Plat, and the development of the lands within the Plat.  Such reimbursement 
shall include all fees the City has paid to legal, planning, engineering, financial and 
other consultants. 
 


4. Erosion control and stormwater management plans must be approved by the City 
before the City will sign a Final Plat.   
 


5. All easements the City or Stoughton Utilities identify as necessary during the course 
of reviewing the Plat or the construction plans and specifications must be dedicated 
on the Final Plat.   
 
 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote       
 
 
Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  
  
 
            
Tim Swadley, Mayor    Date 


 
Council Action:           Override  Vote       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







\\sto-fs1\global-public-files\PACKETS\PLAN COMMISSION\2023\071023\PC Info\51 West Lots 1,3,4 Memo.doc 


 
 


CITY OF STOUGHTON  RODNEY J. SCHEEL 
DEPARTMENT OF    DIRECTOR 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI. 53589 


 
(608) 873-6619     www.ci.stoughton.wi.us 


 
 
 


 
 
Date:  July 5, 2023 
 
To:  Plan Commission and Common Council   
   
From:  Rodney J. Scheel 
  Director of Planning & Development 
 
  Michael P. Stacey 
  Zoning Administrator/Assistant Planner 
 
Subject: Agenda Item for the July 10, 2023 Plan Commission Meeting and July 25, 2023 


Common Council meeting 
 
 
Preliminary Plat for Lots 1, 3 and 4 within the 51 West Subdivision. 
The applicant is seeking to create 38 twin home lots.  This will allow the 19 duplex structures to be 
sold as zero-lot-line twin homes.  Each twin home will have separate water, sewer and electric 
services. 
 
The application materials and resolution are provided.  A public hearing and recommendation to the 
Common Council is necessary. 
 
 
 
 


 



http://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us/





38


25


26


27


28


29


30


31


32


33


34


35


36


37


1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16


2423
222120191817


O.L. 1


BLUE GRASS REPLAT - PRELIMINARY PLAT
LOTS 1, 3 AND 4, 51 WEST, RECORDED IN VOLUME 61-063B OF PLATS ON PAGES 377-379 AS DOCUMENT NUMBER


5837187 IN THE DANE COUNTY REGISTER OF DEEDS OFFICE, LOCATED IN THE NW1/4 OF THE NE1/4 AND THE NE1/4 OF
THE NE1/4 OF SECTION 1, T5N, R10E, CITY OF STOUGHTON, DANE COUNTY, WISCONSIN


SHEET 1 OF 1


EXHIBIT   A







\\Sto-fs1\city-shared$\MPS-Shared\Plat Notices\Preliminary Plat Public Hearing Notice - Prelim Plat at Lots 1-3 and 4 at 51 West.doc 


NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
 


The City of Stoughton Plan Commission will hold a Public Hearing on Monday, 


July 10, 2023 at 6:00 o’clock p.m., or as soon thereafter as the matter may be 


heard, in the Council Chambers, 2nd Floor, Public Safety Building, 321 South 


Fourth Street, Stoughton, Wisconsin, to consider the Preliminary Plat for Lots 1, 


3 and 4 at the 51 West Subdivision.  (Plat submitted on May 2, 2023) 


 


A copy of the Preliminary Plat and a map of the area adjacent to the plat can be 


reviewed at City Hall, Department of Planning & Development office, 207 S. 


Forrest Street, Stoughton, during normal business hours.  The plat can also be 


viewed at https://stoughtoncitydocs.com/planning-commission 


 
Location: The meeting of the Plan Commission will be conducted as a hybrid meeting.  


(Virtual and In-Person) 


In-Person:  Council Chambers (2nd floor of the Public Safety Building) 


    321 S. Fourth Street, Stoughton, WI 


 


Virtual:   You can join the meeting using a computer, tablet or smartphone via Zoom 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/82765957880?pwd=ZFd4QnlJaklGalduU2ViQWR6cTY5QT09 


 


Phone in:  +1 312 626 6799      Meeting ID: 827 6595 7880 Passcode: 323926 


 
If you wish to call in and speak at the meeting, please register at: 
http://speak.cityofstoughton.com by 5:45 on or before the day of the meeting. Any written 
comments will be forwarded on to the “Organizer” and Commissioners. 


 


Contact Rodney Scheel, Director of Planning & Development at 608-873-6619 or 


rjscheel@cityofstoughton.com with questions. 


 


       


Published June 8 and June 15, 2023 


 


 


 


 


 



https://stoughtoncitydocs.com/planning-commission

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/82765957880?pwd=ZFd4QnlJaklGalduU2ViQWR6cTY5QT09

http://speak.cityofstoughton.com/

mailto:rjscheel@cityofstoughton.com





CITY OF STOUGHTON 


DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 


CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP/PLAT APPLICATION 
FEES EFFECTIVE 1.12.23 


 
Date of Application ________________________________________________________________________ 
 


Applicant Name __________________________________________ Phone___________________________ 
 


Applicant Email___________________________________________________________________________________ 
 


Owners Name (if different than applicant) ________________________________ Phone_______________ 
 


Subject Property Address __________________________________________________________________ 


   


Application for:  CSM ________      PRELIMINARY PLAT ________      FINAL PLAT ________ 


 


 


CURRENT FEES 


 
CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP:  $185 AND $45/LOT* 


PRELIMINARY PLAT FEE:  $485 AND $45/LOT* 


FINAL PLAT FEE:    $290 AND $45/LOT* 
 


Number of Lots:                        .   


 


Fee Amount: $                            . 


 


 


  


 


 


 


  


 


 


 


Owner/Applicant Signature___________________________________________ Date_________________ 


 
 


ANY QUESTIONS, CALL THE DEPT. OF PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT AT 608-646-0421.   


 


 *ANY ADDITIONAL COST INCURRED OVER THE PERMIT FEE AMOUNT WILL BE BILLED 


TO THE PROPERTY OWNER AND/OR RESPONSIBLE PARTY.  DWELLING UNITS INCLUDE 


EXISTING AND PROPOSED DWELLINGS. 


 


 
S:\Planning\MPS\Forms&Pamphlets\CSM-Plat Application 2022.doc 



bhollar

Text Box

May 2, 2023



bhollar

Text Box

Bruce Hollar



bhollar

Text Box

bhollar@donofrio.cc



bhollar

Text Box

608-833-7530



bhollar

Text Box

Jerod Bennett



bhollar

Text Box

608-212-0386



bhollar

Text Box

2900 - 3020 Blue Grass Dr



bhollar

Text Box

x



bhollar

Text Box

38



bhollar

Text Box

2195



bhollar

Image



bhollar

Text Box

5/2/23







mstacey

Highlight



mstacey

Highlight



mstacey

Highlight







O
U


T
LO


T
 2


ST
O


R
M


W
AT


ER
M


AN
AG


EM
EN


T


O
U


T
LO


T
 3


PA
R


K


10
' M


U
LT


IU
SE


 P
AT


H


PA
LM


 G
R


AS
S 


W
AY


WILD GOOSE WAY


BLUE GRASS DRIVE


RUTLAND DUNN TOWNLINE ROAD


O
U


T
LO


T
 1


LO
T


 2


LO
T


 5
LO


T
 6


10
' M


U
LT


IU
SE


 P
AT


H
W


ES
T


 P
LA


T
 L


IN
E


20
' S


ET
BA


C
K


20
' S


ET
BA


C
K


20
'


20
' S


ET
BA


C
K


20
' S


ET
BA


C
K


20
' S


ET
BA


C
K


20
' S


ET
BA


C
K


12
' U


TI
LI


TY
 E


AS
EM


EN
T


12
' U


TI
LI


TY
 E


AS
EM


EN
T


12
' U


TI
LI


TY
 E


AS
EM


EN
T


20
' S


ET
BA


C
K


20
' S


ET
BA


C
K


N
0°


 0
9'


 0
8"


W
   


  7
11


.3
4'


N
00


° 0
9'


 0
3"


E 
   


68
1.


03
'


N89° 55' 41"W    114.60'


N86° 18' 42"W    126.61'


N89° 59' 55"E    688.90'


N89° 55' 41"W    485.14'
N79° 25' 37"W    108.83'


N
00


° 0
1'


 2
4"


W
   


 1
73


.1
6'


N
00


° 0
8'


 3
6"


W
   


 1
43


.6
0'


N
00


° 0
8'


 0
3"


E 
   


11
6.


21
'


N89° 55' 41"W    158.47'


N89° 48' 26"E    205.95'
S79° 26' 19"E    136.50'


N79° 26' 19"W    107.36'


N
10


° 4
3'


 2
1"


E 
   


13
0.


00
'


P-
1


P-
2


P-
3


P-
4


P-
5


P-
6


P-
7


P-
8


P-
9


P-
10


P-
11


P-
12


P-
13


P-
14


P-
15


P-
16


P-
17


P-
18


P-
19


P-
20


P-
21


P-
22


P-
23


P-
24


P-
25


P-
26


P-
27


P-
28


P-
29


P-
30


P-
31


P-
32


P-
33


P-
34


P-
35


P-
36


P-
37


P-
38


10
' S


ET
BA


C
K


10
' S


ET
BA


C
K


10
' S


ET
BA


C
K


12
' U


TI
LI


TY
 E


AS
EM


EN
T


12
' U


TI
LI


TY
 E


AS
EM


EN
T


12
' U


TI
LI


TY
EA


SE
M


EN
T


12
' U


TI
LI


TY
EA


SE
M


EN
T


12
' U


TI
LI


TY
 E


AS
EM


EN
T


12
' U


TI
LI


TY
 E


AS
EM


EN
T


O
U


TL
O


T


12
' U


TI
LI


TY
EA


SE
M


EN
T


12
' U


TI
LI


TY
 E


AS
EM


EN
T


12
' U


TI
LI


TY
 E


AS
EM


EN
T


11.1' 11.1' 11.1' 11.1' 11.1' 11.1' 12.2' 12.2' 12.2' 12.2' 12.2' 12.2' 12.2' 12.2'


15.4'


14'


12
'


PATIO


14'


12
'


PATIO


14'


12
'


PATIO
14'


12
'


PATIO


14'


12
'


14'


12
'


14'


12
'


31' 31'


39
'


31' 31'


39
'


31' 31'


39
' 31' 31'


39
'


38'38'38' 38'38'


24'24' 24'
24'


13.1'


SITE  PLAN


Lots 1, 3 and 4 Replat


D
R


AW
N


 B
Y:


 D
W


S


FN
:  


23
-0


5-
11


5


C1
00


D
AT


E:
 0


5-
01


-2
3


R
EV


IS
ED


:


Sh
ee


t 
N


um
be


r:


51 WEST
 CITY OF STOUGHTON, DANE COUNTY, WISCONSIN


40
0SC


AL
E:


 1
"=


 4
0'


(P
AG


E 
SI


ZE
: 2


2x
34


)



AutoCAD SHX Text

U:/USER/2205130/DRAWINGS/2205130 SITE PLAN.DWG





		08 R-119-2023 Preliminary Plat for Lots 1, 3 and 4 within the 51 West Subdivision - Resolution

		08a Preliminary Plat - Lots 1-3-4 at 51 West

		Blue Grass Replat - Preliminary Plat 2023.05.01.pdf

		Sheets and Views

		22x30 Preliminary Plat





		Prelim Overall Site Plan.pdf

		Sheets and Views

		Overall Site Plan
















 
\\sto-fs1\global-public-files\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2023 PACKETS\07-25-2023\09 R-120-2023 Preliminary Condo Plat for - 839-981 N. Page Street - Resolution.doc 
 


CITY OF STOUGHTON 
 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 
 


Resolution by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton 
Conditionally Approving the Preliminary Condo Plat for 839 – 981 N. Page Street 


  
Committee Action: 


 
Plan Commission recommends approval 6 - 0   


 
Fiscal Impact: 


 
N/A  


File Number: 
 
R -120 - 23 


 
Date Introduced: 


 
July 25, 2023 


The City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, Common Council does proclaim as follows: 
 


RECITALS 
 
A. A preliminary plat titled “Page Street Condominium”, (the “Plat”)(Exhibit A) was 


submitted by Anwar Zaidi (the “Owner”) to the City of Stoughton (the “City”) on 
May 3, 2023 for review and action, and the statutory review period will expire on 
August 1, 2023. 
 


B. The Plat was referred to the Plan Commission for review and recommendation to the 
City Council. 
 


C. The Plan Commission has reviewed the Plat, and determined that the Plat will only be 
consistent with the City of Stoughton ordinances, Chapter 236 of Wisconsin Statutes, 
and the City of Stoughton Comprehensive Plan if all of the conditions set forth below 
are satisfied.  The Plan Commission recommends approving the Plat subject to the 
conditions set forth below. 
 


D. The Common Council has reviewed the Plat, and agrees with the Plan Commission 
recommendations. 
 







 
\\sto-fs1\global-public-files\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2023 PACKETS\07-25-2023\09 R-120-2023 Preliminary Condo Plat for - 839-981 N. Page Street - Resolution.doc 
 


RESOLUTION 
 


The Common Council of the City of Stoughton hereby approves the Preliminary 
Condo Plat named “Page Street Condominium”, subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. A final plat shall not be approved unless the following conditions are satisfied: 


 
2. Before the City will sign a Final Plat, Developer must reimburse the City for all 


expenses incurred by the City in connection with its review and processing of the Plat, 
a Final Plat, and the development of the lands within the Plat.  Such reimbursement 
shall include all fees the City has paid to legal, planning, engineering, financial and 
other consultants. 
 
 
 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote       
 
 
Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  
  
 
            
Tim Swadley, Mayor    Date 


 
Council Action:           Override  Vote       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







\\sto-fs1\global-public-files\PACKETS\PLAN COMMISSION\2023\071023\PC Info\839-981 N. Page Memo.doc 


CITY OF STOUGHTON RODNEY J. SCHEEL 
DEPARTMENT OF   DIRECTOR 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI. 53589 


(608) 873-6619     www.ci.stoughton.wi.us 


Date: July 5, 2023 


To: Plan Commission and Common Council 


From: Rodney J. Scheel 
Director of Planning & Development 


Michael P. Stacey 
Zoning Administrator/Assistant Planner 


Subject: Agenda Item for the July 10, 2023 Plan Commission Meeting and July 25, 2023 
Common Council meeting 


Preliminary Condominium Plat for property at 839-981 N. Page Street. 
The applicant is seeking to create 6 condominium units.  Units 961, 971, 977 and 981 are 
commercial business units.  Unit 925 is storage units and unit 839 is vacant land. 


The owner plans to sell off the gas station, unit 981 and keep the remaining units.  There are plans 
to build some retail space in the future on the vacant space. 


The application materials and resolution are provided.  A public hearing and recommendation to the 
Common Council is necessary. 



http://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us/





EXHIBIT   A







\\Sto-fs1\city-shared$\MPS-Shared\Plat Notices\Preliminary Plat Public Hearing Notice - Condo at 839-981 N. Page Street.doc 


NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
 


The City of Stoughton Plan Commission will hold a Public Hearing on Monday, 


July 10, 2023 at 6:00 o’clock p.m., or as soon thereafter as the matter may be 


heard, in the Council Chambers, 2nd Floor, Public Safety Building, 321 South 


Fourth Street, Stoughton, Wisconsin, to consider the Preliminary Condominium 


Plat for 839-981 N. Page Street.  (Plat submitted on May 3, 2023) 


 


A copy of the Preliminary Condominium Plat and a map of the area adjacent to the 


plat can be reviewed at City Hall, Department of Planning & Development office, 


207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, during normal business hours.  The plat can also 


be viewed at https://stoughtoncitydocs.com/planning-commission 


 
Location: The meeting of the Plan Commission will be conducted as a hybrid meeting.  


(Virtual and In-Person) 


In-Person:  Council Chambers (2nd floor of the Public Safety Building) 


    321 S. Fourth Street, Stoughton, WI 


 


Virtual:   You can join the meeting using a computer, tablet or smartphone via Zoom 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/82765957880?pwd=ZFd4QnlJaklGalduU2ViQWR6cTY5QT09 


 


Phone in:  +1 312 626 6799      Meeting ID: 827 6595 7880 Passcode: 323926 


 
If you wish to call in and speak at the meeting, please register at: 
http://speak.cityofstoughton.com by 5:45 on or before the day of the meeting. Any written 
comments will be forwarded on to the “Organizer” and Commissioners. 


 


Contact Rodney Scheel, Director of Planning & Development at 608-873-6619 or 


rjscheel@cityofstoughton.com with questions. 


 


       


Published June 8 and June 15, 2023 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


  



https://stoughtoncitydocs.com/planning-commission

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/82765957880?pwd=ZFd4QnlJaklGalduU2ViQWR6cTY5QT09

http://speak.cityofstoughton.com/

mailto:rjscheel@cityofstoughton.com









Map data ©2023 200 ft 


981 N Page St



mstacey

Highlight





		09 R-120-2023 Preliminary Condo Plat for - 839-981 N. Page Street - Resolution

		09a Preliminary Condo Plat - 839-981 N. Page Street










CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S. FORREST STREET, STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN 
 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 
 


Approving a Certified Survey Map (CSM) to create one lot and one outlot from lots 9 and 10 of the 
Chalet Subdivision 


 
Committee Action: 


 
Plan Commission recommends Council approval 6 – 0  


Fiscal Impact: 
 
  


File Number: 
 
R -121- 2023 


 
Date Introduced: 


 
July 25, 2023 


RECITALS 
 
1. The CSM is referred to the Plan Commission for review and recommendation to the City Council. 


 
2. Todd Nelson is requesting to create one lot for construction of a duplex structure.   


 
3. The Plan Commission reviewed the CSM on July 10, 2023 and determined the CSM is consistent 


with the City of Stoughton ordinances, Chapter 236 of Wisconsin Statutes, and the City of Stoughton 
Comprehensive Plan. 
 


4. The Plan Commission recommends approval of the CSM by the Common Council as presented. The 
Common Council agrees with the Plan Commission’s recommendation. 
 


RESOLUTION 
 


The Common Council of the City of Stoughton hereby approves the CSM, subject to: 
• The CSM being recorded at Dane County Register of Deeds and a copy being provided to the 


City of Stoughton Department of Planning & Development; 
 
 


 
Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote       
  
 
Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  
  
                                             
Mayor Tim Swadley    Date 


 
Council Action:           Override  Vote       
 
 
 
  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
\\Sto-fs1\city-shared$\MPS-Shared\Resolutions\Chalet Court CSM 2023.doc 







\\sto-fs1\global-public-files\PACKETS\PLAN COMMISSION\2023\071023\PC Info\Chalet Court CSM Memo.doc 


 
 


CITY OF STOUGHTON  RODNEY J. SCHEEL 
DEPARTMENT OF    DIRECTOR 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI. 53589 


 
(608) 873-6619     www.cityofstoughton.com 


 
 
 


 
 
Date:  July 5, 2023 
 
To:  Plan Commission and Common Council   
   
From:  Rodney J. Scheel 
  Director of Planning & Development 
 
  Michael P. Stacey 
  Zoning Administrator/Assistant Planner 
 
Subject: Agenda Item for the July 10, 2023 Plan Commission Meeting and July 25, 2023 


Common Council meeting 
 
 
Certified Survey Map for property at Chalet Subdivision. 
The applicant is seeking to create one duplex lot for immediate construction by reconfiguring lots 9 
and 10 of the Chalet Subdivision.  The intent is to create more duplex lots in the future along Chalet 
Drive and the applicant is in discussions with the City to create parkland at the back of the Chalet 
Subdivision. 
 
The application materials and resolution are provided.   A recommendation to the Common Council 
is necessary. 
 
 
 
 


 



http://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us/





To the City of Stoughton Planning and Zoning Dept. 
 
The owner wishes to rezone Lot #1 (legal description is attached) to allow for one duplex 
lot.  The property is vacant and currently provides the city with no meaningful value. If anything 
it acts as a dumping ground of rubble.  The addition of a duplex at this location would provide 
much needed affordable housing at an infill location that is absent from any housing 
developments.  In addition there would be a substantial increase in tax base.  The rezoning is 
consistent with the City of Stoughton's master plan.  Commencement of construction would 
begin immediately after final approval from the city. 
 
Restfully submitted. 
 
Todd Nelson 


 











June 12, 2023 
FN: 123.0464.30 


 
Proposed Lot 1 – Legal Description 


 
Part of Lots 9-10, CHALET SUBDIVISION, as recorded in Volume 40 of Plats, on page 7, as Document 


Number 1358827, Dane County Registry, and located in the Northeast Quarter of the Northwest Quarter of Section 
9, Township 5 North, Range 11 East, City of Stoughton, Dane County, Wisconsin, more fully described as follows:  


 
Commencing at the North Quarter corner of said Section 9, thence S89°11'57"W along the North line of the 


Northwest Quarter of said Section 9, 894.30 feet the extension of the westerly right of way line of Chalet Drive; 
thence S00°27'19"E, 33.27 feet to the Northeast corner of Lot 16, said CHALET SUBDIVISION; thence continuing 
S00°27'19"E, along the westerly right of way line of Chalet Drive, and the easterly line of Lots 15 & 16, CHALET 
SUBDIVISION, 343.48 feet to the point of beginning; thence continuing along said westerly right of way line, 
S00°27'19"E, 93.23 feet to the Northeast corner of Lot 1, Certified Survey Map Number 9846, Dane County 
Registry; thence along the North line of said Certified Survey Map, S89°48'43"W, 130.00 feet; thence 
N00°27’19”W, 92.12 feet; thence N89°19’24”E, 130.00 to the point of beginning. This description contains 
approximately 12,048 square feet or 0.2766 acres. 


 
 
.   
 
 
 
 

























		10 R-121-2023 Chalet Court CSM 2023

		10a Chalet Court CSM










CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI 53589 
 


ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 
An ordinance amending the zoning classification at CSM Lot 1 (part of lots 9 and 10, Chalet 


Subdivision) in the City of Stoughton, WI.  


Committee 
Action:    


Plan Commission recommends Council approval 6 – 0  


Fiscal Impact:        


File Number: O - 23 - 2023 Date Introduced: 
 


First Reading: July 25, 2023 
Second Reading: August 8, 2023 


 
RECITALS 


 
1. Chalet Court LLC (Todd Nelson) (the “Owner/Applicant”) has requested to change the 


zoning classification of the parcel at CSM Lot 1 (part of lots 9 and 10, Chalet 
Subdivision) from RH – Rural Holding to TR-6 Two Family Residential.     
 


2. The applicant proposes to create one duplex lot for development. 
 
3. On July 10, 2023, the City of Stoughton Plan Commission held a public hearing 


regarding the proposed zoning change.  The public hearing was preceded by the 
publication of a class 2 notice, and other notices required by law.  
 


4. The Plan Commission found that the proposed zoning change is consistent with the City 
of Stoughton Comprehensive Plan, and recommends that the zoning change be approved 
as presented.   


 
5. The Common Council has considered the proposed zoning change, the Plan 


Commission’s recommendation and finds that the proposed zoning change is consistent 
with the City of Stoughton Comprehensive Plan. 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







ORDINANCE 
 


The Common Council of the City of Stoughton, Dane County, Wisconsin do ordain as follows: 
 


Section 1. The recitals set forth above are material to and are incorporated in this ordinance 
as if set forth in full. 


   
Section 2. Subject to the conditions set forth in section 3 below, the zoning classification of 


the parcel at CSM Lot 1 (part of lots 9 and 10, Chalet Subdivision) from RH – Rural Holding to TR-6 
Two Family Residential. 


 
Section 3. This ordinance shall take effect upon publication pursuant to law and after the 


certified survey map is recorded. 
 
 


 
 


Dates 
Council Adopted:    
 
Mayor Approved:             
       Tim Swadley, Mayor 
Published:     
 
Attest:               


        Candee Christen, City Clerk  
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
  
  
  
 
  
 
 
  
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
\\Sto-fs1\city-shared$\MPS-Shared\Ordinances\Rezonings\CSM Lot 1 Chalet Subdivision Rezoning Ordinance.doc 
 
 
 
 
 







\\sto-fs1\global-public-files\PACKETS\PLAN COMMISSION\2023\071023\PC Info\Chalet Court Rezoning Memo.doc 


 
 


CITY OF STOUGHTON  RODNEY J. SCHEEL 
DEPARTMENT OF    DIRECTOR 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI. 53589 


 
(608) 873-6619     www.cityofstoughton.com 


 
 
 


 
 
Date:  July 5, 2023 
 
To:  Plan Commission and Common Council   
   
From:  Rodney J. Scheel 
  Director of Planning & Development 
 
  Michael P. Stacey 
  Zoning Administrator/Assistant Planner 
 
Subject: Agenda Item for the July 10, 2023 Plan Commission Meeting and Common Council 


meetings of July 25 and August 8, 2023 
 
 
Rezoning of Lot 1, Certified Survey Map (CSM), at the Chalet Subdivision. 
The applicant/owner is seeking to rezone this newly created parcel from RH - Rural Holding to TR-
6 - Two Family Residential.  The intent is to begin construction of a duplex as soon as possible. 
 
The applicant/owner plans to create additional duplex lots along Chalet Drive and has been in 
discussions with the City about creation of parkland at the rear of the Chalet Subdivision. 
 
The application materials and ordinance are provided.   A public hearing and recommendation to 
the Common Council is necessary. 
 
 
 
 


 



http://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us/





PUBLIC HEARING NOTICE 
 


The City of Stoughton Plan Commission will hold a Public Hearing on Monday, July 10, 2023 at 
6:00 o’clock p.m., or as soon after as the matter may be heard, to consider a proposed rezoning of 
the property at CSM Lot 1, Chalet Subdivision, part of Lots 9 and 10, City of Stoughton, 
Wisconsin, owned by Chalet Court LLC (Todd Nelson).  The property (CSM Lot 1) is proposed 
to be rezoned from RH - Rural Holding to TR-6 – Two Family Residential. 
 
Location: The meeting of the Plan Commission will be conducted as a hybrid meeting.  (Virtual 


and In-Person) 


In-Person:  Council Chambers (2nd floor of the Public Safety Building) 
    321 S. Fourth Street, Stoughton, WI 
 
Virtual:   You can join the meeting using a computer, tablet or smartphone via Zoom 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/82765957880?pwd=ZFd4QnlJaklGalduU2ViQWR6cTY5QT09 
 
Phone in:  +1 312 626 6799      Meeting ID: 827 6595 7880 Passcode: 323926 
 
If you wish to call in and speak at the meeting, please register at: 
http://speak.cityofstoughton.com by 5:45 on or before the day of the meeting. Any written 
comments will be forwarded on to the “Organizer” and Commissioners. 
 
For questions regarding this notice please contact Michael Stacey, Zoning Administrator at 608-
646-0421.   
 
Additional information including a location map can be found at: 
http://stoughtoncitydocs.com/planning-commission/ 
 
     
Published June 22 and 29, 2023 Hub 
 
 
 


 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
\\Sto-fs1\city-shared$\MPS-Shared\Ordinances\Rezonings\Rezoning Notices\Rezone Parts of Lots 9 and 10 Chalet Subdivsion.doc 



https://us06web.zoom.us/j/82765957880?pwd=ZFd4QnlJaklGalduU2ViQWR6cTY5QT09

http://speak.cityofstoughton.com/





To the City of Stoughton Planning and Zoning Dept. 
 
The owner wishes to rezone Lot #1 (legal description is attached) to allow for one duplex 
lot.  The property is vacant and currently provides the city with no meaningful value. If anything 
it acts as a dumping ground of rubble.  The addition of a duplex at this location would provide 
much needed affordable housing at an infill location that is absent from any housing 
developments.  In addition there would be a substantial increase in tax base.  The rezoning is 
consistent with the City of Stoughton's master plan.  Commencement of construction would 
begin immediately after final approval from the city. 
 
Restfully submitted. 
 
Todd Nelson 


 























IV. Final Application Packet Information for City Use


Receipt of (8.5'' by 11" text and 11" by 1 7'' graphic electronic


copies of final application packet by Zoning Administrator


Notified Neighboring Property Owners (within 300 feet)


Notified Neighboring Township Clerks (within 1,000 feet)


Class 2 legal notice sent to official newspaper by City Clerk


Class 2 legal notice published on 6/22/23 and 6/29/23


S: \Planning\MPS\Ponns&Pamph!ets \Applications \Zoning Map Amendment APP .doc 


Date: 


Date: 5/23/23 


Date: 7/5/23


Date:6/10/23





		11 O-23-2023 CSM Lot 1 Chalet Subdivision Rezoning Ordinance

		11a Chalet Court Rezoning










Meetings of: COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STOUGHTON 
Date//Time: Tuesday, July 25, 2023, 7:00 p.m. 
Location: The meeting of the Common Council will be conducted as a hybrid meeting. 


Virtual: You can join the meeting from your computer, tablet, or smartphone via Zoom:   
    https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81098095850?pwd=RVpwdDVLdjFkQmdGaG0rbXQ5VWVydz09 


Meeting ID: 810 9809 5850 
Passcode: 000572 
+16469313860,,81098095850#,,,,*000572# US


In-person: Council Chambers, (2nd Floor of Public Safety Building) 
       321 South Fourth Street, Stoughton, Wisconsin 


The meeting can also be live-streamed on https://wsto.tv/live and Spectrum Channel 981 or on TDS 
Channel 12.  WSTO TV App is also available on Roku, Apple TV, Fire TV, Android and iOS. 


Members: Mayor Tim Swadley, Phil Caravello, Ben Heili, Regina Hirsch, Greg Jenson, Jean Ligocki, 
Tom Majewski, Daniel Payton, Lisa Reeves, Jonathan Schroerlucke, Brett Schumacher, Vacant (2) 


ATTENTION COUNCIL MEMBERS: TWO-THIRDS OF THE MEMBERS ARE NEEDED FOR A 
QUORUM (SEVEN). The Council may only conduct business when a quorum is present. If you are unable to 
attend the meeting, please notify the City Clerk’s office via telephone at (608) 873-6677 or via email at 
cchristen@cityofstoughton.com 


CALL TO ORDER 


1. Roll Call


2. Certification of compliance with open meetings law


3. Public Comment Period:
A. If you would like to speak during the public comment period, please fill out the form and submit


it by 6:30 p.m. on July 25, 2023. http://speak.cityofstoughton.com.


4. Communications and Presentations:
A. Baker Tilly US, LLP presentation of audited financial statements 2022 and management letter 2022
B. American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) available funds 07-13-2023
C. Stoughton Water Quality: 2022-2023 Lead and Copper Sampling Results


OFFICIAL NOTICE AND AGENDA 
Notice is hereby given that the Common Council of the City of Stoughton, 
Wisconsin, will hold a regular or special meeting as indicated on the date and at 
the time and location given below. 



https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81098095850?pwd=RVpwdDVLdjFkQmdGaG0rbXQ5VWVydz09

https://wsto.tv/live

mailto:cchristen@cityofstoughton.com

http://speak.cityofstoughton.com/





 
5.  Consent Agenda: 


A.  Council Minutes – July 11, 2023 
       B.  Committee Minutes and Reports:  Finance (6/27/23); Planning (6/12/23); Committee on Aging        
 (6/6/23); Landmarks (6/8/23); Park & Rec (4/18/23, 5/16/23); River & Trails (5/01/23; Public Works 
 (6/15/23);  Library (6/21/23)                                   
       C.  R-117-2023 Outdoor Consumption Permit for the period of July 1, 2023, to June 30, 2024,  
 (Banushi’s Bar and Grill) 
      D. R-118-2023 Authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) to appoint Puree Hill as the  
 agent for KPW Hospitality, d/b/a Tru by Hilton, located at 2500 Jackson St.  
      E. Stoughton Utilities Payments Due List Report – May, Stoughton Utilities Payments Due  List 
 Report – June, Stoughton Utilities Financial Summary – April, Stoughton Utilities 
 Financial Summary – May, Stoughton Utilities Statistical Report – May, Stoughton 
 Utilities Statistical Report – June, Minutes 5/15/23 and 6/19/23  
   
OLD BUSINESS                                                                                                


NEW BUSINESS 


6. Aldermanic District 1 & 4 Appointments: Interviews, appointment, administration of oath, and seating of 
new alderpersons  


7. R-116-2023 Accept financial statements and management letter reports dated December 31, 2022 (Finance 
Committee is considering on July 25, 2023)     TIME SENSITIVE ITEM 


8. R-119-2023 Preliminary Plat for Lots 1, 3 and 4 within the 51 West Subdivision.  (Plan Commission 
recommends approval 6 – 0) 


9. R-120-2023 Preliminary Condominium Plat for property at 839-981 N. Page Street.  (Plan 
Commission recommends approval 6 – 0) 


10. R-121-2023 Certified Survey Map (CSM) for property at Chalet Subdivision.  (Plan Commission 
recommends approval 6 – 0) 


11. O-23-2023 Rezoning of Certified Survey Map (CSM), Lot 1 at the Chalet Subdivision.  (Plan 
Commission recommends approval 6 – 0)      FIRST READING 


12. R-122-2023 Authorizing the Partial Release of a Platted Public Utility Easement on Lot 141 of John 
Nygaard’s Virgin Lake Estates (2108 Wood View Dr), recorded as Document No. 5592538, Dane County 
Registry Encl. (Utilities recommends 5-0) 
 
ADJOURNMENT 


 
Upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and 
services. For information or to request such assistance, please call the City Hall at (608) 873-6677. 
By: Mayor Tim Swadley, Council President Regina Hirsch 
 







Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81098095850?pwd=RVpwdDVLdjFkQmdGaG0rbXQ5VWVydz09 
 
Meeting ID: 810 9809 5850 
Passcode: 000572 
 
--- 
 
One tap mobile 
+16469313860,,81098095850#,,,,*000572# US  
+19292056099,,81098095850#,,,,*000572# US (New York) 
 
--- 
 
Dial by your location 
• +1 646 931 3860 US 
• +1 929 205 6099 US (New York) 
• +1 301 715 8592 US (Washington DC) 
• +1 305 224 1968 US 
• +1 309 205 3325 US 
• +1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago) 
• +1 689 278 1000 US 
• +1 719 359 4580 US 
• +1 253 205 0468 US 
• +1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma) 
• +1 346 248 7799 US (Houston) 
• +1 360 209 5623 US 
• +1 386 347 5053 US 
• +1 507 473 4847 US 
• +1 564 217 2000 US 
• +1 669 444 9171 US 
• +1 669 900 6833 US (San Jose) 
 
Meeting ID: 810 9809 5850 
Passcode: 000572 
 
Find your local number: https://us06web.zoom.us/u/kdr1do1Dvi 



https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81098095850?pwd=RVpwdDVLdjFkQmdGaG0rbXQ5VWVydz09

https://us06web.zoom.us/u/kdr1do1Dvi






 
City of Stoughton, 207 S Forrest Street, Stoughton WI  53589 


 
 


RESOLUTION FROM THE UTILTIES COMMITTEE TO THE  
STOUGHTON COMMON COUNCIL 


 
Authorizing the Partial Release of a Platted Public Utility Easement on Lot 141 of John Nygaard’s 
Virgin Lake Estates (2108 Wood View Dr), recorded as Document No. 5618013, Dane County Registry 


 
Committee Action: 


 
Utilities Committee recommended Common Council approval 5 - 0 


 
Fiscal Impact: None 
 
File Number: 


 
R-122-2023 


 
Date Introduced: 


 
July 25, 2023 


The City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, Common Council does proclaim as follows: 


WHEREAS, Stoughton Utilities has received a request from the property owner of Lot 141 of John 
Nygaard’s Virgin Lake Estates (2108 Wood View Dr) to release a platted public utility easement; and 


WHEREAS, the release will consist of releasing the 6-foot easement that runs along the full length, 
approximately 124-feet, of the west property boundary, with other public utility easements located 
elsewhere on the parcel remaining as currently recorded; and 


WHEREAS, Stoughton Utilities has no existing utility infrastructure located with the platted easement to 
be released; and 


WHEREAS, the proposed release has been reviewed by Stoughton Utilities staff and has been determined 
to be acceptable to the utility; and   


WHEREAS, on May 15, 2023, the Stoughton Utilities Committee met to consider and approve the release 
of a platted public utility easement on Lot 141 of John Nygaard’s Virgin Lake Estates (2108 Wood View 
Dr), recorded as Document No. 5618013, Dane County Registry, and recommend approval to the 
Stoughton Common Council; now therefore  


BE IT RESOLVED by the City of Stoughton Common Council that that the Stoughton Utilities Director 
be hereby directed to agree to the recording of a partial release of a platted public utility easement on Lot 
141 of John Nygaard’s Virgin Lake Estates (2108 Wood View Dr), recorded as Document No. 5618013, 
Dane County Registry. 


Council Action: ☐ Adopted ☐ Failed Vote:  


Mayoral Action: ☐ Accept ☐ Veto   


    
Mayor Tim Swadley  Date  


Council Action:  ☐ Override Vote:  
 







DRAFT STOUGHTON UTILITIES COMMITTEE REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Monday, May 15, 2023 – 5:30 p.m. 
Stoughton, WI  
Page No.  3 


Stoughton Electric Utility Annual Report filed with the Public Service Commission of Wisconsin:  


Stoughton Utilities staff presented and discussed the Stoughton Electric Utility Annual Report filed with the Public 


Service Commission of Wisconsin.  Discussion followed. 


Stoughton Water Utility Annual Report filed with the Public Service Commission of Wisconsin:  Stoughton 


Utilities staff presented and discussed the Stoughton Water Utility Annual Report filed with the Public Service 


Commission of Wisconsin.  Discussion followed. 


Authorizing the Partial Release of a Platted Public Utility Easement on Lot 141 of John Nygaard’s Virgin 


Lake Estates (2108 Wood View Dr), recorded as Document No. 5618013, Dane County Registry:  


Stoughton Utilities staff discussed a customer request for a partial release of a platted public utility easement.  


Staff informed the committee that Stoughton Utilities does not have any existing utility infrastructure located in 


the easement and that there were no plans to utilize the easement in the future.  Staff noted that the Dane County 


Registration Document No. 5592538 included on the meeting notice was incorrect and should be Document No. 


5618013.  Staff also noted that following attorney review it was recommended that an illustration of the easement 


to be released should be included in the documentation prior to approval by the Common Council.  Discussion 


followed.   


Motion by Chenoweth, seconded by Hirsch, to authorize the partial release of a platted public utility easement 


on Lot 141 of John Nygaard’s Virgin Lake Estates (2108 Wood View Dr), recorded as Document No. 5618013, 


Dane County Registry, and recommend approval of the partial easement release following the addition of an 


illustration of the easement to be released to the Stoughton Common Council.  The motion carried unanimously 


5 to 0.   


Wastewater 2022 Compliance Maintenance Annual Report (CMAR):  Stoughton Utilities staff presented and 


discussed the 2022 CMAR.  Staff informed the committee that annual submittal of an electronic CMAR form 


(eCMAR) is required to be completed no later than June 30.  Staff further informed the committee that there were 


no concerns noted in the CMAR.  Discussion followed.  


Motion by Payton, seconded by Jenson, to approve the 2022 Compliance Maintenance Annual Report and 


recommend the approval and adoption of the corresponding resolution to the Stoughton Common Council at 


their May 23, 2023 meeting.  The motion carried unanimously 5 to 0. 


Revisions to the City of Stoughton Investment Policy:  Stoughton Utilities staff presented and discussed a 


proposed policy that was drafted by City of Stoughton staff with input and review from Stoughton Utilities staff.  


Staff explained the proposed policy would replace procedures currently specified in the Stoughton code of 


ordinances and how the proposed policy would impact future new investments as well as the information that 


would be presented to the Utilities Committee at upcoming meetings.  Discussion followed.   


Motion by Jenson, seconded by Payton, to approve the revised City of Stoughton Investment Policy and 


recommend approval to the Stoughton Finance Committee and Stoughton Common Council.  The motion carried 


4 to 1 with Chenoweth voting No. 


Utilities Committee Future Agenda Items:  Stoughton Utilities staff informed the committee that the annual 


water Consumer Confidence Report (CCR) will be presented at the June meeting.  Committee members 


requested that a comparison of Stoughton Utilities electric rates with the rates of neighboring investor-owned 


utilities be provided at an upcoming meeting, and that a tour of the wastewater treatment facility be offered prior 



bhoops

Highlight







 
600 South Fourth Street P.O. Box 383 


Stoughton, WI  53589-0383 


Serving Electric, Water & Wastewater Since 1886 


  


Date:   
  


May 9, 2023 


To:    
  


Stoughton Utilities Committee  


From:   Jill M. Weiss, P.E. 


Stoughton Utilities Director 


Subject:  Authorizing the Partial Release of a Platted Public Utility Easement on Lot 141 of John 


Nygaard’s Virgin Lake Estates (2108 Wood View Dr), recorded as Document No. 


5592538, Dane County Registry 


Stoughton Utilities has received a request from the property owner of Lot 141 of John Nygaard’s Virgin 


Lake Estates (2108 Wood View Dr) to release a platted public utility easement.  This release will consist 


of releasing the 6-foot easement that runs along the full length, approximately 124-feet, of the west 


property boundary.  Public utility easements located elsewhere on the parcel will remain as currently 


recorded. 


Stoughton Utilities has no existing utility infrastructure located within the platted easement that has been 


requested to be released. The proposed release of the public utility easement has been reviewed by 


Stoughton Utilities staff and has been determined to be acceptable to the utility.  It is currently being 


reviewed by the Stoughton City Attorney as to form. 


We are requesting that the Stoughton Utilities Committee review and authorize the partial release of a 


platted public utility easement on Lot 141 of John Nygaard’s Virgin Lake Estates (2108 Wood View Dr), 


recorded as Document No. 5592538, Dane County Registry, with such changes necessary to finalize the 


release as are acceptable to and recommended by our legal counsel, and recommend approval of the partial 


easement release to the Stoughton Common Council at their May 23, 2023 meeting.   







 


 


In accordance with section 


236.293 of the State of Wisconsin Statutes, the City of Stoughton, 


Dane County, Wisconsin does hereby release, discharge and 


abandon all of right, title and interest in and to: 


 


See Exhibit “A” for legal description and Exhibit “B” for a 


depiction of the Easement Area to be released. 


 


This release of easement does not release or modify any other 


easements set forth on the recorded document referenced in Exhibit 


A.   


This release of easement is made for the benefit of all current 


owners of the above described property, including future 


owners/heirs. 


Authorized by Resolution Number _________________, adopted 


by the City of Stoughton Common Council on _______________, 


2022.  


Dated this ________ day of ______________, 2023.  


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, 


acting through Stoughton Utilities 


By:____________________________________ 


Name: Jill Weiss, Utilities Director  


 


                                                                            Acknowledgement 


The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of ____________, 2023, by the 


above-named Jill Weiss, known to me to be the Utilities Director of the City of Stoughton, on behalf of 


said City of Stoughton. 


 


(signature)____________________________                   Notary Commission Expires: ___ /___ /______ 


(print)_______________________________      


RELEASE OF PLATTED 


UTILITY EASEMENT 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


Record this document with the 


Register of Deeds 


Name and return address: 


 Andrew Hoffman 


2108 Wood View Dr.  


Stoughton, Wi, 53589 


Parcel Identification Number: 


281/0511-062-4471-6 







 


Exhibit A 


Easement area to be released: 


A 123.66-foot-long and 6-foot-wide utility easement as depicted on lot 141, John Nygaard’s Virgin Lake 


Estates , as recorded on February 18, 1994, in vol. 56-180B Plats, Page 555 as document no. 5618013, in 


the office of the Register of Deeds for Dane County, Wisconsin, and more specifically:  


The west 6 feet from front of to the back of said lot 141, John Nygaard’s Virgin Lake Estates. 


 


  







Exhibit B  
This easement area to be released is located in the parcel described as the Southwest Quarter (SW1/4) 
of the Northwest Quarter (NW1/4), Section 6, Town 5 North, Range 11 East, City of Stoughton, Dane 
County, Wisconsin. 


 


 







Exhibit C 


John Nygaard’s Virgin Lake Estates Plat 


Doc. No. 5618013 


See attachment. 


 











 
City of Stoughton, 207 S Forrest Street, Stoughton WI  53589 


 
 


RESOLUTION FROM THE UTILTIES COMMITTEE TO THE  


STOUGHTON COMMON COUNCIL 
 
Authorizing the Partial Release of a Platted Public Utility Easement on Lot 141 of John Nygaard’s 


Virgin Lake Estates (2108 Wood View Dr), recorded as Document No. 5618013, Dane County Registry 


 
Committee Action: 


 
Utilities Committee recommended Common Council approval 5 - 0 


 
Fiscal Impact: None 


 
File Number: 


 
R-xxx-2023 


 
Date Introduced: 


 
July 25, 2023 


The City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, Common Council does proclaim as follows: 


WHEREAS, Stoughton Utilities has received a request from the property owner of Lot 141 of John 


Nygaard’s Virgin Lake Estates (2108 Wood View Dr) to release a platted public utility easement; and 


WHEREAS, the release will consist of releasing the 6-foot easement that runs along the full length, 


approximately 124-feet, of the west property boundary, with other public utility easements located 


elsewhere on the parcel remaining as currently recorded; and 


WHEREAS, Stoughton Utilities has no existing utility infrastructure located with the platted easement to 


be released; and 


WHEREAS, the proposed release has been reviewed by Stoughton Utilities staff and has been determined 


to be acceptable to the utility; and   


WHEREAS, on May 15, 2023, the Stoughton Utilities Committee met to consider and approve the release 


of a platted public utility easement on Lot 141 of John Nygaard’s Virgin Lake Estates (2108 Wood View 


Dr), recorded as Document No. 5618013, Dane County Registry, and recommend approval to the 


Stoughton Common Council; now therefore  


BE IT RESOLVED by the City of Stoughton Common Council that that the Stoughton Utilities Director 


be hereby directed to agree to the recording of a partial release of a platted public utility easement on Lot 


141 of John Nygaard’s Virgin Lake Estates (2108 Wood View Dr), recorded as Document No. 5618013, 


Dane County Registry. 


Council Action: ☐ Adopted ☐ Failed Vote:  


Mayoral Action: ☐ Accept ☐ Veto   


    


Mayor Tim Swadley  Date  


Council Action:  ☐ Override Vote:  


 





		12 R-122-2023 Resolution - Easement Amendment

		12a Utilities - Easement Amendment










City of Stoughton


2022 Financial highlights


Presented to those charged with governance
July 25, 2023


Client service team
Andrea Jansen, Partner
Vasvi Joshi, Senior Manager
Ryan Shavlik, Senior Associate


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP







City of Stoughton
General fund results


Summarized income statement
Actual Final budget Variance


Revenues and other financing sources 10,473,817$          10,398,213$          75,604$                 
Expenditures and other financing uses 10,611,938            10,896,186            284,248                 
   Net change in fund balance (138,121)$              (497,973)$              359,852$               


Fund balance category definitions
Nonspendable - amounts cannot be spent either because they are not in spendable form or because
          legal or contractual requirements require them to be maintained in tact.
Restricted - amounts that can be spent only for the specific purposes stipulated by an external source.
Committed - amounts constrained for specific purposes that are internally imposed through formal
          action of the governing body.
Assigned - spendable amounts that are intended to be used for specific purposes that are not
          considered restricted or committed.
Unassigned - residual amounts that have not been classified within other categories above.


$1,540,231 


$203,318 


$-   


$1,018,543 


$4,419,784 


$7,181,876 


$1,320,654 


$-   


$-   


$1,111,773 


$4,887,570 


$7,319,997 


 $
-


 $
1,


00
0,


00
0


 $
2,


00
0,


00
0


 $
3,


00
0,


00
0


 $
4,


00
0,


00
0


 $
5,


00
0,


00
0


 $
6,


00
0,


00
0


 $
7,


00
0,


00
0


 $
8,


00
0,


00
0


Nonspendab
le


Restricted


Committed


Assigned


Unassigned


Total


General fund - fund balance by category2021 2022


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP
Source: current and prior year financial statement information and other benchmark information as noted. Page 1    







City of Stoughton
General fund - fund balance trends


Fund balance policy:
Maintain unassigned general fund fund balance within a range of 20 - 25% of annual budgeted general
fund expenditures.


Other reference values
GFOA recommends a minimum of no less than 2 months (16.7%) of general fund expenditures.


Median reference value generated from 2019 - 2021 Baker Tilly municipal client data for population range
          of 10,000 to 17,500. Note: reference values compare to actual expenditures.


29.6% 29.8%


31.7%


34.3%


40.6%


31.3%


35.4%


40.2%


10%


15%


20%


25%


30%


35%


40%


45%


2018 2019 2020 2021 2022


Unassigned general fund - fund balance 
as a percentage of expenditures 


General Fund Actual Policy minimum Policy maximum Reference - Median


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP
Source: current and prior year financial statement information and other benchmark information as noted. Page 2    







City of Stoughton
General obligation debt


Debt management policy:


Actual percentage of state debt limit at 12/31/22: 47%


Total debt outstanding by type at 12/31/2022
General obligation Revenue debt Total


City 34,552,653$               -$                    34,552,653$     
Utility 2,114,257                   9,349,872           11,464,129       


     Total 36,666,910$               9,349,872$         46,016,782$     


Comparative metrics available online through the Wisconsin Policy Forum.


                 Select "Debt" -- options for custom comparisons or comparisons by county


https://wispolicyforum.org/research/municipal-datatool-examining-and-comparing-wisconsin-cities-and-
villages/


It is the City's policy to maintain total outstanding general obligation debt at a maximum of 4% of 
equalized value. State statutory debt limits outstanding general obligation debt to 5% of equalized value.


$34,592,834


$38,409,944
$36,680,213 $35,534,192 $36,666,910


$58,163,075 
$61,686,215 $63,402,095 


$67,063,905 


$78,389,685 


$46,530,460 $49,348,972 $50,721,676 


$53,651,124 


$62,711,748 


 $-


 $10,000,000


 $20,000,000


 $30,000,000


 $40,000,000


 $50,000,000


 $60,000,000


 $70,000,000


 $80,000,000


 $90,000,000


2018 2019 2020 2021 2022


General obligation debt capacity


Total G.O. debt outstanding G.O. debt limit Policy maximum


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP
Source: current and prior year financial statement information and other benchmark information as noted. Page 3    



https://wispolicyforum.org/research/municipal-datatool-examining-and-comparing-wisconsin-cities-and-villages/

https://wispolicyforum.org/research/municipal-datatool-examining-and-comparing-wisconsin-cities-and-villages/

https://wispolicyforum.org/research/municipal-datatool-examining-and-comparing-wisconsin-cities-and-villages/

https://wispolicyforum.org/research/municipal-datatool-examining-and-comparing-wisconsin-cities-and-villages/

https://wispolicyforum.org/research/municipal-datatool-examining-and-comparing-wisconsin-cities-and-villages/

https://wispolicyforum.org/research/municipal-datatool-examining-and-comparing-wisconsin-cities-and-villages/

https://wispolicyforum.org/research/municipal-datatool-examining-and-comparing-wisconsin-cities-and-villages/

https://wispolicyforum.org/research/municipal-datatool-examining-and-comparing-wisconsin-cities-and-villages/

https://wispolicyforum.org/research/municipal-datatool-examining-and-comparing-wisconsin-cities-and-villages/

https://wispolicyforum.org/research/municipal-datatool-examining-and-comparing-wisconsin-cities-and-villages/

https://wispolicyforum.org/research/municipal-datatool-examining-and-comparing-wisconsin-cities-and-villages/





City of Stoughton
Governmental funds - debt service 


Current and prior year data
2022 2021


Principal 3,901,925$                 3,150,105$         
Interest 1,033,273                   998,253              
     Total 4,935,198$                 4,148,358$         


Non-capital expenditures 20,799,558$               17,322,508$       


Other reference values
Median reference value generated from 2018 - 2021 Baker Tilly municipal client data for population range
          of 10,000 to 17,500.


22.9%


25.7%


29.0%


23.9%


23.7%


15.8%


24.9%
25.9%


21.2%


0.00%


5.00%


10.00%


15.00%


20.00%


25.00%


30.00%


35.00%


2018 2019 2020 2021 2022


Debt service to non-capital expenditures


City of Stoughton Reference - Median


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP
Source: current and prior year financial statement information and other benchmark information as noted. Page 4    







Report on Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance


and Other Matters Based on an Audit of
Financial Statements Performed in Accordance


With Government Auditing Standards


Independent Auditors' Report


To the City Council of
City of Stoughton


We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-
type activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Stoughton (the
City), as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated
July 18, 2023.


Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting


In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City's internal control over
financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an
opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control.


A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial
statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a
deficiency or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 


Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or
significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that have not
been identified. We identified certain deficiencies in internal control, described in the accompanying schedule
of findings and responses as items 2022-001 and 2022-002, that we consider to be material weaknessess.


Report on Compliance and Other Matters


As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City's financial statements are free from material
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and
grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the financial
statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our
audit and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.


1


Baker Tilly US, LLP, trading as Baker Tilly, is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Ltd., the members of which 
are separate and independent legal entities. © 2020-2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP







The City's Response to Findings


Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on the City's response to
the findings identified in our audit and described in the accompanying schedule of findings and responses. The
City's response was not subjected to the other auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial
statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it.


Purpose of This Report


The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and
the results of that testing and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control or on
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not
suitable for any other purpose. 


Madison, Wisconsin
July 18, 2023


2







City of Stoughton 
Schedule of Findings and Responses 
Year Ended December 31, 2022 
 


3 


Financial Statement Findings Required to Be Reported in Accordance With  
Government Auditing Standards 


Finding 2022-001: Material Weakness – Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  


Criteria: AU-C Section 315 requires auditors to report a material weakness when the auditor prepares 
the annual financial statements and footnotes, identifies material audit entries or the auditor prepares 
the schedule of expenditures of federal and state awards. 


Condition: We, as your auditors, prepared the annual financial statements, noted material journal 
entries and prepared the GASB No. 34 conversion entries. 


Cause: The City does not have the resources required to prepare the GASB No. 34 conversion 
entries and the annual financial statements and footnotes. 
 
Effect or Potential Effect: There is a greater risk that the City’s financial statements will not contain all 
of the required disclosures or be materially misstated if prepared by your auditors. 
 
Recommendation: We recommend that the City put in place procedures to determine if resources 
would be available to prepare a complete set of financial statements without material changes. 
 
Management's Response: Management agrees that the current staffing levels in the Finance 
Department do not allow timely journal entry preparation for year-end financial statements as well as 
the review of financial activity before audit statements are prepared by the outside audit 
firm.  Management has submitted a proposal for the addition of a four-year degreed accountant to the 
department on July 3, 2023 to help alleviate this issue.   
 


Finding 2022-002: Material Weakness – Internal Control Environment  


Criteria: According to Statement on Auditing Standards (SAS) AU-C Section 315, sufficient internal 
controls should be in place that reduce the risk of material misstatement to the financial statements 
due to fraud or error. 


Condition: There is a control that is not currently in place related to monthly and year-end accounting. 
Adjusting journal entries and supporting documentation should be reviewed and approved by an 
appropriate person who is not the original preparer.  


Cause: Due to staffing and financial limitations, the proper internal controls are not in place to achieve 
adequate segregation of duties. 
 
Effect or Potential Effect: Errors or irregularities could occur as part of the accounting processes that 
might not be discovered by management or the governing body.  
 
Recommendation: We recommend that a designated employee review the segregation of duties, 
risks and these potential controls and determine whether additional controls should be implemented. 
This determination should take into consideration a cost / benefit analysis.  
 
Management's Response: Management agrees with the control of journal entries being reviewed and 
approved by an appropriate person who is not the original preparer.  The multiple instances where 
this occurred was when the Director of Finance/Comptroller was making multiple changes to the 
accounting and budgetary controls, which was often occurring on nights and weekends when staff 
was not available for review.  These wholesale changes are greatly reduced during calendar year 
2023.  In addition, with only three people who typically make journal entries, there are often instances 
where no other staff member is available to the review and approval of journal entries.  The addition 
of the new accountant will help alleviate this issue. 







 


 
 
 
Reporting and insights 
from 2022 audit: 


City of Stoughton 
 


 
December 31, 2022 







THIS COMMUNICATION IS INTENDED SOLELY FOR THE INFORMATION AND USE OF THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE, AND, IF APPROPRIATE, 
MANAGEMENT, AND IS NOT INTENDED TO BE AND SHOULD NOT BE USED BY ANYONE OTHER THAN THESE SPECIFIED PARTIES. 
 
BAKER TILLY US, LLP, TRADING AS BAKER TILLY, IS A MEMBER OF THE GLOBAL NETWORK OF BAKER TILLY INTERNATIONAL LTD., THE MEMBERS OF WHICH 
ARE SEPARATE AND INDEPENDENT LEGAL ENTITIES. 


Executive summary 
 


July 18, 2023 


 


City Council 


City of Stoughton 


207 South Forrest Street 
Stoughton, WI 53589 
 
 
We have completed our audit of the financial statements of the City of Stoughton (the City) for the year 


ended December 31, 2022, and have issued our report thereon dated July 18, 2023. This letter presents 


communications required by our professional standards.  


A separate communication was issued related to the Stoughton Utilities dated May 8, 2023. Matters 


specific to the Stoughton Utilities are not included within this report.  


Your audit should provide you with confidence in your financial statements. The audit was performed 


based on information obtained from meetings with management, data from your systems, knowledge of 


your City’s operating environment and our risk assessment procedures. We strive to provide you clear, 


concise communication throughout the audit process and of the final results of our audit. 


Additionally, we have included information on key risk areas the City of Stoughton should be aware of in 


your strategic planning. We are available to discuss these risks as they relate to your organization’s 


financial stability and future planning. 


If you have questions at any point, please connect with us: 


• Andrea Jansen, Partner: andrea.jansen@bakertilly.com or +1 (608) 240 2338 


• Vasvi Joshi, Senior Manager: vasvi.joshi@bakertilly.com or +1 (608) 240 2453 


 


Sincerely, 


Baker Tilly US, LLP 


 


Andrea Jansen, CPA, Partner 
 


 


Vasvi Joshi, CPA, Senior Manager 
 


  



mailto:andrea.jansen@bakertilly.com

mailto:vasvi.joshi@bakertilly.com





 


 
© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 3 


Responsibilities 


Our responsibilities 


As your independent auditor, our responsibilities include: 


• Planning and performing the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 


statements are free from material misstatement. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance. 


• Assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 


error. Included in that assessment is a consideration of the City’s internal control over financial 


reporting. 


• Performing appropriate procedures based upon our risk assessment. 


• Evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 


accounting estimates made by management. 


• Forming and expressing an opinion based on our audit about whether the financial statements 


prepared by management, with the oversight of the City Council:  


• Are free from material misstatement 


• Present fairly, in all material respects and in accordance with accounting principles generally 


accepted in the United States of America 


• Performing tests related to compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and 


grants, as required by Government Auditing Standards 


• Considering internal control over compliance with requirements that could have a direct and material 


effect on major federal and major state programs to design tests of both controls and compliance with 


identified requirements 


• Forming and expressing an opinion based on our audit in accordance with OMB’s Uniform 


Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform 


Guidance) and State Single Audit Guidelines about the entity’s compliance with requirements 


described in the OMB Compliance Supplement and State Single Audit Guidelines that could have a 


direct and material effect on each of its major federal and state programs.  


• Our audit does not relieve management or the City Council of their responsibilities. 


We are also required to communicate significant matters related to our audit that are relevant to the 


responsibilities of the City Council, including:  


• Internal control matters 


• Qualitative aspects of the City’s accounting practice including policies, accounting estimates and 


financial statement disclosures 


• Significant unusual transactions 


• Significant difficulties encountered 


• Disagreements with management 


• Circumstances that affect the form and content of the auditors’ report  


• Audit consultations outside the engagement team 


• Corrected and uncorrected misstatements 


• Other audit findings or issues 







 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 4 


Audit status 


Significant changes to the audit plan 


There were no significant changes made to either our planned audit strategy or to the significant risks and 


other areas of emphasis identified during the performance of our risk assessment procedures.  


 


 







 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 5 


Audit approach and results 


Planned scope and timing 


Audit focus 


Based on our understanding of the City and environment in which you operate, we focused our audit on 


the following key areas: 


• Key transaction cycles 


• Areas with significant estimates 


• Areas of complexity and additional compliance requirements including TIF Districts 


• Implementation of new accounting standards 


Our areas of audit focus were informed by, among other things, our assessment of materiality. Materiality 


in the context of our audit was determined based on specific qualitative and quantitative factors combined 


with our expectations about the City’s current year results. 


 


Key areas of focus and significant findings 


Significant risks of material misstatement 


A significant risk is an identified and assessed risk of material misstatement that, in the auditor’s 


professional judgment, requires special audit consideration. Within our audit, we focused on the following 


areas below. 


Significant risk areas Testing approach Conclusion 


Management override of 
controls 


Incorporate unpredictability into 
audit procedures, emphasize 
professional skepticism and 
utilize audit team with industry 
expertise 


Procedures identified provided 
sufficient evidence for our audit 
opinion 


Improper revenue recognition 
due to fraud 


Confirmation or validation of 
certain revenues supplemented 
with detailed predictive analytics 
based on nonfinancial data and 
substantive testing of related 
receivables 


Procedures identified provided 
sufficient evidence for our audit 
opinion 


 


Other areas of emphasis 


We also focused on other areas that did not meet the definition of a significant risk, but were determined 


to require specific awareness and a unique audit response.  


Other areas of emphasis   


Cash and investments Revenues and receivables General disbursements 


Payroll Pension and OPEB 
liabilities / assets 


Long-term debt 


Capital assets including 
infrastructure 


Net position calculations Financial reporting and required 
disclosures 







 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 6 


Internal control matters 


We considered the City’s internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing our audit 


procedures for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the financial statements. We are not expressing 


an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control.  


Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph 


and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or 


significant deficiencies and, therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were 


not identified. 


A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 


management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 


detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. 


A material weakness is a deficiency or combination of deficiencies in internal control such that there is a 
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be 
prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. We identified the following deficiencies as 
material weaknesses:  
 


• Inadequate segregation of duties 


A properly designed system of internal control includes adequate staffing as well as policies and 
procedures to properly segregate duties. This includes systems that are designed to limit the access 
or control of any one individual to your government’s assets or accounting records, and to achieve a 
higher likelihood that errors or irregularities in your accounting processes would be discovered by 
your staff in a timely manner.  
 
At this time, due to staffing and financial limitations, the proper internal controls are not in place to 
achieve adequate segregation of duties. As a result, errors, irregularities or fraud could occur as part 
of the financial reporting process that may not be discovered by someone in your organization. 
Therefore, we are reporting a material weakness related to the internal control environment.  


 


• Missing key controls 


There are certain controls that are not currently in place related to significant transaction cycles. As a 
result, there is a risk that erroneous or unauthorized transactions or misstatements could occur 
without the knowledge of management or the governing body. Our recommendations for 
strengthening controls are listed below. 


 


• Controls over monthly and year-end accounting 


Adjusting journal entries and supporting documentation should be reviewed and approved by 


an appropriate person who is not the original preparer.  


 


• Controls over property taxes 


There should be a formal process to prepare and approve journal entries to record taxes 


receivable and the tax settlements. 


 


Since the controls listed above or other compensating controls are not currently in place, errors or 
irregularities could occur as part of the accounting processes that might not be discovered by 
management or the governing body. Therefore, the absence of these controls is considered to be a 
material weakness. 


 


We recommend that a designated employee review the segregation of duties, risks, and these potential 


controls and determine whether additional controls should be implemented. This determination should 


take into consideration a cost / benefit analysis. 


 
  







 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 7 


• Financial statement close process 


Properly designed systems of internal control provide your organization with the ability to process and 
record accurate monthly and year-end transactions and annual financial reports. 
 
Our audit includes a review and evaluation of the internal controls relating to financial reporting. Common 
attributes of a properly designed system of internal control for financial reporting are as follows: 
 


• There is adequate staffing to prepare financial reports throughout the year and at year-end. 


• Material misstatements are identified and corrected during the normal course of duties. 


• Complete and accurate financial statements, including footnotes, are prepared. 


• Complete and accurate schedule of expenditures of federal and state awards is prepared. 


• Financial reports are independently reviewed for completeness and accuracy. 


 
Our evaluation of the internal controls over financial reporting has identified control deficiencies that are 
considered to be a material weakness surrounding the preparation of financial statements and footnotes, 
including the schedule of federal and state awards, adjusting journal entries identified by the auditors, and 
an independent review of financial reports.  
 
Management has not prepared financial statements that are in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles or the schedule of expenditures of federal and state awards that is in conformance 
with the applicable federal or state requirements. In addition, a material misstatement in the general 
ledger was identified during the financial audit.  
 


  







 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 8 


Other comments and recommendations 


• Controls over property taxes 


- Bank reconciliations for the tax account should be performed by someone independent of 


the tax collection process. 


 


Prior Year Point 


• Collateral for Bank Deposits (Per 12/31/08 Letter)  


Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 40 requires disclosures about various 


risks associated with the City’s deposits and investments. These disclosures can be found in Note 4 of 


the financial statements.  


One of the required disclosures is custodial credit risk. Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a 


financial institution failure, the City’s deposits may not be returned. To address this risk, the City has 


collateral agreements with its primary bank to cover deposits in excess of the FDIC limits. However, a 


portion of the City’s deposits and investments was exposed to custodial credit risk because the collateral 


was insufficient to cover all City deposits. In addition, the current collateral agreement in place with the 


City’s primary bank allows for the collateral to be held in the trust department of this bank. GASB No. 40 


states that this type of custodial arrangement exposes the City to greater risk than if the collateral was 


held by an independent third-party custodian. 


We recommend that the City evaluate its current collateral situation to determine if adjustments are 


desired. 


Status December 31, 2022 


A total of $1,240,905 of deposits and investments were exposed to some level of custodial credit risk as 


of December 31, 2022. 


 


  







 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 9 


Required communications 


Qualitative aspect of accounting practices 


• Accounting policies: Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting 


policies. In accordance with the terms of our engagement letter, we have advised management about 


the appropriateness of accounting policies and their application. The significant accounting policies 


used by City are described in Note 1 to the financial statements. As described in Note 1, the City 


changed accounting policies related to leases by adopting Governmental Accounting Standards 


Board (GASB) No. 87 – Leases in 2022. We noted no transactions entered into by the City during the 


year for which accounting policies are controversial or for which there is a lack of authoritative 


guidance or consensus or diversity in practice. 


• Accounting estimates: Accounting estimates, including fair value estimates, are an integral part of the 


financial statements prepared by management and are based on management's knowledge and 


experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting 


estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements, the 


degree of subjectivity involved in their development and because of the possibility that future events 


affecting them may differ significantly from those expected. The following estimates are of most 


significance to the financial statements: 


 


Estimate Management’s process to 
determine  


Baker Tilly’s conclusions 
regarding reasonableness 


Net pension asset and 
related deferrals 


Evaluation of information 
provided by the Wisconsin 
Retirement System  


Reasonable in relation to the 
financial statements as a whole 


Allowance for doubtful 
accounts 


Evaluation of historical 
revenues and loss levels with 
the analysis on collectability of 
individual amounts 


Reasonable in relation to the 
financial statements as a whole 


Firemen’s total pension 
liability and related 
deferrals 


Key assumptions set by 
management with the 
assistance of a third-party 
actuary 


Reasonable in relation to the 
financial statements as a whole 


Total OPEB health 
insurance liability and 
related deferrals 


Key assumptions set by 
management with the 
assistance of a third-party 
actuary 


Reasonable in relation to the 
financial statements as a whole 


Net OPEB life insurance 
liability and related 
deferrals 


Evaluation of information 
provided by the Wisconsin 
Department of Employee Trust 
Funds 


Reasonable in relation to the 
financial statements as a whole 


Depreciation Evaluate estimated useful life 
of the asset and original 
acquisition value 


Reasonable in relation to the 
financial statements as a whole 


 


There have been no significant changes made by management to either the processes used to develop 


the particularly sensitive accounting estimates, or to the significant assumptions used to develop the 


estimates, noted above.  


 


• Financial statement disclosures: The disclosures in the financial statements are neutral, consistent 


and clear. 







 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 10 


Significant unusual transactions 


There have been no significant transactions that are outside the normal course of business for the City or 


that otherwise appear to be unusual due to their timing, size or nature.  


Significant difficulties encountered during the audit 


We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management and completing our audit.  


Disagreements with management 


Professional standards define a disagreement with management as a matter, whether or not resolved to 


our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter that could be significant to 


the financial statements or the auditors' report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements 


arose during the course of our audit.  


Audit report  


There have been no departures from the auditors’ standard report.  


Audit consultations outside the engagement team  


We encountered no difficult or contentious matters for which we consulted outside of the engagement 


team.  


Corrected misstatements 


Professional standards require us to accumulate misstatements identified during the audit, other than 


those that are clearly trivial and to communicate accumulated misstatements to management. 


Management is in agreement with the misstatements we have identified, and they have been corrected in 


the financial statements. The schedule within the attachments summarizes the material corrected 


misstatements, that, in our judgment, may not have been detected except through our auditing 


procedures. The internal control matters section of this report describes the effects on the financial 


reporting process indicated by the corrected misstatements, other than those that we consider to be of a 


lesser magnitude than significant deficiencies and material weaknesses. 


 Other audit findings or issues 


We encountered no other audit findings or issues that require communication at this time.  


We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 


standards, with management each year prior to retention as the City’s auditors. However, these 


discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a 


condition to our retention. 


Other information in documents containing audited basic financial statements 


The City’s audited financial statements are “general purpose” financial statements. General purpose 


financial statements consist of the basic financial statements that can be used by a broad group of people 


for a broad range of activities. Once we have issued our audit report, we have no further obligation to 


update our report for events occurring subsequent to the date of our report. The City can use the audited 


financial statements in other client prepare documents, such as official statements related to the issuance 


of debt, without our acknowledgement. Unless we have been engaged to perform services in connection 


with any subsequent transaction requiring the inclusion of our audit report, as well as to issue an auditor’s 


acknowledgment letter, we have neither read the document nor performed subsequent event procedures 


in order to determine whether or not our report remains appropriate. 


  







 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 11 


Management’s consultations with other accountants 


In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 


matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no consultations with other 


accountants regarding auditing or accounting matters. 


Written communications between management and Baker Tilly 


The attachments include copies of other material written communications, including a copy of the 


management representation letter. 


Compliance with laws and regulations 


We did not identify any non-compliance with laws and regulations during our audit.  


We will issue a separate document which contains the results of our audit procedures to comply with the 


Uniform Guidance and State Single Audit Guidelines. 


Fraud 


We did not identify any known or suspected fraud during our audit.  


Going concern 


Pursuant to professional standards, we are required to communicate to you, when applicable, certain 


matters relating to our evaluation of the City’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable 


period of time but no less than 12 months from the date of the financial statements, including the effects 


on the financial statements and the adequacy of the related disclosures, and the effects on the auditor's 


report. No such matters or conditions have come to our attention during our engagement.  


Independence 


We are not aware of any relationships between Baker Tilly and the City that, in our professional judgment, 


may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence. 


Related parties 


We did not have any significant findings or issues arise during the audit in connection with the City’s 


related parties.  


Other matters 


We applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information (RSI) that supplements 


the basic financial statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding the 


methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 


responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our 


audit of the basic financial statements. We did not audit the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide 


any assurance on the RSI. 


We were engaged to report on the supplementary information which accompanies the financial 


statements but is not RSI. With respect to the supplementary information, we made certain inquiries of 


management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the information to determine 


that the information complies with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 


America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and the information is 


appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements. We compared and reconciled 


the supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to prepare the financial 


statements or to the financial statements themselves. 


  







 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 12 


Nonattest services 


The following nonattest services were provided by Baker Tilly: 


• Financial statement preparation and adjusting journal entries 


• Compiled TIF financial statements 


• Compiled regulatory reports 


• Maintenance of capital asset records 


 


In addition, we prepared GASB No. 34 conversion entries which are summarized in the “Reconciliation of 


the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Net Position” and the “Reconciliation of 


the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the 


Statement of Activities” in the financial statements. 


None of these nonattest services constitute an audit under generally accepted auditing standards, 


including Government Auditing Standards. 


 







 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 13 


Resources for those charged with 


governance 
Visit our resource page for regulatory updates, trending challenges and opportunities in your industry and 


other timely updates.  


Visit the resource page at https://www.bakertilly.com/insights/audit-committee-resource-page. 


  



https://www.bakertilly.com/insights/audit-committee-resource-page





 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 14 


Management representation letter  
  







































 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 23 


Client service team 
  


Andrea Jansen, CPA, CFE 
Partner 


 


4807 Innovate Lane 


Madison, Wisconsin 53718 


United States 


 


T +1 (608) 240 2338 | Madison 
andrea.jansen@bakertilly.com  


  
 


  


Vasvi Joshi, CPA 
Senior Manager 


 


4807 Innovate Lane 


Madison, Wisconsin 53718 


United States 


 


T +1 (608) 240 2453 | Madison   
vasvi.joshi@bakertilly.com 


  
  
 
 


Ryan Shavlik, CPA 
Senior Associate 


 


4807 Innovate Lane 


Madison, Wisconsin 53718 


United States 


 


T +1 (608) 316 1335 | Madison   
ryan.shavlik@bakertilly.com 


 
 



mailto:Andrea.jansen@bakertilly.com

mailto:vasvi.joshi@bakertilly.com

mailto:ryan.shavlik@bakertilly.com





 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 24 


Accounting changes relevant to the City of 


Stoughton  
Future accounting standards update 


GASB 
Statement 
Number 


Description Potentially 
Impacts 
you 


Effective Date  


94 Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships 
and Availability Payment Arrangements 


 
12/31/23 


96 Subscription-Based Information Technology 
Arrangements 


 
12/31/23 


99 Omnibus 2022 
 


12/31/23 


100 Accounting Changes and Error Corrections 
 


12/31/24 


101 Compensated Absences 
 


12/31/24 


 


Further information on upcoming GASB pronouncements. 


 


Determining if GASB 94 applies for your organization 


GASB 94, Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and Availability Payment Arrangements provides 


guidance related to public-private and public-public partnerships (PPP) and availability payment 


arrangements (APA). 


A PPP is an arrangement in which an entity contracts with an operator to provide public services by 


conveying control of the right to operate or use infrastructure or other capital asset. A common example 


of PPP is a service concession arrangement.  


An APA is an arrangement in which an entity compensates an operator for services that may include 


designing, constructing, financing, maintaining, or operating an asset.  


The City should start to identify any contracts that could meet either definition to ensure they are reviewed 


for applicability and accounted for correctly when the standard is effective. Initial steps include reviewing 


contracts that didn’t meet the definition of a lease under GASB 87 and identifying any other agreements 


where the organization contracts with or partners with another entity to provide services. 


 


 



https://www.bakertilly.com/insights/gasb-update-for-public-sector-organizations





 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 25 


Future accounting for subscription-based IT arrangements 


Subscription-based IT arrangements include contracts that convey control of the right to use another 


party’s IT software. It would not include any licensing arrangements that provide a perpetual license, 


which would still be accounted for as an intangible asset. Subscription-based IT arrangements are 


becoming more and more popular with IT vendors. This standard mirrors the new lease standard. The 


City will be able to utilize the systems put into place to implement the lease standard to properly account 


for these contracts. Common examples of these contracts in the utility industry include: 


• Leasing space in the cloud 


• GIS systems 


• SCADA systems 


• Some work order or inventory systems as well as some general ledger or billing systems 


The City should work with its IT department and department managers to determine a population listing of 


contracts that would fall under this standard to determine the potential future impact to financial reporting.  


  







 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 26 


Material corrected misstatements 
Description Opinion unit Amount 


Adjust advance tax collections General fund             $ 3,759,161 


Adjust debt service payments Debt service fund                   407,936 


Adjust taxes receivable Custodial funds                2,323,575 


Record capital asset activity All remaining funds                   829,682 


 


The remaining misstatements that were identified and corrected by management were not material 


individually or in the aggregate to the financial statements taken as a whole.  


  







 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 27 


Two-way audit communications  
As part of our audit of your financial statements, we are providing communications to you throughout the 


audit process. Auditing requirements provide for two-way communication and are important in assisting 


the auditor and you with more information relevant to the audit. 


As this past audit is concluded, we use what we have learned to begin the planning process for next 


year’s audit. It is important that you understand the following points about the scope and timing of our 


next audit: 


a. We address the significant risks of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, through 


our detailed audit procedures. 


b. We will obtain an understanding of the five components of internal control sufficient to assess the 


risk of material misstatement of the financial statements whether due to error or fraud, and to 


design the nature, timing and extent of further audit procedures. We will obtain a sufficient 


understanding by performing risk assessment procedures to evaluate the design of controls 


relevant to an audit of financial statements and to determine whether they have been 


implemented. We will use such knowledge to:  


• Identify types of potential misstatements. 


• Consider factors that affect the risks of material misstatement. 


• Design tests of controls, when applicable, and substantive procedures. 


c. We will not express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting or 


compliance with laws, regulations and provisions of contracts or grant programs. For audits 


performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards, our report will include a 


paragraph that states that the purpose of the report is solely to describe the scope of testing of 


internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the result of that testing and not to 


provide an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting or on 


compliance and that the report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 


Government Auditing Standards in considering internal control over financial reporting and 


compliance. The paragraph will also state that the report is not suitable for any other purpose. 


d. The concept of materiality recognizes that some matters, either individually or in the aggregate, 


are important for fair presentation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted 


accounting principles while other matters are not important. In performing the audit, we are 


concerned with matters that, either individually or in the aggregate, could be material to the 


financial statements. Our responsibility is to plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 


assurance that material misstatements, whether caused by errors or fraud, are detected. 


Our audit will be performed in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 


of America and Government Auditing Standards, OMB’s Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost 


Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance) and the State Single Audit 


Guidelines. 







 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 28 


We will not express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting or 


compliance with laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts or grant programs. For audits done in 


accordance with Government Auditing Standards, the Uniform Guidance, and the State Single Audit 


Guidelines, our report will include a paragraph that states that the purpose of the report is solely to 


describe (a) the scope of testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the result 


of that testing and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting 


or on compliance, (b) the scope of testing internal control over compliance for major programs and major 


program compliance and the result of that testing and to provide an opinion on compliance but not to 


provide an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance and, (c) that the report is an 


integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering 


internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the Uniform Guidance, and the State Single 


Audit Guidelines, in considering internal control over compliance and major program compliance. The 


paragraph will also state that the report is not suitable for any other purpose. 


e. Your financial statements contain components, as defined by auditing standards generally 


accepted in the United States of America, which we also audit. 


We are very interested in your views regarding certain matters. Those matters are listed here: 


a. We typically will communicate with your top level of management unless you tell us otherwise. 


b. We understand that the governing board has the responsibility to oversee the strategic direction 


of your organization, as well as the overall accountability of the entity. Management has the 


responsibility for achieving the objectives of the entity. 


c. We need to know your views about your organization’s objectives and strategies, and the related 


business risks that may result in material misstatements. 


d. We anticipate that the City will receive an unmodified opinion on its financial statements. 


e. Which matters do you consider warrant particular attention during the audit, and are there any 


areas where you request additional procedures to be undertaken? 


f. Have you had any significant communications with regulators or grantor agencies? 


g. Are there other matters that you believe are relevant to the audit of the financial statements? 


Also, is there anything that we need to know about the attitudes, awareness and actions of the governing 


body concerning: 


a. The entity’s internal control and its importance in the entity, including how those charged with 


governance oversee the effectiveness of internal control? 


b. The detection or the possibility of fraud? 


We also need to know if you have taken actions in response to developments in financial reporting, laws, 


accounting standards, governance practices, or other related matters, or in response to previous 


communications with us. 


With regard to the timing of our audit, here is some general information. If necessary, we may do 


preliminary financial audit work during the months of October-December, and sometimes early in January. 


Our final financial fieldwork is scheduled during the spring to best coincide with your readiness and report 


deadlines. After fieldwork, we wrap up our financial audit procedures at our office and may issue drafts of 


our report for your review. Final copies of our report and other communications are issued after approval 


by your staff. This is typically 6-12 weeks after final fieldwork, but may vary depending on a number of 


factors.  







 


© 2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP  Page | 29 


Keep in mind that while this communication may assist us with planning the scope and timing of the audit, 


it does not change the auditor’s sole responsibility to determine the overall audit strategy and the audit 


plan, including the nature, timing and extent of procedures necessary to obtain sufficient appropriate audit 


evidence. 


We realize that you may have questions on what this all means, or wish to provide other feedback. We 


welcome the opportunity to hear from you. 





		04a1 2022 FS highlights C Stoughton.pdf

		Cover (optional)

		GF Fund balance

		LT Debt - WI



		04a2 City of Stoughton AUD 12-31-2022 GAGAS Opinion FINAL.pdf

		Yellow Book Letter (with material weakness(es))

		Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

		Report on Compliance and Other Matters

		The Organization's Response to Findings

		Purpose of This Report





		04a3 City of Stoughton AUD 12-31-2022 Audit Results FINAL.pdf










Description Date Resolution Available


ARPA Funds received 1,372,623.42


2021 Baker Tilly - Lost revenue calculation (3,440.01)


Lead line replacement project 9/13/2022 R-181-2022 (110,000.00)


Stoughton Innovation Center 11/15/2022 R-211-2022 (125,000.00)


Emergency Medical Services - ambulance * 3/14/2023 R-039-2023 (184,730.00) *


Stoughton Area Community Foundation 4/11/2023 R-063-2023 (100,000.00)


Stoughton Neighborhood Free Health Clinic 5/9/2023 R-069-2023 (20,000.00)


SToughton Area Resource Team (START) 5/9/2023 R-071-2023 (25,000.00)


Business revolving loan program 5/9/2023 R-072-2023 (200,000.00)


Tablet and laptop lending project 5/9/2023 R-072-2023 (2,000.00)


Juneteenth event 5/23/2023 R-089-2023 (2,000.00) **


Subtotal - Council action 600,453.41


Tentative - Stoughton Sustainability Committee COW 04/06/2023 (100,000.00)


Tentative - Diversity, equity  and inclusion activities COW 04/06/2023 (48,000.00) **


Total 452,453.41


Beginning fund balance 14,590.88


Interest income through June 30, 2023 23,684.55


Printing and duplicating costs - Stoughton Area Community Foundation mailer (328.96)


Fund balance as of 06-30-2023 37,946.47


City of Stoughton


American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) available funds


Data as of July 13, 2023


* As of July 13, 2023 the vehicle chassis will not be be available until March 2024.  As such, the 2024 


requested budget will be prepared assuming ARPA funds are still intended to be used.


** The original tentative $50,000 from the Committee is the Whole is assumed to be reduced by R-089-2023 


for the Juneteenth event.








 


600 South Fourth Street P.O. Box 383 
Stoughton, WI  53589-0383 


Serving Electric, Water & Wastewater Since 1886 


  


Date:   
  


June 15, 2023 


To:    
  


Stoughton Utilities Committee  


From:   Jill M. Weiss, P.E. 


Stoughton Utilities Director 


Subject:  Presentation:  Stoughton Water Quality:  2022-2023 Lead and Copper Sampling Results  


In accordance with regulations set by the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (DNR), Stoughton 


Utilities collects water samples homes each year and tests those samples to determine the amount of lead 


and copper that is present in those homes’ drinking water.  These samples are taken from inside the homes 


at a faucet that provides drinking water.   


Although no level of lead is considered completely safe, the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and 


DNR set a level of 0.015 mg/L (15 parts per billion).   


In 2019, this water quality monitoring at 30 homes found elevated levels of lead that exceeded the action 


level in six of the 30 homes sampled. As a result, the Stoughton Municipal Water System’s 90th percentile 


level (18 ppb) exceeded the EPA’s action level, meaning that more than 10% of the samples tested 


contained a level of lead greater than 15 parts per billion (ppb) or 0.015 mg/L.  


We are proud to announce that our 2022 and 2023 sampling and water quality monitoring did not find 


elevated levels of lead in any of the homes sampled. 60 homes were sampled in 2022 and again in 2023.   


• In 2022, five of the homes sampled had no detect, 52 had lead levels between 0 and 5 parts per 


billion (ppb) or 0.000 - 0.005 mg/L, two had lead levels between 5 and 10 ppb or 0.005 - 0.010 


mg/L, and one home had lead levels between 10 ppb and 15 ppb or 0.010 - 0.015 mg/L.  No 


samples were above the 15 ppb or 0.015 mg/L 2019 exceedance level.   


o The 90th percentile level was 2.8 ppb. 


• In 2023, eight of the homes sampled had no detect, 48 had lead levels between 0 and 5 parts per 


billion (ppb) or 0.000 - 0.005 mg/L, three had lead levels between 5 and 10 ppb or 0.005 - 0.010 


mg/L, zero homes had lead levels between 10 ppb and 15 ppb or 0.010 - 0.015 mg/L, and one 


home had lead levels above the 15 ppb or 0.015 mg/L 2019 exceedance level. 


o The 90th percentile level was 4.2 ppb. 


  







History: 


As a result of the 2019 sampling results, Stoughton initiated the following actions: 


• Engaged in additional community education and outreach, 


• Conducted additional sampling, 


• Engaged the Utilities Committee and Stoughton City Council to enact an ordinance requiring 


property owners to replace lead service lines present on the private side of the water system, 


• Engaged the Utilities Committee and Stoughton City Council to formalize a lead service line 


replacement program and a mechanism for providing funding assistance to property owners, and  


• Provided a water filtration pitcher at no cost to homes served by lead service lines where residents 


may be at a higher risk of the health impacts from lead, such as homes with young children or 


expectant mothers, and 


• Collaborated with the DNR to achieve the requirements required of the utility following 


exceedance of the action level. 


In 2021, Stoughton Utilities completed a project to replace all known lead service lines in the City of 


Stoughton.  As part of the project, lead service lines were replaced at 703 parcels, including the 


replacement of 340 publicly owned and 653 privately owned lead service lines.  Following the completion 


of this project, there are now zero known lead service lines remaining in the City of Stoughton.   


Stoughton Utilities commemorated the project completion with a ceremonial removal of the last lead 


service line on October 21, 2021, with representatives from the utility, the project contractor, the 


Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources, engineering consultants, and the City of Stoughton in 


attendance, as well as media organizations and members of the public.   


Ongoing Efforts 


Since the removal of the last known lead service line, Stoughton Utilities has continued our public 


education and outreach programs, with topics consisting of how residents can flush their internal plumbing 


systems and clean their faucet aerators to help ensure no lead particulates remain, encouraging property 


owners to replace older faucet and other plumbing fixtures that may contain lead materials, and more.  


Education and outreach efforts include statements on our monthly billing statements, press releases, direct 


mailings to key stakeholders including health facilities and day care centers, and presentations to 


stakeholders including the Stoughton Utilities Committee and Common council.  Periodic reporting of our 


education and outreach efforts is submitted to the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (WDNR) 


in compliance with the requirements established following our 2019 exceedance.   







Stoughton Water Quality 
- Lead and Copper Rule Sampling Results


LEAD FREE STOUGHTON


LEAD COMPLIANCE UPDATE
June 2023







Lead Usage 


Increased Regulation Results in 


Reduced Health Risks


 1973 – Lead in Gasoline Phased out


 1978 – Residential Lead Paint Ban


 1986 – Lead in Plumbing < 8% 


 1995 – Ban on lead solder in food cans


 2014 – Lead Ban in all Plumbing 


(Fixtures/Meters)


“No level of lead is considered safe”







Lead


Health 


Impacts 


“No level of lead is considered safe”







Municipal 


Drinking 


Water 


System


Potential 


Source of Lead







Lead & Copper Rule 


 1991, EPA published a regulation to control lead and copper in drinking water – the 
Lead and Copper Rule (LCR)


 Purpose:  Protect public health by minimizing lead (Pb) and copper (Cu) levels in drinking water, 
primarily by reducing water corrosivity. Pb and Cu enter drinking water mainly from corrosion of Pb 
and Cu containing plumbing materials.


 Establishes action level (AL) of 0.015 mg/L for Pb and 1.3 mg/L for Cu based on 90th percentile 
level of tap water samples. An AL exceedance is not a violation but can trigger other requirements 
that include water quality parameter (WQP) monitoring, corrosion control treatment (CCT), source 
water monitoring/treatment, public education, and lead service line replacement (LSLR).


 New Regulation – additional requirements if 90th percentile level of tap samples 0.010 mg/L for Pb 


 Inventory requirements are the focus of December 2021 rule revisions.  Regulation seeks inventory 
work to be completed by October 16, 2024.  Stoughton Utilities completed our inventory work as part 
of our lead service line replacement program.







Sampling – Water Quality to the Tap


 Lead & Copper Sampling 


 Sampled at the tap (faucet)


 Cold water 


 Unfiltered 


 No water use for at least 6 hours (stagnation)


 Create contact between water and lead for a period of time


 Sample site – DNR approved sites (Greatest potential to have significant lead 


levels)


 Sampling taken from within homes


 Utility has no control over private service materials and interior plumbing







2005 – 2019


Stoughton 


Lead & Copper Rule 


Lead Results
 Action Level – 15 ppb


 Samples sites – potential 
to have high lead levels


 - lead services


 - older homes 


90th Percentile 


- bold numbers


- Threat of exposure 


exists when water 


comes into 


contact with lead


2005 2008 2011 2014 2015-1*2015-2* 2016 2017 2018 2019


Average 4.70 2.29 3.51 4.18 4.19 4.09 2.16 3.66 2.55 5.39


1 30 54 20 33 30 41 29 25 77 26


2 15 40 12 24 27 22 28 22 19 26


3 13 11 11 20 21 18 26 17 16 18


4 12 9.8 8.4 19 21 15 12 15 11 18


5 9.9 9.7 8.4 13 21 13 8.3 14 5.6 17


6 8.9 8.6 8 12 16 10 5.2 11 5.5 16


7 7.7 8.6 7.3 11 15 8.9 4.2 8.6 4.9 14


8 7.4 6.1 5.8 8.7 11 8.9 3.9 7.4 4.8 10


9 6.8 5.4 5.7 7.5 10 7.7 3.6 6 4.8 12


10 5.6 4.8 5.4 7.3 9.6 7.0 2.9 5.8 4.3 8.9


11 5.5 4.7 4.4 5.4 9.1 7 2.9 4.7 4 6


12 4.7 2.9 4 4.2 7.2 5.8 2.7 4.2 3.6 5.7


13 4.7 3.7 4.1 4.9 7 5.1 2.3 4.1 3.4 5.7


14 4.6 2.3 3.3 3.9 6.8 4.6 2.2 3.6 3 5.4


15 4.6 2.8 3.9 4.2 6.5 4.5 2.1 3.6 2.9 4.1


16 4.5 0.0 3.3 3.6 6.3 4.5 2 3.6 2.6 3.9


17 4.4 0.0 2.8 3.6 5.5 4.5 1.7 3.3 2.3 3.7


18 4.2 0.0 2.6 3.4 5.1 4.1 1.4 2.7 1.9 3.4


19 4.1 0 2.5 1.9 5 3.9 1.3 2.5 1.7 3.3


20 4.1 0.0 2.5 2 4.9 3.8 1.2 2.4 1.6 3.3


21 3.7 0.0 2.4 1.8 4.4 3.3 1.1 2.4 1.4 2.9


22 3.5 0.0 2 1.5 4.3 3.2 1.1 2.1 1.4 2.9


23 3.5 0.0 2.2 1.5 4.3 3.0 1 1.9 1.1 2.4


24 3.3 0.0 1.7 1.1 4 2.2 0.99 1.8 1.1 2.5


25 3.3 0.0 1.8 1.5 3.7 2.1 0.91 1.6 0.96 1.9


26 3.2 0.0 1.7 1 3.3 1.8 0.9 1.6 0.89 1.3


27 2.8 0.0 1.6 0.91 3 1.8 0.73 1.5 0.8 1.3


28 2.7 0.0 1.6 0.71 3 1.7 0.57 1.4 0.67 1.1


29 2.3 0.0 1.2 0.65 3 1.6 0.5 1.1 0.6 1


30 2.2 0.0 1.1 1.4 2.9 1.6 0.39 1.1 0.59 0.47


* More than 30 samples taken – only highest 30 samples shown  


Lead Service Line - Approximately 1 in 7 homes







2021 


LEAD SERVICE 


LINE 


REPLACEMENT 











2019, 2022 & 2023


Stoughton 


Lead & Copper Rule 


Lead Results
 Sample Sites Change 


in 2022  -


Representative of All 


Homes


- 30 samples taken except 2015, 2022 & 2023 – 60 samples


- 90th percentile – Larger font and bold  


- Treat of exposure – water must come into contact with lead


100% LEAD FREE STOUGHTON – ALL KNOWN LEAD SERVICES REMOVED IN 2021  







1986 – Lead in Plumbing < 8% 


2014 – Lead Ban in all Plumbing 


(Fixtures/Meters)


LEAD FREE STOUGHTON
Interior Plumbing May 


Contain Lead


PUBLIC EDUCATION 
& 


OUTREACH 







- Interior Lead Plumbing / Lead Solder (1986)


- Replace All Lead Pipes


- 2014 and Prior – Lead Containing Fixtures
- Replace Interior Fixtures


- Flush Interior Plumbing


- Clean/Replace Aerators


LEAD FREE STOUGHTON
Protect Your Family 







- Reduced monitoring – back to 2019 


requirements 


- 30 lead and copper samples annually 


- No mandate to do additional work (education, 


sampling, corrosion control)


- Stoughton Utilities will continue education 


campaign


- Future – Stoughton Utilities has noticed DNR of 
plans to seek future reduced monitoring 


- Formal request anticipated in 2026-2027


LEAD FREE STOUGHTON
- DNR Compliance 







Stoughton Water Quality 
- Lead Service Line Replacement Program


LEAD FREE STOUGHTON
LEAD COMPLIANCE UPDATE


Jill Weiss 


Stoughton Utilities Director 


Direct: 608.877.7423


Main Office: 608.873.3379





